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Abstract 

Improvement of corporate disclosures is very important for the development a 

country's stock market as it provides a greater degree of transparency for interested 

parties such as shareholders, creditors, and more importantly for new investors. 

Although there have been a large number of studies on corporate disclosure practice-

in developed markets, prior research on this aspect in emerging markets is sparse. 

One of the major reasons for the dearth of literature in emerging markets is 

the lack of understanding of the importance of corporate disclosure, which is due 

mainly to the relatively low level of development in their stocks markets, coupled 

with the low investor interest in share investments. However, industrial and 

commercial activities in many of these emerging markets have expanded dramatically 

in recent years, creating an increased demand for more timely and extensive financial 

information by a wider spectrum of external users. In particular, many of the share 

markets in these countries have shown a sizeable increase in their transactions in 

terms of value and numbers. With these developments, there is now a growing 

demand for prompt and adequate disclosure of information required for the purpose of 

facilitating economic decision making of various users. O n the other hand, despite the 

growing attention and importance given to disclosure of material information, it is a 

c o m m o n feature in most stock markets that there is very limited compliance with 

disclosure requirements. Therefore, in order to help improving corporate accounting 

disclosures in these markets, it is imperative that the status quo of disclosure practices 

be identified clearly before taking necessary actions for further improvements. 

The major objective of this study is to examine the current state of corporate 

disclosure practices in one of the emerging markets, Sri Lanka. This objective was 

achieved through an analysis of a questionnaire survey of seven user groups of 

corporate annual reports and an analysis on 65 corporate annual reports in Sri Lanka 

through three disclosure indexes namely, mandatory, voluntary, and overall. The 

results of the study found that various users of corporate annual reports in Sri Lanka 

use them mainly to obtain information for the purpose of buying, holding or selling 
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company shares. Moreover, these users have viewed annual reports as the prime 

source of information although information provided in these reports is perceived to 

be inadequate. The examination of the importance attached to various sections of the 

annual report revealed that both the balance sheet and the profit and loss statement are 

perceived by the overwhelming majority of users as the most important sections of an 

annual report. It was also found that the majority of respondents have used annual 

reports frequently, indicating the important role it plays in their decision making 

process. As for the factors limiting the use of annual reports in Sri Lanka, the 

respondents identified the publication delay as the major obstacle. The majority of 

users held the view that the existing time lag could be reduced substantially. Overall, 

despite the inadequacy of information provided, corporate annual reports were 

recognised as a very useful tool for decision making by most of the users in Sri 

Lanka. 

The analysis of annual reports showed a fairly high level of overall 

disclosure by companies, especially when compared with the disclosure levels of 

other emerging markets. Also, the age and size of companies in Sri Lanka was found 

to have a positive association with high disclosure, suggesting that old and large 

companies disclose more information than vice versa. While a relatively high degree 

of compliance with mandatory disclosure requirements was observed, the voluntary 

disclosure was considerably low across all sectors. The differences of disclosure were 

also observed between companies in all sectors with the motors sector showing the 

highest level of disclosure and the land and property sector recording the lowest. 

Finally, it was found that although the overall disclosure level of Sri Lankan 

companies was comparatively high, the information disclosed in their annual reports 

has not been adequate both in quality and quantity to satisfy the information needs of 

annual report users in Sri Lanka. 
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Chapter 1: Introduction 

Chapter 1 

Introduction 

1.1 Introduction 
Improvement of corporate financial disclosures is very important for the 

development of a stock market as it provides a greater degree of transparency 

for interested parties such as shareholders, creditors, and more importantly for 

new investors (Eng and Teo, 2000). Although there has been a large number of 

studies on corporate financial disclosure practices in developed markets (Buzby, 

1974; Barrett, 1977; Belkaoui, Kahl, and Peyrard, 1977; Firth, 1978; Cooke, 

1992; Anderson, 1995) prior research on this aspect in emerging markets is 

sparse. One ofthe major reasons for the dearth of literature in emerging markets 

is the lack of understanding of the importance of this aspect, which is due 

mainly to the relatively low level of development in their stock markets, coupled 

with low investor interest in share investments. 

However, industrial and commercial activities in many of these 

emerging markets have expanded dramatically in recent years, creating an 

increased demand for more timely and extensive financial information by a 

wider spectrum of external users. In particular, many of the share markets in 

these countries have shown a sizeable increase in their transactions in terms of 

value and numbers. With these developments, there is now a growing demand 

for prompt and adequate disclosure of all material information needed for 

facilitating informed investment decisions by investors. In essence, the 
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Chapter 1: Introduction 

economic reforms and reorganisations taken place in many of the emerging 

markets in recent years have created a new corporate disclosure environment. 

On the other hand, despite the growing attention and importance given 

to immediate disclosure of material information, it is a common feature in most 

stock markets that there is very limited compliance with disclosure 

requirements, either through a bona fide lack of awareness, apathy, or else. 

comfort from the knowledge that regulators will be hesitant to enforce 

requirements (Wickramanayake, 1997). Therefore, in order to help improve 

corporate accounting disclosures, it is imperative that the status quo of 

disclosure practices of these markets be identified clearly before taking 

necessary actions for further improvements. In the light of this background, the 

current study examines the nature and extent ofthe existing corporate disclosure 

practices in one ofthe emerging markets, Sri Lanka. 

1.2 Statement ofthe Problem 

Sri Lanka, formerly known as Ceylon, was a British colony until it gained 

independence in 1948. As a result, the business practices, education system, 

accounting system and so forth were inherited from the British. The British 

system of accounting was imposed on Sri Lanka during the colonial period 

through a number of avenues such as (1) setting up British business in Sri 

Lanka, (2) imposing British company law in Sri Lanka, and (3) exporting British 

accounting education to the island by recognising British accounting 

qualifications, establishing examination centres in Sri Lanka for British 

professional accounting bodies, and providing on-the-job training to local staff 

by British accountants. 
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Chapter 1: Introduction 

The colonial economy up to 1947 had been directed mainly towards 

the plantation based export sector with businesses set up by British investors as 

sole proprietorships, partnerships and limited liability companies following the 

British model. Consequently, during the pre-independence period and a few 

decades after gaining independence, British companies had a significant 

influence over the business affairs in Sri Lanka as the business sectors during 

this period were mainly driven by British administrators. The financial 

statements of these companies were also published primarily in Britain in order 

to comply with the British company legislation (Perera, 1985). 

Since the setting up of companies in the country during the colonial 

period, the Joint Stock Companies Ordinance No. 4 of 1861, which embodied 

the British company law, became the first company legislation in Sri Lanka. 

Although, from time to time, some of the changes in the British company law 

led to some amendments to the company legislation in Sri Lanka the local law 

did not keep pace with the British law. However, after the enactment ofthe UK 

Companies Act of 1929, steps were taken to revise the local company law and 

more closely follow the principles and provisions of the English Companies Act 

of 1929. As a result, the Companies Ordinance No. 51 of 1938 was enacted to 

amend and consolidate the law relating to companies in Sri Lanka. Until the 

Company Act No. 17 of 1982 was enacted, the Companies Ordinance No. 51 of 

1938 remained as the company law in Sri Lanka. The Companies Act of 1982, 

which replaced the 1938 Ordinance, was also based on the English Companies 

Act of 1948. 

With the establishment of a national professional accounting body in 

1959, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Sri Lanka (ICASL), Sri Lanka 
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Chapter 1: Introduction 

was able to take steps to train its own accountants and change accounting 

practices to suit local needs. Until the establishment of the ICASL any Sri 

Lankan who wished to enter the accounting profession had to depend entirely on 

one of the few professional accounting bodies in the U.K to obtain a 

professional qualification which was required for a person to practice as an 

accountant. However, after setting up of the ICASL, even though chartered 

accountants could be produced locally as well, the method of education and 

training adopted for producing such accountants continued to be the same as that 

of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (Wijewardene 

and Yapa, 1998). 

Same as accounting education, the country's accounting practices have 

also been dependent almost entirely on foreign practices. For example, the 

accounting standards established by the ICASL are based on the International 

Accounting Standards (IASs). Similarly, the company law in Sri Lanka still 

follows the old British model. 

Although the developments in the accounting environment were slow, 

the economic and business environment in Sri Lanka showed significant 

changes especially after 1978 with the introduction of the government's 

liberalised economic polices. As a result of these changes, a new industrial 

sector has emerged in the economy. The impact of these changes is visible in 

many areas. Average GDP per capita of the country increased from Rs. 9,608 

(US$ 362) in the 1980-89 period to Rs. 27,102 (US$549) in the 1990-95 period 

showing 182% increase over the five year period. Also, there is a significant 

change in the composition of production during the post-independence period. 

In 1948, tea, rubber, and coconut accounted for about 90 per cent of the 
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country's export earnings but today its contribution is less than 20 per cent. By 

contrast, the industrial contribution to GDP has grown from almost zero to 73 

per cent over the same period. Overall, despite the on-going ethnic conflict the 

economic activities in Sri Lanka have achieved impressive growth performance 

over the past two decades. 

As for the business environment, the developments in the stock market 

and the increased company formation made significant impact on the public 

participation in business activities. The stock market in Sri Lanka, which was 

also started under British administration when the Colombo Brokers Association 

(CBA) commenced the trading of shares in limited liability companies in 1896, 

showed a marked development through a number of reforms. The 

reorganisations taken place in the stock market since 1982 as well as the 

enactment ofthe Companies Act No. 17 of 1982 gave a significant boost to the 

company formation in Sri Lanka. In particular, the Colombo Stock Exchange 

(CSE) contributed to this process greatly by providing expanded facilities for 

raising company capital through issues of shares and other types of securities. 

Consequently, corporate financing gradually improved from the traditional 

borrowing from banks or other private sources to the issuing of shares to general 

public. As a response to these developments, there has been a steady growth in 

the formation of public listed companies during the last two decades. They have 

grown from 77 in 1976 to 239 companies in 2000. 

As described in the proceeding paragraphs, the economic and business 

environment in Sri Lanka has changed dramatically over the past few decades 

with the changes in major economic polices and the shift of emphasis on 

investments through private sector for economic development. In line with these 
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developments, the share market related activities have shown a marked 

improvement over the last two decades. Under this background where more and 

more people in the country are getting involved in business activities and 

decision making, it is apparent that the need for information for economic 

decision making has increased in the country as never before. 

Given the above changes, the role of financial disclosure has become 

very important for the smooth functioning of the free enterprise economy of Sri 

Lanka. As Mautz and May (1978, p.28-29) pointed out, financial disclosure is 

required to support a viable capital market which is essential for resource 

allocation within a free enterprise economy. One of the major bases on which 

such allocations rest is the track record of the various companies vying for 

capital, a track record that is found in their financial statements. This means that 

financial disclosure is important to any enterprise seeking capital or credit. It 

provides a company with the means of telling, its story, of appealing to investors 

and of comparing itself with others in the continuing competition for the limited 

amount of capital available. Therefore, with the increasing business activities 

and the development of capital market in Sri Lanka in recent years, one ought to 

expect a significant improvement in the financial disclosure practices as well. 

However, very little is known about the present state of financial 

disclosure practices in Sri Lanka or the changes of such practices in response to 

changes in the business environment. The studies that have examined this issue 

are limited to a few descriptive studies covering only some aspects of financial 

disclosure and none of these studies has been supported by empirical data . For 

1 Detailed explanations of all the disclosure studies done in Sri Lanka are provided under section 
3.3 of Chapter 3, which, reviews literature on previous disclosure studies in developed and 
emerging economies. 
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Chapter 1: Introduction 

example, Perera in 1975 described the state of accounting and its environment in 

Sri Lanka without providing any empirical evidence. A study done by 

Wickramarachchi (1978) was confined to the investigation of the formats used 

for reporting information on assets and liabilities in the balance sheet included 

in the annul reports of 41 public listed companies in Sri Lanka. In another study 

on the international accounting standards and developing countries, Perera 

(1988) provided an analysis of 30 published annual reports. However, his 

analysis on financial disclosure was limited to an examination of the extent to 

which those companies complied with such accounting standards. Accordingly, 

it is apparent that all of the previous studies had a very narrow scope for their 

investigations. Interestingly, no prior study has made any attempt to investigate 

either the extent of financial disclosure, both mandatory and voluntary, in all the 

sections of annual reports or the user satisfaction with regard to the information 

provided in annual reports. 

Given this situation, it is extremely difficult to make an accurate 

assessment of the present state of disclosure practices in Sri Lanka with the 

available information. However, as pointed out by previous research, several 

weaknesses in the Sri Lankan accounting education and practice, such as the use 

of a wide variety of alternative accounting procedures and practices by 

companies, the lack of uniformity in the practices adopted in reporting assets 

and liabilities, and the poor system of accounting education may suggest that 

some deficiencies exist in the present financial disclosure practices in Sri Lanka. 

In the light of the above background, this study attempts to examine 

whether the financial disclosures in Sri Lanka provide timely and adequate 

material information as required by various users of financial information. 
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Chapter 1: Introduction 

1.3 Purpose ofthe Study 

In view ofthe lack of prior research on the problem highlighted in the preceding 

section, the major purpose of this study is to critically evaluate the corporate 

disclosures in annual reports of public listed companies in Sri Lanka. This 

purpose is to be achieved in four phases. First, the study explores the historical 

development of corporate disclosure practices in Sri Lanka. Second, it examines 

the perceptions of various users of annual reports on the quality and quantity of 

information disclosed in annual reports. Third, it examines the current status of 

disclosure practices by evaluating the extent of disclosures in annual reports 

and, finally, it identifies the major deficiencies in the present system with a view 

to suggesting suitable remedial measures for the overall improvement of 

corporate disclosure practices in the country. Within this scope, the study seeks 

to explore answers to the following research questions: 

(1) What is the historical development and current status 
of corporate disclosure practices in Sri Lanka? 

(2) Do the current corporate disclosure practices in Sri 
Lanka satisfy the users' needs? 

(3) To what extent do the listed companies in Sri Lanka 
disclose information in their annual reports? 

(4) To what extent do the listed companies in Sri Lanka 
comply with the statutory disclosure requirements? 

(5) What additional information is required to satisfy the 
needs of users? 

1.4 Major Concepts, Scope and Research Design 

Financial disclosure, which can be defined as "any deliberate release of financial 

information whether numerical or qualitative, required or voluntary via formal 
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Chapter I: Introduction 

or informal channels" (Gibbins et al. 1990, p. 122) is an important aspect of 

corporate financial reporting. It can be classified into three types, namely. 

initial disclosure, ad-hoc disclosure and period disclosure. Initial disclosure (or 

capital market entry or re-entry disclosure) is usually made in the form of 

prospectus to raise capital for a new business or for an expansion of the existing 

business. While ad-hoc disclosure (or bulletins) serves as a means of 

announcing major news as deemed necessary, periodic disclosure is made to 

provide information on a regular basis to all interested parties in the form of 

annual financial reports or interim statements (Wallace, 1987, p. 26). Of these 

three types of disclosure, the period disclosure is considered the most commonly 

used method of communication between the company and its interested parties. 

Since the information needs of various users2 of financial information 

vary significantly, two types of periodic reports are prepared by companies in 

order to cater to their needs. These two types of periodic reports are known as 

special-purpose financial reports and general-purpose financial reports. While 

the special purpose reports are generally prepared on demand of a specific user 

group such as a long-term creditor or a government agency, the general purpose 

financial reports are by far the most widely used medium by which companies 

provide information to various users. Although interim reports have become 

popular specially among investors and are mandatory in many countries, it is the 

annul report that primarily serves as the most significant and practical source of 

information to users. Therefore, this study concentrates on the corporate 

The framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements of the ICASL 
identifies seven users of financial information. They are: investors, employees, lenders, 
suppliers and other trade creditors, customers, the government and its agencies, and the public. 

9 



Chapter I: Introduction 

financial disclosures in published annual reports of public listed companies in 

Sri Lanka. 

Considering the nature of this study, a descriptiv e research design is 

chosen. The overall purpose of descriptive research is to provide a picture of a 

phenomenon as it naturally occurs, as opposed to studying the impacts of the 

phenomenon or intervention (Bickman 1998, 14). As Jaggi (1973) points out, 

descriptive studies provide information regarding the present state of the art of 

accounting. These are usually exploratory in nature and attempt to determine the 

status of a particular discipline in a country. The findings from this type of 

research are considered to be conclusive in nature in that they are used as input 

into managerial decision-making. Moreover, descnptive design primarily uses 

secondary data, surveys, panels, and observational data as the source of 

information and presents the results through statistical analysis and graphical 

displays. Accordingly, the following steps have been followed in this research: 

a) At the outset, a comprehensive literature review was carried out to review 
the relevant literature on the financial reporting practices in emerging 
markets, followed by a review of publications and other documents on the 
historical development and current corporate disclosure practices in Sri 
Lanka. Through this process, the research problem and the research 
questions were identified. 

b) After the research problem and questions were identified, the concepts 
were related to propositions at the abstract level through formulation of 

number of hypotheses. 

c) A structured questionnaire survey was then conducted to collect data from 
seven major user groups: accountants, managers & executives, bankers, 
tax officers, academics, financial analysts, and investors,. After conducting 
different validity tests on the responses, the data were analysed using the 
computer based statistical package, SPSS. 

d) The latest annual reports of 65 public listed companies in Sri Lanka were 
collected and the information contained in these annual reports were 
entered into a score sheet developed on the basis of three disclosure 
indexes which contained 318 information items. The extent of information 
disclosed in the annual reports was examined through this analysis. 

10 
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e) Based on the results of the questionnaire survey and the annual report 
analysis, the existing financial disclosure practices were examined and 
some remedial measures were suggested as possible solutions to the 
problems identified. 

The research methodology (including the statistical tests) used for the 

analysis of responses to the questionnaire, the analysis based on annual reports. 

and the analysis of company characteristics in relation to disclosure practices are 

explained in detail in the early parts of Chapters five and six. 

1.5 Need for the Study 

As stated at the beginning of this chapter, the importance of improving corporate 

disclosure practices for the development of stock markets in both developed and 

developing countries has been highlighted in many studies3. In order to improve 

such practices, it is essential that continued research be carried out not only for 

examining the current status but also for identifying deficiencies and exploring 

suitable remedial measures. In economically developed countries, there is a 

plethora of research studies carried out each year to investigate into various 

aspects of financial reporting practices in their companies. Financial Reporting 

in Canada and Australian Company Financial Reporting published every year 

are two of such studies that contribute immensely to the improvement of 

corporate disclosure practices in Canada and Australia. Unfortunately, research 

carried out in this area in emerging markets is very limited. Therefore, there is 

certainly a need for this type of research in such markets. 

As briefly outlined in the statement of the problem, the accounting 

education and practice in Sri Lanka have been based on the British system. 

Nevertheless, Sri Lanka and the United Kingdom are significantly different from 

3 For example see chapter 3—A corporate financial disclosure: A literature review. 
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each other in terms of their cultural, social and economic conditions. 

Consequently, some disclosure practices inherited from the British system may 

not be appropriate for Sri Lanka. It may also be that new developments in the 

disclosure practices of British companies have not been adopted by Sri Lankan 

companies. Moreover, it may be that even if some disclosure practices inherited 

from the British system are applicable and useful to Sri Lankan companies may 

not be making use of them adequately. More importantly, some disclosure 

practices in Sri Lanka may need to be adapted or new practices be added to suit 

the cultural, social and economic conditions of the country. Furthermore, it may 

be that companies do not comply with some disclosure requirements even when 

they are imposed by law. Unfortunately, no information is available in respect of 

any of the above aspects of corporate disclosure in Sri Lanka because no study 

or survey has ever been conducted to examine these issues. Nevertheless, such 

information is essential for policy makers to identify deficiencies and take 

suitable remedial action to improve corporate disclosure practices, which are 

crucial for the development ofthe country's capital market. 

In many of the developed countries, research carried out by 

independent researchers, such as academics and market analysts, have had a 

tremendous impact on the overall improvement of corporate disclosures in those 

countries. As discussed before, Sri Lanka Accounting Standards issued by the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka, laws and regulations issued by 

the Securities Exchange Commission of Sri Lanka (SEC) and the Colombo 

Stock Exchange, and the Companies Act provide guidelines for reporting 

practices in Sri Lanka. However, these guidelines are based primarily on foreign 

practices and opinions of the people involved in their formulation. Since no 

12 
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prior empirical studies have examined the suitability of these guidelines, their 

effectiveness has remained unchecked. Thus, this type of studies can also help 

policy makers in their decision-making towards further improving the guidelines 

and pronouncements relating to corporate disclosure practices in Sri Lanka. As 

such, it is apparent that the need for this type of a study for Sri Lanka is very 

critical and urgent. 

1.6 Limitations ofthe Study 

This study is subject to a few limitations. First, the scope of the study was 

limited to an examination of the financial disclosure in corporate annual reports 

which constitute the main type of reports used in periodic disclosures. 

Therefore, for pragmatic reasons, no attempt was made to examine the other two 

types of financial disclosure, namely, initial disclosure and ad-hoc disclosure or 

to examine the other reports used in periodic disclosures. Second, although the 

objective of this study was to investigate the financial disclosure practices of all 

listed companies in Sri Lanka, the companies belonging to some business 

sectors, such as banking, finance, insurance and investment trust, had to be 

excluded from the study due to the vast differences in their disclosure 

requirements as against those of other sectors and the lack of availability of 

annual reports. Therefore, the sectors covered by this study was confined to 

manufacturing, beverage, food and tobacco; chemical and pharmaceuticals; 

diversified; footwear and textile, motors; trading; and hotels and travel as 

classified by the Colombo Stock Exchange. Third, since the disclosure indexes 

used for measuring the extent of financial disclosure are unique to this study, the 

researcher's subjectivity in selecting information items could not have been 

removed completely despite the precaution taken when constructing the indexes. 

13 
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Finally, since a questionnaire survey was used as one of the major tools of data 

collection, the limitations commonly associated with all questionnaire survevs 

were applicable to this study. 

1.7 Organisation ofthe thesis 

The study is organised in seven chapters. Chapter one provides an introduction 

to the study, highlighting the problem, purpose of the study, research design, 

need for the study and limitations ofthe study. 

Since this study focuses on one of the emerging markets, Sri Lanka. 

Chapter two begins with an introduction to emerging markets in general and 

then highlights their major features, concentrating primarily on the economic. 

business, and accounting environment of these markets, including Sri Lanka. 

Chapter three presents a detailed review of the previous research on 

corporate disclosure practices in developed and emerging markets. Considering 

the fact that previous studies in this area are very diverse, they are discussed 

under four distinctive categories: Disclosure studies of developed markets, 

disclosure studies of emerging markets, disclosure studies in Sri Lanka, and 

other relevant disclosure studies. In addition to presenting the major findings of 

theses studies, this chapter also highlights the shortcomings of previous 

disclosure studies. 

Chapter four describes the evolution of corporate financial reporting 

practices in Sri Lanka with special reference to its legal and institutional 

framework. The first section provides an introduction to the historical 

development of corporate disclosure practices in the country. The next part of 

this chapter examines the role of professional accounting institutes, the history 

and development of the stock market, the role of the Securities and Exchange 
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Commission and other major institutions/bodies that paly a role in corporate 

disclosure practices. Finally, the mandatory corporate disclosures, as required by 

the Companies Act, the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, the Colombo Stock 

Exchange, and the Securities and Exchange Act are discussed in the third 

section. 

Chapter five presents an analysis of the information needs of various 

users of annual reports in Sri Lanka. This analysis is based on the results of a 

questionnaire survey of 575 users. The first section of this chapter sets out the 

background information and the research questions. This is followed by a 

discussion on the methods of examination, the questionnaire design and 

selection of information items, the sample selection, and the response rates and 

test of non-response bias. The final section deals with the forming and testing of 

hypotheses and the analysis of results. 

Chapter six examines the extent of financial disclosure in annual 

reports of public listed companies in Sri Lanka. This examination is based on 

three disclosure indexes, namely, mandatory, voluntary and overall. 

Accordingly, the first section provides a description of the method used for 

preparing indexes, the selection of items, and the calculation of scores under 

each index. The second section explains the sample selection and the sample 

profiles. The third section presents the results ofthe analysis. 

Chapter seven presents the summary, major findings of the study, 

conclusions and recommendations. In addition, some insights are also provided 

for future research. 
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Chapter 2 

The Nature and Environment of 
Emerging Markets 

2.1 Introduction 

Accounting is a product of its environment, and a particular environment is 

unique to its time and locality (Perera 1975). Thus, a fair understanding of the 

environment of a particular country is necessary for making any evaluation of its 

accounting practices. Since the subject matter of this study is corporate 

disclosure practices in Emerging Markets (EMs), it is imperative that a fair 

knowledge of the general environment within which such practices operate and 

factors that influence the accounting environment is obtained before attempting 

to evaluate the present state of corporate disclosure practices and the associated 

problems in a particular country. Therefore, this chapter aims to (a) define an 

emerging market, (b) identify the characteristics of such markets, (c) make a 

general evaluation of the accounting environment and practices of E M s , and (d) 

provide an overview of Sri Lanka as an emerging market. 

2.2 What is an Emerging Market? 

The phrase "Emerging Markets" is a relatively new expression used to identify a 

group of countries with similar economic characteristics. A s seen in the 

literature, it is being adopted in place of the previous lexicon of "developing 

countries," "less developed countries," "newly industrializing countries," or even 

"Third World countries." However, despite the increased use ofthe phrase, there 

is no one commonly accepted definition for emerging markets. 
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In general, there are three aspects of a country's economy that often 

underlie various definitions of EMs. First, the absolute level of economic 

development, usually indicated by the average GDP per capita income of the 

country or the relative balance of agrarian and industrial/ commercial activity. 

Second, the relative place of economic development, usually indicated by the 

GDP growth rate. Third, the system of market governance, in particular the 

extent and stability of a free-market system. Although, second and third criteria 

are intuitively closer to the sense of change implied by "emerging" and critically 

important to prospective investors, the first criterion is found to be the one used 

more frequently (Arnold and Quelec, 1998). 

The International Finance Corporation (IFC) which provides detailed 

information on EMs has also dealt with the issue of defining EMs and from time 

to time has changed the criteria used to identify EMs. An earlier definition given 

by IFC (1993, pp.3-4) provided thirteen characteristics to identify an EM. They 

were: (1) the host country, itself is undergoing development (2) the recent 

privatisation of state-owned enterprises, (3) the stock exchange is newly created, 

(4) the underlying economy is rebounding from the international debt crisis ofthe 

1980s, (5) the underlying financial system is undergoing broad reforms, (6) the 

sectors that had been closed to foreign investment are newly opened, (7) a wide 

range of investment instruments is expanding, (8) the exchanges are undergoing 

wide-ranging institutional reforms, (9) the liberalised exchange rules promote its 

listed stocks to find their way into foreign investment portfolios, (10) the listed 

firms possess characteristics of long-term business and financial strength, (11) 

the listed firms are globally competitive, (12) the listed stocks offer significant 
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diversification for global portfolios, and (13) the listed stocks tend to be 

undervalued. 

However, as quoted below the explanation or the current definition 

provided by IFC to identify an EM is much simpler than the one it used 

previously. 

Emerging Markets can be defined in different ways. The term 
"emerging Market" can imply that a process of change is 
underway, with stock market growing in size and sophistication, 
in contrast to markets that are small and stagnant. The term can 
also refer to any market in a developing economy, with the 
implication that all have the potential for development. A stock 
market then be said to be "emerging" if it meets at least one of 
two general criteria: (i) an Emerging Economy Criterion, and (ii) 
Developing Stock market Criterion (IFC, 1997, p.2). 

Although, in the past, the IFC's definition of an EM was aligned only to an 

emerging economy measure (i.e. if a country's GNP per capita did not exceed the 

World bank's threshold for being a high income country, its stock market was 

said to be emerging), IFC is now proposing to add a complementary criterion to 

take into account the cases where country may exceed the World Bank threshold, 

and the qualitative measures to be added under the "Developing Stock Market 

Criterion" (IFC, 1997). Since the existing Emerging Economy Criterion, which 

follows the World Bank classification of economies as low, middle, or high 

income, is to be retained, effectively a market located in a developing country is 

identified as an emerging market. Table 2-1 below lists all the World Bank 

member economies with populations of more than 30,000. Economies are 

divided among income groups according to 1998 GNP per capita, calculated 

using the World Bank Atlas method. Accordingly, the groups are: low-income, 

US$760 or less; lower-middle-income, US$761-$3030; upper-middle-income. 

US$3031-$9360; and high-income, US$9361 or more. 
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Table 2-1 

Classification of Economies by Income (1999) 

LOW INCOME COUNTRIES " "" | 

Region 

: East and Southern 
| Africa 
i 
i 

! West Africa 

East Asia and Pacific 

South Asia 

Eastern Europe and 
Central Asia 

Middle East 

Americas 

Total | Country Name j 

CO
 

1 

20 
1 

! 9 

! 

6 

"""" 

6 

i 
1 1 

3 

I 63 

Angola, Burundi, Comoros, Congo Democratic Republic, Eritrea, j 
i Ethiopia, Kenya, Lesotho, Madagascar, Malawi, Mozambique, 
! Rwanda, Somalia, Sudan, Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia, Zimbabwe 
! i 

Benin, Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Central African Republic, Chad, 
, Congo Republic, Cote d' Ivoire, Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Guinea-
| Bissaue, Liberia, Mali, Mauritania, Niger, Nigeria, Sao Tome and 
I Principe, Senegal, Sierra Leone, Togo 

I Cambodia, China, Indonesia, Korea Democratic Republic, Lao PDR, 
| Mongolia, Myanmar, Solomon Islands, Vietnam 

| Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, India, Nepal, Pakistan 

! 

j Armenia, Azebaijan, Kyrgyz Republic, Moldova, Tajikistan, 
Turkmenistan 

Yemen Republic 

J Haiti, Honduras: Nicaragua 

I 

| MIDDLE INCOME (LOWER) COUNTRIES 

r Region 

East and Southern Africa 

West Africa 

East Asia and Pacific 

South Asia 

Eastern Europe and 
Central Asia 

I Middle East 

North Africa 

Total 

4 

2 

10 

I 2 

14 

5 

4 

I Country Name 

Djibouti, Namibia, South Africa, Swaziland 

C a p e Verde, Equatorial Guinea 

Fiji, Kiribati, Marshall Islands, Micronesia- Federal 
| State, P a p u a N e w Guinea, Philippines, S a m o a , 
j Thailand, Tonga, Vanuatu 

i 

j Maldives, Sri Lanka 

i 

Albania, Belarus, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, 
Georgia, Kazakhstan, Latvia, Lithuania, Macedonia 
F Y R , Romania, Russian Federation, Ukraine, 
Uzbekistan, Yugoslavia Federal Republic 

i 

! Iran, Islamic Republic, Iraq, Jordan, Syrian Arab 
Republic, W e s t B a n k and G a z a 

i Algeria, Egypt- Arab Republic, Morocco, Tunisia 

19 



Chapter 2: The Nature and Environment of Emerging Markets 

'• Americas 16 Belize, Bolivia, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Dominica, 
Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador. Guatemala. 
Guyana, Jamaica, Paraguay, Peru, St. Vincent and the 
Grenadines, Suriname 

L57J 

UPPER MIDDLE INCOME (UPPER) COUNTRIES 

Region 

East and Southern Africa 

West Africa 

East Asia and Pacific 

I 
Eastern Europe and 
Central Asia 

i Rest of Europe 
i 

Middle East 

I North Africa 

Americas 

I 

i TotaT 

4 

1 

4 

6 

i 

i 

I 
i 

2 

4 

1 

15 

L 37 

i Country Name 

Botswana, Mauritius, Mayotte, Seychelles 

! Gabon 

American Samoa, Korea Republic, Malaysia, Palau 

Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Poland, 
Slovak Republic 

Isle of Man, Turkey 

I 
Bahrain, Lebanon, O m a n , Saudi Arabia 

Libya, 

i -
Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Barbados, Brazil, 

! Chile, Grenada, Guadeloupe, Mexico, Panama, Puerto 
Rico, St. Kitts and Nevis, St. Lucia, Trinidad and 

I Tobago, Uruguay, Venezuela 
i -

I HIGH I N C O M E COUNTRIES 

\ Region 

East and Southern Africa 

East Asia and Pacific 

Eastern Europe and 
Central Asia 

j Rest of Europe 

i 

! 

("Total 

! 1 
i 

12 

1 

i 

25 

I 

I Country Name 

Re'union 

Australia, Japan, N e w Zealand, Brunei, French 
Polynesia, G u a m , Hong Kong-China, Macao, N e w 

; Caledonia, N. Mariana Islands, Singapore, Taiwan-
; China 

: Slovenia 

i Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, 
| Greece, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, 
| Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, 
j Switzerland, United Kingdom, Andorra, Channel 
! Islands, Cyprus, Faeroe Islands, Greenland, 
| Liechtenstein, Monaco 
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Middle East 4 

North Africa 

Americas 

1 

10 

Israel, Kuwait, Qatar, United Arab Emirates 

; Malta 

i Canada, United States, Aruba, Bahamas-The, 
i Bermuda, C a y m a n Islands, French Guiana, Martinique, 
; Netherlands Antilles, Virgin Islands ( U S ) 

- r i a l i 
Source: World Development Report, 1999/2000 

As shown in Table 2-1, all 211 World Bank member economies with 

populations over 30,000 have been classified into three income groups based on 

their income. These three groups are: Low Income Group (63 countries), Middle 

Income Group (94 Countries), and High Income Group (54 Countries). Based on 

the emerging economic measure which identifies countries in low and middle-

income groups as emerging markets or EMs and countries in high income group 

as Developed Markets or DMs, the total number of EMs and DMs amounts to 

157 and 54 respectively. Table 2-2 provides a summary of these countries by 

region. 

Table 2-2 

Classification of Economies by Region (1999) 

Economies 

Americas 

East and Southern Africa 

East Asia and Pacific 

Eastern Europe and Centra! Asia 

Middle East 

f North Africa 

Rest of Europe 

\ Emerging Markets 

Markets 

34 

26 

1 "23 
i 

26 

r~ 10 
___ ._ _.. 

r _u 
i South Asia ! 8 

| West Africa 

| Totals 

23 

157 

i 

% 

77.3 

96.3 

65.7 

96J1 
71.4 

T 83.3 

7.4 

100.0 

i 100.0 

I 

I Developed Markets 
i 

Markets 

10 

i 1 
' 12 

I 1 

~4 

% 

227 

3.7 

34.3 

3.7 

28.(T 

n 1 "ir-167" 

25 

0 

0 

54 

92.6 

; 0.0 

| 0.0 

i Total I 
i 

44 

27 

35 

27 

r""""14 

r " "6" 
27 

• 

8 

~23~] 

| 211 

Source: World Development Report, 1999/2000 
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As shown in the above table, the majority of countries in every region. 

except Europe excluding Eastern Europe, are EMs. Moreover, all countries 

located in South Asia and West Africa are classified as EMs. On the contrary. 87 

per cent ofthe DMs are located in three regions, Americas, East Asia and Pacific, 

and Europe excluding Eastern Europe. 

Sri Lanka, the subject market of this study, is classified by IFC as an 

emerging market based on the World Bank listing of the country in the middle-

income group. Given the inconsistencies among current definitions, a broad 

definition of EMs, which considers developing countries synonymous with EMs, 

is used in this study. 

2.3 Characteristics of an Emerging Market 
2.3.1 General 

The countries that have been classified as E M s are so diverse in economic, 

social, political, cultural and many other aspects. By location, they are spread all 

over major regions (see Table 2-2) and inherit different geographical features and 

natural resources. Therefore, finding common characteristics of EMs is an 

extremely difficult task. However, in order to facilitate the discussion of this 

study, an attempt is made in this section to identify some characteristics common 

to EMs in general. 

Firstly, as already shown in Table 2-1, the income difference between EMs 

and DMs is very significant. While the GNP per capita income of 157 EMs (see 

Table 2-2) is less than US$9,360 (76% of EMs are having per capital income of 

less than US$ 3030), the per capita income ofthe 54 DMs is between US$ 9,360 

and US$ 40,000. Table 2-3 provides some summarised data on the income 

disparity between EMs and DMs. 
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Table 2-3 

G N P and G N P Per Capita (1998) 

Group 

j Low income 

{ Lower-middle 

Upper- middle 

JHigh 

World 

Emerging Markets 

Developed Markets 

r • 

i 

Number of 
Economies 

63 

1 57 
37 

54 

211 

157 

54 

i 

GNP GNP per capita 
(US$ Bill) : (US$) 

1843.7 520 

1557.4 1710 I 

2862.1 

22599.0 

28862.2 

4860 ! 

25510 

4890 

6263.3 ""1250 

22599.0 25510 

I 
Source: World Development Report, 1999/2000 

Accordingly, the total GNP of all 157 EMs, amounting to USS 6,263.3 

billions, is about 3.6 times smaller than the total G N P of all 54 DMs. Similarly. 

the G N P per capita of all the EMs, amounting to USS 1,250. is about 20 times 

smaller than that of D M s , indicating a huge income gap between these two 

groups of countries. 

Secondly, the population and population density in E M s are higher in 

comparison to those in DMs. Table 2-4 below shows some summarised data 

relating to the population in EMs. 

Table 2-4 

Population (1998) 

1 
j Low income 

| Lower - middle 

! Upper-middle 

i High 

World 

Emerging Markets 

1 Developed Markets 

! Number of 
| Economies 

j 63 

| 57 

! 37 

54 

211 

157 

j 54 

Population 
(millions) 

i 

j 3515 

j 908 

588 

885 

! 5897 

5011 

885 

Population Density 
i (People per sq.km) 

i 85 

1 25 

27 

29 

45 

50 

29 

Source: World Development Report, 1999/2000 
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As shown in the above table, E M s account for about 85 per cent of the 

world's population with the total population of EMs amounting to 5,011 million 

as against 885 million in DMs. Similarly, the population density of EMs is about 

1.7 times higher than that of DMs with 50 people per square kilometre in EMs as 

against 29 in DMs. 

Thirdly, there is a significant difference in the way the GDP is spread 

between these two groups. Table 2-5 provides some data on the contribution of 

three major sectors ofthe economy to the GDP in EMs and DMs. 

Table 2-5 

Structure of GDP and its trends 
(Value added as a % of GDP) 

Market 

Emerging Markets 

Developed Markets 

Agncultire 

1980 

18 

1998 

12 

3 || ? 

Manufacturing 

1980 

25 

25 

I II 

1998 

23 

19 

Service 

1980 

42 

59 

l " 

1998 

51 

65 

Source: World Development Report, 1999/2000 

The data shown in the above table indicate two main features of the 

structure of GDP in the two markets. Firstly, the contribution of the agricultural 

sector to the economies in EMs (12% in 1998) is higher than that in DMs (2% in 

1998). However, in comparison to the situation prevailed in 1980, the relative 

dependence on the agricultural sector seems to have deceased in both markets 

significantly over the last two decades. Secondly, the service sector contribution 

is also lower in EMs (51% in 1998) in comparison to that in DMs (65% in 

1998). Contrary to the situation in the agricultural sector, however, the relative 

contribution ofthe service sector has increased by 21% in EMs and 10% in DMs 

over the last two decades. Surprisingly, the contribution of the manufacturing 

sector, which was 25% in 1980 in both markets, has decreased to 23% in EMs 
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and 1 9 % in D M s in 1998. Despite the high dependence of most E M s on the 

primary sector production, many EMs recently have made considerable structural 

changes in their economies driving towards industrialization. For example, 

countries such as South Korea and Malaysia are industrialising rapid]v. 

catapulting their economies from agrarian fiefdoms to high-tech havens. 

Fourthly, the economies of EMs are growing faster than those of DMs. 

Thus, they are being referred to as high-growth economies (SQ-2). Many 

economists expect this differential in growth rates to persist for years, if not 

decades (World Bank, 2000). The following table shows the GDP growth rates of 

both EMs and DMs over the last two decades. 

Table 2-6 

GDP Growth (%) 

Region 

Emerging Markets 

East Asia and Pacific 

Europe and Central Asia 

Latin America and Carib. 

Middle East and North Africa 

South Asia 

Sub-Saharan Africa 

Developed Markets 

1980-90 

35 

8.0 

1.6 

2.0 

5.7 

1.8 

3T~ 

1990-98 

_ 3-3 Z _ J 
I 

3.7 

3.0 

2.2 

Source: World Development Report, 1999/2000 

As shown in the Table 2-6, the G D P growth rates of E M s for the 1980-90 

and 1990-98 periods were 3.5 and 3.3 per cent respectively, compared to 3.1 and 

2.1 ofthe DMs during the same period. As in the case of many other aspects, the 

GDP growth rates also vary significantly within countries and even within 

regions. Interestingly, over the 1980-90 and 1990-98 periods, the low-income 

countries in EMs enjoyed a remarkably high growth rate of 6.6 and 7.3 per cent 

respectively, showing much higher growth rates than those of DMs. This is 

obvious because DMs have already reached maturity in industrial and economic 
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development. O n the regional basis, E M s in East Asia and Pacific recorded a 

growth rate of about 8 per cent during this period while it was around 2 per cent 

in Sub-Saharan Africa during the same period. In the South Asian region, where 

Sri Lanka is located, the GDP growth rate during the 1980-1998 period was 5.7 

per cent, a much higher rate in comparison to the GDP growth in DMs during the 

same period. While Sri Lanka's GDP growth during the 1980-90 and 1990-1998 

periods was 4.0 and 5.3 per cent respectively, some other EMs in the Asian 

region such as China (10.2% and 11.1%), Thailand (7.6% and 7.4%). Malaysia 

(5.3%) and 7.7%) and India (5.8% and 6.1%) achieved much higher rates of 

growth during the same periods. 

Even though the above-mentioned general differences can be identified 

between countries in the EMs and DMs, given the diversity ofthe EMs, it is very 

difficult to identify any specific characteristics common to all EMs. For example, 

given the meaning of the term "emerging," one might get an idea that these 

markets are small in size, lack in efficiency, etc. However, a close view of EMs 

reveals that they include some of the largest and most liquid markets in the 

world, several long-established markets where trading still takes place over tea, 

and many markets where the latest technology has been installed to expedite 

trading, settlement, portfolio management, market supervision, and information 

dissemination (IFC, 1997). As such, any further attempt to identify specific 

features of EMs may be a futile exercise simply because such markets are so 

diverse that no generalities apply. 

The characteristics stated above are related to the social and economic 

aspects of EMs. Obviously, there are many other political, social, and cultural 

aspects where disparities may be found between EMs and DMs. However, since 
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the subject matter of this study is closely related to the stock markets, the scope 

of the following sections is limited to a discussion on some important aspects of 

stock markets in EMs. 

2.3.2 Stock Markets 

It is difficult to differentiate quantitatively the status of stock markets in EMs 

from that in DMs. For example, if the status of EMs is measured in terms of 

performance indicators, many EMs could be found both at the top and bottom of 

a list ofthe world's best performing stock markets. For instance, in 1996 EMs 

swept the top 15 spots on a list of 76 world stock markets for annual performance 

measured in dollar terms. Only Spain and Sweden from the DMs were among the 

top 20 on the list, which included 54 markets from developing countries and 22 

from developed countries. The worst performing markets were also concentrated 

in EMs. For example, 21 world equity markets dropped in price in 1996, of 

which 19 were EMs (IFC, 1997). 

However, by looking at some standard quantitative and qualitative 

indicators of these markets it is possible to get some insights on the status of 

stock markets in the two groups. Table 2-7 and Table 2-8 below present two 

stock market indicators, namely, measures of size (number of listed domestic 

companies and market capitalisation1) and liquidity (turnover ratio and value 

traded as a percentage of GDP). It should be noted that the comparability of such 

indicators between countries may be limited by conceptual and statistical 

weaknesses such as inaccurate reporting and differences in accounting standards. 

1 Market Capitalisation (also known as market value) is the share price times the number of 
shares outstanding. It is the total value ofthe various securities issued by a company and may 
include Debentures, Preference Shares, and total amount of other share issues such as Bonus 

and Right issues. 
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Table 2-7 
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(end of period level) 

Market 

Emerging Markets 

Developed Markets 

| World Total 

1 1987 1996 

i Firms • % Firms ' 

11296 J 38.6 j 22263 l: 

I 17982 : 61.4 20141 I 

! 29278 100.0 42404 \ 

% 

52.5 

47 5 \ 

100 0 i 

1 II Ii 1 

Market 

Emerging Markets 

[ Developed Markets 

rWorfdTotaf 

Capital Market Capitalisation 
(USS Billions; end of period level) 

| 1987 1996 

US$Bn % : USSBn 

! 331.7 4.2 ; 2226.0 

j""'"74997 li 95.8 r 17951.7 

r ^ ^ 100.0 f 20T77.7^ 

Vii 
11.0 

89.0 

ioo cTl 
! 1 1 ||' 1 | 

. .. . 

Market 

Capital Market Capitalisation (% of G D P ) 
(end of period level) 
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j 

! 

Emerging Markets 

Developed Markets 

World Total 

18.9 31.3 

i 56.4" 97.8 

51.8 84.6 

Sources: International Finance Corporation, Emerging Stock Markets Factbook, 
1997 and World Bank, World Development Report, 2000. 

Stock market size can be measured in a number of ways, each of which 

may produce a different ranking among different countries. The number of 

domestic listed companies is one such measure of market size. Another and most 

important measure is the market capitalisation which shows the overall size of 

the stock markets in US dollars and as a percentage of GDP. As shown in the 

above table, the number of domestic listed companies in EMs has increased from 

11,296 in 1987 to 22,263 in 1996, almost doubling the number of companies 

over the 9-year period. As a result of these increases, the representation of 

companies in EMs in the world context has increased from 38.6 per cent in 1987 

to 52.5 per cent in 1996, while the representation of DMs has declined from 61.4 
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per cent in 1987 to 47.5 per cent in 1996. Accordingly, it is seen that the majority 

of domestic listed companies are now located in the EMs. 

However, the size ofthe companies in EMs in dollar values is very much 

smaller than that of such companies in DMs. According to the data shown in the 

above table, in 1987, the market capitalisation of EMs represented 4.2 per cent of 

the total market capitalisation of 7,831.4 billion US dollars. By 1996, it increased 

to 11 per cent ofthe total market capitalisation of 20,177.7 billion US dollars. 

Accordingly, although the relative size of EMs in terms of market capitalisation 

is still a small proportion of world market capitalisation, it is growing at a much 

higher rate than that of DMs. Statistically, market capitalisation of EMs has 

increased 6.7 times during 1987-96, while the world market capitalisation has 

increased only by 2.4 times. This net increase in market capitalization of EMs 

over the years has been the result of increases in listings, new issues, and share 

prices in many EMs. 

When market capitalisation is expressed as a percentage of GDP, it 

indicates the relative size of the stock market in relation to the size of the 

economy. According to the data shown in Table 2-7, stock markets of EMs are 

very much smaller than the size of their economies. The market capitalisation of 

EMs is only 18.9 per cent ofthe total GDP of EMs in 1990. Although the market 

capitalisation of stocks markets has increased to 31.3 per cent of GDP by 1997, it 

still remained a small amount in comparison to the situation in DMs, where the 

market capitalisation has increased from 56.4 per cent of GDP in 1990 to 97.8 

per cent in 1997. These data indicate that economic significance of stock markets 

in DMs is very much higher than that in EMs. 
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Another major stock market indicator is the market liquidity, which 

indicates the ability to buy and sell securities. This is measured by dividing the 

total value of shares traded by G D P . It complements the market capitalisation 

ratio by showing whether the market size is matched by trading. The turnover 

ratio—the value of shares traded as a percentage of market capitalisations—is 

also a measure of liquidity as well as of transactions costs. The turnover ratio 

complements the ratio of value added to G D P , because turnover is related to the 

size of the economy. Liquidity is an important attribute of stock market 

development because, in theory, liquid markets improve the allocation of capital 

and enhance prospects for long-term economic growth (World Bank, 2000). 

The data relating to the market liquidity situation in E M s and D M s are 

shown in Table 2-8 below. 

Table 2-8 

Liquidity of stock Market 

Value Traded (% of G D P ) 
(end of period level) 

Market 

i Emerging Markets 

Developed Markets 

World Total 

1990 

5.3 

32.4 

29.0 
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20.9 

81.9 

69.9 

_______________________•__________•• 
Turnover Ratio 

(Value Traded as % of Market Capitalisation) 
(end of period level) 

Market 1990 

I 
Emerging Markets 

Developed Markets 

1998 ; 

! 

! ! 46.3 

48.7 74.9 | 
• ^ 

Source: World Bank, World Development Report, 2000. 

The two market liquidity indicators given in the above table show a low 

level of liquidity in E M s as against a high level of liquidity in D M s . In 1990. the 
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value traded as a percentage of G D P in E M s was only 5.3 compared to 32.4 in 

DMs. Although this ratio in EMs increased to 20.9 per cent by 1997, the market 

liquidity of EMs remained still at a very low level when compared with the 

liquidity position of DMs, which increased from 32.4 per cent to 81.9 per cent 

during the same period. Similar results are shown by the turnover ratio. It must 

be noted, however, that although the liquidity level of EMs is generally very 

much lower than that of DMs, there are some stock markets in EMs with very 

high liquidity levels. For example, the turnover ratios of EMs such as China 

(130.1%), Korea Republic (184.7%), and Pakistan (114.3%) in 1998 were very 

much higher than the turnover ratio of DMs (74.9%). 

Although the above-mentioned quantitative indicators of market 

development provide a clear distinction between EMs and DMs, they do not 

portray a complete picture of the difference between the two markets. Indictors 

more difficult to determine, but may be even more important, are the "soft," 

qualitative factors of improved market efficiency in terms of transaction costs; 

clearing, custody and settlement procedures; corporate governance and disclosure 

standards; accounting and auditing standards, and standards of company and 

economic research (IFC, 1997). Although these aspects cannot be measured 

quantitatively, they are said to be better in shape in DMs than in EMs. The 

development of these aspects is very sensitive to individual market conditions, 

making the generalisation a difficult task. However, there have been serious 

attempts on the part of emerging market companies, brokerage firms, stock 

exchanges, and regulators towards increased accommodation to the legitimate 

demands of domestic and international investors. 
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One of the major aspects not visible from the quantitative indicators is the 

existence of social, political and economic risk of a country. For example, in 

many of EMs, problems such as insider trading, inadequate disclosure of 

information, influence of economic and political factors that affect share prices 

are prevalent despite efforts taken by these markets to improve the situation. 

Although these problems can sometimes occur in DMs as well, what is really 

lacking in EMs are the established monitoring mechanisms and strong punitive 

actions for prosecuting violators. Although such mechanisms can improve the 

investor confidence, many EMs seems to have failed to recognise their 

importance possibly because of the small size of their stock markets. However, 

with increasing attention to the raising of capital through stock markets in recent 

years, many EMs are now taking action to establish such systems to boost 

investor confidence (Sheimo, 1996). 

There are many other obstacles io the development of stock markets in 

EMs. Some of these obstacles are caused by the unpredictability ofthe economic, 

political and social aspects in EMs. For example, the recent currency crisis (i.e. 

Asia in 1997; Russian devaluation in 1998) inflicted heavy damage on EM 

investors. An additional operational risk of investing in EMs is the capital 

controls imposed by the respective governments, [i.e. restriction upon 

repatriation of interest, profits and dividends as well as principal (original and 

capital)!. Furthermore, high interest in EMs (compared to DMs) coupled with 

inefficient cost control mechanisms in some companies often lead to lower 

returns on capital. Economic fundamentals of most EMs are improving, although 

at a slower pace. However, much more needs to be done in EMs in order to 

attract investment especially from foreign countries. Among the non-stock 
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market related aspects that the investors focus on are the macro economic 

polices, political situation, foreign exchange reserves and a debt profile (Siddiqi. 

2001). 

More importantly, however, EMs need to address the specific problems 

confronted by stock exchanges in their development efforts. Most of these 

problems are related to the lack of regulations and improper implementation. 

Already, many EMs have identified the importance of addressing these issues 

seriously and are now taking necessary actions such as passing securities 

legislation, establishing regulatory commissions and self-regulatory 

organisations, and building designated investor protection funds to encourage 

investment within the country or from the international investment community. 

The establishment, implementation, and active compliance of theses 

organisations and funds are essential to the growth and development of any stock 

market. It is compliance with rules, which make the market both fair and orderly, 

that allows the market to have "transparency'. Compliance allows the 

institutional and individual investors a fair opportunity to profit from a successful 

business. The potential for profit is still the primary reason for investing in 

shares. 

2.4 Corporate Disclosure Environment and Accounting Issues 
in Emerging Markets 
As pointed out in the preceding sections, the social, cultural, economic and 

business differences between EMs are highly diverse. This is also true in the 

case of corporate disclosure environment and accounting practices in EMs. To 

assume that all EMs are homogeneous and to conclude that they have similar 

corporate disclosure environment and accounting practices would take 

generalization too far. However, with varying degree of existence, we can still 
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find some c o m m o n accounting characteristics in these countries. The following 

sections very briefly summarize some of these common features of the 

accounting environment in these countries2. 

A common factor that came out from previous studies of accounting 

practices in EMs was that the accounting systems of those countries are 

deficient. There have been many weaknesses pointed out about the financial 

accounting and reporting systems of EMs. Some of the major weaknesses are: 

poor internal control; lack of management accounting concepts; incomplete, 

inaccurate and late reports, un-auditable systems; shortage of staff; unreliability: 

inadequacy of financial accountancy; irrelevant and deficient reporting 

(Wallace, 1990). Vishwanath and Kaufmann (2001, p.50) also observed a 

number of problems experienced by EMs. They were: failure to establish 

rigorous accounting conventions; the lack of uniform reporting requirements and 

the absence of penalties for publishing false information; poor information 

systems that exacerbate the difficulties of assessing the creditworthiness of 

borrowers; and inadequate supervision and enforcement. Moreover, the 

seriousness ofthe status of accounting practice in EMs was further exposed by a 

review of accounting practices in five East Asian countries (Indonesia, 

Malaysia, the Philippines, the Republic if Korea, and Thailand) conducted by 

Rahman (1998). His examination on the assessment of how actual accounting 

practices deviated from published accounting statistics, such as related party 

transactions, foreign currency debt, and contingent liabilities, revealed that the 

non-compliance of IASs by these countries likely to have triggered the Asian 

: Although the discussion in this section is on emerging markets (EMs), the literature used in 
references frequently referred these countries (EMs) as 'developing countries',' less 
developed countries(LDCs)' or 'third world countries.' Therefore, in order to maintain 
consistency, the author replaced these terms with E M s except in direct quotations. 
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financial crises in late mid 90s. In this instance, users of accounting information 

were misled and were not able to take precautions in a timely fashion. 

Accounting literature points out that most of the existing accounting 

practices in EMs did not originate in responses to the societal needs of those 

countries but were rather imposed by developed countries initially through 

colonialism (Hove 1986). In other words, the accounting principles and 

practices underlying financial measurement and disclosure in emerging markets 

largely depend on historical variables such as colonial experience and/or 

colonial affinity. Although accounting and auditing objectives and practices tend 

to differ from country to country and from region to region, the distinctive 

conceptual approaches carried over to EMs from the developed countries reflect 

upon them (Enthoven, 1983). The following quotation from Perera (1975, p.92) 

explains the impact that a developed country (Britain) made on one of its 

colonised countries (Sri Lanka). 

The entire accounting education and training in Sri Lanka 
is based on the British system. For example, the whole 
gamut of business activity was directed towards the 
plantation sector which was introduced to the economy 
by the British. Initially almost all the joint stock 
companies were owned by British investors and the 
required personnel for their management, including 
accountants, came from the U K . Therefore even though 
these firms were actually located in Sri Lanka, they were 
managed as if they were in Britain, and no attempt was 
made to develop an accounting system suitable for local 

conditions. 

Five such diverse historical sources of accounting influence can be 

distinguished: (1) British, (2) Franco-Spanish-Portuguese, (3) Germanic-Dutch, 

(4) U.S. and (5) communistic. Since these influences have affected the 

development of accounting in different countries and regions, it has also been 

35 



Chapter 2: The Nature and Environment of Emerging Markets 

considered a reason for the outdated regulations and norms of accountme 

practices inculcated in EMs (Enthoven 1983). 

Colonial legacies are only a one source of receiving accounting 

technology to EMs. In addition to colonial legacies, Wallace and Briston (1993) 

identified six other channels through which the accounting technology flowed to 

EMs. They are: importation of accounting qualifications from developed 

countries; the activities of transnational enterprise (TNE); the role of 

international organisations such as the World Bank, and regional development 

organisations; the effort of developed countries, aid-granting institutions, such 

as the United States Agency for International Development (USAID): the role of 

the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), the International 

Accounting Standards Committee (IASC), and regional accounting groups; the 

accounting texts books mostly published in English. However, while some 

countries have been successful in the transfer of accounting technology, others 

were not. Referring to this aspect, Wallace and Briston (1993, p.215) pointed 

out that "the above media of transfer may not always have similar effects on 

recipient countries, because of the differences in economic conditions, levels of 

preparation, willingness to account, skills, behaviour and culture of the people, 

training methods adopted and complexity of accounting legacies inherited." 

The accounting systems imported to EMs from the above mentioned 

channels are often being criticized for their inability to cater to users of 

accounting information in EMs. Referring to this aspect, Hove (1986) asserted 

that there was no evidence to the existence of any meaningful adaptation of 

accounting practices by EMs to suit local conditions of these countries. The 

core ofthe criticism lies on the fact that accounting systems introduced in these 
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countries have undergone little or no modifications before they were 

implemented in EMs. Despite these criticisms, EMs continuously adopted the 

accounting systems of developed countries owing to a number of good reasons. 

Wilkinson (1965) pointed out three reasons for such adoption:(l) non 

availability of any local accounting principles, standards and practices in their 

countries, (2) the high degree of industrial development made by multinational 

corporations, compelling the adoption of the accounting systems of those 

companies in order to maintain uniform accounting and reporting within the 

group, and (3) accounting of foreign aid provided by international organisations 

and foreign governments by the accounting system used by donor countries. 

What is seen from the above discussion is that the accounting practices 

in the EMs have been built not on the information needs of users in these 

countries but on the information needs of the users in developed countries. The 

following illustration by Hove (1986, p.91) clearly outlines how the economic 

aid given to EMs by the international organisations such as the World Bank and 

IMF imposed accounting practices of developed countries on EMs. 

The funds utilised for aid by these organisations are the 
private-sector funds of investors in developed countries. As 
a result, two important considerations apply to the manner 
in which these funds will be managed: (1) the 
accountability and stewardship concepts as understood 
during the emergence of the joint stock company apply 
because managers of World Bank and the IMF must 
account for the use of the funds to the owners (investors in 
the developed country), and (2) these managers will seek to 
maximize shareholders' wealth. To comply with the 
accountability and stewardship concepts, managers must 
prepare periodic financial statements that are useful to their 
users (in this case, primarily the investors in developed 
country); many factors determine what is "useful" in this 
context. One critical factor is the need for such financial 
statements to be prepared according to the generally 
accepted accounting principles ofthe developed countries. 
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As shown in the above specific example, the accounting information 

needs of the users have not been considered when adopting the accounting 

systems of developed countries. Although the provision of information to the 

expectation of investors in developed countries is understandable given the 

financial stake they have, the value of such accounting information to the users 

in EMs is questionable. However, despite this major weakness and "the 

difficulty of proving the causality between the two highly correlated variables of 

economic development and accounting technology, there is little doubt that 

accounting is an important factor in achieving the goals of economic growth by 

a developing country"(Needles, 1976, p. 45). 

Another major problem of accounting information in EMs is its lack of 

transparency. A statistical measure of transparency is the precision of the 

information obtained, which is in turn a function of its quality and relevance. In 

a highly transparent firm, the discrepancy between the officially disclosed 

information and that provided by auditors is minimal. One of the major 

impediments of measuring transparency is poor data quality—a lack of detailed 

information on publicly disclosed information, on the various disclosure 

standards, and on evaluations by independent auditors (Vishwanath and 

Kaufrnann, 2001). Because ofthe obsolete and less strict disclosure regulation 

coupled with weak enforcement and monitoring systems in EMs (Perera, 1985), 

it has generally left to the discretion of companies in EMs to decide to what 

extent the information should be disclosed. 

Although the improvement of disclosure will help the development of 

stock markets in EMs, companies are more concerned about the cost and 

benefits of disclosing information more than the benefits that high disclosure 
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can deliver for the overall improvement of the securities markets. In 

comparison to developed markets, the cost of producing accounting information 

such as employment of qualified accountants is generally higher in EMs. On the 

other hand, cost of not disclosing is comparatively lower in EMs owing to lack 

of market pressure and ineffectiveness of the regulatory agencies and investors 

in these countries (Ahmed, 1993). Therefore, the level of disclosure in corporate 

annual reports in EMs still comparatively lower in comparison to developed 

markets. Since, a strong correlation between active and well developed 

securities markets and the extent of financial disclosure in corporate reports has 

been observed (Gray et al., 1984), action needs to be taken in EMs for the 

overall improvement of corporate disclosure in order to develop their securities 

markets. 

The lack of professionally qualified accountants to serve in EMs is 

seen as another barrier for the development of accounting practices in EMs. 

Gujarathi and Dean (1993) documented the enormous difficulties the 

government sector has in hiring, training and retaining accountants and auditors 

in EMs such as Bangladesh, Tanzania, etc. Although the poor accounting 

education and training system is the major reason for causing this shortage, the 

great disparities between salaries in the government and private sectors in EMs 

is also considered as a part ofthe problem. 

Not only accountants in EMs are insufficient in terms of numbers but 

also lack some qualities required for an emerging market. This is a result of the 

education and training systems prevailing in EMs. As Abedeen and Yavas 

(1987) pointed out the accounting education system as well as the training of 

accountants in EMs is generally based on models used in developed countries. 
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Furthermore, the textbooks and accounting practical guides used at universities 

are mostly authored in the developed world. The professional accounting 

institutes of the colonising countries also exerted a significant influence on 

accounting education and training methods. As Pok and Eddie (1990. p.5) noted 

"professionally trained accountants in developing countries formed nucleus of 

professional associations which often had a monopolistic position and were 

virtually a copy of the corresponding professional body operating in the 

colonizing countries. Many were also members of the professional association 

operating in the colonising country. The majority of qualified accountants 

adopted accounting principles, standards and practices of the developed 

countries." 

As a result, there was an "overemphasis on the technical aspects of 

accounting to an extent that almost always produces technicians incapable of 

understanding whether better way exists, what the purpose of accounting is for 

their societies, and whether the purpose is being accomplished" (Hove 1986, 

p96). The focus of accountants in EMs has been on reporting information to 

stake holders and their efforts on providing information for internal decision­

making have been rarely appreciated. This was also due to the economic 

dependence of EMs on developed countries and the shortage of qualified 

accountants (Ahmed, 1993). 

The users of accounting information in EMs are also very different 

from those in developed countries. They are "likely to be primarily non­

technical people, often uninformed and unsophisticated in financial and 

accounting matters" (Perera, 1985, p. 19). Also, the involvement of government 

sector of EMs in economic activities is very much higher in comparison to the 
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situation in developed countries. Both these characteristics require the provision 

and presentation of accounting information in EMs to be different from those of 

developed countries where the users are known to be well sophisticated and 

their private sector plays a dominant role in economic activities. 

One ofthe major problems associated with having a large government 

sector, which is known to have been reluctant to implement modem accounting 

concepts and principles, is the susceptibility to large scale corruption and frauds 

leading to substantial amounts of losses in state owned enterprises. The massive 

corruption and wastage of development resources and the total absence of 

accountability in any EMs have disenchanted most ofthe development efforts of 

the national and international community (Karim, 1995). Corruption may be 

associated with a lack of transparency (Martin and Feldman, 1998). Thus, the 

governments of EMs, pressurised by international community, have taken 

enormous interest in recent years in the introduction and the improvement of 

accounting standards as the present status of which stands as a serious barrier in 

bringing foreign direct investment for much needed economic development in 

EMs. 

However, many of the EMs do not have enough resources or know-

how for the development of local accounting standards although many 

researchers believe that it is the best way for improvement of the serviceability 

of accounting information in theses countries (i.e.: Samuels and Oliga, 1982; 

Perera, 1989, Pok and Eddie, 1990). Because of this limitation, the other 

alternative that these countries are left with is adopting IASs in whole or with 

slight modifications. However, Samuels and Ologa (1982) have reservations on 

such harmonization efforts which they think have been based on the 

41 



Chapter 2: The Nature and Environment of Emerging Markets 

unquestioned assumption that the uniformity of standards is both desirable and 

feasible. They argue that there are both conceptual and practical problems that 

expose the futility of such an exercise, especially for EMs. At the 

metatheoretical level, there are intractable problems of differing values and 

beliefs as well as epistemological and ontological positions, making little 

congruence in the definition of accounting as well as its nature and purposes. 

Therefore, it is necessary to consider the accounting needs within a country, 

particularly the EMs, not just the needs ofthe international business community. 

Nevertheless, irrespective ofthe debate whether standardised accounting 

practices will benefit EMs, the adoption of IASs in EMs has been continuing at 

a very high pace. According to Nobes (2000, p. 75), "it is perhaps in developing 

and newly industrialised countries that the clearest and most spectacular success 

for the IASC might be claimed. Many countries (i.e. Nigeria, Malaysia, and 

Singapore) have adopted IASs with little or no amendments as their national 

standards." Pakistan has incorporated the standards that are relevant in its 

particular environment within its laws for listed companies. In Sri Lanka, the 

Accounting Standards are formulated by the ICASL on the basis of IASs with 

slight modifications to meet local conditions and needs. Nevertheless, despite 

the fact that IASC has established itself as the only International Accounting 

Standards setter, it has not yet won the battle for world-wide leadership in 

establishing a globally used unique set of accounting standards (Nanayakkara, 

1999). As for the impact of IASs on economic development of a country, 

empirical investigation carried out by Larson (1993) examining the association 

between the adoption of IASs and the economic growth using data of 35 African 

countries, found that countries adopting modified versions of IASs experienced 
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significantly higher economic growth rates than countries not adopting IASs or 

adopting unmodified version of them. 

Although it is difficult to find a clear answer to the question that 

enterprises in EMs will benefit from IASs, IASC is ofthe opinion that manv. if 

not all, existing IASs apply equally to EMs and are reasonable standards for all 

sort of businesses. In their opinion, IASs make it easier for enterprises in EMs to 

raise capital at an acceptable cost and many EMs that do not have the resources 

to develop their own accounting requirements can use IASs in the knowledge 

that they have already been tried and tested elsewhere3 . The critics of IASs, on 

the other hand, argue that present IASs are unsuccessful in EMs because the 

socio-political, economic and cultural value differences tend to be not only 

pronounced but also highly variable among EMs (Pok and Eddie, 1990). 

Since accounting is a product of its environment, including the culture 

of the country in which it operates, there is no doubt that cultural differences 

between countries make a huge impact on the way how accounting is practiced. 

Because each country has its own set of environmental factors and unique 

cultural attributes, it is very unlikely that universally acceptable accounting 

standards and practices be established. The influence of cultural environment on 

accounting standards and practices has been examined by a number of studies 

(i.e. Jaggi, 1975; Gray, 1988; Perera, 1989; Fechnner and Kilgore, 1994: 

Doupnik and Salter, 1995). Based on a study of over 100,000 IBM employees in 

39 countries, Hofstede (1980) identified four basic dimensions which reflect the 

cultural orientation of a country. They are: individualism versus collectivism, 

3 These observations were made by Technical Director of IASC, Liesel Knorr. at the L.__. 
Weerasinghe memorial oration held at the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka in 

1998 (Nanayakkara, 1989) 
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large versus small power distance, strong versus weak uncertainty avoidance, 

and masculinity versus femininity. As noted by Perera (1989) there are 

significant cultural differences between DMs and EMs mainly in two 

dimensions—individualism/ collectivism and large versus small power distance. 

Also, differences may be present in the areas of uncertainty avoidance and 

masculinity/femininity dimensions. These differences create gaps in transfer of 

accounting technology to EMs. 

On the basis of the Hofstede's research findings, Gray (1988) 

developed four value dimensions of accounting sub-culture that could be 

influenced by national culture. They are: professionalism versus statutory 

control; uniformity versus flexibility; conservatism versus optimism; and 

secrecy versus transparency. This finding was supported by an empirical study 

conducted by Eddie (1989) on a selected EMs in the Asia-Pacific region. 

According to the results of this study, national cultures appear to be associated 

with accounting sub-culture values in these countries. Perera (1989) also 

supported Gray's classification. The results of his study placed EMs at the 

bottom end of the individual scale, indicating a low level of professionalism in 

EMs. When it is the case, there is little regard for adequacy or accuracy of 

published information. Moreover, because of the large power distance and 

strong tendency towards uncertainty avoidance in EMs, the corporate financial 

reports in EMs tend to maintain uniform practices between companies 

consistently. 

Although the socio cultural differences between DMs and EMs 

continue to exit, the business and accounting environments in EMs are changing 

in a big way in recent years. For example, the economies of these markets are 
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fast progressing with the transition from a substantially state controlled to a free 

market economy. Strict regulations concerning interest and foreign exchange 

rates are being eliminated. Some protected domestic businesses are opening up 

to foreign markets. Privatisation of state-owned enterprises is progressing. As a 

result of the rapid transition of economies, capital markets are showing 

remarkable development. The number of companies raising their capital in the 

capital market and the volume of transactions are rapidly increasing. These rapid 

changes in the economic environment have moved the importance of the 

accounting profession and financial reporting to the front stage. Fundamental 

changes in the regulations in the capital markets, the accounting profession, and 

financial reporting are being carried out to facilitate these changes. Therefore, 

despite the existence of a wide gap between EMs and DMs in relation to socio­

political, economic and cultural values, the wide gap existed in the business and 

accounting environments in EMs is certainly narrowing down. 

2.5 Sri Lanka as an Emerging Market 
As noted earlier, Sri Lanka has been classified by the IFC as an emerging market. 

Accordingly, many ofthe common characteristics of EMs that were described in 

Sections 2.3 and 2.4 above are applicable to Sri Lanka. The purpose of this 

section is to provide a brief description ofthe historical, political and economic 

status of Sri Lanka and more importantly to evaluate the current state ofthe stock 

market in Sri Lanka and to show its relative position among EMs. 

4 The economic analysis of Sri Lanka is mainly based on the facts and figures outlined in the 
"Economic Progress of Independent Sri Lanka" and "Annual Report-2000" published by the 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka, and " Sri Lanka- Recapturing Missed Opportunities" published by 

the World Bank. 
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2.2.1 Historical, political and economical status of Sri Lanka 
Sri Lanka, formerly known as Ceylon, is a country with developed prehistoric 

human settlements, with a recorded history starting from about the 4th century 

BC. In 1505, the Portuguese captured the coastal belt of the country and ruled it 

until the Dutch ousted them in 1658. The British displaced the Dutch in 1796 and 

brought the entire country under their rule in 1815 before unifying the 

administration in 1833. Sri Lanka attained its independence in 1948 and became 

a Republic in 1972. Sri Lanka has been a participatory democracy since 

independence. 

The two principal groups in Sri Lanka are the majority Singhalese (74°0) 

and the minority Tamils (18%). Other minorities include the Moors (7%) and 

Burghers, Malays, and Veddah aborigines (1%). In 1998, country had a total 

population of 18.8 million with an annual population growth of 1.4 per cent. 

The ancient Sri Lanka predominantly was a well-developed agrarian 

economy aided by highly developed tank irrigated rice cultivation system built 

by the kings who ruled the country in ancient times. During the foreign rule in 

the country, the plantation sector was developed. At the time Sri Lanka regained 

its independence in 1948, it was still an agricultural economy. However, the 

structure of the agriculture had changed significantly from the non-plantation 

production to the production and trade of three plantation crops, viz., tea rubber 

and coconut which contributed a major share ofthe national income. In 1948, the 

agricultural sector directly contributed 40 per cent of the national income. There 

was little interaction between the plantation sector and the domestic non-

plantation agricultural sector. The plantation sector performance dominated the 

activities of most other sectors of the economy such as trade and commerce. 
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banking and insurance, transport and manufacturing activities, including the 

processing ofthe three plantation crops. 

During the five decades since independence, the economy grew by 4.2 per 

cent annually. The per capita nominal income in 1948 was estimated at USS 120. 

This had reached USS 814 by 1997, an annul increase of 11 per cent. Its per 

capita income remains the highest in the region, after the Maldives. The post 

independence government faced the challenging task of nation building and 

promoting economic development. The major changes in the performance of the 

economy were caused by several key factors, namely, the economic polices 

followed by the different governments, the behaviour of world market conditions. 

in particular the large changes in commodity prices, extreme weather conditions 

and the ethnic conflict. 

Prior to 1977 period, Sri Lanka as many other EMs at that time adopted 

polices of import substitution under high import tariffs to promote local industrial 

and agricultural activities. Also there was increased government intervention and 

state regulation of economic activities from 1950s until 1977. The year 1977 was 

a landmark in the economic and social polices of the post-independence period. 

Far-reaching policy reforms were introduced in that year to shift the focus from 

an inward looking development strategy to an outward looking development 

strategy to free the economy from an array of controls. During the two decades 

after the move to economic liberalisation in 1977, economic growth averaged 5.0 

per cent per year. However, there were fluctuations in the growth rates. The 

highest average growth of 6.5 per cent was seen during the first 4 years after 

1977. The high growth rate was largely demand driven, supported by a massive 

public investment program. "Sri Lanka is today South Asia's most open 

47 



Chapter 2: The Nature and Environment of Emerging Markets 

economy, having liberalised the economy in the late 1970s ahead of other 

developing countries" (World Bank Study Notes Resilience of Economy. 2000, 

p.21). 

Sri Lanka has experienced several external shocks since independence. 

Although Sri Lanka benefited from a few short export booms such as during the 

Korean War in 1951, it was frequently affected severely by sharp downturns in 

its primary export prices such as during 1957-1960 and the sharp escalation of oil 

prices in 1973-74 and 1981. The economy has undergone considerable structural 

transformation since independence, particularly during the last two decades, 

benefiting from progressive liberalisation. Hence, it is now far more resilient 

against diverse external shocks than in the past. The dependence on the 

agricultural sector has declined and manufacturing and service sectors have 

become leading contributors to the economy, providing greater opportunities for 

both employment and income generation. The degree of openness of the 

economy, which declined sharply during the import substitution phase, has 

recovered during the last two decades. The export structure has become 

diversified with new export items such as garments, rubber products, ceramics. 

handicrafts, leather products, electronic goods, processed fruit and fish products 

successfully entering international markets. Manufactured exports, which 

accounted for only 0.5 per cent of total exports in 1948 and 1.2 per cent in 1971, 

accounted for 73 per cent of total exports in 1996. 

Despite many challenges and difficulties in the past, the quality of life of 

the people has gradually improved since independence. Sri Lanka was one of the 

first developing countries to understand the importance of investing in human 

resources and promoting gender equality. The improvements in this area are seen 
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in many spheres of human development such as health, education, utility services 

and access to the mass media, and so on. It must be noted that Sri Lanka's 

achievements in the area of human development have been far superior to those 

of her South Asian neighbours and comparable with those of the economically 

advanced countries. As for the statistics, Sri Lanka's current Human 

Development Index (HDI) of 0.71 (the maximum being 1.0) is ranked in the 

category of achievers of a high level of human development. 

On the whole, despite the enormous challenges Sri Lanka had to face, it has 

been able to achieve a significant economic development over the past few 

decades. With its free and open economic polices, a dynamic and resilient private 

sector has emerged in the country. A recent report issued by the World Bank 

(2000) titled "Sri Lanka- Recapturing Missed Opportunities' commended Sri 

Lanka for its remarkable resilience in the face of severe shocks to the system 

caused by the ongoing ethnic war and turbulence in international markets. It 

attributed the healthy economic growth achieved by the country, despite 

acceleration of the civil conflict in the 1990s, to the good microeconomic 

management and progress in trade liberalisation, privatisation, and financial 

sector reforms. Moreover, the unemployment and inflation in the country have 

fallen to historic lows, the external current account has strengthened, exports 

have diversified and expanded, and the direct investment has risen. However, 

there is still a long way to go before Sri Lanka achieves its most ambitious goal 

of becoming Newly Industrialised Country (NIC) in the near future. To that end 

the on-going structural reforms need to focus more on the improvement of public 

sector efficiency. Further fiscal consolidation in reducing the size of the 
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Government in the economy is necessary to pave the way for accelerated private 

sector led growth. 

2.5.2 Capital Market in Sri Lanka 

The capital market is regarded as the market for long-term securities. Most 

securities traded in the secondary market belong to two broad categories—stocks 

and bonds. In Sri Lanka, the only authorised market for securities transactions is 

the Colombo Stock Exchange (CSE)5. The following section provides a brief 

description to indicate the current status of CSE and its position in the Asian and 

world context. A market profile ofthe CSE is given in Table 2-9. 

Table 2-9 

Sri Lanka Capital Market Profile 
(Currency in billions; end of period level) 

1987 1990 1993 1996 1999 

Number of Listed Companies J 

Colombo Stock Exchange 168 175 200 235 237 j 

Market Capitalisation 

In rupee 18.7 

! In U.S. dollars 0.608 

36.9 

0.917 

1238 

2.498 

104.2 

1.886 

112.8 

1.603 

Trading Value (Annual Turnover) 

| In rupee 

In U.S. dollars 

Local Index 

All Share Price Index (1985=100) 

Sensitive Price Index (1985=100) 

AVG Exchange rate (Rs. for USS) 

I 0.335 

0.011 

1.563 

0.039 

18.579 

0.385 

7403 

0134 

14.842 I 

0.211 

219.1 

382.3 

29.45 

* This index, The Milanka Price Index (MPI). was introc 
Sensitive Price Index. 

384.4 

680.3 

40.07 

uced in Jan 

979 0. 

" 1442.4 

48.26 

jary 1999(1 

603.0 

897.7 

55.26 

998=1000) t 

572.5 

937.5" 

70.39 

3 replace the 

Sources: International Finance Corporation, Emerging Stock Markets Factbook, 1997; CSE, Annual 
Report, 1999; Central Bank Annual Report, 2000. 

As shown in the above table, the CSE had 237 listed companies with a 

market capitalisation of over- 112 billion rupees (US 1.6 billion). Compared to 

5 The historical development and the activities of the C S E are discussed in Chapter 4 under 

section 4.2: The Institutional Framework. 
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11 listed companies in 1976 and 168 in 1987, this is a significant achievement as 

the number of listed companies has increased by 3 times during the 1976-87 

period. Market capitalisation has also increased from 18.7 billion rupees in 1987 

to 112.8 billion rupees in 1996, showing an increase of 503 per cent over the 

nine-year period. Similarly, trading value has also increased from 0.335 billion 

rupees to 14.842 billion rupees over the same period. The development of the 

CSE is also reflected in its two indexes: All Share Price Index (ASPI)7 and 

Sensitive Price Index (SPI)8. 

However, the CSE in the context of world stock markets is a very small 

market. Table 2-10 provides a comparison of CSE with the ten largest stock 

markets in the world in terms of market capitalisation, value traded, number of 

listed companies and average company size. Accordingly, it is seen that Sri 

Lanka's market capitalisation of US$1,848 million is ranked 62 in the world. It is 

equivalent to 0.6 per cent of Australia's market capitalisation, which occupied 

the 10th place on the market scale in 1996. Similarly, Sri Lanka has been ranked 

60 on the total value traded in 1996. Again, Sri Lanka's trading value of US$134 

million was mere 0.1 per cent of the Chinese market capitalisation which 

occupied the 10th place in the same year. However, due to the recent changes in 

economic and social environments in Sri Lanka with a change in political 

administration, the performance of CSE has increased remarkably. As a result, 

6 Source: CSE annual report, 1993. 
7 The All Share Price Index is used to measure the movement of share prices in all the listed 
companies. This has been prepared on the basis of market capitalisation. The weighting is 
done in proportion to the issued ordinary capital of listed companies valued at the current 
market price. Accordingly, the companies that have a higher market capitalisation count more 
heavily than the ones with a lesser market capitalisation. 

8 Sensitive Price Index is used to identify the general direction of price movement of blue chip 
companies. Newly introduced price index, M I L L A N K A (MPI), replaced this index in 1999 
with the base index set at 1000 points as at 31 December 1998. This price index comprises of 
25 listed companies representing seven sectors. Accordingly, M P I represents over 1 0 % ofthe 
listed companies and accounts for over 5 0 % ofthe total market capitalisation of CSE. 
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the C S E claimed to have been one ofthe world's best performing stock markets 

for the second consecutive year with ASPI moving up by an impressive 31.2% in 

a post election year (After October 2001) while the M P I advanced 33.3°. (Island, 

2003). 

Table 2-10 

C S E in the Context of World Stock Market (1996) 

"Rank 

1 

2 

3 

4 
> 

5 
6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

62 

Ni 

Rank 

1 
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5 
. 
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8 

i 9 
i io~ 

Market Capitalisation 

! Market US$ Millions 

U.S 8484433 

Japan 3088850 

! U.K 1740246 

Germany 670997 

|| France 591123 

Canada 486268 

Hong Kong 449381 

I Switzerland 402104 

| Netherlands 378721 

Australia 311988 

! Sri Lanka || 1848 

mber of listed Companies 

, Market ; Companies. 

India 8800 

j U.S. 8479 

U.K. 2433 

i Japan 2334 

Czech Repub. 1588 

; Canada 1265 
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Slovakia 816 

Pakistan 782 | 

Korea ' 760 ! 

Rank 

"" 1 

2 

3 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 
9 

10 

60 | 

Total Value Traded 

Market USS Midi 

U.S 7121487 

Japan 1251998 

Germany 768745 

U.K 578471 

Taiwan, China 470193 

Switzerland 392783 

Netherlands 339500 

France 277100 

Canada 265360 

China 256008 

SnLanka 134 \ 

Average Company Size 

Rank 

1 
______ 

3 
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6 

7 

8 

9 

10 
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Switzerland 1888 

Netherlands 1745 I 

Japan 1323 

Sweden 1080 
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Source: International Finance Corporation, Emerging Stock Markets Factbook, 1997. 

In terms of the number of listed companies, however, Sri Lanka has 

occupied a fairly high position in the world stock market, with 235 Sri Lankan 

companies being ranked 28. Although, Sri Lanka's 235 companies were just 2.7 

s'1 
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per cent of highest ranked India, which had 8,800 listed companies in 1996, it 

accounted for about 31 per cent ofthe 10th placed Korea's 760 listed companies. 

showing a relatively high level of domestic listed companies in Sri Lanka. In the 

context of EMs, Sri Lanka's 235 listed companies and market capitalisation of 

US$ 1,886 in 1996 accounted for just 1.1 and 0.1 per cent respectively of those in 

EMs, again showing the relative smallness ofthe CSE. Table 2-11 shows the size 

and liquidity position of CSE in the context of EMs. 

Table 2-11 

Size and Liquidity of C S E in E M s 
(end of period level) 

Capital Market Capitalisation (% of GDP)--(end of period level) 

Market 
! 
Emerging Markets 

1990 

18.9 

|" Major Emerging Markets in South & East Asia 

Bangladesh 

China 

India 

Indonesia 

Malaysia 

0.5 

12.9 

7.1 

113.6 

Pakistan 

Philippines 

Thailand 

Sri Lanka 

7.1 

13.4 

28.0 ~ 

11.4 

1997 

31.3 

I! 3.7 
22.9 

33.7 

13.5 

95.1 

17.8 

38.2 

15.3 

13.9 | 

Value Traded (% of GDP)--(end of period level) 

Market 

Emerging Markets 

Major Emerging Markets in South & East Asia 

Bangladesh 

China 

India 

Indonesia 

Malaysia 

Pakistan 

Philippines 

Thailand 

1990 

5.3 

0.0 

" 02" 

7.3 

3.5 

25.4 

0.6 

2.7 

Sri Lanka 

26.8 j 

3.5 

1997 

20.9 

I 
D.9 

z o 
14 1 | 

19.4 

149.3 

18.6 

24.1 

15.C 

2.1 
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1 -
Turnover Ratio (Value Traded as % of Market Capitalisation) 

(end of period level) 

Market 1 9 9 0 
i 

irging Markets 

Major Emerging Markets in South & East Asia 

Bangladesh ' ~\ 5 

China 158 9 

India 65 9 

Indonesia 75^8 

Malaysia 24 6 

Pakistan 8.7 

Philippines 136 

Thailand 92.6 

, Sri Lanka 5 8 

1998 

463 

24 2 

130.1 

56 0 | 

60.7 

293 

114.3 

31.1 | 

712 

14.8 

Source: World Bank, World Development Report, 2000 

When measured as a percentage of market capitalisation, the CSE has been 

able to increase its market size from 11.4 per cent in 1990 to 13.9 per cent in 

1997, achieving an increase of 22 per cent during this period. However, during 

the 1990-97 period the market size of EMs has increased from 18.9 to 31.3 per 

cent of GDP, with an increase of 65.6 per cent, showing a very much higher 

growth in comparison to the size of CSE. Among the major EMs in South and 

East Asia, only Bangladesh (3.7%) and Indonesian (13.5%) stock markets were 

smaller in relative size to Sri Lanka's stock market. The stock markets of some 

countries in this region such as Malaysia (95.1%) and Philippines (38.2%) are 

even bigger than the average size of EMs (31.3%). 

With regard to the market liquidity, Sri Lanka has strengthened its status in 

recent years. The value of shares traded as a percentage of GDP increased from 

0.5 per cent in 1990 to 2.1 per cent in 1997 while the turnover ratio has increased 

from 5.8 per cent in 1990 to 14.8 per cent in 1998. However, when compared 

with the performance of EMs where the average value traded as a percentage of 

GDP and the turnover ratio were 20.9 and 46.3 per cent respectively, Sri Lanka's 

liquidity position does not appear to be adequate. Particularly when compared 
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with some of the major South and East Asian countries, Sn Lanka's liquidity 

position appears to be very small. In fact, Wickramanayake (1994) and Moldrich 

(1994) pointed out the lack of liquidity9 as one of the basic constraints to the 

development of the security market in Sri Lanka. Overall, despite the progress 

made in the last decade, the small size ofthe market coupled with the low levels 

of liquidity remains to be a main weakness of the CSE. For the positives. 

however, there have been genuine attempts both by CSE and SEC on the 

improvement of infrastructure and regulation in recent years. These attempts will 

no doubt bare fruits in the near future. While continuing to place emphasis on 

this front, the CSE also needs to take sufficient measures for market 

development. 

2.6 Summary 

The purposes of this chapter have been to provide information on the definition, 

characteristics of EMs and to make a general evaluation of the accounting 

environment in EMs together with an overview of Sri Lanka as an emerging 

market. Since there have been inconsistencies among the prevailing definitions of 

EMs, a broad definition of EMs, which considers developing countries 

synonymous with EMs, is used in the study. One hundred and fifty seven 

countries have been identified as EMs which also include some of the largest and 

most liquid markets in the world, several long-established markets and many 

9 This lack of liquidity is both "horizontal" as well as "vertical". It is horizontal in the sense that 
when one considers the existence of over 20,000 companies registered with the Registrar of 
Companies, the present number of listings can hardly be considered adequate. Vertical 
liquidity refers to situations where the quantity of shares available for trading is limited. Many 
family-held companies hold on to larger percentage of shares to ensure absolute control. 
M a n y local investors also hold on to large parcels of shares as "long term" investments 
without trading on the medium and short term. Finally, the low threshold levels required for 
listing on the exchange result in only a limited number of shares being available for trading 

(Wickramanayake, 1994). 
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markets where the latest technology has been installed to expedite trading. 

settlement, portfolio management, market supervision, and information 

dissemination. The countries classified as EMs are so diverse in economic, 

political, cultural and many other aspects, making it difficult to identify specific 

characteristics common to all EMs. 

Similarly, significant variations exist in EMs in relation to their business 

and accounting environments. In general, accounting systems of EMs are known 

to be deficient with reported weaknesses in their financial accounting and 

reporting systems. Most of the existing accounting practices in EMs were 

imposed by developed countries initially through colonialism, therefore, inherited 

features more suitable for developed countries. In addition to colonial legacies, 

accounting technology flowed to EMs through six other channels. Significant 

differences were also identified between DMs and EMs in relation to level of 

transparency, disclosure regulations, quality and quantity of accountants. The 

improvement of accounting practices through adaptation of IASs is being 

progressed in EMs at a rapid pace despite reservations of some researchers over 

their suitability for these markets. The vast differences observed between DMs 

and EMs in relation to socio-cultural values are seen as a major reason why 

harmonisation efforts may not succeed in EMs. While the cultural differences 

between markets continue to exit, the gaps between DMs and EMs in relation to 

business and accounting environments are narrowing down. 

Sri Lanka is predominantly an agricultural country but significantly 

changed its economic structure by moving to an open market economic system 

with increased industrial and service output. Despite being an emerging market, 

it has achieved significant improvements in many spheres of human development 
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such as health, education, utility services and access to the mass media, in 

addition to its impressive economic development over the past few decades. 

Also, owing to its free and open economic polices, a dynamic and resilient 

private sector has emerged in the country. Its security market. CSE, is 

comparatively a small market which was ranked 62 in the world in terms of 

market capitalisation and 28 in terms of number of companies listed on the stock 

exchange. However, with the recent change in political administration in the 

country, CSE has become one of the world's best performing stock markets in 

the world for the second consecutive year. 
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Chapter 3 

Corporate Financial Disclosure: 
A literature Review 

3.1 Introduction 

Corporate financial disclosure has been a focus of research all around the world 

since the pioneering research in the U S in 1960s. These research have dealt with 

many aspects of corporate financial disclosure with varying degrees of 

emphasis, using variety of research methods. The major objective of this chapter 

is to provide a comprehensive review of the previous studies conducted on the 

aspects of corporate disclosure that this study is aimed to examine. Therefore, 

within the framework of this study, the scope, methodology, findings, and 

limitations of the relevant studies conducted during the last four decades are 

reviewed in the following sections. 

As for the method used to analyse previous research, this study takes a slightly 

different approach to the literature review of previous studies, which generally 

classified and reviewed literature on the issues and methodologies used. The 

approach taken in this study is to categorise the previous studies according to the 

country of research before reviewing them to examine their scope, 

methodologies, and findings. Since the major objective of this study is to 

examine the corporate disclosure practices in one country, Sri Lanka, the 

categorising of previous studies by country facilitates a comparison of all aspect 

of this study with those of other countries. In addition, this classification enables 
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to examine the similarities and dissimilarities of corporate disclosures between 

developed and emerging markets. In order to achieve these objectives, this 

review has been confined to the studies that have directly dealt with corporate 

disclosures in annual reports of a particular country. However, some studies that 

were primarily designed to compare disclosure issues between countries have 

been excluded from this analysis as scope and nature of such studies are 

different from those of this study13. In addition to reviewing country studies, a 

few studies, which do not fall into this category, are also reviewed in a separate 

section considering their relative importance to the analysis of results in this 

study. 

The literature on corporate disclosures in annual reports that are 

reviewed in this chapter basically fall into three categories of research. The first 

category includes studies that have examined the disclosure practices from the 

preparers' point of view through quantification of information disclosed in the 

corporate annuls reports (see, for example, Cerf 1961; Singhvi 1967; Henderson 

1969; Singhvi & Desai 1971; Choi 1973; Barrett 1975: Spero 1979; Firth 1980; 

Amernic & Maiocco 1981; Firth 1984; Marston 1986; Cooke 1989; Tai el al. 

1990; Cooke 1991; Priebjrivat 1992; Giner Inchausti 1993; Gray, Meek, & 

Roberts 1994; Hossain et al. 1995; Ahmed 1996; Marston and Robson 1997; 

Patton and Zelenka 1997; Naser 1998; Xiao 1999; Eng and Teo 2000). 

Examples of studies on this category are: Henderson (1969)—USA & Canada; Frederick 
(1973)—Europe; Barrett (1975)—USA, UK, Japan, Sweden, Netherlands, Germany, France; 
Belkaoui and Pevrard (1977)—Canada, U S A and Europe; Baker et al (1977)—USA and 
Australia; Chang (1977)— U S A and New Zealand; Spero (1979)—France, U K and Sweden; 
Chang and Most (1981)—USA, UK, and N e w Zealand; Kahl and Belkaoui (1981)—18 
countries; Marston (1986)—India and U.K; Anderson and Epstein (1986)—Australia, New 
Zealand and USA; Williams (1992)—13 countries; Gray et al (1994, 1995a, 1995b)—USA. 
UK, and Europe; Russell and Diga (1998)—Malaysia, Indonesia, Philippines, and Thailand. 
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The majority of these studies used 'disclosure indexes' for measuring the 

information content of annul reports (see, for example, Cerf 1961; Singhvi 1967, 

1968; Henderson 1969; Singhvi & Desai 1971; Choi 1973; Buzby 1974. 1975: 

Barrett 1975, 1976, 1977; Stanga 1976; Courtis 1979; Firth 1979; Garsombke 

1979; Spero 1979; McNally, Eng, & Hasseldine 1982; Firer & Meth 1986: 

Marston 1986; Chow & Wong-Boren 1987; Wallace 1988b; Cooke 1989, 1991, 

1992, 1979; Tai el al. 1990; Williams 1992 ;Ahmed 1994; Ahmed and Nicholls 

1994; Wallace et al. 1994; Nicholls and Ahmed 1995; Naser 1998)14. Some of 

the studies that examined the extent of corporate disclosure by companies have 

gone beyond the measuring of disclosure levels in annual reports by examining 

the relationship between those disclosure levels and the corporate characteristics 

such as size, leverage, and profitability (see, for example, Singhvi & Desai 

1971; Cooke 1989, 1991, 1992; Tai el al. 1990; Ahmed 1994; Ahmed and 

Nicholls 1994; Wallace et al. 1994; Naser 1998)15. This relationship between the 

disclosure levels and the corporate characteristics has been generally examined 

through statistical measures, usually by a regression analysis (see, for example, 

Singhvi & Desai 1971; Cooke 1989; Tai el al. 1990; Cooke 1991, 1992; Ahmed 

1994; Ahmed and Nicholls 1994; Wallace et al. 1994; Naser 1998)16. 

The second category of studies included in this review are the studies 

that have examined the user information needs mainly through questionnaire 

14 A comprehensive review of articles on the use of disclosure indexes in accounting research, 
including the construction of disclosure indexes, weighting the index, problem in calculating 

indexes has been provided by Marston and Shrives (1991). 
15 A meta-analysis of 29 of such studies was provided by A h m e d and Courtis (1999). 
16 The problems of empirically estimating the relationship between disclosure levels and 
corporate characteristics through regression analysis were examined by Cooke (1998). 
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surveys17 (see, for example, Baker & Haslem 1973; Chandra 1974. 1975; Lee 

and Tweedie 1975; Chenhall & Juchau 1976, 1977; Belkaoui & Peyrard 1977; 

Benjamin & Stanga 1977; Chandra and Greenball 1977; Chang and Most 1977. 

1981; Belkaoui and Kahl 1978; Firth 1978; Wilton and Tabb 1978; Winfield 

1978; Belkaoui 1979; Anderson 1981; 1998; Stanga and Tiller 1983; Robbins 

1984; Wallace 1988; Gray & Roberts 1989; Joshi and Abdulla 1994; Anderson 

and Epstein 1995, 1996; Abu-Nassar and Rutherford 1996; Rahman 1999; Ho 

and Wong 2001). The third category comprises the studies that have examined 

the corporate disclosures incorporating both annual reports and user input 

analysis. In other words, these studies that have incorporated the views of both 

preparers and users in relation to the financial information disclosed by 

companies in their annual reports (see, for example, Buzby 1974; Buzby 1975: 

Stanga 1976; Firth 1979a; Firth 1979a; Courtis 1979; McNally, Eng, & 

Hasseldine 1982; Firer & Meth 1986; Chow & Wong-Boren 1987; Wallace 

1988b; Tong et al. 1990; Malone et al. 1993; Nicholls and Ahmed 1995; Karim 

1995; Mirshekary 1999). 

The chapter is organised under five sections. After the initial 

introduction given in this section (3.1), section 3.2 reviews the corporate 

disclosure studies conducted in each country under the broader headings of 

developed and emerging markets. The disclosure studies conducted in Sri 

Lanka, which were excluded from the discussion in section 3.2, are presented 

Courtis (1992) examined the reliability of these perception based annual report disclosure 
studies by analysing 11 of such studies that used user group perceptions regarding the 
importance of annual report disclosures. H e investigated the presence of non-tmial 
consistency in perceptions on 63 information items across the 11 studies that extended over 
the period of 16 years in 6 countries, and across six user-preparer groups. The presence of 
perception consensus was found on approximately 3 0 % ofthe items-in-common, and between 
user-preparer groups on most items. 
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separately in section 3.3. This is followed by section 3.4 which reviews some of 

the other important disclosure studies. Finally, after discussing the shortcomings 

of previous disclosure studies in section 3.5, section 5.6 provides a summary of 

the chapter. 

3.2 Corporate disclosure studies by country 
3.3.1 DEVELOPED MARKETS 

Australia 
One of the early attempts to establish some hard data on the information needs 

of Australian investors is found in the studies conducted by Chenhall and Juchau 

(1976 and 1977). The survey they conducted on two selected investor/investor 

representative groups in Australia was based on the rationale and questionnaire 

format used in the US study of Baker and Haslem (1973). They extended it to 

provide a basis for some cross national comparisons of investor information 

requirements. The questionnaire used in the survey consisted 37 factors that 

would affect share decisions. The respondents were asked to identify the 

relative importance of each factor on a five-point scale. From a total of 1025 

investors surveyed, 476 valid replies were received, representing a response rate 

of 46.4 per cent. This study focused on some important questions regarding 

information needs of investors and the provision of investor information from 

both within and outside the corporate reporting framework. The results suggests 

that information, both specific and non-specific to the company, which is not 

disclosed in the corporate report, bears strongly on share decisions. Within the 

top 18 rankings, at least 8 items have had their origin outside the corporate 

annual reports. The results indicated that financial statements in an annual report 

18 34 of factors used were included in the Baker and Haslem's (1973) US study. 
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do not have a dominant place as a source of information. Given the range of 

sources accessed by investors, he authors also questioned the validity of using 

corporate reports as the major vehicle for satisfying the information needs of 

investors. 

Through a questionnaire survey covering 850 individual shareholders 

with a responses rate of 38%, Winfield (1978) examined, the extent to which 

shareholders would read and understand the financial statements section of the 

annual report, whether the information contained therein was sufficient and 

relevant to their purposes and whether shareholders would act on the basis of 

information contained in the financial statements. His study revealed that 

financial statements did not adequately communicate relevant information to 

shareholders. Most of the respondents of his survey found that the director's 

report was more informative than the financial statements. It was also found that 

some of the information provided in the financial statements was irrelevant to 

some investors and therefore simpler statement with additional item of 

information was preferred by most respondents. 

Davis and Kelly (1979) in their study compiled a list of 43 empirically 

identified information needs of two user groups (individual investors and 

analysts) and examined the annual reports of 50 companies. Each company was 

given a score depending on whether or not each item on the index was disclosed 

and the extent of its disclosure. If an item appeared in the annual report, then it 

was recorded as a positive disclosure. According to their analysis, the actual 

disclosure for the period was 59% ofthe "ideal" disclosure level, suggesting that 

annual reports do not provide all of the perceived information needs of users. 

Suggested improvements to the specific items included the followings: expected 
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future in crease in share price; listings of shares on stock exchanges; foreign 

subsidiaries' contribution to sales; revenue and net income; and breakdown of 

income and sales by division and product. They also found that companies 

possessing a large spread of report recipients disclose more information for 

investment decision making than their smaller counterparts. 

The major purpose of a study conducted by Anderson (1981a) was to 

investigate the usefulness of annual reports to institutional investors in Australia. 

This involved an analysis of questionnaire survey data obtained from a sample 

of 300 participants with a response rate of 68.1 per cent. The findings of this 

study indicated that institutional investors attached the highest degree of 

importance to the investment objective of an equal combination of dividend 

income and capital gains. The respondents of the survey ranked the annual 

report as their most important source of information, followed by share brokers' 

advice and company visits. The most widely read sections of the annual report 

were the balance sheet, profit and loss statement, notes to the accounts and 

chairman's report. Seventy two per cent ofthe respondents indicated that they 

favoured increased disclosure on remuneration, trading in the company shares 

and other directorships held by directors. The disclosure of current value of non-

current assets and investments; the changes of accounting polices and reasons 

for the changes; the disclosure of off-balance sheet transactions; information on 

future prospects, company products, and divisional performance; the provision 

of management audit reports were also favoured by the institutional investors. 

Another study undertaken by Anderson (1981b) gathered information 

on the extent to which annual reports were considered useful by investors in 

making investment decisions and the importance ofthe annual report as a source 
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of information to investors. The findings of the study revealed that the annual 

report was considered only moderately important by individual investors in 

Australia. While the chairman's report was read more thoroughly than any other 

sections, the profit and loss statement and the balance sheet were seen as the 

most important sections of the annual report. The major reason for the non-

reading of annual reports by investors was perceived to be the lack of interest 

time and understanding. This study utilised a questionnaire survey on 2,700 

individual investors in Australia with a response rate of 36 per cent. 

Anderson and Epstein (1995) carried out an investigation into the 

reported usefulness ofthe annual report by individual Australian investors. The 

questionnaire they used for this study was based on a questionnaire designed by 

Epstein and Pava (1993). It was sent to 2,359 individual investors who held a 

minimum of 100 shares. A total of 436 shareholders responded to the 

questionnaire. There major contributions ofthe study included the following: 

1. Share holders in Australia have adopted a long term investment perspective. 
2. Investors relied more heavily on the advice of their stockbrokers and the 

financial news papers and magazines than on the annul reports for making 
investment decisions. 

3. The director's report was the most thoroughly read section of the annual 
report, followed by the profit and loss statement and the chairman's report. 
The cash flow statement readership was low. 

4. The auditor's report was the least useful item contained in the annual report. 
5. Shareholders had more difficulty in understanding the main financial 

statements. 
6. Both sophisticated and unsophisticated shareholders would like to see 

additional disclosures in annual reports in terms of both quality and quantity. 

By comparing the 1996 survey results (Anderson and Epstein, 1996) 

with those of his study (Anderson, 1979) conducted in 1978, Anderson (1998) 

examined the perceived changes in the usefiilness of corporate annual reports to 

individual investors in Australia. The results showed that despite the changes 

made in the regulatory environment to improve the quality of financial reporting 
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between the two time periods ofthe surveys, the corporate annual report has not 

increased in usefiilness relative to other information sources for investor 

decision making. However, the usefulness ofthe director's report has increased 

as improved disclosure requirements enable shareholders to better gauge the 

accountability of directors. 

Canada 
One of the early studies on the corporate financial disclosure in Canada was 

conducted by Belkaoui and Kahl (1979). In their study, they utilised a weighted 

index, consisting of 30 information items selected on the basis of their personal 

experience of the Canadian financial reporting environment, a review of the 

relevant literature in the area and the responses received from chartered 

accountants and financial analysts Using the Kendall rank correlation 

coefficient, they examined the impact of six corporate characteristics (firm size, 

profitability, liquidity, debt/equity ratio and industry type) on the disclosure 

quality of the 1976 annual report in 200 companies in Canada. The results of 

their analysis showed a negative impact of profitability and debt/equity and a 

positive impact of size and liquidity on the disclosure quality of annual reports. 

Through an analysis carried out through a 30-item index of disclosure, 

Belkaoui (1979) examined whether there is a consensus on corporate disclosures 

in Canada. The results revealed that in general there was a consensus on 

disclosures among the corporations, the auditors, and the financial statements 

users. Belkaoui found that contrary to the established belief, the issue on 

disclosure adequacy did not focus on the information already disclosed by 

corporations in their annual reports. Adequate disclosure requires that what is 

disclosed should meet the information needs of all 3 groups. Auditors have a 

dual relationship, one with the corporation and the other with financial statement 
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users, which implies a social responsibility to insure that the users' information 

needs are met. A lack of consensus between auditors and users on the value of 

information disclosed may due to the fact that the auditor does not feel liable to 

the user. 

Using corporate annual report analysis through a developed "weighted 

disclosure index", Amernic (1981) empirically assessed the improvement in 

corporate disclosures in Canada over the period from 1967 to 1977. The annual 

reports of a sample of 60 Canadian corporations were used for this purpose. 

The results showed that the mean disclosure score rose from 38.8 in 1967 to 

45.8 in 1972, and 50.2 in 1977. Based on the one way-ANOVA statistics, he 

concluded that there was significant and consistent increase in the mean 

disclosure score of the sample firms over the period examined. The reasons for 

this apparent improvement would be many and complex. Some possible factors 

he identified included the increased disclosure requirements of the CICA hand 

book, influence of the Securities and SEC and other American institutions on 

Canadian firms' reporting practices, possible recognition by corporate 

management that information may reduce the investor uncertainty about the 

firm, and thus reduce the financing costs, influence ofthe 'social accountability' 

view, etc. 

Hong Kong 
Tai et al (1990) examined a sample of 76 annual reports issued by a set of 

selected Hong Kong listed companies in order to investigate the quality of 

disclosure in those annual reports. The major objectives of their study were to 

(1) identify the significant areas in which the financial statement of Hong Kong 

listed companies did not comply with the companies ordinance, the Securities 

Ordinance, SSAP issued by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants [HKSA], (2) 
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review the causes of non-compliance, if any, and (3) to review whether the non­

compliance was related to the size and nature of the listed companies and to the 

size of the auditing firm. The study found that the overall non-compliance rate 

among the 76 firms was 22 per cent. This ranged from a high 49 per cent non­

compliance rate for the requirement of depreciation accounting on fixed assets 

to a low 4 per cent for the extraordinary items and prior year adjustments. 

Furthermore, the study indicated a significant relationship between the size of 

companies and the departure from disclosure requirements as the large 

companies and small companies had fewer departures than medium-sized firms. 

However, no significant difference was found in the departure from disclosure 

requirements between various sizes of auditing firms. 

Wallacer and Naser (1995) tested the multivariate impact of selected 

firm characteristics on corporate annual reports through an examination of the 

cross-sectional variation in the researcher created indexes of the 

comprehensiveness of the mandatory information contained in the corporate 

annual reports of a sample of 80 firms listed on the stock exchange of Hong 

Kong. The study which utilised two regression models to analyse results 

provided evidence to assert that the researcher-created indexes would vary 

positively with asset size and scope of business operations but negatively with 

profits. 

The objective of a study conducted by Ho and Wong (2001) was to 

provide comprehensive and up-to-date evidence of current practice and 

perceived effectiveness of corporate disclosures of listed companies in Hong 

Kong. It compared the perceptions of chief financial officers (CFOs) and 

financial analysts on a variety of information flows, disclosures and capital 
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market efficiency issues. It also sought to determine whether there was a 

perceived need for increased financial reporting regulations and to what extent 

this and other alternative means would improve market functioning. The 

questionnaire survey utilized for the study resulted in usable responses from 98 

CFOs and 92 financial analysts, with a response rate of 16.8 per cent and 17.2 

per cent respectively. The study concluded that annual reports and individual 

meetings between managers and analysts/investors were perceived by analysts 

as the two most important communication media. About 40% of the analysts 

believed that the typical company only fulfils the minimum disclosure 

requirements. More preparers than analysts were satisfied with the adequacy of 

current corporate disclosures in Hong Kong, but over 75% of analysts (Vs. 56% 

of CFOs) believed that there was a need for some or considerable improvements 

in corporate disclosure. 

Japan 
For the purpose of examining the relationship between a number of firm-specific 

characteristics of Japanese companies and voluntary disclosure. Cook (1991) 

measured the level of voluntary disclosure by 48 sample companies in Japan and 

regressed the results with three firm-specific characteristics. An unweighted 

disclosure index was calculated using 108 information items that were not 

required to be disclosed by the Japanese regulations. Based on the linear 

regression results, the study has concluded that the single most important 

independent variable that helps explain variations in voluntary disclosure is size. 

The stock market listing was also found to be a significant predictor. 

Furthermore, it was found that manufacturing firms tended to disclose voluntary 

information more than other types of business. 
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Expanding the scope of his 1991 study, Cook (1992) examined the 

extent of both voluntary and financial disclosures in Japanese corporate annual 

reports and attempted to determine whether the independent variables of size, 

stock market listing, and industry type would affect the levels of disclosure. 

According to the results, the overall disclosure level among 35 sample 

companies varied from 46 per cent to 68 per cent with an average of 56 per cent. 

The study found that size and listing status were important explanatory 

variables. The manufacturing companies were found to be disclosing 

information more than other types of Japanese companies. 

New Zealand 

With a view to examining whether financial reports produced by N e w Zealand 

companies contained useful information for various users, Wilton and Tabb 

(1978) did a study concentrating on 300 private shareholders (55% usable 

responses). The study revealed that while the profit and loss account was rated 

to be the most important aspect of the company's annual financial report for 

decision making, the unsophisticated user category tended to rely more on the 

chairman report for such purposes. In general, the majority of respondents 

regarded the sections other than the profit and loss account and balance sheet to 

be of moderate or no importance as sources of information for decision making. 

The study of Courits (1979) examined the association between the 

levels of annual report disclosure and 24 corporate variables. In this study, he 

used the 38-item disclosure index used by Buzby (1974) to quantify the 1974 

annul report disclosure behaviour of 126 New Zealand public companies. 

According to the Chi-square association tests, it was found that disclosure was 

positively related to the amount of expenditure and time devoted to annual 
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report preparation as well as to profitability level, gearing and seven measures of 

company size. 

The study by McNally (1982) investigated the quality of discretionary 

disclosure practices and their association with corporate characteristics. An 

analysis of annual reports of 103 New Zealand companies and a questionnaire 

based on 41 information items were used for the study. A total of 187 financial 

editors and stock exchange members responded to the questionnaire. According 

to the results, the voluntary disclosure of a wide variety of items of information 

was perceived to be important by stock brokers and financial editors. There was 

a divergence between the actual degree of disclosure provided by the firm and 

the degree of disclosure perceived by external users as desirable. Further, the 

firm size was found to be related to voluntary disclosure. 

Voluntary disclosure in the annual reports of New Zealand companies 

was again investigated by Hossain et al (1995) with the use of additional 

variables to explain the extent of voluntary disclosure under a more liberal and 

changed economic environment. Specifically, the study empirically examined 

the relationship between the five firm-specific characteristics and the voluntary 

disclosure. The results obtained showed that the firm size, foreign listing status 

and leverage were significantly related to the voluntary disclosure, but the assets 

in place and the type of auditors were not significant explanatory variables. 

Singapore 
Eng and Teo (2000) examined the impact of annual report disclosure on the 

analysts' forecast for a sample of companies listed on the Stock Exchange of 

Singapore. The level of disclosure of 88 annual reports in 1994 and 37 annual 

reports in 1995 was measured by a disclosure checklist. The results revealed that 

the level of annual report disclosures was positively related to the accuracy of 
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earnings forecasts by analysts, provided that there was no big earnings surprise. 

Accordingly, the findings indicated benefits of having more disclosures. 

Spain 

The objectives ofthe study by Wallace et al (1994) were to examine whether the 

differences in the details offered on selected information items in the annul 

reports of Spanish firms were systematic and whether the firm-specific 

characteristics found to be relevant in previous country disclosure studies were 

implicated in Spain. The study focused on investigating annual reports of 50 non 

financial Spanish firms. The calculated disclosure score of these firms varied 

form 29 per cent to 80 per cent with an average score of 59 per cent. The results 

of the study indicated that the amount of details in annual reports of Spanish 

companies increased with firm size and stock exchange listings and decreased 

with liquidity. 

Inchausti (1993) looked at the impact of market and regulatory 

pressures on the information disclosure of Spanish companies. For this purpose, 

annual reports of 49 firms listed on the Valencia Stock Exchange over the period 

1989-91 were analysed. In this study, regression and panel data analyses were 

executed on 50 unweighted items. The results suggested that time as a surrogate 

for regulation explained the level of disclosure, although it did not influence the 

amount of voluntary information disclosed. Also, the firm size, the auditing 

firm, and the stock exchange listing were all found to be related to disclosure. 

Sweden 
Measuring the overall extent of corporate annual report disclosure in Sweden, 

assessing whether there was a significant relationship between the quotation 

status and the extent of disclosure and assessing the extent to which disclosure 

was determined by firm- specific characteristics were the major objectives of a 
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study conducted by Cook (1989a). The annual reports of 90 Swedish firms were 

analysed using an disclosure index consisting 224 unweighted items. The results 

showed that there was a significant association between the extent of disclosure 

and the listing status. Also a significant association was observed between the 

size ofthe firm and the extent of disclosure. 

With a view to resolving some of the inadequacies found in previous 

disclosure studies on Sweden, Cook (1989b) attempted to measure the extent of 

voluntary disclosure in the corporate annual reports of unlisted and listed 

Swedish companies by analysing the annual reports of 90 Swedish companies. 

The study showed that the single most important independent variable in 

explaining the variability in voluntary disclosure in Swedish corporate annual 

reports was the quotation status. It was also found that a significant contribution 

to the explanatory power resulted from the incorporation ofthe size variable. 

Switzerland 
Raffournier (1995) looked for possible determinants ofthe disclosure policy of 

Swiss listed companies by relating the content of their annual reports to several 

of their characteristics. The sample included the 1991 annual report of 161 

industrial and commercial firms. The extent of disclosure was measured by an 

unweighted disclosure index. The results indicated that the extent of disclosure 

was significantly related to size, internationality level, percentage of fixed 

assets, size of auditing firms and, to a smaller extent to industry type and 

profitability. However, no significant relationship was found with leverage and 

ownership diffusion. 

UK 
Lee and Tweedie (1975a and 1975b) investigated the user perception of the 

usefulness of annul reports. The investigation was carried out through a 
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questionnaire survey conducted on 1,594 private shareholders in the UK 

(response rate 23.5). The study found that while the chairman's report was 

considered to be the most widely read section, the profit and loss account and 

the balance sheet were rated by users with financial experience as the most 

useful sections in an annual report. Financial press reports were considered to be 

the most important source of information other than annual reports. The 

economic prospects of a company were considered to be the most important 

items of information contained in an annul report. 

Firth (1978) provided empirical evidence relating to the importance of 

disclosure in corporate annual reports in the U.K. The questionnaire he utilised 

for this purpose was sent to a total of 750 persons consisting of 250 finance 

directors, 250 auditors, 120 financial analysts, and 130 bank loan officers. The 

usable responses amounted to 40.3 per cent. The results found that financial 

directors and auditors had somewhat similar views. However, there were 

significant differences between finance directors and loan officers as well as 

financial analysts and loan officers. In the vast majority of cases, the latter group 

attached greater importance to items that were disclosed in annual reports. 

Firth (1979a) reported the extent of disclosure achieved by 100 UK 

companies. A weighted disclosure index consisting of 48 information items was 

used for the study. The general conclusion reached was that disclosure levels 

were very low (Only 8 items out of 48 being reported by more than half the 

populations) and there was a high demand for grater degree of information to be 

released through annual reports. The impact of size, stock market listing, and 

auditors on voluntary disclosure in corporate annual reports in UK was also 

investigated by Firth (1979b). A questionnaire comprising 48 information items 
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was sent to 120 financial analysts (response rate: 38.3%) asking them to indicate 

the importance of each item. It was found that both the size and the stock market 

listing variables were related to disclosure but the auditor factor had no impact 

on the level of disclosure. 

Firth (1980) attempted to investigate whether UK companies would 

significantly increase the extent and quality of voluntary financial disclosure in 

their annual reports when they raised new finance on the stock market. For this 

purpose, the disclosure levels in some companies were measured over a 2-year 

period prior to raising funds and then they were measured again after raising the 

funds. According to the results, smaller sized companies increased their 

voluntary disclosure levels significantly when rasing new stock market finance 

via new issues and right issues. The result was consistent with the predictions of 

agency theory as applied to financial disclosure. 

Firth's 1984 study examined the extent of voluntary disclosure in annul 

reports and its association with security risk measures. Specifically, the level of 

disclosure was investigated to determine whether it was associated with 

systematic risk, unsystematic risk, and variance of return on 100 manufacturing 

firms randomly selected from The Times 1000 largest companies. The results 

did not find any significant association between the disclosure and the security 

risk, suggesting that increasing disclosure levels was not because of assessing 

any security risk. 

USA 
The study conducted by Cerf (1961) is the first of its kind that attempted to 

identify the major disclosure deficiencies in corporate annul reports. His study 

was based on an analysis of 527 annual reports of US companies which 

consisted of 258 NYSE listed firms, 113 firms listed on other exchanges, and 
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156 O T C firms over the period from July 1956 to June 1957. For analysing 

these reports, he selected 31 information items through a literature review. 

interviews with security analysts and a review of analysts' reports. The study 

found a positive relation between disclosure and: (1) asset size, (2) number of 

stockholders, and (3) profitability. 

Through an analysis of annual reports using an index consisting of 32 

information items, Singhvi (1968b) examined the corporate reporting practices 

of 100 ofthe Fortune 500 firms and 50 OTC firms during the period from April 

1965 to March 1966 and found that there was a strong tendency for firms to 

publicize narrower range of information in their annual reports than they 

proclaimed to the SEC. 

Following the research design developed by Cerf (1961). Singhvi and 

Desai (1971) examined the annual reports of 100 NYSE and 55 OTC firms 

(1965/66) to identify some of the US company characteristics of the 

corporations associated with the quality of corporate disclosure. The index used 

by Singhvi and Desai comprised 34 weighted items. The chi-square analysis 

undertaken to test the association between the level of disclosure and the four 

company characteristics—assets size, number of shareholders, rate of return and 

earnings margin— revealed that all four variables were significantly associated 

with the disclosure score. 

Baker and Haslem (1973) reported the information needs of individual 

investors and identified the important sources of information used by investors 

in their analyses of common stocks. The questionnaire used to gather 

information consisted of 33 information items and was sent to 1,623 individual 

investors. Based on the 52.4 per cent of responses received from investors, the 
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study concluded that individual investors tended to use many different factors 

simultaneously in their development of expectations. Also the results indicated 

that actual disclosure was not always in line with the requirements stated by 

users. The information needs of individual investors were also found to be 

different from those of professional analysts. 

Buzby (1974) in his paper "selected items of information and their 

disclosure in annual reports" presented the results of a mail questionnaire survey 

of financial analysts which sought to determine the relative importance of 38 

selected items of information. The extent of disclosure was then measured on 

the basis of annual reports of 88 US companies. According to the results, many 

of the items were inadequately disclosed in the sample and the correlation 

between the relative importance of the items and the extent of their disclosure 

was found to be small. 

Chandra (1974) provided empirical evidence on the adequacy of 

disclosure in published corporate annual reports. His study was the first study 

that attempted to examine whether the preparers and users in the US had any 

consensus about the value of information included in published annual reports. 

Based on a questionnaire survey, which included 58 information items and was 

conducted on 1000 public accountants and security analysts (response rate: 

49.8%), the study revealed significant differences between financial analysts and 

accountants as to the perceived value of information disclosed in financial 

statements. 

Buzby's 1975 paper attempted to analyse the relationship between the 

subcomponent of adequate disclosure and two company characteristics, namely, 

size of the company and listing status. Buzby found that there was a positive 
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relation between the disclosure in annual reports and the size of company assets. 

However, disclosure and listing status were not found to be related to each other. 

Although, the result of this study was consistent with the findings of 

Cerf(1961), it did not support those of Singvi and Desai (1971). 

The study by Chandra in 1975 inquired into the information needs of 

security analysts for equity decisions. Although the scope of this study was 

limited to an examination of the information needs of only one user group, it 

produced four important conclusions. They were: (1) Security analysts were 

more interested in information items relating to the income statement. (2) 

security analysts were only moderately interested in the disclosure of budgetary 

projections, (3) price level adjusted annual reports, even as supplementary 

statements, did not have much appeal for security analysts, and (4) user 

information requirements would differ depending on the sophistication of the 

user groups. 

Using a questionnaire consisting of 79 disclosure items and a 

developed weighted scoring, Stanga (1976) investigated the impact of company 

size on the quality of disclosure. His analysis was based on the responses of 275 

financial analysts and the model was then applied to a sample of 80 large US 

corporations. The study found that there was a significant association between 

the firm size and the disclosure index, supporting the findings of Cerf (1961) 

and Buzby (1975). On the level of disclosure, the study pointed out that firms 

tended to imitate one another with respect to what disclosures should be made to 

satisfy users. 

The major objective ofthe study by Benjamin and Stanga (1977) was 

to compare the perceived information needs of two user groups (bank loan 
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officers and professional financial analysts). The results found that for 51 ofthe 

79 items, the two groups valued information differently. However, the 

differences noted in the study could be due to the fundamental differences in the 

two types of decisions considered (credit vs. equity investments). 

Chandra and GreenbaH's 1977 study empirically tested the hypothesis 

that American management is reluctant to disclose additional information items 

in corporate annual reports because it does not share the objectives and 

perceptions of investors. The study found that in respect of 46 ofthe 58 items, 

financial executives as preparers differed significantly from security analysts in 

terms of the perceived value of the information items. Financial executives as 

users differed significantly from security analysts for 41 items. Also, two groups 

of financial executives, one as prepares and the other as users, differed from 

each other for only 22 items indicating that financial executives, apparently did 

not see the value of information items so highly when they were acting as 

preparers. 

The relationship between corporate disclosure and firm risk in the 

context of US companies was examined by Garsombke (1979). The level of 

disclosure for this purpose was measured by the discloser index used by Singvhi 

and Desai (1971). Price volatility was analysed with respect to disclosure, size, 

leverage, growth, and dividends. Disclosure was found to be the least effective 

of the variables in explaining price volatility, indicating that there was no 

evidence to support a significant correlation between disclosure and firm risk. 

The study by Stanga and Tiller (1983) examined the information needs 

of a user group (bank loan officers) of corporate annual reports. The data for the 

study was obtained from 230 loan officers located throughout the United States. 
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The conclusion ofthe study was that the information needs of bank loan officers 

did not differ substantially between large public companies and small private 

companies. 

Robbins (1984) looked at the issue of consensus between the prepares 

and the users of annul reports in the context of reports prepared by government 

agencies. Specifically, the study examined the differences in information needs 

between 200 municipal finance officers (prepares) and 200 municipal bond 

analysts (users). According to the results, a significant difference was found for 

20 of the 36 pair-wise comparisons, suggesting the existence of a moderate 

degree of agreement between the two groups. 

Examination of the extent of financial disclosure in one US industry 

(Oil and Gas) was the subject matter of the study by Malone et al (1993). 

Specifically they examined whether there were identifiable and measurable 

factors that were associated with the extent of information disclosure by firms in 

the oil and gas industry. The study concluded that three variables (exchange 

listing status, debt to total equity ratio, and number of shareholders) were 

statistically significant in explaining the extent of financial disclosure. The 

broader conclusion was that there were systematic differences between firms 

that provided different amounts of information. 

3.3.2 EMERGING MARKETS 

Bangladesh 
A h m e d (1993) and Nicholls and A h m e d (1995) assessed the information needs 

of users in Bangladesh and examined the extent to which companies satisfied 

their needs. They also measured the disclosure quality longitudinally to 

determine whether it has improved over time. In addition to calculating a 
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disclosure index based on an analysis of the 1988 annual reports of 63 

companies and the 1983/84 to 1987/88 annual reports of 30 companies, they 

conducted a questionnaire survey covering 1000 various users of annual reports 

in Bangladesh, and received response rate of 44.6 per cent. The results revealed 

that during the five-year period examined, the quality of disclosure had 

improved significantly mainly due to the improvements in the regulatory 

environment. However, despite this improvement, the overall disclosure quality 

remained low in 1988. Companies disclosed very little information of voluntary 

nature, suggesting that companies in Bangladesh appeared to be less receptive to 

the information needs of those who would use the annual reports for investment 

and credit decision purposes. 

The paper by Ahmed and Nicholls (1994) looked at the level of 

disclosure of statutory information and the relationship between mandatory 

disclosure and number of company characteristics. They also developed a model 

to estimate the degree of compliance based on significant company 

characteristics. The results showed that the degree of compliance in Bangladesh 

was low, since none of the sample companies complied with the statutory 

requirement of disclosing all mandatory information. Based on a linear 

regression model, the results showed that subsidiaries of multinational 

companies and large audit firms had significant positive impact on the level of 

disclosure compliance. The qualification ofthe principal accounting officer of a 

reporting company had less influence. 

Ahmed (1994) assessed the level of financial disclosure in annual 

reports of listed companies in Bangladesh and determined the degree of 

association between the disclosure levels and the company size, total debt, 
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relationship with multinational companies, qualifications ofthe company's chief 

accounting officer, and size of the company's audit firm. A disclosure index 

based on 150 items was developed to investigate the level of disclosure in the 

1978-88 annual reports of 63 companies listed on the Dhaka Stock Exchange. 

The results showed that the average level of disclosure in the sample companies 

was 51.3 per cent with a high 73.4 per cent and a low 29.8 per cent. The 

multivariate regression analysis revealed that multinational companies and large 

audit firms had a significant impact (p<0.05) on the overall level of disclosure 

compliance. 

Karim (1995) empirically examined the association between a number 

of corporate attributes and the levels of disclosure in annual reports. Using a 

structured questionnaire, he also examined the perceived importance of selected 

information items in respect of six categories of Bangladeshi users. For his 

analysis, Karim utilised weighted and unweighted disclosure indexes applied to 

161 corporate annual reports in 1991. The results showed that size, profitability, 

active trading in the stock exchange, employment of qualified accounts(s), size 

and international link of company's auditor, and multinational subsidiary were 

significantly associated with the extent of disclosure. From the analysis of the 

questionnaire data, it was found that the users had substantial differences in their 

perceptions about the importance of information items in respect of 94 out of 

113 questionnaire items. An overwhelming majority of respondents perceived 

that the information presented in annual reports published in Bangladesh was 

not adequate and reliable. 

In 1996, Ahmed replicated his 1994 study to examine the extent of 

disclosure in the 1987-88 and 1992-93 annual reports of 118 non-financial 
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publicly quoted companies in Bangladesh and the association of disclosure 

levels with company size, total amount of debt, relationship with parent 

companies, qualification of the principal accounting officer, and size of the 

company's audit firm. The results showed an average disclosure level of 53.3 

per cent. While the voluntary disclosure remained to be very low, there has been 

some improvement in the disclosure levels of local companies and companies 

audited by smaller audit firms in 1992/93 as against the 1987/88 period. The 

study also showed that subsidiaries of multinational enterprises and companies 

audited by large audit firms disclosed significantly more information in their 

annual reports. 

China 
Using a small sample of annual reports prepared by listed companies, Xiao 

(2000) provided a description on the quality of corporate disclosure practices in 

China. Owing to the small sample size, this study did not utilise the usual index 

method used by other disclosure studies to measure the disclosure quality. 

Alternatively, a relatively comprehensive disclosure check list was utilised to 

analyse the annual reports of 13 Chinese listed companies with a view to gaining 

an understanding of the disclosure quality in China. The results indicated an 

improvement of the disclosure level in China mainly due to the recently 

promulgated requirements. Compliance with the new requirements has also been 

high because of the mandatory nature of those requirements. Many voluntary 

disclosures such as earnings forecast and the Supervisory Board's report were 

also found. Although some voluntary disclosures were motivated by a desire to 

impress investors, the market or regulators, it was revealed that voluntary 

disclosures might simply be a matter of following the foreign practice. 
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Based on an analysis ofthe 1995-98 financial statements of three listed 

companies in China, Lin and Wang (2001) commented on the financial 

disclosure and the accounting harmonisation in China. This study demonstrated 

significant discrepancies in the disclosure of information through financial 

statements. It also confirmed the existence of a substantial gap between the 

Chinese practices of corporate accounting and financial reporting and the 

internationally accepted norms. In order to enhance the relevance and usefulness 

of financial statements, the study emphasised the need for improving the 

understandability and comparability of financial statements prepared by Chinese 

listed companies. 

Czech Republic 
The research conducted by Patton and Zelenka (1997) provided an initial 

description of some financial reporting practices of a set of Czech companies for 

a period immediately after the introduction of major changes in the accounting, 

law and regulations of the country. The empirical results revealed quite a bit of 

variety in the annual reports of 50 companies listed on the Prague Stock 

Exchange Index. The variety reflected the ill-defined nature of Czech annual 

reports in 1993 and suggested that different companies pursued different 

strategies in their accounting-based annual reports. A significant portion of the 

variety in annual reports was explained by a combination of the firm's size, 

performance, risk, and other monitoring characteristics. The firm's choice of an 

auditor and the number of employees were particularly related to the extent of 

disclosure in annual reports. Also, more profitable Czech firms could be 

expected to disclose somewhat more information in their annual reports than 

less profitable firms. 
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India 

The 1968 study conducted by Singhvi attempted to examine the relationship 

between four corporate characteristics— assets size, number of shareholders, 

rate of return and earnings margin— and the corporate disclosure through a 

disclosure index analysed using a step-wise multiple regression. The study 

revealed that smaller and less profitable Indian companies managed by Indians 

rather than other nationalities were having lower disclosure levels. According to 

the chi-square test results, the relationship between the disclosure score and the 

assets size, rate of return and type of management was significant at 0.01 level 

while the relationship between the disclosure score and the earnings margin was 

significant at 0.05 level. The size of the company's audit firm, however, did not 

have a significant relationship with the disclosure score. 

Joshi and Abdulla (1994) examined the importance of information 

items as perceived by individual investors in India and analysed the differences 

in information requirements of sophisticated and non-sophisticated investors in 

India and compared the results with those of other selected countries. Their 

analysis was based on a set of data obtained through a questionnaire, which 

contained 59 information items and was sent to 226 investors (response rate: 

25.5 per cent). The results were analysed using several statical measurements 

such as Mann-Whitney U test, Kruskal - and Wallis one way ANOVA by ranks. 

A significant difference in the information requirements of two investor groups 

was found for 37 information items. Furthermore, information of an 

expectational orientation was not perceived to be more important than historical 

and current information. Additionally, no statical significance was found in the 

mean values of common information items when the results were compared with 
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Australia and U S A and except that significant difference was observed for 

Bahrain. 

A comprehensive study examining the changes in disclosure in India 

over the period from 1982 to 1990 was done by Marston and Robson (1997). 

Their analysis was based on a disclosure index, which consisted of both 

voluntary and mandatory information items, and was calculated on annual 

reports of 29 large Indian companies. The results showed that the levels of 

disclosure had increased over time and in both periods it was positively 

associated with company size. Some reasons observed for the improved 

disclosure were the increased compliance with accounting standards and an 

increase in the disclosure required by accounting standards 

Indonesia 
Replicating the research methods used by Singhvi and Desai (1971), Arya 

(1991) did a study to examine the corporate characteristics, users' preference and 

information disclosure practices in Indonesia. The results of the study showed a 

very low level of disclosure quality in the annual reports of Indonesian listed 

companies. The univariate and multivariate test showed no significant 

relationship between disclosure quality and company characteristics, namely 

assets size, number of shareholders, rate of return and earnings margin. The R2 

of 0.013 confirmed that the model was very weak, suggesting that a disclosure 

index intended to be used in a developed country is not appropriate for a 

developing country. Unlike Wallace (1988a), Arya found a significant degree of 

consensus (pO.01) between financial executives and stockbrokers. 

The 1992 study of Susanto examined whether systematic differences in 

the level of corporate disclosure existed among different groups of companies 

listed on the Jakarta Stock Exchange. For measuring the extent of disclosure in 
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annual reports, a disclosure index was utilised using annual reports of 98 firms 

listed on the JSE in 1980. He performed a multiple regression analysis on 30 

weighted items. The study found that nationality (domestic'foreign) of a firm, 

new regulations and size were related to the level of disclosure. 

Iran 
Measuring the level of disclosure of accounting information in Iran and 

determining whether some important corporate characteristics would have any 

impact on the quality of disclosure in Iran were the major objectives of a study 

conducted by Mirshekary (1999). Her study employed a questionnaire survey to 

determine the perceived information needs of various users. In addition, an 

annual report analysis based on an unweighted disclosure index applied to the 

1995/96 annual reports of 62 companies was used to measure the level of 

disclosure in Iran. The results showed a weak level of consensus on 81 

information items between the groups combined with bank loan officers, tax 

officers, and auditors. The overall disclosure level ranged from 36 per cent to 

72.5 per cent with an average disclosure level of 62 per cent. The results also 

indicated that there was a high association between the actual disclosure of 

information items and the rankings of two groups of users (auditors and tax 

officers). 

Jordan 
Abu-Nassar and Rutherford (1995) examined the characteristics, attitudes, and 

believes of prepares of external financial reports in Jordan. The research was 

conducted by means of a survey questionnaire distributed to 112 companies 

listed on the Amman Financial Market (Usable response rate: 74 per cent). 

According to the results, preparers in Jordan attached less importance to 

improved access to capital than those in developed countries. For reasons 
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connected with institutional structure, perceptions on the cost of disclosure also 

differed from those in developed countries. The examination of the relationship 

between the perceptions on the benefits and costs of disclosure and the company 

size revealed that the similar positive relationship observed in earlier studies in 

both developed and developing countries was found to be applicable to Jordan 

as well. 

The 1996 study of Abu-Nassar and Rutherford examined the way in 

which users of external financial reports would view those reports in a less-

developed country such as Jordan. The data reported in the study were collected 

in 1991 through a questionnaire sent to 463 various users of annual reports 

(response rate: 48.4 %). The results indicated that annual reports were viewed by 

users in broadly in the same way as those in developed countries. However, it 

appeared that they placed more importance to the contents of the auditors' report 

possibly due to their concern on the reliability of information in a poorly 

regulated environment. Overall, users did not perceive the information disclosed 

were to be difficult to understand preferred more information being disclosed in 

annual reports. 

Nassar (1998) empirically examined the effect of specific financial 

characteristics on the comprehensiveness of disclosure in annual reports of 54 

companies listed on the Amman Financial Market. The disclosure index used in 

the study consisted of 74 disclosure items. The results showed an improvement 

in the level of disclosure since the country chose to implement the international 

accounting standards. Moreover, company size, leverage and return on equity 

were statistically related to the comprehensiveness of disclosure in the sample. 
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Malaysia 
With objectives of examining (1) the external users' desire for selected items of 

voluntary information, (2) the expectation gap between the users' desire for 

selected items of voluntary information and the actual information disclosure of 

Malaysian listed corporations, and (3) the possible association of voluntary 

disclosure levels with two corporate characteristics (firm size and auditor), Tong 

et el. (1990) did a study using a questionnaire survey and an annual report 

analysis. Thirty five responses to the questionnaire, which included 25 voluntary 

information items, were received from the sample group of financial analysts. 

The sample size of the survey was 43 corporations. According to the results of 

the study, the extent of voluntary disclosure of Malaysian firms was 

considerably low and was positively associated with the size of company but not 

with the influence of auditors. To a greater extent, the empirical results of this 

study were similar to those of earlier studies that examined the voluntary 

disclosure. 

A study by Hossain et el. (1994) sought to investigate the relationship 

between the firm-specific characteristics and the general level of voluntary 

disclosure in annual reports of a randomly selected 67 non-financial sector 

companies in Malaysia. In this study the level of voluntary disclosure was 

measured by a disclosure index of 78 information items. On the basis of 

univariate and multivariate analysis, the study concluded that the voluntary 

disclosure systematically varied depending upon the firm size. 

The perception of two user groups (accountants and financial analysts) 

in Malaysia regarding the importance of a set of 56 items of information was the 

subject matter of a study by Rahman (1999). Data collected through a 

questionnaire survey from 135 respondents were analysed by using parametric 
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and nonparametric statistics. The results indicated that the two groups 

demonstrated a significant difference in the perceptions on 31 (55 per cent) 

information items. Moreover, it was found that while financial analyst group 

placed more emphasis on 'forward-looking' nature of information which was 

beyond the statutory requirements, the accountant group placed more 

importance on statutory items. 

Mexico 
The study by C h o w and Wong-Boren (1987) reported on voluntary financial 

disclosure practices of 52 companies listed on the Mexican Stock Exchange and 

related the extent of disclosure to the firm size, financial leverage, and 

proportion of assets in place. Voluntary disclosure was measured by using a 

weighted and unweighted disclosure index calculated on the basis of 24 

voluntary information items disclosed in the annul reports. In order to examine 

the relationship between the disclosure and the company characteristics, both 

weighted and unweighted disclosure scores were regressed on the 3 company 

characteristics. The results on both models showed that voluntary disclosure 

varied widely within the sample companies, and the extent of disclosure was 

significantly and positively related to firm size (p<0.01). However, no such 

relationship was found to exist between the disclosure and the other two 

characteristics examined. 

Nigeria 
Wallace (1988a) reported on the extent of financial reporting by a sample of 

publicly quoted companies in Nigeria. The disclosure index used in this study 

consisted of 109 items which were disaggregated into 185 items in the index 

calculation process. Index was unweighted and used dichotomous disclosure 

score. Disclosure indexes were also computed for various sections ofthe annual 

90 



Chapter 3: Corporate Financial Disclosure: A literature Review 

report. Using these indexes, Wallace described the trend of reporting practices 

between 1982 and 1986. The calculated overall disclosure decreased from 37.75 

% in 1982 to 37.55 % in 1986 peaking at 43.11% in 1984, indicating a low level 

of disclosure by Nigerian companies. The results showed a dualistic pattern in 

the sampled annual reports: the more desired types of information were 

relatively abandoned and/or overshadowed by the types which were not so 

relevant to the needs of users although they were preferred by the accounting 

profession and the reporting entities. The poor compliance with disclosure 

requirements, and the relatively low importance attached to the needs of users 

were also observed from the results of this study. 

The detailed evidence of user information needs in Nigeria was the 

focus of a study by Wallace (1998b). The questionnaire survey used in this 

study was sent to 1,200 persons (300 chartered accountants, 200 investors, 100 

senior civil servants, 200 managers, 200 financial analysts, and 200 other 

professionals). Wallace developed 15 hypothesise to assess whether there was 

any consensus regarding the importance of disclosure items across the six user 

categories. The hypotheses were tested using Mann-Whitney U test. The results 

showed that consensus varied from a low 49 % between accountants and 

professionals, to a high 97% between managers and other professionals. The 

overall consensus was 59%. There was a high level of agreement between other 

professionals and, managers, financial analysts and accountants and 

shareholders. However, there was relatively little agreement between this group 

and the accountants and civil servants. From this result, Wallace concluded that 

the degree of agreement among users about the importance of information to be 

disclosed in Nigerian corporate annual reports was low. The major conclusion of 
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this study was the lack of consensus between accountants, as a user group, and 

all other user groups. The study suggested that Nigerian users did not perceiv e 

the same set of information items to be very important as reported from some 

other developing countries. 

South Africa 

The study by Firer and Meth (1986) examined the South African investors' 

information requirements in annual reports and compared them with those of 

their UK counterparts. For this purpose, they measured the extent of voluntary 

disclosure of 36 South African companies by a weighted disclosure index 

developed for the study and compared it with a similar index used in the UK by 

Firth (1978). A spearman correlation coefficient of 0.13 between the disclosure 

index and the rankings of financial analysts (users) showed that companies did 

not disclose many information items perceived to be important by financial 

analysts. However, a Spearman rank correlation of 0.56 between the actual 

disclosure levels and the rankings of finance directors (preparers) showed that 

the needs of finance directors were more reflective in the corporate annual 

reports in South Africa than those of financial analysts. Investment analysts 

placed (1) high importance on items that embodied predictive information, (2) 

low importance on inflation related items, and (3) high importance on a 

statement of transactions in foreign currency. In the comparative analysis, a low 

level of correlation between South African investment analysts and their U.K. 

counterparts was found, indicating differing information needs of analysts in the 

two countries. 

Thailand 
Priebjrivat (1992) examined whether the linkage between the levels of 

disclosure and capital costs observed in mature markets would exist in Thailand 
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as well. His study also attempted to examine whether specific company 

characteristics relating to disclosure in Thailand were similar to those in mature 

markets such as the U.S. For this study, Priebjrivat reviewed the annual reports 

of 63 firms operating in the Securities Exchange of Thailand in 1989. 

Regressions were performed on 27 unweighted and weighted items. The results 

showed that companies in Thailand would be motivated by lower capital costs in 

providing voluntary information. As such, the level of disclosure was not seen to 

be related to capital costs as measured by beta and return variance. Also, it 

found that specific company characteristics—size; ownership control status, 

capital structure, and choice of the auditor—were related to disclosure in 

Thailand in the same way as applicable to mature markets. 

3.3 Corporate disclosure studies in Sri Lanka 

As noted in the introduction, to date no any in-depth study has examined the 

corporate disclosure practices in Sri Lanka, despite the enormous changes that 

have taken place in the country's accounting, business and legal environment in 

the recent past. The studies by Wickramarachichi (1978) and Perera (1985) are 

the only published research that have examined the disclosure practices in Sri 

Lanka. However, because of their limited coverage and investigation, they 

cannot be considered as in-depth studies While the former study was confined to 

a review ofthe formats used for reporting information on assets and liabilities in 

the balance sheet, the latter was limited to an investigation ofthe extent to which 

30 companies complied with accounting standards. In addition to these two 

studies, another study by Wickramanayeke (1997) described the legal 

implications of disclosure requirements in Sri Lanka. However, the objective of 
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his study was merely to outline the immediate disclosure requirements19 but not 

to examine empirically whether the companies were complying with the 

stipulated legal requirements of disclosure. Given the severe dearth of 

accounting literature in Sri Lanka, it is not surprising that any in-depth studies 

on country's disclosure practices are not in existence. For example, apart from a 

few anecdotal studies describing the general status of accounting (VIZ: Perera, 

1975, Wijewardena and De Zoysa, 1998) and a few empirical studies on 

accounting education (Wijewardena and Yapa, 1988, Yapa, 1999, Yapa, 2001) 

no other published research is available on accounting practices in Sri Lanka. As 

for the purpose of this study a review of the two disclosure studies mentioned 

above is provided in the following sections. 

Wickramarachichi (1978) was the first major research that attempted to 

examine the disclosure practices in Sri Lanka. It dealt with the practices adopted 

for reporting information on assets and liabilities in the balance sheet of 

corporate annual reports in Sri Lanka and provided an analysis of various 

matters concerning the reporting of assets and liabilities, including terminology 

used to describe various types, the titles and sub-titles used and the totals and 

sub-totals reported for various classifications and groupings. However, it was 

not the objective of this study to examine whether the matters investigated in the 

study were important for the users of the balance sheet published in corporate 

annual report but simply to reports the reporting practices in Sri Lanka with 

regard to the items examined. 

19 Immediate disclosures are related to the events that take place on an ad hoc basis and which 
have to be disclosed immediately, so that investors can make investment decisions about the 
securities ofthe company (Wickramanayeke, 1997). The examination of immediate disclosure 

is not within the purview of this study. 
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In this study, applying a descriptive method of research. 

Wickramarachichi analysed the annual reports of 41 commercial and 

miscellaneous public listed companies. For this purpose, he used a list of 

reporting procedures that he developed on the basis of a review of various 

research publications on company reporting practices in the USA. UK, and 

Australia. The results were recorded in the positive and negative form with a 

view to indicating the existence or non-existence of each practice. Although 

reporting practices of the above three countries were observed when preparing 

the checklist of reporting practices, the study did not attempt to make 

comparisons between the reporting practices of Sri Lanka and those ofthe other 

countries. 

The study found a lack of uniformity, presence of anomalies, and 

different reporting practices used in the preparation of balance sheets. Since 

these features characterised most aspects of financial reporting such as 

terminology, valuation methods, classification and presentation, they were 

shown in the study as impediments to the users' understanding of company 

annual reports. 

The major objective ofthe study by Perera (1985) was to examine the 

validity of the claim that by adopting IASC standards the developing countries 

would be able to improve the quality of their accounting systems so that their 

specific financial information requirements could be better satisfied. It paid 

special attention to (1) the observable dominance of the western style of 

accounting in the international accounting standard setting process, (2) the 

difference between the environmental variables that influence accounting 

systems of western capitalist countries and (3) the specific accounting needs of 
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developing countries. As a part of this study, he also presented an analysis of 

annual reports of 30 public companies in Sri Lanka as a case study of a 

developing country. In contrast to Wickramarachichis study where the focus 

was on the presentation of information in balance sheets, this study focused on 

the extent to which companies in Sri Lanka complied with the applicable 

accounting standards. The general environmental conditions influencing the 

accounting practices in Sri Lanka was also presented in the study before the 

results on the analysis of annual reports was presented. By methodology this 

study can be identified as both descriptive and empirical. 

The examination of the 30 annual reports revealed varying degree of 

compliance with standards20. Specially, non or lack of compliance was observed 

in the disclosure of inventories, fixed assets, funds flow statements, redeemable 

preference shares, social and non-financial reporting. The survey results clearly 

demonstrated that there was a wide variety of alternative accounting procedures 

and practices available for use by companies in Sri Lanka. This finding 

supported the findings of Wickramarachichi's study that there was a lack of 

uniformity in the practices adopted in reporting assets and liabilities in the 

balance sheets of public listed companies in Sri Lanka. 

3.4 Other important corporate disclosure studies 
Besides corporate disclosure studies based on annual reports and user input 

analyses, there has been a large number of studies conducted on other aspects of 

corporate disclosure, particularly on policy issues. Although, an examination of 

such aspects is not within the scope of this study, it is important to gain an 

20 By the time this study was conducted, the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka had 

issued 15 standards (SLASs). 
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understanding of some ofthe major studies on these aspects in order to view the 

results of this study in an overall context. Hence, some of the representativ e 

studies on other aspects of corporate disclosure issues are presented below. 

Through an examination of 233 accounting principles and reporting 

practices of 38 countries in 1973 and 264 principles and practices in 46 

countries in 1975, Nair and Frank (1980) found that groupings analysed by 

disclosure practices were different from those based on measurement practices. 

Factor and discriminant analyses were performed on 6 classification categories 

for principles and practices in 1973 and 7 classification categories for principles 

and practices in 1975. Economic variables were found to be related to the 

grouping, but the specific variables most closely related to each subset were 

different. Also, the underlying environmental variables most closely associated 

with the practices were different. These findings indicated that it would be more 

difficult for policy makers to achieve harmonisation of accounting practices that 

was previously realised. The affiliation of a given country with others is 

dependent upon the set of accounting practices selected. Therefore, the validity 

of cross-country comparisons depends on the nature ofthe practice on which the 

comparison is made. 

Hoskin et al. (1986) conducted a study to assess the incremental 

information content of additional firm disclosures released concurrently with the 

announcement of annual earnings. The results provided evidence that additional 

disclosures released concurrently with earnings appeared to be important 

disclosures. The effects of such disclosures on excess returns were statistically 

significant. Among the specific disclosures that appeared to drive these findings 
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were: earnings components, dividend increases, prospective officer comments. 

and prospective operating data. 

Based on grounded theory, Ginnins et al. (1990) presented an 

empirically derived structure to explain and predict corporate financial 

disclosures. Twenty interviews were conducted to develop a vocabulary of 

constructs and variables to describe disclosure processes and to identify relations 

among these constructs and variables. A two-dimensional internal preference for 

managing disclosures was developed. The first dimension measured the degree 

of uncritical acceptance of rules and norms while the second dimension 

measured the propensity to seek firm-specific advantage in how the disclosures 

were made and interpreted. 

In order to understand how the differences in accounting quality would 

be related to observable accounting chaiacteristies, Imhoff (1992) examined the 

security analysts' perceptions on the accounting quality of 185 firms in 7 

industries. For this purpose, he performed a regression analysis on the analysts' 

ratings, which were listed in the host document. The results suggested that 

accounting quality were systematically related to earnings and several other 

accounting characteristics of the sample firms. The results also provided 

evidence that earnings announcement from firms with relatively high accounting 

quality produced a larger response coefficient per unit of unexpected earnings 

than that ofthe firms with low accounting quality. 

Examining corporate disclosure strategies, Lev (1992) reported a 

change of business focus towards the integral type of disclosure strategy. In his 

study, he classified the disclosure action available to management into 3 

categories, namely, (1) disclosure choices whin the legally mandated set of 
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generally accepted accounting principles, (2) voluntary statements and 

communications by corporate executives, and (3) actions or commitments aimed 

at enhancing the impact of disclosures. The study emphasised the importance of 

a strategy of voluntary information disclosure on the grounds that it has 

considerable potential for changing stakeholders' perceptions of the company 

and thereby its market value. It also helps decreasing the cost of capital and 

consequently enhancing growth, and improving the terms of trade with suppliers 

and customers. Moreover, through a strategy of voluntary information 

disclosure, the likelihood of regulatory intervention in the firm's affairs could be 

reduced. 

Lang and Lundholm (1993) examined the cross-section variation in the 

analysts' published evaluations of firms' disclosure practices and provided 

evidence that the analysts' ratings increased with firm size and performance as 

measured by earnings and return variables, decreased in the correlation between 

earnings and returns, and they were higher for firms issuing securities in the 

current or future period. 

Price (1993) investigated the relationship between: (a) investor 

sophistication and institutional ownership, (b) sophistication and earnings 

responsiveness, and (c) sophistication and quality of accounting disclosures. He 

used COMPUSTAT and CRSP data to examine 2,533 firms over the years from 

1984 to 1991. Regression analyses were performed on variables derived from a 

set of simultaneous equations in which disclosure quality was first considered 

exogenous; then endogenous. The results of the study indicated that institutions 

would not select investments on the basis of disclosure quality, but institutional 

presence would increases the quality of disclosure. 
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The relation between the corporate disclosure policy and the cost of 

equity capital was investigated by Welker (1993) using COMPUSTAT and 

CRSP data on 2,596 firms over the years from 1981 to 1990. He performed a 

regression on variables derived from a set of simultaneous equations in which 

disclosure quality was first considered exogenous and then endogenous. The 

findings ofthe study indicated that the disclosure policy reduced the information 

asymmetry and thereby the cost of equity capital. Moreover, it was found that 

the reduction in the cost of capital resulting from improvements in disclosure 

practices was not a cross-sectional constant. 

In order to explore issues relating to differential informativeness in 

annual reports, Sutley (1994) examined a sample of winners and non-winners in 

an annual report award program organised by the Financial Post, a leading 

Canadian financial newspaper. The sample consisted of 116 winning and 123 

non-winning annual reports for the period from 1982 to 1987. He performed 

regression and content analyses on the disclosure quality evaluations and found 

that changes in stock prices were less correlated with contemporaneous changes 

in earnings in the award year for winners than for nonwinners. In addition, he 

asserted that during the annual report's announcement week winners had larger 

increases in return variability than nonwinners. One explanation of the results 

was that winners had a finer prior information environment, inducing relatively 

more measurement error in the proxy for the market's expectation of earnings. 

Another explanation was that the disclosure of additional non-earnings 

information made the earnings of winners relatively less value-relevant than 

those of nonwinners. 
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The audited estimates of future events in financial reports contained 

uncertainty which was partly subject to managerial discretion. However, 

because firms did not routinely report on the precision of their estimates, outside 

parties would be unsure about h o w the estimates should be interpreted. Penno 

(1996) modelled a scenario theorizing that disclosure precision could be forecast 

by the knowledge of the reporting firm's relative degree of success. It was 

shown that the incentive to develop more precise information was a function of 

future prospects. Firms with a high degree of disclosure tended to be 

experiencing difficulties, while firms publishing less precise disclosures tended 

to generate more stable earnings. 

3.5 Shortcomings of previous disclosure studies 

The review of literature in this chapter is focused mainly on the county studies 

that have examined the information content in annual reports either from 

prepares' or/and users' point of view. However, the results of these studies 

should be interpreted with caution because some of them were impaired by the 

limitations that they have been subjected to. Most of these limitations were 

mainly related to the construction and use of disclosure indexes and to the 

statistical analysis utilised in those studies for data analysis. The following 

sections outline some of these major limitations. 

One of the major problems associated with the use of disclosure 

indexes is the reliability of index scores awarded to companies. A s Marston and 

Shrvies (1991) pointed out, if the results can be replicated by another researcher 

the index score awarded to companies can be considered reliable. However, in 

order for a subsequent researcher to be able to replicate the scoring, clear 

instructions are needed on problem areas such as partial scores and decisions as 
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to whether a non-disclosed item is applicable to a particular company. Some 

studies (for example Tonkin, 1989) failed to provide such instructions. 

Another major problem of disclosure indexes is related to the validity 

of index scores. "The index scores can be considered to be valid if they mean 

what the researchers intended" (Marston and Shrvies, 1991, p. 198). If the scores 

may provide different meaning to different people as in the case of many 

disclosure indexes, then there is a question of validity. As Marston and Shrvies 

(1991) pointed out, most researchers adapt and tailer existing indexes to meet 

their own perceived needs, creating indexes valid only in the particular research 

environment being investigated. Because of the fact that researchers have used 

different indexes in different research, the direct comparison of the results of 

one study with another becomes difficult. 

In constructing a disclosure index, researchers have to decide as to 

what and how many items to be included in it. This is always a difficult decision 

to make because there are no established standards for selecting items for an 

index and there are virtually unlimited number of information items that may be 

disclosed in an annual report. However, general view is that an index which 

includes a large number of information items is more likely to capture the extent 

of disclosure of an annual report than an index comparising a small number of 

information items. Some of the previous disclosure studies have been criticised 

for their use of a small number of information items (for example, Cerf, 1961-31 

items; Buzby, 1974 &1975- 38 items; Barrett, 1976 &1977; 17 items). A 

heuristic framework of "more disclosure is better" is most apparent in studies 

using disclosure indexes (Ball and Foster 1982). As a matter of fact, the number 

of information items included in the disclosure indexes of the studies that were 
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reviewed in this chapter varied from 10 (Benjamin et al. 1976) to 244 (Nicholls 

and Ahmed 1995). 

In order to measure the level of disclosure, some studies have used a 

weighted disclosure index (For example: Cerf 1961; Singhvi and Desai 1971; 

Buzby 1975, Barrett 1976; Firth 1979) while others (For example: Wallace 

1988; Tai et al. 1990; Cooke 1992; Ahmed 1994) have used a non-weighted 

disclosure index. Which method is most suitable is debatable as there seem be 

considerable merits and demerits of both methods. Non-weighted indexes are 

preferred by many researchers as the element of subjectivity in assigning 

91 

weights can be avoided. O n the other hand, they are criticised for 

distinguishing a mere disclosure of an item with a detailed disclosure of the 

same item. The fact that an index is weighted or non-weighted also has a bearing 

on judging the level of measurement achieved by a disclosure index which is 

important as "the permissible operations which may be earned out on the index 

scores may be dependent on the level of measurement achieved" (Marston and 

Shrvies, 1991, p. 199). 

Some researchers confined their investigation only to the disclosure of 

mandatory items (For example Perera, 1985; Ahmed and Nicholls, 1994; 

Wallace and Naser, 1995; Owusu-Ansah, 1998) while some others confined 

their studies only to examine the disclosure of voluntary items (for example, 

Chow and Wong-Boren, 1987; Cooke, 1989; Tong et al., 1991; Cooke, 1991). 

Also there were studies that considered both mandatory and voluntary items in 

constructing the disclosure indexes. Although it is understandable that 

21 Some researchers have weighted items based on the perceived importance of one or more user 
groups (For example: Cerf 1961, Firth 1980). Other researchers such as Buzby (1975) and 
Barrett (1976) have assigned weights based on personal judgement 
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researchers have to limit their scope of research only to examine either the 

mandatory or voluntary items due to practical reasons, it is very clear that one 

can get a better understanding of the disclosure level of annual reports of a 

particular country by using an analysis done through indexes that comparise 

both types of information. 

Another problem associated with disclosure studies that used indexes is 

how to deal with the items which are included in the disclosure index but may 

not be relevant to a particular company. Obviously, a company cannot be 

penalised for non-disclosure of an item which is not relevant to that company. 

Referring to this problem, Cooke (1989) stated that in the case of non­

disclosure it is not always clear whether the item is relevant or not. For example, 

if no contingent liabilities are disclosed, does this mean that there are none or 

that the company is declining to disclose them? Previous researchers have dealt 

with this issue in one of the following three ways. First, considering all 

disclosure items as relevant to all companies in the sample (Buzby 1974). 

Second dividing the actual score by the maximum score possible for that 

company (Buzby 1975). Third making the judgement based on the knowledge of 

the company gained by reading the whole annual report (Cooke 1989). 

Most of the earlier disclosure studies were conducted in developed 

markets. The disclosure indexes used in those studies consisted of information 

items applicable to developed countries with well developed capital markets. 

Some ofthe disclosure studies conducted in emerging markets (Singhvi 1968, 

Maston 1986) replicated studies conducted in developed markets without 

suitable adjustments to the massive socio-cultural, business environmental 

differences between the developed markets and emerging markets. 
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After having measured the level of disclosure of a country, some 

disclosure studies have attempted to identity the relationship between the 

disclosure and some firm-specific characteristics, such as company size, listing 

status, turnover, and leverage. The results of these tests were very often 

consistent across countries, either developed or emerging markets. Company 

size was probably the most tested company characteristic. Very often it was 

found to be closely related to the level of disclosure. (See: Cerf 1961, Singhvi 

and Desai 1971, Stanga 1974, Buzby 1975, Belkaoui and Kahl 1978, Firth 1979, 

MaNally et al. 1982, Chow and Wong-Boren 1987, Cooke 1989 and 1992). The 

problem, however, is that no predictive model based on significant company 

variables to measure relationship between the company characteristics and the 

level of disclosure has been developed so far despite the fact that this type of 

research has been in existence for more than four decades. Such a model would 

have provided an estimate of the probability of disclosure of all information 

applicable to a company in a given country (Kamran 1993). Furthermore, the 

studies that have examined this relationship have merely accumulated evidence 

that some firm-specific characteristics are reflected in disclosures but not 

attempted to add to the knowledge of how a firm should communicate in order 

to best reduce the information asymmetry between managers and investors 

(Schadewitz and Blevins 1999). 

Another limitation is related to the method used for data analysis. The 

majority of previous disclosure studies utilized various statistical techniques for 

analysing data. The studies (i.e.: Perera 1985, Abu-Nassar and Rutherford 1995, 

Anderson 1998) that did not use any statistical techniques have analysed data 

mainly as percentages. These studies have been subjected to criticism because of 
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not utilising statistical techniques. The studies that have made use of statistics 

(for example, Henderson, 1969; Buzby, 1975, Firth, 1978; Courtis, 1979) have 

also been criticised for the inappropriateness of the techniques used. One 

common criticism pointed to the use of univariate statistical methods for 

assessing the relationship between variables when there is more than one 

independent variable. Another criticism was the use of parametric statistical 

tests, which are appropriate when measurement on an interval or ratio scale has 

been achieved and the population is normally distributed, when nominal or 

ordinal scale of measurement has been achieved. While this was accepted in the 

behavioural and social sciences it met with resistance from statisticians and 

mathematicians (Marston and Shrives 1991). 

The limitations of disclosure studies with user input are mainly related 

to the selection of the sample. When 37 of these studies were analysed it was 

found that there were 12 broad user groups from which opinions have been 

sought. The most common user groups were: financial/security analysts (49%); 

investors-both private and institutional (46%); bank loan officers (24%); 

accountants (22%); financial directors/executives (16%); and stock brokers 

(11%). However, most ofthe studies with user input were confined to examining 

the information needs of a fewer user groups—in most cases one or two. In the 

37 studies, the number of user groups varied from 1 to 7 but 84% (31 studies) of 

studies had examined just 2 user groups (54%-one user groups, 30%-two user 

groups). Most ofthe studies that examined user perceptions on the information 

content of annual reports (for example: Baker and Haslem, 1973; Belkaoui et al., 

1977; Chenhall and Juchau, 1977; Anderson, 1981) revealed that different 

groups of users perceive the importance of information items differently from 
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each other. Therefore, the studies with larger user groups could provide more 

insights for accomplishing the research objectives than those studies with fewer 

user groups. 

3.6 Summary 
The major objective of this chapter was to review the scope, methodologies, 

findings, and limitations of corporate disclosure studies done in D M s and EMs. 

However, this review has been confined to the studies that have directly dealt 

with corporate disclosure in annual reports of a particular country. Previous 

corporate studies comprise studies that have examined the disclosure practices 

from the point of view of: (1) preparers through quantification of information 

disclosed in the annual reports, (2) users through questionnaire surveys, and (3) 

both preparers and users through annual report and questionnaire surveys. The 

majority of disclosure studies used 'disclosure indexes' for measuring the 

information content of annual reports. The literature review revealed that, in 

general, annual reports have failed to provide adequate information for the users 

in EMs. While some studies reported a high degree of agreement among user-

groups with regard to their information needs, relatively low degree of 

consensus between user-groups was observed in some other studies. Literature 

also showed that a greater emphasis has been placed in E M s for improving 

corporate disclosures for further development of their stock markets. Overall, 

the level of disclosure in many E M s has improved over time. However, the large 

firms, whether in D M s or E M s , disclosed more information than smaller firms. 

Despite increased attention for the improvement of corporate disclosure 

practices in E M s , only a few studies have so far dealt with such issues. The user 

information needs of E M s are also largely unknown as previous studies have 
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examined the information needs of only a few users. Moreover, the significantly 

different disclosure indexes used in previous disclosure studies also hinder a fair 

comparison between these studies. 
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Chapter 4 

Corporate Financial Disclosure in 
Sri Lanka: Regulatory Environment 

and Recent Developments 

4.1 Introduction 
The regulations aimed at improving the quality and uniformity of corporate 

financial reporting, including financial disclosures, in Sri Lanka consist of 

Company Law, C S E & S E C requirements, Sri Lanka Accounting Standards 

(SLASs) and other by-Laws. The objective of this chapter is to outline the related 

institutional and legal framework and discuss the provisions of the major 

regulations on corporate disclosure in Sri Lanka. The chapter is organised in five 

sections. While the second section provides a historical development of 

disclosure practices in Sri Lanka, the third section describes the legal and 

institutional framework. The fourth section outlines all major disclosure 

requirements imposed by various regulatory bodies and the final section provides 

a summary ofthe chapter. 

4.2 Historical Developments and Disclosure Requirements 

Although there has been a long history for the corporate culture in Sri Lanka-

improving the quality of disclosure practices is a recent phenomenon. 

Interestingly, despite the existence of public companies for a long period of time, 

"there has been no tradition of financial reporting to the public in the history of 

accounting practices in Sri Lanka" (Perera, 1975, p.87). However, such a 

situation is not surprising when one considers the nature and ownership of 
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companies, especially in the pre-independence period. Perera (1975) describes 

this situation as follows: 

The country is characterised by an elite class that dominates 
the economic and political fabric of the society. They are 
generally a small percentage of the total population, but they 
own a large proportion of the country's capital assets and 
receive a highly disproportionate share of the national 
income. This elite class often controls major domestic firms, 
and in most cases their family members and friends hold 
responsible managerial positions. ... In view ofthe close-knit 
nature of the elite group there has been little incentive for the 
development of a system of extensive financial reporting; 
under such conditions the owners and managers tend to 
believe that they need only a minimum of accounting 
information (pp. 87-88). 

However, this situation changed dramatically in early 1970s with the 

emergence of a new class of people with an investible surplus of income and new 

lending institutions including state banks (Manoharan, 1972). With these 

changes, companies slowly started to respond to the demand for information 

needs of this new class of people. 

In Early days, the company law in Sri Lanka did little to improve the 

quality of reporting practices. For Example, the first company legislation in Sri 

Lanka, Joint Stock Companies Ordinance No. 4 of 1861, did not include any 

provisions to make the publication and audit of company financial statements 

obligatory. Although the Companies Ordinance No. 51 of 1938 introduced some 

statutory requirements on disclosure and presentation of financial information, 

they were based mainly on the commercial and social needs of England in 1929, 

which were not relevant to the changing business environment in Sri Lanka 

(Wickramarachchi, 1978, p.3). Compared to the limited disclosure requirements 

laid down in the Companies Ordinance, the Colombo Brokers' Association 

(CBA) had imposed a greater amount of more specific disclosure requirements. 
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Since the C B A was the authority for granting public quotations, its rules and 

regulations were applicable to all public companies wishing to have their shares 

quoted in the official list. In order to protect the public interest, the CBA took the 

greatest care when granting a quotation to a company. Therefore, the by-laws of 

the association were closely modelled on those of the London Stock Exchange 

and were far in advance of those of the local Companies Ordinance of 1938. 

Accordingly, a vast amount of details had to be given in the company's 

prospectus or advertised statement (Perera, 1975, pp. 88-89). These rules and 

guidance provided to listed companies for preparing their financial statements 

were published in a CBA publication under the title of "By-Laws for the Official 

List, quotations and dealings". 

With the establishment ofthe ICASL in 1959, the reporting practices 

in Sri Lanka took a significant turn. While advising its members to comply w ith 

the provisions of the Companies Ordinance, the ICASL, following the 

recommendations of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and 

Wales, introduced more progressive reporting requirements and auditing 

standards (Perera, 75, pp. 90-91). Accordingly, since 1970" the ICASL has been 

regularly adopting, with necessary modifications, several Accounting Standards 

and Auditing Guidelines set out by some international bodies for the 

improvement of reporting practices in Sri Lanka. Until recently, these standards 

mainly served as guidelines for accountants and auditors to prepare and audit 

22 The first Sri Lanka Accounting Standard (SLAS-1)—The treatment of dividends duly grossed 
in the balance sheets and Appropriation Statements of Companies—was issued on 1 April 
1970, and supplemented by circulars of 14 and 19 December 1973 (Wickramaarchi, 1978). 

This standard was later withdrawn. 
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accounts whilst the Companies Act and the CSE's listing regulations stipulated 

mandatory disclosure requirements. 

Because of the small number of companies whose accounting came 

under the rules ofthe CSE in 1970s, stock market was the least important source 

for accounting regulation (Perera, 1975, p.90). Amid the absence of legal backing 

for SLASs and less significance of stock market rules, the Companies Ordinance 

continued to maintain the legal control over accounting and accountants in the 

country. The Company Ordinance required every company to maintain certain 

records and have them audited by a qualified auditor every year. However, the 

requirements specified by the Companies Ordinance had many limitations. For 

example, although the rules applicable to the preparation of the balance sheet 

were specified in the Ordinance no such rules were given in respect of the profit 

and loss account. 

By 1977, the ICASL had issued seven Sri Lankan Accounting 

Standards (SLAS) of which SLAS 7—Information to be disclosed in financial 

statements—provided specific information with regard to the preparation of 

financial statements. Five years after the introduction of SLAS 7, the existing 

Companies Ordinance No. 51 of 1938 was replaced by a new Companies Act, 

No. 17 of 1982, which specified the reporting requirements in grater detail. 

Effectively, most of the requirements recommended by the ICASL through the 

SLAS 7 were included in the new Act. 

However, despite the introduction of the new Companies Act and 

continued issuance of SLASs as guidelines for reporting practices, there were 

serious concerns over the reliability of company financial statements. A 

committee report on financial sector reforms in July 1993 had specific reference 

112 



Chapter 4: Regulatory Environment and Recent Developments 

to some of these concerns. The report sates, "There has been a considerable 

concern expressed both in official circles as well as among the interesting public, 

that the true financial position of banks and other financial institutes and of 

public companies is not always fully revealed in their published accounts. For 

instance, the true financial position ofthe Bank of Ceylon and the People's Bank 

and some leading finance companies which were in serious difficulties, was not 

revealed in the accountants and audits of these institutions (Rodrigo, 1996). 

In the absence of research examining the state of accounting practices 

in Sri Lanka, the real state of these practices were largely unknown to the general 

public and even to the regulators. The fact that the Companies Act had stipulated 

reporting requirements and an independent auditor was required to certify 

whether financial statements were prepared following these legal requirements 

made people to believe that financial statements of companies showed the true 

state ofthe companies. However, the sudden collapse of some finance companies 

in late 1980s without any prior warning raised serious doubt about the credibility 

of financial statement of the entities in Sri Lanka. In 1991, A World Bank 

official, Dr. M G Parry, (cited by Rodrigo, 1996) had the following comments to 

make on the state of accounting and auditing in Sri Lanka. 

(1) There is a generally low perception of the quality of financial 
statements, and the reliability of the audit opinion of both privately 
owned companies and public enterprises. 

(2) Private companies are frequently audited by licensed, but unqualified 
auditors, their financial statements are seriously in arrears, and they 
very substantially understate profit. 

(3) The financial statements of quoted companies are typically 
superficially well produced and attractively presented documents. In 
reality, they often fail to comply with accounting standards, they 
sometimes significantly misstate results, and therefore by implication 

their audit cannot be relied upon. 

113 



Chapter 4: Regulatory Environment and Recent Developments 

(A) In their corporate lending decisions, banks make very limited use of 
financial statements. 

This problematic situation in reporting practices in Sri Lanka was also 

seen as a major impediment to the development of CSE. Cabraal (1994) 

referring to the importance of financial reporting as a key factor that actively 

contributes to the sustenance of investor confidence, which is the most vital 

ingredient in a stock market, pointed out some negative aspects of financial 

reporting practices in Sri Lanka that obstruct the attempts for increasing investor 

confidence. They are: 

Non-availability of proper Accounting standards, 

Lack of properly educated and trained personal in the preparation 
of financial statements, 

Poor and questionable auditing practices, 

Lack of authoritative pronouncements pertaining to the 
interpretation of Accounting Standards, 

Lack of enforcement of Accounting Standards to ensure that the 
financial statements give a true and fair view; 

Delays in dissemination and publication of financial statements, 

Lack of professional ethics governing those involved in the 
preparation and the audit of financial statements, and 

Possible coercion by interested parties in manipulating financial 
statements. 

Supporting these views, Rodrigo (1994) pointed out the quality of 

financial statements as a major area that affects the development of capital 

market in Sri Lanka. In his opinion, there are many instances of falsification of 

accounts that have passed undetected although those accounts have been audited. 

The main areas of falsification of accounts are: 

Manipulation of accounting policies or application of inappropriate 

accounting polices, 

Inadequate disclosure in financial statements, and 
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• Misleading presentation 

In view of these comments, it was evident that despite the SEC serving 

as the regulatory authority and the disclosure requirements stipulated by the 

Companies Act, they were unable to deliver the intended results. Further, the 

mechanisms to monitor compliance with laws and regulations ware also not 

operating properly, resulting a creation of false values for enhancing share prices 

of some listed companies. Because of this unhealthy situation created by the 

existing accounting practices, in early 1990s, the importance of strengthening the 

legal backing for disclosures requirements was seen as a possible solution for 

improving the reporting practices. 

The outcome of all these comments resulted in the enactment of the Sri 

Lanka Accounting and Auditing Standards Act of 1995 (SLAASAct) which 

made the compliance of the SLASs mandatory for Specified Business 

Enterprises (SBE) in the preparation of their financial statements. Unlike in the 

past where Accounting Standard Committee consisted of only members of the 

ICASL, the new Accounting Standards Committee (ASC) established under 

Section 8 of the Act for the continuous achievement of the objectives of the 

Accounting Standards Act has a broader representation. The SLAASAct has not 

only placed equal responsibility for ensuring compliance with the standards on 

the management of the entity but also on its auditors, who are required to 

specifically report on whether the entity has complied with the relevant SLASs 

(Accounting and Auditing Standards Act, 1995). 
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4.3 Legal and Institutional Framework 

4.3.1 The accounting profession 

The first national professional accounting body, the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants of Sri Lanka (ICASL), was established in December 1959 under 

the Parliamentary Act No. 23 of 1959. This was in response to a 

recommendation made to the Government by the L M D de Silva Commission 

on Company Law. The ICASL replaced the Accountancy Board which 

functioned as the only authoritative accounting body in Sri Lanka during the 

1941-1959 period (Wijewardena and Yapa, 1998). 

The ICASL is administered by a council consisting of the president, 

vice-president and four members elected by the members and six members 

appointed by the Minister of Internal and External Trade. The main duties ofthe 

Council are: to supervise and regulate accounting education and training; to 

maintain professional standards, and acquaint members with the methods and 

practices necessary to maintain standards; to encourage research in accountancy 

and related subjects and to secure the well being and advancement of the 

profession. Currently, the Institute has over 2,000 members along with over 

16,000 registered students (ICASL, 2001). 

The ICASL has a significant influence over the national policy 

formulation in areas related to the accountancy profession. It is the sole 

accounting standards setting authority in Sri Lanka and the application of 

accounting standards issued by the ICASL is mandatory for Specified Business 

Enterprises (SBE) including all companies listed on the Colombo Stock 
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Exchange . In the fields of taxation and company law, it renders assistance to 

the government in the form of suggestions and recommendations on various 

fiscal and accounting related matters before the respective legislation is 

formulated. Since 1964, with the intention of improving the quality of corporate 

reporting practices in Sri Lanka, the ICASL has been conducting an annual 

competition among companies, public corporations and banks for selecting the 

"Best Corporate Report and Accounts". 

In addition to ICASL, two other professional bodies, the Chartered 

Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA), which has a well-established 

branch in Sri Lanka, and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 

(ACCA), provide professional accounting qualifications to Sri Lankans. 

However, since the CIMA basically caters to accountants engaged in cost and 

management accounting in commerce and industry, its members cannot function 

as auditors. Therefore, they are mainly involved in management accounting 

functions in organisations rather than in financial reporting. The number of 

ACCA members in Sri Lanka is very small and they too do not act as auditors. 

In 1999 the Sri Lankan accountants with CIMA and ACCA qualifications 

amounted to 1,321 and 62 respectively (Wijewardena, 1999). 

Other SBEs are: Companies licensed under the Banking Act, No. 30 of 1988; Companies 
authorized under the Control of Insurance Act No. 28 of 1962 to carry on insurance business; 
Companies carrying on Leasing business; Factoring companies; Companies registered under 
the Finance Companies; Companies licensed under the Securities Act to operate unit trusts; 
Fund Management Companies; Companies licensed under the Securities Act to cany on 
business as stockbrokers or stock dealers; Companies licensed under die Securities Act to 
operate a stock exchange, Companies not listed on a stock exchange licensed under the 
Securities Act (a) which have turnover in excess of the prescribed limit, (b) which at the end 
of the previous financial year, had a shareholders equity in excess of the prescribed limit, (c) 
which at the end ofthe previous year, had habilities to banks and other financial institutions in 
excess of the prescribed limit, (e) which have a staff in excess of the prescribed limit; Public 
corporations engaged in the sale of goods or the provision of services; and A group of 
companies, any one of which fall within any ofthe above categories. 

117 



Chapter 4: Regulatory Environment and Recent Developments 

4.3.2 Accounting Standards Committee (ASC) 

The A S C established by the SLAASAct for the purpose of making 

recommendations and assisting the ICASL in adopting of accounting standards 

consisted of twelve members. Six of them are members ofthe ICASL including 

the President. The other six members are: one member nominated by the Sri 

Lanka Division ofthe CIMA, the Registrar of Companies, the Director General 

of the Securities and Exchange Commission, a nominee of the Governor of the 

Central Bank, an nominee of the Ceylon Chamber of Commerce and a nominee 

of the Federation of Chambers of Commerce and Industry of Sri Lanka. The 

committee is required to consult the Central Bank when making any 

recommendation regarding accounting standards for licensed Commercial 

Banks and financial institutions within the supervisory control of the Central 

Bank. 

4.3.3 The Auditing Standards Committee (AuSC) 

This committee was also established by the SLAASAct to make 

recommendations and to assist the ICASL in the adoption of SLAuSs. It 

consists of eight members ofthe ICASL nominated by its Council. At least four 

of these members are members ofthe ASC. 

4.3.4 Sri Lanka Accounting and Auditing Standards Monitoring Board 
(SLAASMB) 

This Board was established in 1995 by an Act of Parliament for the purpose of 

facilitating the monitoring of compliance by specified business enterprises with 

the Accounting and Auditing Standards. It comprises the following 13 

members: (a) Three ex-officio members—the Registrar of Companies, the 

Commissioner General of Island Revenue, and the Director General ofthe SEC; 

(b) Ten members appointed by the Minister including: an officer of the Central 
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Bank as nominee of its Governor, three members of the ICASL. a member of 

the Sri Lanka division of the CIMA, two company Directors with executive 

managerial experience, one Senior Lawyer, one Senior Banker, and a nominee 

of the University Grants Commission. The Chairman of the committee is 

appointed by the Minister. The SLAASAct requires every EBE to forward a 

copy of its annual accounts to the Monitoring Board to enable it to determine 

whether the accounts have been prepared in accordance with the SLASs. 

4.3.5 Colombo Stock Exchange (CSE) 

The Colombo Stock Exchange was originally known as the Colombo Brokers' 

Association (CBA) which commenced trading of shares in limited liability 

companies involved in the opening up of plantations when they country was 

under the British rule. Public funds were channelled into equity capital in these 

plantation companies under the sponsorship of the CBA. It also created an 

active secondary market for such securities. Since then, share trading grew 

gradually and Colombo had an active share market for most of the century. 

However, the nationalisation of private enterprises including plantation 

companies and banks in the 1960s and 1970s had a serious adverse impact on 

the share market reducing its trading to insignificant proportions. With the 

introduction of a new political and economic philosophy that espoused free and 

open market ideals in the latter part of the 1970s, the share market quickly 

recovered its lost stature. In 1984, the Colombo Stock Exchange (CSE) took 

over the operations of the stock market from the CBA and for the first time in 

the history of share trading in Sri Lanka the stock market was opened up to the 

public with the establishment of a public trading floor based on an 'open outcry' 

system of trading (CSE, 2000). 
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The free market economic polices of 1978 and the emergence of the 

private sector as the dominance force of the economy caused a restructuring of 

the stock market. After many decades of inactivity, the stock market activities 

in the country picked up very significantly in the early 1990s due to a number of 

positive steps such as the liberalisation of stock market investments, fiscal 

incentives, opening of the market to foreign investors, modernisation and 

improvement of trading activities. In 1997, the CSE became the seventh stock 

exchange in the world to set up a fully integrated screen based trading system, 

replacing the century old 'open outcry' system. In 1997, the CSE had 237 listed 

companies with market capitalisation of over 112 billion rupees (Central Bank 

of Sri Lanka, 1998). 

The CSE has been organised as a company limited by guarantee. Its 

polices are formed by a board of directors consisting of five brokers elected by 

the members and four non-brokers who are appointed by the Finance Minster on 

the recommendation of the SEC of Sri Lanka. Among the committees set up by 

the board are the Rules and By-Laws Committee, the Disciplinary and 

Arbitration Committee, the Finance Committee, the Listings Committee, and 

the Research and Development Committee. Membership is restricted to 

stockbrokers who are permitted to act as intermediaries or agents for buyers and 

sellers of securities. Currently, there are 15 member firms operating on the 

exchange floor (Sheimo, 1996). 

The key statutes, which have an impact on the operations of the CSE, 

are given below. 

• The Securities Council Act No. 36 of 1987 (as amended) 

• The Companies Act No. of 1982 (as amended ) 

• The Companies Act as amended by Act No.33 of 1991 

• The Exchange Control Act No. 35 of 1956 (as amended) 
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• The Banking Act No. 30 of 1998 (as amended) 

• The Fair Trading Commission Act No. 1 of 1987 (as amended) 

The Colombo Stock Exchange (CSE) is licensed by the Securities and 

Exchange Commission of Sri Lanka (SEC). The stock market comes within the 

purview ofthe Securities Council Act of 1987 (SEC Act). The CSE has several 

rules and regulations that govern Listed Companies and Member Firms. Rules 

ofthe CSE also form part ofthe regulations ofthe SEC under the SEC Act. The 

following are the rules and regulations ofthe CSE: 

• Listing rules 

• Member Regulations 

• Rules for Clearing, Settlement, and Depository activities (CDS 
Rules) 

• Conditions of Sale Trading Rules 

4.3.6 Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 

This is a statutory body set up under the Securities Council Act" No. 36 of 

1987 with the purpose of regulating the securities market in Sri Lanka; granting 

licences to stock exchanges, stock brokers and stock dealers who are engaged in 

the business of trading in securities; and setting up a compensation fund. The 

specific objectives ofthe Commission stipulated by the Act are the creation and 

maintenance of a fair and orderly security market in Sri Lanka; the protection of 

the interest of investors and the operation of a compensation fund to protect 

investors from financial loss arising from the failure of a broker to meet his 

contractual obligations; and the regulation of the securities market (SEC, 2002). 

By regulating and overseeing the securities market, the SEC ensures that 

professional standards are maintained in the market. 

24 This act was amended by the Securities Council (Amendment) Act No. 26 of 1991 and is 
hereinafter referred to as the "Securities Act". With this amendment, the name of the 
Securities Council was changed to Securities and Exchange Commission in Sri Lanka. 
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The S E C consists of 10 non-executive members and is headed by a 

Director General who functions under the general direction and guidance of the 

commission. Of the 10 members, the Minister of Finance appoints 6 of them 

who are qualified and experienced in legal, finance, business and administrative 

affairs. Also, the Governor of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka nominates one of 

his Deputy Governors to the commission. The remaining 3 members of the 

commission are ex-officio members. They are: Deputy Secretary to the 

Treasury, the Registrar of Companies, and the President of the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka. The Director General is appointed by the 

Minister of Finance on the recommendation of the SEC is responsible for 

managing and carrying out various activities ofthe commission. 

Although the SEC has been very active in recent years in developing 

the CSE by taking a number of positive measures, it have been subject to heavy 

criticism for several years on a number of issues. Cabraal (1994) identified the 

following weaknesses: (1) Lack of proper rules, regulations and orders to ensure 

the orderly trading of securities, (2) Slow response to public complaints and 

concerns, (3) Unfair and arbitrary rulings, (4) Conflicts of interests, particularly 

in relation to key persons, (5) Not being up-to-date with international and /or 

regional developments, enactment of regulations that prevent or retard market 

growth, insufficient commitment to future market development, not being 

sufficiently independent and objective. 

However, the SEC has recently taken a number of steps towards 

achieving its intended objectives. One of them was signing of a memorandum of 

understanding (MOU) between the SEC and the Sri Lanka Accounting and 

Auditing Standards Monitoring Board (SLAASMB) in 2001. According to this 

122 



Chapter 4: Regulatory Environment and Recent Developments 

M O U , both S E C and S L A A S M B agreed to co-ordinate their regulatory 

functions to the extent feasible with a view to preventing any overlap or 

duplication of activities. Listed below are the specific items they have agreed to: 

1. SEC scrutinise annual reports and financial statements of listed 
companies in respect of compliance with the Companies Act and 
C S E rules, and statements of corporate governance; 

2. S L A A S M B will scrutinise annual reports and financial statements 
of companies in relation to compliance with Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards (SLASs) and Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs); 

3. S E C will keep the S L A A S M B informed of any non-compliance by 
companies with SLASs and SLAuSs that SEC will become aware 

of; 

4. The S E C will share with S L A A S M B its final decisions or rulings 
following its examination of annual reports and financial 
statements which are considered necessary for the S L A A S M B to 

be aware of; 

5. S E C will share copies of its communications with listed companies 
concerning matters pertaining to SLASs; 

6. S L A A S M B will keep the SEC promptly informed of any 
investigations it initiates on entities regulated by the SEC which 
S L A A S M B considers relevant for the SEC to be aware of; 

7. The final findings by S L A A S M B on matters mentioned in 5 above 
which the Board considers relevant for the SEC to know will be 

conveyed to SEC promptly; 

8. S L A A S M B will keep the SEC informed of any directions issued to 
entities regulated by the SEC agreements reaches with such entities 
to amend, update or disclose any item in their annual financial 
statements, interim reports or any other publications; 

9. S E C will share with the S L A A S M B complaints relating to the non­

compliance with SLASs and SLAuSs; 

10. S E C and S L A A S M B will engage in joint public awareness 
activities pertaining to transparent and good corporate governance 

practices 

Since the examination of annual reports of listed companies to check 

the compliance with regulations has now become an activity ofthe SLAASMB, 

the SEC confined it activities in relation to the annual reports to check the 

compliance with listing rules, corporate government practices, etc. However, 

prior to this change the Corporate Affairs, Governance and Research Division of 
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the S E C reviewed annual reports of listed companies to ensure full and fair 

disclosure, as required by SEC Act, CSE Rules, the Companies Act, and the 

compliance with SLASs. 

4.3.7 The Registrar of Companies 

The Department of the Registrar of Companies is the primary administrativ e 

authority of all companies registered in Sri Lanka and is responsible for the 

implementation of the Companies Act. Its mission is to establish business and 

other institutions under the relevant Acts in accordance with the economic and 

trade policy ofthe Government and to act in vigilance in regard to their effective 

functioning and to assist in other commercial activities. The Registrar also 

functions as an ex-officio in the Board of the SEC. This role enables him to 

reduce the overlaps in the regulatory oversight exercised by the Registrar and in 

the areas of investor protection and disclosure. 

4.4 Legislative Requirements 

4.4.1 C o m p a n y Act requirements 

Unlike the Companies Ordinance No. 51 of 1938, the new Companies Act 

included specific requirements for both the balance sheet and the profit and loss 

account. Accordingly, under the new Act, the directors were required to prepare 

and present profit and loss accounts, balance sheets, group accounts (if any) and 

other necessary reports in accordance with the provisions under Sections 144, 

146, and 152 of the Act. Further, Part I of the fifth Schedule of the Act 

explicitly detailed out the information that should be disclosed in these 

statements. More specifically, paragraphs 2 to 11 of the Schedule pointed out 

the balance sheet items while paragraphs 12 to 14 specified the profit and loss 

items. Part II of the Schedule outlined the special provisions applicable to 
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holding or subsidiary companies while Part III pointed out the exceptions to the 

disclosure requirements in respect of special types of companies. Finally, Part 

IV provided the details as to how the terms used in the Schedule should be 

interpreted (Companies Act, 1982). 

The Companies Act requires the directors of every company to keep 

proper books of accounts and publish a balance sheet and a profit and loss 

account at least once in every calendar year. With regard to the general 

provisions in respect of contents and form of accounts, the section 145 (1) of the 

Act stipulates that the balance sheet and the profit and loss account of the 

company should give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and the 

operating performance ofthe company. In addition, section 145 (2) requires that 

these two statements must comply with the requirements ofthe Fifth Schedule 

of the Act. The balance sheet and the profit and loss account must be audited. 

Auditors are also required to state whether these statements provide the 

information required by the Act to give a true and fair view of the company. 

Also, both the Act and the SLASs require that financial statements should 

include corresponding figures for the preceding period as well. 

If a company has one or more subsidiary companies and is not itself a 

wholly owned subsidiary of another company incorporated in Sri Lanka, it 

needs to prepare group accounts. In such a case, the holding company is 

required to prepare consolidated financial statements showing the state of affairs 

ofthe company and its subsidiaries. 

In accordance with section 152 of the Act, a report by the directors 

with respect to the state of company affairs should be attached to the balance 

sheet. This report should state the amount of dividends recommended and the 
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profits transferred to reserves. Also, it should state whether any director of the 

company is directly or indirectly interested in any contract with the company 

and, if so, the nature of such contracts. In addition to the requirements of the 

Companies Act, there are several items of information that may be included in 

the directors' report. Some of them are required by the existing accounting 

standards. These items include fair review of businesses, future development 

plans, significant changes in fixed assets, principal activ .ties of the company, 

names of directors, and a reference to the reappointment of auditors. 

4.4.2 Accounting Standard Requirements 

Since 1995 the compliance ofthe SLASs formulated and issued by the ICASL 

has been mandator)' for Specified Business Enterprises (SBE) including all 

listed companies in Sri Lanka. U p to 1999, 34 SLASs had been issued (See 

Table 4-1). Six of the standards issued have been withdrawn due to their 

inapplicability or replacement by other standards (ICASL, 1999). 

Table 4-1 

Sri Lanka Accounting Standards 

I NO. 

SLAS 3 

f SLAS 5 

LSL A S 8 

[SLAS 9 

SAAS10 

SLAS 11 

L SLAS 12 

SLAS 13 

LSLAS14 

SLAS 15 

Name of the Standard 

Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised 1998) 

Inventories 

Depreciation Accounting 

Cash Flow Statements 

Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Fundamental Errors and Changes in Accounting Policies 

Research and Development Costs 

| Contingencies and Events Occurring After the Balance Sheet Date 

Construction Contacts 

Accounting for Taxes on Income j 

Presentation of Current Assets and Current Liabilities 

SLAS 16 i Retirement Benefits Costs 

SLAS 18 

[SLAS 19 

Property: Plant and Equipment 

Accounting for Leases 

[SLAS20 j Borrowing Costs 

LSLAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 

! SLAS 22 | Accounting for Investments 
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I SLAS 23 " j 

SLAS 24 

[ SLAS 25 

rSLAS"26~~ 

SLAS 27 

r S l A S 2 8 ~ ' 

SLAS 29 

SLAS 30 

SLAS 31 

SLAS 32 

SLAS 33 

SLAS 34 

Revenue Recognition and Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks 

Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance 

! Business Combinations i 

I Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting for Investments in Subsidiaries 

Accounting for Investments in Associates 

[ Reporting Financial Information by Segment 

Revenue 

Related Party Disclosures 

Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures 

Plantations 

Revenue Recognition and Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Finance Companies 

Earnings per share 

Note: 
SLAS 1, SLAS 2, SLAS 4, SLAS 6, SLAS 7, and SLAS 17 were withdrawn . 

Source: ICASL, 2000 

Newly revised SLAS-3: Presentation of Financial Statements outlines 

the components that should be included in a complete set of financial 

statements. They are: 

(a) Balance sheet, 
(b) Income statement, 
(c) A statement showing either all changes in equity or changes in 

equity other than those arising from capital transactions with 

owners and distributions to owners, 
(d) Cash flow statement, and 
(e) Accounting policies and explanatory notes. 

The cash flow statement may be presented in a variety of ways, for 

example, as a statement of cash flows or statement of funds flow. The financial 

statements may also include supplementary schedules and information based on 

or derived from such statements. These schedules and supplementary 

information may be needed to provide adequate information on the operational 

performance and financial status of a company. For example, information on 

industrial and geographical segments and disclosures on the effect of changing 

prices may be given in this form. However, the items such as reports from 

directors, statement by the chairman, and discussion and analysis by 
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management that are included in an annual report are not considered as a part of 

the financial statements. 

The ICASL in recent years has developed a conceptual framew ork for 

the preparation and presentation of financial statements. This framework sets 

out the concepts that underline the preparation and presentation of financial 

statements for external users. Although the framework is not a SLAS and does 

not override any specific SLAS, it greatly assists the Council of the ICASL in 

reviewing and developing accounting standards in addition to being help to 

various other parties such as the preparers and auditors of financial statements in 

applying SLASs. This framework outlines the following: the objective of 

financial statements; the qualitative characteristics that determine the usefulness 

of information in financial statements; the definition, recognition and 

measurement of the elements from which financial statements are constructed; 

and concepts of capital and capital maintenance (ICASL-Standards, pp 5-43). 

4.4.3 CSE listing rules 

Listing rules of the C S E have been a major regulatory source on financial 

disclosures in Sri Lanka. A listed entity must agree to abide by the listing rules 

to gain admission to the official list and to remain listed. The CSE lays down the 

corporate disclosure polices for companies included in its official list. As a 

guiding principle, the CSE has held the view that the conduct of a fair and 

orderly market requires every listed entity to make available to the public the 

information necessary for making informed investing decisions. Accordingly, it 

has taken reasonable steps to ensure that all those who invest in its securities 

enjoy equal access to such information. In applying this fundamental principle, 

the CSE has adopted six specific policies as shown in Table 4-2. 
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Table 4-2 

Major Disclosure Policies of the C S E 

1 V."' " 
; 2. 
1 3. 

i 4. 

15. 

|6. 

Immediate public disclosure of material information 

Thorough public dissemination 

i Clarification or confirmation of rumours and reports 

Response to unusual market action 

Unwarranted promotional disclosure 

Insider trading 

Source: Colombo Stock Exchange, 1998 

The C S E has provided greater details of these disclosure polices in its 

publication (Blue Book) and the directors of the companies listed on the 

Exchange are obligated to follow the listing requirements based on these 

policies on a continuing basis. If a company listed on the Exchange violates 

these requirements, it becomes subjected to various sanctions imposed by the 

CSE. A n extreme or continuing violation of these requirements by a company 

m a y result in a de-listing of its n a m e on the Exchange. Although there are m a n y 

instances where stock exchange has suspended trading of companies for failure 

to disclose material information, there have been no cases to date where the 

more extreme step of a delisting has been carried out for the reason of non­

disclosure (Wickramanayake, 1998). 

According to CSE regulations, listed companies in Sri Lanka are 

required to submit quarterly profit statements to shareholders and the C S E 

within two months of the end of each quarter, and audited accounts to 

shareholders and the C S E within six months ofthe end of each financial year. 

In addition to the listing rules and regulations, several other laws 

directly or indirectly emphasise the requirements of immediate disclosure. 
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These laws are embodied in the Securities Act, the Takeovers and Mergers 

Code, and the insider dealing provisions ofthe SEC Act (Daily News. 1998). 

4.4.4 SEC Rules 

The rules of the Securities Act provide the S E C powers to compel listed 

companies to make immediate disclosure of material events. In case a listed 

company fails to provide all material information, using the pow ers provided by 

Section 13 (h) ofthe Securities Act, the SEC could cancel or suspend the listing 

or trading of that company for protecting the investors. Therefore, through the 

powers vested on the SEC, it can force listed companies to comply with 

immediate disclosure requirements. Although the CSE also has the powers to 

enforce companies to follow disclosure requirements through suspension or 

delisting, the SEC has a wider set of options in enforcing these requirements in 

terms of its general enforcement powers. From 2000. the SEC has 

recommended that all public companies should disclose their corporate 

governance practices in their annual reports. Such practices include, for 

example, the role the board of directors plays in the management of the 

company, the frequency of board meetings, and the board policy on ethical 

conduct and how it is enforced. 

4.4.5 Obligation for Audit of Accounts 

Section 6 of the SLAASAct requires the Accounts of S B E to be audited by 

qualified auditors who are members of ICASL. Accordingly, the auditors are 

required to certify: (1) that the audit has been conducted in accordance with the 

SLAuSs and (2) that the accounts have been prepared and presented in 

accordance with the SLASs. When a qualified auditor fails to comply with the 
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S L A S s and S L A u S s as required by the S L A A S A c t , he should specify clearly the 

deviations made together with reasons for such deviations. 

Since the disclosures mentioned above include the disclosures which 

are not within the purview of this study, it is important to reiterate the scope of 

this study before proceeding to the analysis and discussion in the next two 

chapters on the financial disclosures in Sri Lanka from the users' and preparers' 

point of views. As already outlined previously2 , period disclosure and ad-hoc 

disclosure are two of the most common financial disclosures of a company. 

These two financial disclosures are also known as "structured period 

_*__. 77 

disclosures" and ' .instructured disclosures" . Although the regulatory sources 

on financial reporting described in this chapter deal with both period disclosures 

and ad-hoc disclosures, the scope of this study is limited to examining the issues 

relating to period disclosures. 

Although ad-hoc disclosures are not within the purview of this study, 

an examination of the regulatory disclosure sources described in this chapter 

indicates that the requirements for ad-hoc disclosures under statutes such as 

Companies Act are very limited, contrary to the public belief that public 

companies are required to make immediate disclosure of material events. 

See: Section 1.4 of Chapter 1: Introduction. 
26 The disclosures which are statutorily required to be made periodically in statutory documents 
such as financial reports, directors' report etc. The statues such as Companies Act and SLASs 
specify when and how these disclosures be made. These disclosures are primarily meant for 
anyone who has a vested interest on the company. 

:7 This refers to disclosures relating to events that take place on an ad hoc basis and have to be 
disclosed immediately, so that investors can make investment decisions about the shares ofthe 
company. These disclosures are generally meant for investors. 
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4.5 Summary 
The major objectives of this chapter were to outline the related institutional and 

legal framework and discuss the provisions of major regulations on corporate 

disclosure in Sri Lanka. The major players in the legal and institutional 

framework in Sri Lanka include the accounting profession, mainly the ICASL, 

CIMA and ACCA; ASC; AuSc; SLAASMB, CSE, SEC, and the Registrar of 

Companies. The activities of these institutions for the improvement of corporate 

disclosures practices in Sri Lanka have intensified in recent years with the 

increased demand for timely and reliable information by a wider spectrum of 

users. The legislative disclosure requirements for the companies in Sri Lanka are 

provided by the Companies Act, SLASs, the CSE listing rules and the SEC 

rules. However, with the legalisation of the SLASs in 1995 by an Act of 

parliament making the compliance of which is mandatory for all SBE, they have 

now become the most influential regulations on corporate disclosure in Sri 

Lanka. According to SLASs, a complete set of financial statements should 

consist of Balance Sheet, Income Statement; a Statement Showing the Changes 

in Equity, Cash Flow Statement, and Accounting policies and explanatory notes. 

The financial statements of SBE should be audited by an auditor who is a 

member of ICASL. Despite increased attention being paid to improve corporate 

disclosure in Sri Lanka by regulatory bodies, the lack of disclosure is still a 

major reason for the erosion of investor confidence. 
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Chapter 5 

Information Needs of the Users: 
The Survey and Its Results 

5.1 Introduction 
Empirical examination of user perceptions on the information needs of corporate 

annual reports has been the subject matter of a large number of studies 

conducted in many countries during the past few decades (See Table 5-1). A 

closer look at these studies reveals that while most of them have been based on 

countries having developed capital markets, those focused on countries with 

emerging capital markets have been limited only to a few studies. Since the 

findings of the studies conducted in developed capital markets are not similarly 

applicable to emerging capital markets due to the large differences in political, 

cultural, economic and social factors between the two markets (see, for example, 

Jaggi 1975; Perera 1989), it is apparent that little is known about the way in 

which users of corporate annual reports in the emerging markets view those 

reports. 

Another feature of the previous research on this aspect is that most of 

these studies were confined to an examination ofthe information needs of a very 

few user groups—one or two in most cases (see Table 5-1). Because of this 

limitation, relatively little is known about the views ofthe user groups that have 

not been the subjects of previous research. Therefore, one of the objectives of 

this study is to examine the views of a larger number of user groups on the 

usefulness of corporate annual reports of public listed companies in an emerging 
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market. This objective is to be achieved through an analysis of data obtained 

from a questionnaire survey28 conducted in Sri Lanka in the latter part of 2000. 

Table 5-1 

Annual Report Studies with User Input 

j Market 

Developed 

Australia 

Hong Kong 

New Zealand 

J 
U.K. 

U.S. 

— . ,—.—, _—_ 
Author and Year 

V 

Chenhall and Juchau (1976); 
Chenhall and Juchau (1977) 

Winfield (1978) 

Anderson (1981a) 

Anderson (1981b) 

Anderson and Epstein 
(1995); Anderson (1498) 

Ho and Wong(2001) 

Wilton and Tabb (1978) 

Courtis (1979) 

McNally, Eng, and Hasseldine 
(1982) 

Lee and Tweedie (1975); Lee 
andTweedie(W75) 

Firth (1978) 

Firth Q979) 

Baker and Haslem (1973) 

Buzby (1974) 

Chandra (1974) 

Buzby (T975) 

Chandra (1975) 
Benjamin and Stanga (1977) 

Chandra and Greenball 
(1977) 

Stanga and Tiller (1983) 

Robbins (1984) 

User Groups Sample Response 
Size 

Individual investors 

! 

Shareholders 

Institutional investors 

Shareholders 

Individual shareholders 

Finance directors and 
Financial analysts j 

Private shareholders 

Companies 

Financial Editors, 
Stock Exchange 
members 

Shareholders 

Financial directors, 
Accountants, Financial 
analysts, loan officers 

Financial analysts 

Individual investors 

Financial analysts 

Accountants and 
security analysts 

Financial Analysts 

Financial analysts 

Financial analysts and 
bank loan officers 

Financial executives 
and security analysts 

Bank loan officers 

Bond analysts and 
finance officers 

1025 

850 

300 

2682 

2359 

1145 

_JQ0 

187 

1594 

750 

120 

1623 

500 

1000 

150J 

400 

1200 

1200 

400 

400 

464 

37.5 

63.1 

36.0 

18.9 

16.6 

55 0 

450 j 

444 

23.5 

40.3 

38.3 

52.4 

26.2 

49.8 

21.3 

34.6 

41.1 

57.5 

40.3 

Questionnaire survey is one of the most common approaches used in the social sciences to 
empirically study the characteristics and interrelations of sociological and psychological 
variables. Its impact on research in accounting and related disciplines has been substantial. For 

critical assessment of this method, see Roberts (1999). 
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Australia, N e w 
Zealand, and 
U.S 

Canada, U.S, 
and Europe 

U.S and 
Australia 

U.S and N e w 
Zealand 

U.S, U.K and 
New Zealand 

j Maione, Fries, and Jones 
i (1993) 

Anderson and Epstein (1986) 

i 

Belkaoui, Kahl, and peyrard 
(1977) 

Baker etal. (1977) 

Chang and Most (1977) 

- . ___ 

Chang and Most (1981) 

i 

Financial analysts 

Individual shareholders 

Financial analysts 

Investors 

Shareholders 

Individual investors, 
institutional investors, 
and financial analysts , 

694 

5718 

700 

2648 

1334 

5800 

16.6 I 

16.3 

45.7 ; 

50.1 ! 

20.0 

26.0 ; 

Emerging 

Bangladesh 

i 

i 

i 

India j 

Iran 

Jordan 

! 

1 

I 
i 
i 
1 

Malaysia j 

Mexico 

Nicholls and Ahmed (1995) j 

1 

i 

Karim (1995) 

1 
i 

Joshi and Abdulla (1994) 

Mirshekary (1999) | 
i 

i 

i 
Abu-Nassar and Rutherford ! 
(1995) 

j 

i 
Abu-Nassar and Rutherford ; 
(1996) ; 

i 

Rahman (1999) j 
i 

Chow and Wong-Boren i 
(1987) | 

Practicing accounts, 
non-practicing 
accountants, bank loan 
officers, financial 
analysts 

Bankers, accountants, 
stock brokers, 
academics, tax 
officers, financial 
janalysts 

Chartered accountants : 
and investors j 

Bank loan officers, ! 
academics, stock I 
brokers, bank \ 
investment officers, 
institutional investors, 
auditors, tax officers 

Individual 
shareholders, 
institutional 
shareholders, bank j 
loan officers, j 
stockbrokers, and 
academics 

Preparers of financial ! 
statements mainly : 
finance directors and 
chief accountants 

Accountants and 
financial analysts 

Bank Loan officers 

1000 

651 

850 

500] 

463 ; 

112 i 
j 

300 

106 

44.6 

j 

45.5 : 

25.5 i 

49.0 

48.4 

74.0 

45.0 

I 
63.2 
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Nigeria 

South Africa 

Wallace (1988a); Wallace and 
Cooke (1988b) 

Firer and Meth (1986) 

Chartered 
accountants, investors, 
senior civil servante, 
managers, financial 
analysts and other 
professionals 

Investment analysts 
and financial directors 

1200 

595 

39.2~j 

31,1 j 
! 

This chapter describes the research questions, the methods and 

procedures used in questionnaire design and administration, the formulation of 

hypotheses on the stated research questions, and the testing of hypotheses using 

the data obtained from the survey. Since no any prior research on this aspect of 

Sri Lankan companies has been reported in the literature, the findings of this 

chapter, while contributing to the literature on corporate disclosure practices in 

emerging markets, can provide valuable insights to Sri Lankan policy makers for 

improving the quality of corporate disclosures in the country. 

5.2 Research Questions 

In order to examine the users' responses and perceptions on a number of issues 

pertaining to the usefulness of annual reports for their needs, this study aims to 

address the following research questions through an analysis of the data 

obtained from the questionnaire survey: 

(1) Is there any significant difference between the perceptions of various users 
in relation to the purposes of using annual reports? 

(2) Is there any significant difference between the perceptions of various users 
in relation to the importance of various sources of information? 

(3) Is there any significant difference between the perceptions of various users 
in relation to the adequacy of information provided in annual reports? 

(4) Is there any significant difference between the perceptions of various users 
in relation to the importance they attach to the different parts of annual 

reports? 

(5) Is there any significant difference between the perceptions of various users 
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in relation to the degree of use of annual reports? 

(6) Is there any significant difference between the perceptions of various users 
in relation to the problems that restrict the use of annual reports in Sri 
Lanka? 

(7) Is there any significant difference between the perceptions of various users 
in relation to the reduction or avoidance of the time lag between the end of 
the financial year and the issuance ofthe annual report? 

(8) Is there any significant difference between the perceptions of various users 
in relation to the importance of information items included in the 
questionnaire? 

The hypotheses formulated on the basis of the above research 

questions and the testing of those hypotheses using the data obtained from the 

questionnaire survey are discussed in Section 5.6 of this chapter. 

5.3 Questionnaire Survey 

5.3.1 Selection of the sample 

Since the purpose of conducting the questionnaire survey was to gather 

information on the usefulness of annual reports to various users, an attempt was 

made to cover all the major user groups in Sri Lanka. As shown in Table 5-1, 

many of the previous questionnaire surveys on disclosure studies in other 

countries restricted their sample to investors. Even the studies aimed at covering 

all different user groups have finally categorised them into a few common 

groups based on some of their common characteristics. For example, both 

Wallace (1987) and Karim (1995) used six user groups but only two of them 

(Accountants and Financial Analysts) were common to both studies. According 

to Table 5-1, bank loan officers, financial analysts, and accountants seem to 

have been the most commonly used user groups in pre.ious studies. After 

having carefully examined the various user groups used in other studies in view 

of the Sri Lankan situation, it was decided to use seven user groups for this 
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study. They included (1) Accountants (ACC), (2) Executives/ Managers (EXE), 

(3) Bankers (BAN), (4) Assessors/Tax officers (TAX). (5) Academics (ACA). 

(6) Financial Analysts (FA), and (7) Investors (individual, institutional and stock 

broking) (INV). 

The sample was drawn from the population located in the Colombo 

• • _?9 

District . Considering the difficulties associated with pre.ious researches in 

getting a high response to questionnaire surveys in Sri Lanka and other 

emerging markets, as a possible strategy to minimise this problem, it was 

decided to adopt two methods for the distribution and collection of the 

questionnaire. The first method was to deliver and collect the questionnaire by 

the researcher himself30 and through a number of persons with whom the 

researcher had personal contacts31. All the persons who delivered the 

questionnaire to the people known to them were briefed properly about the 

objectives and the nature ofthe questionnaire. Based on this method, 243 copies 

of the questionnaire were distributed during August and September 2000. The 

second method employed was a mail survey in which 332 copies were mailed to 

the home/office addresses of the prospective respondents along with a letter of 

request addressed personally to each of them. The questionnaire and the letter of 

Colombo is the former capital and the major commercial and industrial city of Sri Lanka in 
which all the major companies, stock market, banks, and other professional organizations are 
located. 
Researcher adopted two methods for this purpose. One method was to meet the respondents 
known to him and get them to fill the questionnaire. The other method was to meet 
respondents at the Postgraduate Institute of Management (PIM), which is the premier 
postgraduate institute in the field of management and has a large number of students who hold 
various positions in the government organisations, companies, universities, etc., and to get 
them to fill the questionnaire after explaining briefly the objectives ofthe study. 
This includes some lectures of the P I M who agreed to distribute die questionnaire to their 
students during lecturers and explain to them the objectives and nature of the questionnaire. 
Students were given a week to complete the questionnaire and return it to the office of the 
PIM. Also, a number of bankers, academics, accountants, and assessors undertook the task of 
distributing and collecting the questionnaire to and from their fellow professionals 
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request were provided only in English. A stamped em elope was also sent for 

easy returning ofthe completed questionnaire. 

The sample of accountants was drawn from the Directory of Members 

and Firms 1999 issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka. 

Since 32 of the 150 accountants included in the sample were personally known 

to the researcher, they were handed over the questionnaire personal ly 

Questionnaire for the other 118 accountants was mailed to their addresses. The 

sample ofthe executives/managers (100) was drawn from the students' registry 

of the Master of Business Administration degree program of the Postgraduate 

Institute of Management (PIM). The sample of 50 bankers (senior managers) 

was drawn from two leading commercial banks (the Sampath Bank and the 

Bank of Ceylon) as well as from bank managers enrolled in the MBA program 

of the PIM. The sample of 35 tax officers (assessors) was taken from those 

working in the Department of Inland Revenue, Colombo. The sample of 

academics consisted of 12 senior lecturers/lecturers from the Department of 

Accounting of the University of Sri Jayewardenepura (USJ) and randomly 

selected 38 senior lecturers from the commerce and management faculties ofthe 

Colombo, Kalaniya, and Peradeniya universities. While the questionnaire for 

the 12 lecturers ofthe USJ was handed over personally, it was mailed to the 

other 38 lecturers through their respective universities. Because of the non­

availability of a formal list of financial analysts in Sri Lanka, the researcher had 

to draw the sample of financial analysts (40) from two indirect sources. First, 14 

financial analysts who were personally known to the researcher were included m 

this group and the questionnaire was given to each of them personally. Then, the 

next 26 members for this group were randomly chosen from the chartered 
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accountants who were listed as "financial consultants" in the ICASL's Directory 

of Members and Firms 1999, and the questionnaire was mailed to all of them 

Finally, a list of 150 investors was prepared with the information obtained from 

the Colombo Stock Exchange32 and the questionnaire was mailed to their home 

addresses. 

Every attempt was made to obtain a high response rate for the 

questionnaire with a view to minimising the effect of non-response bias. As for 

the 200 copies of the questionnaire distributed personally, researcher himself 

visited the respondents to collect the completed questionnaire. While some 

respondents returned the completed questionnaire as expected at the researcher's 

first visit, others sought extra time to complete it. In such cases, visits had to be 

repeated. However, even after several visits some respondents did not return the 

questionnaire stating that they could not find the time to fill it. Also, a number of 

respondents could not be contacted after the first visit. As for the mailed 

questionnaire, considering the cost factor, it was decided to limit the number of 

reminders to one. Accordingly, reminders were sent to those who had not 

responded within the first two weeks after mailing the questionnaire. Since the 

mailed questionnaire was pre-numbered, it was possible to identify the non-

respondents by their names. 

5.3.2 Design of the questionnaire 

Questionnaire was the major tool selected to be used to achieve the objectives 

32 Initially, an attempt was made to obtain a list of investors from a number of stockbrokers. 
However, since all the brokers contacted were reluctant to supply the names and addresses of 
their clients, it was decided to construct the list of investors from the list of subscribers to the 
publications of CSE. The database of the subscribers to C S E publications consisted of 8 
categories depending on daily, weekly, monthly, and quarterly postings and receptions of the 
publications. The sample of 150 investors for this study was drawn from the list prepared after 

Footnote continued on the next page... 
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stated in this chapter. Therefore, the following logical steps33 were followed in 

the designing of it: 

(1) Determined the nature of information to be collected from respondents, 

(2) Formulated the questions to obtain the necessary information. 

(3) Decided on the order and wording of the questions, the layout and the 
length ofthe questionnaire. 

(4) Pilot tested the questionnaire on a sample of 10 participants to identify 
omissions and ambiguity, and 

(5) Revised some of the questions after reviewing the responses received on 
the pilot test. 

The questionnaire34 finalised after following the above steps consisted 

of two sections and had 93 questions (14 in Part I and 79 in Part II). The first 

section dealt with questions on the user profile and the usage patterns of annual 

reports in Sri Lanka while the second section dealt with questions on items that 

should or could appear in corporate annual reports. In 10 of the 14 questions in 

Part I, the respondents were asked to tick the appropriate answer box for each 

question. In 3 of the remaining questions in Part 1 and the 79 questions in Part II, 

the respondents were asked to indicate their perceptions of the importance of 

each item on a five-point Likert Scale. The scale for each of these items ranged 

from 1 = "Least important" to 5 = "Most important". The remaining question in 

Part I of the questionnaire (Q.10) was an open-ended one applicable to the 

respondents who would have answered the previous question (Q.9) 

affirmatively. 

Selecting the appropriate information items to be included in the 

questionnaire is the most difficult task in the development of a questionnaire for 

analysing and sorting the full database of all the subscribers provided by the CSE. 
33 This sequence of steps was proposed by Paul B. Sheatsley, "Questionnaire Design and 

Wording" (Chicago: National Opinion Research Corp., 1969). 
34 The covering letter and a copy of the questionnaire are shown in Appendix 2 and 3 

Footnote continued on the next page... 
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a disclosure study. Since there is no standard method of selecting such items. 

any method chosen by the researcher may be susceptible to a personal judgment 

bias. Therefore, the only way to avoid such a bias would be to include all the 

information items that could possibly be included in a typical annual report35. 

However, this approach is difficult to implement as the information items 

included in an annual report become too large and vary with the nature of 

business. Even if such a list of information items is prepared, inclusion of all 

those items in a questionnaire is practically impossible as it will make the 

questionnaire excessively lengthy leading to a poor response rate. 

A review of previous studies indicated that researchers have used a 

number of methods for selecting items for a questionnaire survey. Thus, Wallace 

(1988) and Ahmed (1993), by reviewing the previous literature, created a broad 

database and then chose from that database only those items that were 

considered to be capable of meeting one or more of their decision criteria. 

Karim (1995) replicated the items used by Wallace and Ahmed with some 

modifications. Taking a similar approach, this study adopted the following 

method for selecting items for the questionnaire. 

First, in order to avoid any personal judgement bias in selecting items, 

a list of information items that could be included in an annual report of listed 

companies in Sri Lanka was prepared after reviewing (1) all previous disclosure 

studies in developed and emerging markets, (2) all accounting standards issued 

by the ICASL and (3) the other statutory disclosure requirements in Sri Lanka. 

In addition, some information items were added to this list after reviewing 

respectively. 
35 Craig and Diga (1998) constructed a list of items that could be included in an annual report in 

Footnote continued on the next page... 
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several recent annual reports of companies, which had won awards as the best 

annual reports in Sri Lanka. Second, information items for the questionnaire 

were selected from this list if they met one or more of the following the criteria: 

(1) The item is required to be disclosed by any ofthe statutes such as 
the Companies Act and the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards. 

(2) The item has been covered in a previous disclosure study and is 
relevant to an emerging market. 

(3) The item has been reported by one or more firms in their published 
annual reports. 

(4) The item is considered in the literature as useful to be to be 
included in annual reports. 

Accordingly, 86 information items were selected for inclusion in the 

questionnaire. These items were classified into five major categories: profit and 

loss account—22 items, balance sheet—20 items, other components of financial 

statements36—11 items, statutory reports37—6 items, and other information—27 

items. Since the items selected consisted of both mandatory and voluntary 

disclosure items, it was possible to evaluate the user response to overall level of 

disclosure practices in Sri Lanka rather than confining the examination to either 

. J. 

mandatory or voluntary items . 

5.4 Responses 

The total number of usable responses to the questionnaire amounted to 264, 

giving a response rate of 45.9 per cent. As expected, a very high response rate 

A S E A N countries. This list consisted of 30 information items. 
As outlined in chapter 4, financial statement consists of 5 components. 'Other components' 
refers to the components of financial statement other than profit and loss account and balance 
sheet namely: cash flow statement, account policies and explanatory notes, and a statement 

showing changes in equity. 
Statutory reports refers to the reports such as auditor's report that should be included in an 

annual report by law. 

For example, McNally et al. (1982), Chow and Wong-Boren (1987) and Cook (1991) focused 

on the extent of disclosure of only voluntary items. 
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(75.7%) was achieved for the questionnaires distributed personally. Of the 243 

such copies of the questionnaire, 184 were personally collected by the 

researcher. The response rate for the mailed questionnaire was onlv 24.1 % as 

80 of the 332 respondents returned their questionnaires. The breakdown of the 

response rates under each user group is displayed in Table 5-2. 

Table 5-2 

Survey Response by Category of Users 

User 

; Accountants (ACC) 

Executives/ Managers (EXE) 

Bankers (BAN) 

Assessors/ Tax Officers (TAX) 

, Academics (ACA) 

Financial Analysts (FA) 

j Investors (INV) 

| Overall 

Sample 

150 

100 

50 

f 35 

50 

4D 

150 

575 

Response 

53 

74 

32 

16 

22 

24 

43 

264 

% 

35.3 

74.0 

64.0 

45.7 

44.0 

66.0 

28.7 

45.9 

The overall response rate of 45.9% compares favourably with those of 

the previous studies (See Table 5-1). For example, out ofthe 37 studies shown 

in Table 5-1, only 15 (41%) studies had response rate of more than 4 5 % . 

Despite the inherent complicated nature of the questionnaire, this relatively high 

response could be due to the combination of methods used for distributing and 

collecting the questionnaire and the intensive follow-ups used particularly for 

the personally distributed questionnaires. As seen in the Table 5-2, the response 

rates within the user groups varied from 28.7 per cent to 74 per cent. 

Although the objective of sampling is to obtain a body of data that is 

representative of the population, it m a y be partly achieved as some sample 

members become nonrespondents due to their non-cooperativeness, inability to 

respond, or inaccessibility by the researcher. Whatever the reason m a y be, the 

non-responsiveness can be a serious problem for a research because the sample 
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size has to be large enough to allow for nonresponse and more importantly may 

cause those who respond differ from nonrespondents in a meaningful wav, 

thereby creating biases. This nonresponse bias can arise if the respondents do 

not return the questionnaire or they do not answer certain questions. As for this 

study, two approaches were adopted to deal with the problem of nonresponse 

bias. First, an attempt was made to improve the simplicity and appearance of the 

questionnaire. Secondly, the contacts were repeated in respect of certain non-

respondents. 

Despite the conscious efforts taken to reduce the amount of non-

responses, it amounted to 54.1% ofthe sample in this study. Even though this 

rate could still be considered low when compared with the non-response rates of 

80%-90% reported in some studies [See, for example, Malone et al. (1986); 

Anderson and Epstein (1986); Ho and Wong (2001)], a test was carried out to 

ensure that the results achieved would be representative ofthe whole population. 

The test used for this purpose was the one suggested by Openheim (1966)39. 

Accordingly, the differences in responses between the early respondents and the 

late respondents were examined. Thus, a sample of 20 completed questionnaires 

received within a week of posting the questionnaire was compared with the 

same number of completed questionnaires received after sending the reminders. 

The non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was carried out to test whether the 

difference between these two groups would be significant at the 0.05 level. The 

results ofthe test are summarised Table 5-3 below: 

39 According to Oppenheim (1966, p. 34) it is possible to detect the presence if one assumes that 
late respondents represent nonrespondents. The method he proposed is to compare one or 
more "variable of interest" for the Jt respondents of the last m weeks with those of a random 
sample of k respondents drawn from the early returns to see whether any significant difference 

Footnote continued on the next page... 
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Table 5-3 

Non-response Bias by Category of Users 

User 

Accountants (ACC) 

Executives/ Managers (EXE) 

Bankers (BAN) 

Assessors/ Tax Officers (TAX) 

[ Academics (ACA) 

1 Financial Analysts (FA) 

Investors (INV) 

Significant 

3 

0 

1 

0 

1 

0 

0 

Not 
Significant 

83 

86 

85 

86 

85 

86 

86~ 

Total Questions 

86 

86 

86 

86 

86 | 

86 

86 

The information in Table 5-3 shows that there were no significant 

differences in the mean scores between the two sets of responses in relation to 4 

categories of users. In the case of other users, the difference varied only form 1 

(BAN & A C A ) to 3 (ACC) of 86 items, indicating insignificant differences in 

the mean score of the two sets of responses in relation to the other three 

categories as well. According to these results, ii can be concluded that there 

ware no significant differences between the early and late respondents to the 

study, indicating non-existence of a non-response bias. Therefore, the results of 

the study can be generalised to represent the whole population. 

5.5 Sample Profile 
With a view to identifying the respondent bio data (qualification, experience, 

etc), a number of questions were included in the questionnaire. However, 

considering the necessity for limiting the length of the questionnaire to a 

minimum level and avoiding questions which respondents would generally be 

reluctant to answer (e.g. age and income), the questions on user bio data ware 

confined only to 4, which aimed at identifying some of their important 

is exists between the two groups. 
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characteristics namely, education, accounting knowledge, work experience, and 

share holdings ofthe respondents. 

5.5.1 Education 

As the potential respondents of this survey included the users of annual reports 

for some purposes, the education background of the majority of them was 

expected to be high. In order to gain an understanding of the level of education, 

respondents were asked to indicate their highest educational qualification bv 

ticking one ofthe eight options given in the questionnaire. The responses to this 

question are summarised in Table 5-4. 

Table 5-4 

Highest Educational Qualification of the Users 

Qualification A C C I EXE j BAN TAX , ACA FA INV ALL 
G.C.E (Ordinary Level) 0.0 0.0 0.0 | 0.0 0.0 | 0.0 | 4.7"] 0.8 

! G.C.E (Advanced Level) j 14.0 | 14.9 | 25.0 J 0.0 0.0 16.7 34.9 17.2 

Diploma 0.0 18.9 25 0 0.0 0.0 8.3 16.3 11.9 

j Bachelor's Degree f 56.0 | 43.2 | 28.1 75.0 J 27.3 33.3 16.3 39.1 

Master's Degree j 12.0 14.9 9.4 25.0 54.5 41.7 9.3 19.2 

f" Doctor's Degree 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 9.1 0.0 2.3 1.1 

| Other 18.0 8.1 12.5 0.0 9.1 0.0 | 16.3 10.7 

| Total (%) J T 100.0 100.0 | 100.0 j 100.0 j 100.0 J ' 100.0J 100.0 100.0 

Total Respondents 50 74 32 16 22 24 43 261 

Notes 
ACC= Accountants; EXE=Executives/Managers; BAN= Bankers; TAX= Assessors/ Tax Officers; 
ACA= Academics; FA= Financial Analysts; INV= Investors. 

As Table 5-4 indicates, the majority of respondents (82%) have 

received tertiary education indicating that they possess a high level of education. 

This is not an entirely unexpected result for groups other than investors. Since 

there are no educational requirements for an investor, the educational level of 

investors is not expected to be very high. However, as the results indicate the 

educational level of the investors chosen for this study was fairly high, with 

6 1 % of the them having received tertiary education. 
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5.5.2 Accounting Knowledge/ Qualifications 
Since the knowledge in accounting helps understanding the information 

provided in annual reports better, it is important to consider the level of 

accounting knowledge of respondents. In order to assess this aspect they were 

asked to indicate their accounting qualification/s. The results are summarised 

in Table 5-5 below: 

Table 5-5 

Accounting Knowledge/ Qualifications of the Users 

Accounting 
Knowledge 
None 

G,CE(0/L)/(A/L) 

Diploma in Accounting 

Bachelor's Degree 

! ICA/CIMA Parts, " 
| MAAT/SAT 

Master's/ Doctoral 
Degree 

ICMA/ CIMA/ ACCA 
j Membership 

ICA Membership 

Other 

Total (%) 

Total Respondents 

[ACQ 

0.0 

0.0 

3.8 

0.0 

T5.r 

5.7 

28.3 

100.0 

3.8 

100.0 

" 53 

EXE BAN TAX ACA FA ~ INV ALL 

2.8 

22.2 

11.1 

"12.5 

19.4 

! 4 2 

3.2 

6.5 

22.6 

9.7 

6.5 

6.5 

11.1 I 3.2 
• 

22 2 

13.9 

100.0 
- j2 

" 12.9 

38.7 

100.0 
___ 

0.0 | 0.0 

25.0 

25.0 

750 

25.0 

0.0 

22.2 

0.0 

11.1 

33.3 

22.2 

" (JF| 11.1 

6.3 
25.0 

100.0 

16 

33.3 

00 

0.0 | 19.0 j 4.3 

0.0 

16.7 

33.3 

16.7 

8.3 

16.7 

16.7 

8.3 

100.0 | 100.0 

18 24 

214 

95 

4.8 

238 

2.4 

11.9 

4.8 

7.1 

100.0 

42 

13.7 

11.3 

14.1 

18.8 

5.9 

" 13.7 

33.6 

12.9 

100.0 

256 

Notes 
ACC= Accountants; EXE=Executives/Managers; BAN= Bankers; TAX= Assessors/ Tax Officers; 

! ACA= Academics; FA= Financial Analysts; INV= Investors. 

According to the information provided in the above table only 4.3% of 

the respondents had no knowledge of accounting, indicating that 95.7% ofthe 

respondents have studied accounting at some stage. Overall, 39.5% of the 

respondents have studied accounting at the academic level with 52.7% having 

it acquired at the professional level. Since the accounting knowledge is 

required for the professions of ACC, BAN, TAX and FA, it was high as 

expected for theses groups in our sample. Similarly, because the academic 

users were chosen from the academics in commerce and management 
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faculties, as expected they indicated fairly a high level of accounting 

knowledge at academic and/or professional levels. However, since accounting 

knowledge is not a requirement for every manager or investor, a high level of 

accounting knowledge was not expected for EXE and INV groups but 

surprisingly 97% of EXE and 81% of INV had studied accounting at some 

stage. As a result, all user groups in this survey happened to be literate in 

accounting. 

5.5.3 Work Experience 

In order to gain an understanding of the work experience of respondents, they 

were asked to indicate how long they have been in the current profession. The 

results are summarised in Table 5-6 below. 

Table 5-6 

W o r k Experiences of the Users 

Work Experience ~ - A C C l " ^ BAN TAX |~ACA 
< 5 years 22 0 25.7 15.6 25.0 j 54.5 

5-20 years 64.0 66.2 68.8 75.0 36.4 

> 20 years 14.0 8.1 15.6 0.0 9.1 

Total (%) . TOO.O 100.0 j 100.0 100.0! 100.0 

Total Respondents IL 50 ] 74 32 ; 16 22 

Notes 
ACC= Accountants; EXE=Executives/Managers; BAN= Bankers; TAX 

ACA= Academics; FA= Financial Analysts; INV= Investors. 

FA INV All 

33.3 j 26.2 j 26.9 j 

50.0 45.2 59.2 

16.7 28.6 13.8 

100.0 i 100.0 |" 100.0 

24 42 260 

= Assessors/ Tax Officers; 

In addition to having a high level of education and accounting 

knowledge, the majority of respondents also have a high level of working 

experience in their respective professions. Overall, 73.1 per cent of the 

respondents had over five years working experience while 13.8 per cent had 

over 20 years of similar experience. The academic group consists of least 

experience people as 54.5 per cent of them had less than 5 years working 

experience while all the other groups with less than 5 years experience varied 
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only from 15.6 to 33.3 per cent. The respondents with over 20 years experience 

varied from 8.1 to 16.7 per cent in five ofthe seven groups, except TAX and 

INV groups. While there was no one in the TAX group with more than 20 years 

working experience, 28.6 per cent in the INV group belonged to this category. 

One ofthe reasons for having a higher percentage of highly experienced people 

in the investor category is that many retirees in Sri Lanka engage themselves in 

buying and selling shares. 

5.5.4 Share Holdings 
In addition to the education level and the accounting knowledge and experience 

ofthe respondents, the information on shareholdings ofthe responders was also 

sought. The results are summarised in Table 5-7. 

Table 5-7 

Share Holdings ofthe Users 

;. Share Holdings | ACC ) EXE j B A N ) TAX ACA FA | INV j ALL 

None ~~|l 22.6 |;~ 24.6 | 6.5 | 18.8 j 44 4 j 91 j 0 0 j 

< 5 Companies I 34.0 I 30.4 j 41.9 31.3 33.3 9.1 | 23.3 ] 29.8 

6-20 companies | 35.8 23.2 I 35.5 50.0 22.2 591 39.5 34.9 

Over 20 companies ! 7.5 | 21.7 | 16.1 | 0.0 0.0 22" 37.2 17.9 | 

Total (%) ji 100.0 | 100.0 j 100.0 100.0 | 1000 100.0 100.0 100.0 

Total Respondents | 53 69 || 31 ) 16"|" 18 j 22 | 43 j "252 

Notes 
ACC= Accountants; EXE=Executives/Managers; BAN= Bankers; TAX= Assessors/ Tax Officers; 
ACA= Academics; FA= Financial Analysts; INV= Investors; ALL= Overall. 

As shown in the above table, 82.5 per cent of the respondents own 

shares in one or more companies with 17.9 per cent of them investing in more 

than 20 companies. The academic group had the least interest in investing in 

shares as 44.4 per cent had no share holdings. None of the academics had 

shareholdings in the over-20 companies' category. As expected, the INV group 

had the highest percentage of people (37.2%) holding shares in more than 20 
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companies. 

Overall, the demographics of the respondents show that they are well 

educated, knowledgeable in accounting, well experienced and interested in 

investments in company shares. 

5.6 Analysis ofthe Survey Results 

This section provides an analysis ofthe formulation ofthe hypotheses developed 

for addressing the research questions shown early in this chapter (Section 5.2) 

and the testing of those hypotheses through the survey data. 

5.6.1 Purpose of using annual reports 

Company annual reports may be used by several different parties to obtain 

information for various purposes such as investing, lending, administrative, 

research, and academic. In order to examine whether there would be any 

significant difference between the 7 user groups with regard to the purposes of 

using annual reports, the following null hypothesis was formulated: 

Hi: There is no significant difference between user groups in terms of their 
purposes of using annual reports. 

For obtaining information to test this hypothesis statistically, the 

respondents were asked to indicate their major purpose/purposes of using 

company annual reports. Eight probable purposes were listed in the 

questionnaire with a request to choose one or more appropriate items from the 

list. Additional space was also provided for indicating any other 

purpose/purposes40. Table 5-8 shows the summarised results ofthe responses to 

40 Since only a very few respondent had ticked the "other" box of this question and none of 

Footnote continued on the next page... 
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this question. In this table, the percentage of responses applicable to each 

purpose is shown under individual groups and all groups. In addition, based on 

the percentage of use, each purpose has been ranked within the user groups to 

show the mostly used purpose as "1" and the leased used purpose as "8". As for 

testing the hypothesis (H,), a Kruskal-Wallis one way ANOVA was carried out 

for all the eight purposes listed in the questionnaire to see whether there would 

be a significant difference between the user groups with regard to each purpose. 

The results obtained from this test are also shown in Table 5-8. 

Table 5-8 

The Purposes of Using Annual Reports (%) 

Purpose Percentage of responses and their ranks Statistics 

Buy, hold or 
sell shares 

r Grant a 
loan/credit 

Advise a client 

Make decisions 
for clients 

Evaluate 
income tax 
liability 

Make decisions 
in managing 
the company 

General 
review/ 
academic 
purposes 

Total 
Respondents 

ACC 

i (%) 
39.6 

[1] 

3.8 

Ml 

24.5 
[41 

; 28.3 

Ml 

15.1 
[6] 

l 20.8 
[5] 

I 37.7 
[2] 

53 

EXE 

I (%) 
I 35.1 

[3] 

14.9 
[5] 

5.4 
[6] 

16.2 
[4] 

5.4 
[6] 

43.2 

[1] 

I 39.2 

[2] 

74 

BAN 

(%] 
j 43.8 
| [2] 

i 53.1 
[1] 

! 
15.6 
[4] 

I 12.5 
j [6] 

[~ao" 
| 
1 15.6 
: [4] 

34.4 
[3] 

32 

TAX 

' 50.0 
[2] 

0.0 

i 

W 

0.0 

; 75.0 

. [1] 

0.0 

50.0 
: [2] 

16 

ACA 

| 27.3 

| 12, 

0.0 

0.0 

0.0 

[ 0.0 

0.0 

90.9 

, M 1 

22 

FA 

1 (%) 
1 66.7 

! m 

0.0 

583 
[2] 

50.0 
[3] 

0.0 

i 41.7 
: [4] 

33.3 
[5] 

24 

INV 
| (%) 

, 814 

[1] 

0.0 

9.3 
; [3] 

7.0 
[5] 

0.0 

7.0 
[5] 

11.6 
[2] 

43 

Total 
(%) 

47.7 

Ml 

11.4 
[6] 

15.2 
[5] 

17.4 
[4] 

9.1 
1 [7] 

• 23.1 
[3] 

38.3 
[2] 

264 

X' 

3289 

72.53 

51.64 

3383 

"" 993jT 

40.28 

39.99 

p I 

; 0.0." j 
i 
i 
! 
1 0.00" > 

ooo- ; 

0.00" 

0.00" 

0.00" 

0.00" 

Notes i 
(1) A C O Accountants; EXE=Executives/Managers; BAN= Bankers; TAX= Assessors/ Tax Officers; j 

ACA= Academics; FA= Financial Analysts; INV= Investors. I 
(2) ** =Significant at 1 % Z , Significant at 5%. 

1!— ~ 

those respondents has specified the other purpose for which annual reports are used by those 
respondents, the response to this section was omitted from the data analysis. 
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As shown in Table 5-8, obtaining information to buy, hold or sell 

shares has been identified as the major purpose of using corporate annual reports 

with 47.7 per cent of the respondents showing it as the mostly used purpose. 

When analysed by the user groups, it is seen that three user groups (ACC, FA. 

INV) have indicated it as the mostly used purpose while three other groups ( 

BAN, TAX, ACA) viewed it as the second mostly used purpose. The other 

group (EXE) used annual reports for making decisions in managing the 

company and general review purposes more than for buying, holding or selling 

shares. The selection of this purpose as the mostly used purpose across many 

user groups may be attributable to the fact that most ofthe users are interested in 

share investments. 

With 38.3 per cent of use, 'general review' can be identified as the 

second mostly used purpose. While it was ranked second in four of the seven 

user groups (ACC, EXE, TAX, INV), three other groups (BAN, ACA, FA) 

ranked it third, first and fifth respectively. The wide use of annual reports for 

general review purposes is understandable given the fact that annual report is 

very often the only source of information available to a user in Sri Lanka to 

know about the affairs of a company. 

In order to test the hypothesis (H,) that there is no significant 

difference between user groups in terms of their purposes of using annual 

reports, a Kruskal-Wallis was carried out for each ofthe 7 purposes listed in the 

questionnaire, using the user groups as the grouping variable. Since the 

differences between the user groups with regard to their purposes of using 

annual reports were significant at the 1% level for all the seven purposes listed 

in the questionnaire, the above mentioned null hypothesis was rejected. Thus, it 
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can be concluded that the purposes for which annual reports are used vary 

significantly across different user groups. 

5.6.2 Sources of information 
In addition to the annual reports, there are several other sources from which one can 

obtain information on the performance and financial strength of a company. Stock 

brokers' advice, investment advisory services of accounting firms, and news paper 

reports are some examples of these other sources. Based on this aspect, the 

following null hypothesis was formed to test whether there would be any significant 

difference between user groups in relation to the importance of various sources of 

information. 

H2: There is no significant difference between user groups in relation to their 
perceived importance of various sources of information. 

For the purpose of obtaining information to test this hypothesis, the 

respondents were provided with 10 possible sources of information that they could 

use to gather information on the operating performance and financial position of a 

company and they were asked to indicate the perceived importance of those sources 

of information on a likert scale ranging from one (least important) to five (most 

important). The mean score received for each source along with its rank in 

individual user groups and all groups is shown in Table 5-9. The ranking ranged 

from the highest mean score of 1 to the lowest mean score of 10. To test the 

hypothesis (H2), a Kruskal-Wallis one way ANOVA test was carried out for each 

source by taking user groups as the grouping variable. The calculated chi-square 

and/? values are also shown in Table 5-9. 
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Table 5-9 

The importance of various sources of information 

Source 

Advice of 
friends 

Stockbrokers' 
advice 

Advisory 
services of 
accounting 
firms 

Communication 
with company 
management 

News paper 
reports and 
other media 
reviews 

Company 
annual reports 

Stock market 
publications 

Tips and 
rumours 

Personal 
information and 
Knowledge 
about the 
company 

Information 
provided on the 
internet 

Percentage of responses and their ranks ''• Statistics 

[ ACC 
i 

1.87 
[10] 

3.13 
17] 

3.62 
[4] 

3.28 
[6] 

~3.55"~ 
,5, 

"4.19 
[2] 

r '3.89 ~ 
1 [3] 

: 2.72 
; [9] 

"T38 
[1] 

_______ 

[8] 

j EXE 

2.74 
[9] 

3.24 
17] 

3.26 
[6] 

3.35 
[4] 

" 3.34 
[5] 

_____ 

11] 

'" 3.65 " 
; [3] 

1.96 
[10] 

4.05 
[2] 

I 

2.92 
[8] 

: BAN 

: 2.41 

i [10] 
i 

I 2.78 

| [91 

"T06 "' 
[7] 

1 3.28 
[6] 

"3.38 
[4] 

~4.44' 
[1] 

~ 4.13 
[2] 

j "3.06 

I [7] 
j 3.91 ~ 
I 3] 

3.31 
[5] 

: TAX 

3 

: [4) 

2.5 
[8] 

. ------

f7J 

3.63 
| [2] 

2.31 
[9] 

i 3.25 
: [3] 

3.00 
[4] 

3.00 
4] 

_3.75 

ID 

j" 1.75 
| [10] 
I 

ACA " FA 

241 | 2.75 
; [9] [8] 

3.32 I 3.08 
[6] | [7] 

_ _____ 

: [8] 

3.32 
I [7] 
i 

r 3.41 
[4] 

i 4.36 
[1] 

4.27 
| [2] 

I 1.73 
! [10] 

j 3.64 
! 13] 
! 
i 

i 
n.4f" 
| [5] 

r 2.67\[ 
; 9] 

3.58 
[4] 

342 
| [5] 

, 4.29 
[2] 

3.75 
| [3] 

1 342 
[5] 

4.5 
[1] 

1 

r vs 
I [10] 

: IMV "Total ;' yp P 

1.79 j 2.36 
[10] [10] 

I 

3906 

: 3.53 : 316 ! 13.62 
: [6] j [6] ; 

! 1 
2.7 
[9] 

3.79 

; I5) 

!" "3.81" 
[4] 

f 4 49 
[1] 

4.12 
; [2] 

272 
j [8] 

i 3.86 
! 13] 

2.79 

! m 

3.1 
[7] 

344 
j [4] 

341 
j [51 

43 
[1] 

r 3.85 
i 13] 

2.55 
[9] 

4.06 

] (21 
i 

1 

j 2.82 
! [8] 
i 

'"20 99" 

1012 

2604 

18.35 

, 20.05 

47.86 

2153 

0.00" 

0.03* 

"oar-

012 

000" 

0.01" 

I 

COT" 
] I 

0 00" 

000" 

55.63 j; 0 00" 

Notes 
(1) ACC= Accountants; EXE=Executives/Managers; BAN= Bankers; TAX= Assessors/ Tax Officers; ACA= Academics; FA= 

Financial Analysts; INV= Investors; ALL= Overall. 
(2) Ranks are shown within parenthesis. 
(3) " =Significant at 1%, *, Significant at 5%. 

Table 5-9 shows that four of the seven user groups (EXE, B A N , A C A , 

INV) ranked annual reports as their primary source of information, with 'ACC and 

'FA' rating them second while indicating 'personal information and knowledge 

about the company' as their primary source. Only one user group (TAX) ranked 

two other sources ahead of annual reports as their primary sources, selecting annual 

report as the third primary source of information. Overall, annual reports have been 

cited as the primary source of information with a mean value across user groups 

ranging from 3.25 to 4.49 making an overall mean value of 4.30. Apart from 
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annual reports, 'personal information and knowledge about the company' was 

considered as the primary source of information on overall rankings with a mean 

value of 4.06. In addition to three user groups (ACC, TAX, FA), which have cited 

this as the primary source, the other four groups also ranked it within the top three 

primary sources of information. While the 'stock market publications' and 

'communication with the company management' enjoyed third and fourth rankings 

with mean values of 3.85 and 3.44, respectively, 'advice of friends' and 'tip and 

rumours' were indicated as the least used sources with the mean values of 2.36 and 

2.55 respectively. Another observation that can be made from the rankings is that 

despite the increased number of companies disclosing more and more information 

on the internet it is still seen as a relatively less important source for many users. 

Similarly, 'newspaper reports and other media reviews' were also not seen as very 

useful despite recent efforts taken by SEC to provide periodic information on 

company affairs through this media. 

When the hypothesis (H2) that there is no significant difference between 

user groups in relation to their perceived importance of various sources of 

information was tested using Kruskal-Wallis test, statistically significant differences 

were found between user groups in respect of 9 of the 10 sources listed in the 

questionnaire. The differences with regards to eight of the sources listed in the 

question were significant at the 1% level (p<0l) while the difference between user 

groups with regard to the "stockbrokers' advice" as a source of information was 

significant at the 5% level (p<0.05). Therefore, the null hypothesis (H2 ) was 

rejected with regard to these nine sources of information, suggesting that the 

importance attached by the seven user groups to these items varied significantly 

across user groups. Since there was no evidence (p>0.05) to reject the null 
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hypothesis with regard to the information source 'communication with company 

management' the null hypothesis was accepted. Accordingly, it can be concluded 

that users' perception on the importance of nine sources listed in the question 

number 8 ofthe questionnaire significantly varied across seven user groups. 

5.6.3 Adequacy of Information in Annual Reports 

Annual reports are designed to provide information for all interested parties. 

However, the information that annual reports provide may or may not be 

sufficient for some users of such information. In order to examine whether there 

would be a significant difference between the user groups with regard to their 

opinion on the adequacy of information available in the annual reports for their 

purposes, the following null hypothesis was formed: 

H3: There is no significant difference between user groups in relation to their 
opinion on the adequacy of information contained in annual reports. 

In order to test the above hypothesis, the respondents were asked to 

indicate whether the annual reports they used contained adequate information to 

serve their purpose by choosing either "adequate", "not adequate" or "partially 

adequate" as the correct response. The summarised results are shown in Table 

5.10. 

Table 5-10 

Adequacy of Information Included in Annual Reports 

Extent of adequacy 

Information is adequate 

Information is not adequate 

Information is partially adequate 

Percentage of responses 

ACC 

33.4 

| 7.8 

58.8 

EXE 

22.2 

12.5 

65.3 

Total m o j 1 0 0 ° 

I B A N 

34.4 

0.0 

65.6 

100.0 

TAX 

25.0 

:: 

"5.C 

100.0 

ACA 

0.0 

CO 

•:: o 

100.0 

FA " 

25.0 

DC 

INV ALL 
I 

27.9 

14.0 

75.0 ; 58.1 

100.0 

254 

7.3 

67.3 

ioo.oZ 1Q0.0 j 

Notes A C C = Accountants; EXE=Executives/Managers; BAN= Bankers; TAX= Assessors/ Tax 
Officers: ACA= Academics; FA= Financial Analysts; INV= Investors; ALL= Overall. 

__ - _ -_.. 
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The data given in Table 5-10 shows that only 25.4 per cent of all 

respondents viewed that the information provided in annual reports is adequate 

while the majority of respondents (74.6%) thought that information is either 

partially adequate or not adequate at all. The group-wise responses were also 

very similar to the overall view with the exception of ACAs who viewed 

information provided in annual reports is only partially adequate. The 

percentage of users who viewed that the amount of information provided in 

annual reports is completely inadequate varied from 0 to 14 per cent across all 

user groups with an overall average of 7.3 per cent. 

The responses were then tested using the Kruskal-Wallis method to see 

whether there was any significant difference between the opinions of different 

users. The results (X2 =, df = 6, p = 0.03) showed that the differences between 

the seven user groups were significant at the 5% level. Thus, the null hypothesis 

that there is no significant difference between user groups in relation to their 

opinion on the adequacy of information contained in annual reports was 

rejected. However, when the Kruskal-Wallis test was carried out seven times 

excluding a user group at a time in order to identify which group was having an 

opinion significantly different from that of other groups, it was found that there 

were no statistically significant differences of opinion with regard to this issue 

only when the "Academic (ACC)" groups was excluded from the sample. This 

suggests that all groups, except ACC, hold a similar view, on the adequacy of 

information content in an annual report. 

In order to examine this issue further, another Kruskal-Wallis test was 

carried out with a new variable created combining the original responses. For 

this purpose, the original three choices ("adequate", "not adequate" or "partially 
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adequate') were reduced to two ("adequate" and "not adequate") by combining 

"partially adequate" with "not adequate."41 The test results ( X2=l 1.036, df=6. 

p= 0.09) showed no significant differences among the seven user groups 

suggesting that majority of users are ofthe opinion that the information content 

in annual reports is not adequate. 

5.6.4 Importance of Different Parts of Annual Reports 

Information is presented in annual reports under different sections. While some 

sections such as profit and loss account and balance sheet are mandatory, other 

sections such as chairman's report, and value added statements are voluntary for 

an annual report. Also, while some sections present quantitative data, others 

provide only qualitative information. The importance of each section may vary 

significantly among user groups. Thus, in order to test whether there would be a 

significant difference between users in terms of the importance attached to 

different parts of an annual report, the following null hypothesis was 

formulated: 

H4; There is no significant difference between user groups in relation to their 
perceived importance attached to various sections of annual reports. 

For testing the above hypothesis (H,), information was sought from the 

respondents in respect of their perceived importance on 11 sections that are 

usually found in annual reports. They were requested to indicate their degree of 

importance to each section on a 5-point likert scale ranging from the least 

important section (1) to the most important section (5). A Kruskal-Wallis test 

was utilised for testing the above hypothesis to see whether there would be any 

41 The 'recode' procedure ofthe SPSS was used for this purpose. 
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significant difference between user groups in terms of their perceived 

importance of each section. The results are summarised in Table 5-11. 

Table 5-11 

Importance of Different Parts of an Annual Report 

Section 

Balance sheet 

Profit and loss 
account 

Cash flow 
statement 

Accounting 
policies 

Notes to 
accounts 

! Movement in 
share holders' 
funds 

Auditor's 
report 

Chairman's 
report 

Director's 
report 

Value added 
statement 

Statistical 
data/ summary 
of operations/ 
historical data 

Mean of responses and ranks Statistics 

ACC 

, 4.89 
[1] 

i 

4.43 
[2] 

4.2. 
[3] 

! 3.87 
[6] 

4 06 
[4] 

["3.49 
[8] 

3.81 

in 

1.96 
j [11] 

j 2.15 
[10] 

i 3.09 
[9] 

I 4.02 
[5] 

EXE 

4.28 
[3] 

'. 4.54 
[1] 

4.42 
[2] 

3.18 
[6] 

3.09 
[7] 

3.86 
[5] 

2.59 
[9] 

'•• 2.45 
[10] 

j 2.30 
[11] 

2.76 
[8] 

I 3.89 
[4] 

BAN 

I 4.38 
[2] 

4.47 
[1] 

I 
4.06 
[4] 

3.78 
[6] 

4.Z 
[3] 

3.75 
[7] 

I 3.94 
[5] 

2.81 
[11] 

2.94 
[10] 

f 109 
[9] 

1 3.47 
[8] 

TAX 

4.19 

[1] 

4.13 
[2] 

: 2.25 
[11] 

I 3.63" 

| '6 

4.13 
[3 

2.75 

! [Sl 

I 3.88 
[4] 

I 2.75 

I >LI 
I 
3.75 
[5] 

\ 3.50 
[7] 

| 2.50 
[10] 

ACA 

4.64 

[1] 

4.41 

121 

4.23 
[3] 

3.82 
[8] 

4.09 
[4] 

3.91 
[6] 

; 3.82 
[8] 

2.09 
: [11] 

2.23 
. 110] 

4.00 
[5] 

3.91 
[6] 

FA 

4.58 
< [2] 

467 

[1] 

"4.33 
[3] 

3.50 
| [6] 

4.08 
[4] 

3.21 
[7] 

I 3.08 

j [9] 

3.17 
[8] 

2.17 

[11] 

2.50 
' [10] 

3.64 
[5] 

INV ALL X2 

4.56 
[2] 

4.63 
[1] 

4.02 
[4] 

3.58 
! [7] 

3.81 
| [5] 

3.67 
[6] 

305 
! [9] 

2.74 

• [H] 

2.86 
I [10] 

3.09 
| [8] 

4.44 
' [3] 

4.51 
[1] 

4.50 
[2] 

4 12 
[3] 

3.56 
[7] 

3.78 
[5] 

3.62 
[6] 

330 
[8] 

2.50 
[11] 

j 2.51 
[10] 

3.05 
[9] 

3.85 
[4] 

25 63 

3.74 

47.48 

10.91 

30.73 

15.03 

35.24 

24.03 

29.74 

22.00 

44.60 

P 

0.00" 

0.71 

0 0 0 " 

0.09 

; 0.00" 

0 02* 

o.cz-

oo;-

oc 

0.00" 

0.00" 

Notes 
(1) A C O Accountants; EXE=Executives.Managers; BAN= Bankers; TAX= Assessors/Tax Officers; 

ACA= Academics; FA= Financial Analysts; INV= Investors; A L Z Overall. 
(2) Ranks are shown within parenthesis. 
(3) "=Significantat 1%, *, Significant at 5 % . 

_ — ' 

As indicated in Table 5-11, the balance sheet and the profit and loss 

account were perceived to be the most important parts of an annual report, both 

having almost similar mean scores of 4.51 and 4.50 respectively on the overall 

rankings. While six ofthe seven user groups ranked these two statements as the 
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most important, the other user group (EXE), while ranking profit and loss 

account as the most important section, chose the cash flow statement as the 

second most important section. Most of the studies conducted in developed 

markets (i.e. Chang and Most 1981; Anderson 1998; Anderson and Epstein 

1995; Ho and Wong 2001) and emerging markets (i.e. Karim 1995: Abu-Nassar 

and Rutherford 1996) have also revealed that both the balance sheet and the 

profit and loss account are considered as the most important sections of annual 

reports. Thus, the above findings of this study are consistent with those of prior 

studies. 

The Kruskal-Wallis test results (See Table 5-11 above) showed that the 

differences between user groups were significant at 1% (p<0.0\) with regard to 

8 of the 11 sections listed in the question number 11 of the questionnaire. The 

differences between user groups were also significant at 5% (p<0.05) in respect 

ofthe section on "movement in shareholders' funds". Therefore, null hypothesis 

was rejected with regard to these 9 items. These results suggest that the 

importance attached by the seven user groups to 9 sections of an annual report 

significantly vary from one group to another. Since the calculated p values of 

the Kruskal-Wallis for two sections of an annual report (Profit and Loss account 

and Accounting Policies) were greater than 5% (p>0.05) the null hypothesis was 

accepted with regard to those two items. This suggests that there is no 

significant difference, in statistical terms, between the user groups in respect of 

importance attached to these two sections of an annual report. 

5.6.5 Frequency of Using Annual Reports 
The degree of use of annual reports m a y vary between users. While some 

individuals or organisations use company annual reports quite frequently, others 
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may use them occasionally. Thus, in order to investigate whether there would be 

a significant difference between users with regard to the degree of use of annual 

reports, the following null hypothesis was formulated: 

H5: There is no significant difference between user groups in relation to the 
degree of use of annual reports for their purposes. 

In order to find out whether the information given in annual reports is 

used for making decisions such as whether to buy sell or hold shares, or grant a 

loan for a company, the respondents were asked to indicate the frequency of 

using annual reports for taking such decisions by ticking one ofthe five possible 

frequencies given in the questionnaire. The responses were summarised in Table 

5-12. 

Table 5-12 

Frequency of the Use of Annual Reports 

Level of 
frequency 

Never 

Rarely 

Sometimes 

Usually 

Always 

Percentage of responses 

ACC 

1 9.4 
1 
I 17.0 

34.0 

30.2 

94 

100.0 

EXE BAN 

8.1 

23.0 

35.1 

24.3 

9.5 

100.0 

6.7 

10.0 

' 40.0 

26.7 

16.6 

100.0 

TAX 

25.0 

25.0 

25.0 

25.0 

0.0 

100.0 

ACA 

20.0 

~ 10.0 

30.0 

30.0 

10.0 

100.0 

FA 

0.0 

8.3 

16.7 

16.7 

58.3 

100.0 

INV 

12.5 

5.0 

40.0 

20.0 

22.5 

100.0 

ALL 

10.1 

15.2 

33.5 

24.9 

16.3 

100.0 

A s Table 5-12 indicates, the percentage of respondents who used 

annual reports very frequently (usually/ always) amounted to 41.2 per cent 

Conversely, the less frequent users (rarely/ sometimes) amounted to 48.7 per 

cent, making the total users of annual reports as high as 89.9 per cent. When 

these figures were analysed by user groups, it was found that financial analysts 

were the most frequent users of annual reports. All of them have indicated the 

162 



Chapter 5: Information Needs ofthe Users: The Survey and Its Results 

use of these reports but with varying frequencies. This suggests that annual 

report analysis is an indispensable tool for financial analysts in Sri Lanka. 

although 'personal information and knowledge' is seen as the primary source of 

information for decision-making. On the other hand, in line with the lower 

ranking given by tax authorities for the annual reports as a source of information 

for their decision making, they were found to be the least frequent group of 

users among the respondents. 

The responses were analysed statistically using the Kruskal-Wallis 

method to test the hypothesis (H5) whether the frequency of use of annual 

reports would be different among users. The results ofthe test (X2=26.47. df =6, 

/?=0.00) showed that the frequency of using annual reports was significantly 

different among users. Therefore, null hypothesis (H5) was rejected and an 

alternative hypothesis that the seven user groups use annual reports in different 

frequencies was accepted. 

5.6.6 Factors Restricting the Use of Annual Reports 
Although the main purpose of issuing annual reports is to satisfy most of the 

information needs of users, in reality, however, several factors restrict their use. 

The delay in publishing annual reports, the difficulty of obtaining them, and the 

lack of reliability in the information provided are some of these factors. In order 

to examine whether there would be a significant difference between users in 

relation to the problems that restrict the use of annual reports, the following null 

hypothesis was formulated: 

H6. There is no significant difference between user groups in relation to the 
problems that restrict the use of annual reports. 
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To obtain information about the opinions of users on this aspect a 

question was included in the questionnaire. As the answer to this question, the 

respondents had to indicate whether one or more of the five factors listed in the 

questionnaire restricted their use of annual reports. The responses received were 

analysed through a percentile analysis as shown in Table 5-13. 

Table 5-13 

Factors Restricting the Use of Annual Reports 

Factor 

Difficulty of 
obtaining annual 
reports 

Delay in 
publishing annual 
reports 

Lack of financial 
information in 
annual reports 

Lack of reliable 
information in 
annual reports 

lack of simplicity 
in the contents 
and presentation 
of information 

I 
Percentages of responses and ranks Statistics 

ACC 

47.2 
[4] 

: 92.5 
[1] 

j 62.3 
[3] 

66.0 
[21 

45.3 
[5] 

EXE 

] 56.9 
: [1] 

: 54.2 
[2] 

i 
I 33.3 
' [4] 

34.7 
[3] 

31.9 
[5] 

BAN 

50 £> 
[3] 

; 75.0 
[1] 

[ 53.1 ' 

; 12] 

34.4 
[5] 

; 
37.5 
[4] 

TAX 

i 25.0 

i 75.0 

: in 
i 
50.0 
[2] 

75.0 
[1] 

25.0 
[3] 

ACA 

45.5 
'• (2] 

63.6 

: [1] 

• 45.5 
[2] 

364 
[5] 

' 45.5 
[2] 

FA 

81.8 
[1] 

80.0 
[2] 

r_60.0 
[3] 

30.0 
[5] 

i 10.0 
[6] 

INV 

"90.7 

[1] 

72.1 
[2] 

48.8 
[3] 

30 2 
[4] 

20.9 
[5] 

ALL | p P 

[ 58 8 
[2] 

71.7 

[11 

484 
[3] 

42.6 
[4! 

32.6 
[5] 

3 43 

9.23 

713 

12.22 

9.94 

P 

0.75 

016 

0.31 

0.06 

0.13 

Notes 
(1) ACC= Accountants; EXE=Executives/Managers; BAN= Bankers; TAX= Assessors/ Tax Officers; ACA= 

Academics; FA= Financial Analysts; INV= Investors; ALL= Overall. 
(2) Ranks are shown within parenthesis. 
(3) ** =Significant at 1 %, *, Significant at 5%. 

According to the information shown in Table 5-13, delay in publishing 

annual reports has been viewed by a large majority of respondents (71.7%) as 

the prime factor that restricts the use of annual reports in Sri Lanka. The fact 

that four user groups ranked this as the major limiting factor and other three 

groups as the second major limiting factor with percentages ranging from 54.2 

to 92.5 shows the overall agreement of users on the seriousness of this 
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limitation. Apart from the delay in publishing annual reports, the use of annual 

reports has been constrained by the apparent difficulty of obtaining annual 

reports with 58.8 per cent of overall respondents indicating it as the second 

major limiting factor. Financial analysts and investors, in particular, viewed this 

as a more serious limitation than the 'delay in publishing' with percentages of 

81.8 and 90.7 respectively. 

As for testing the hypothesis (H6) that there is no significant difference 

between user groups in relation to the problems that restrict the use of annual 

reports, a separate Kruskal-Wallis test was carried out on each factor. Since the 

test results showed p-values greater than 5% (p>.§5) for all the five factors, the 

null hypothesis was rejected. This result suggests that there is no significant 

difference of opinion between user groups with regard to the factors that limit 

their use of annual reports. 

5.6.7 Time Lag of Publishing Annual Reports 
One of the major problems confronting the users of financial information is the 

time lag between the end of an accounting period and the date of publishing an 

annual report. Because of this time lag many users find the information provided 

in annual reports as out dated. Thus, in order to examine whether there would be 

a significant difference between users in relation to their opinions on the 

reduction or avoidance of this time lag, the following null hypothesis was 

formulated: 

H7. There is no significant difference between user groups in relation to their 

opinions on the delay in publishing the annual reports. 

To examine the views of users about the delay in publishing annual 

reports, they were asked to indicate their personal observations on this matter by 
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stating whether the time lag would be unavoidable or it could be reduced. The 

responses received were summarised in Table 5-14. 

Table 5-14 

Time Lag of Annual Reports 

Response 

Time lag is 
unavoidable 

Time lag can 
be reduced 

Total 

Total 
respondents 

Percentage of responses 

ACC 

18.9 

81.1 

100.0 

53 

EXE BAN 

2.7 

I 
97.3 

100.0 

74 

3.3 

96.7 

100.0 

30 

i 

TAX 

50.0 

50.0 

100 0 

16 

ACA 

0.0 

1000 

100.0 

22 

FA INV 

8.3 

917" 

1000 

24 

9.3 

907 

ALL 

10.3 

897 

IOC 3.61 

43 262 

Notes 

(1) ACC= Accountants; EXE=Executives/Managers; BAN= Bankers; TAX= Assessors/ Tax 
Officers; ACA= Academics; FA= Financial Analysts; INV= Investors: ALL= Overall. 

As shown in Table 5-14, an overwhelming majority (89.7) of 

respondents thought that the existing time lag could be reduced. This view was 

equally shared by all the user groups with the exception of tax authorities. When 

the responses were statistically analysed using Kruskal-Wallis in order to test 

the above hypothesis (H7), it was found (x^O^O, df =6, p=0.00) that the 

opinions with regard to this aspect differ significantly among the user groups. 

5.6.8 Importance of Information Items in Annual Reports 
In the preceding sections from 5.6.1 to 5.6.7, an attempt was made to analyse the 

responses received for Part I ofthe questionnaire on the usage pattern of annual 

reports. This section aims to present an analysis of the responses received for 

Part II on the information items that should or could appear in annual reports. 

Since the purpose of using information contained in annual reports is 

different from user to user, the importance attached to each information item 
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may also vary among them. Therefore, in order to examine whether such a 

difference existed, the following hypothesis was formulated: 

H8 There is no significant difference between user groups in relation to the 
importance of information items included in the questionnaire. 

For the purpose of obtaining information to test the above hypothesis. 

Part II of the questionnaire provided the respondents with 79 information items 

that should or could appear in annual reports in Sri Lanka. These items were 

chosen on the basis ofthe criteria explained in Section 5.3.2. The respondents 

were requested to indicate the level of importance they would attach to each 

item on a five point likert scale with "one" indicating the least important item 

and "five" indicating the most important item. In addition to the 79 information 

items included in the Part II of the questionnaire, there were another 7 items 

which were selected to be included in this section but were excluded from the 

list of information items included in the Part II of the questionnaire to avoid 

repetition as the importance of those items was already considered in the Part I 

of the questionnaire. Therefore, it was decided to exclude these 7 items from 

Part II of the questionnaire but to incorporate the responses received on them in 

this section when analysing the results. Accordingly, the total number of 

information items considered was 86. 

Before testing the above hypothesis (Hg) statistically, the responses 

received were analysed by calculating the mean score for each information item 

and ranking them within user groups based on the mean score. Accordingly, 

information items were ranked from the most important item (Ranked 1) to the 

least important item (Ranked 86). Thereafter, Kuuskal-Wallis was carried for 
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each item of information by taking the user groups as the grouping variable to 

examine whether the mean score of each user group would be significantly 

different. The mean score of each item of information, the respective rank of 

the information item with user groups, and p values obtained on the Kruskal-

Wallis test are shown in Table 5-15. The information items are listed according 

to their overall mean ranking. 

Table 5-15 

Importance Attached to Information items by User Groups 
Rank 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

Information item 

Cash flow statement 

Total assets including 
breakdown into fixed 
and current assets 

Financial objectives for 
the next year 

cash projection for the 
next year 

Disclosure of future 
plans and targets 

Earnings per share and 
the basis of calculation 

Total revenue and 
breakdown of various 
sources 

Rate of growth per 
earning per share 

Capital expenditure for 
the next year 

Operating income before 
abnormal and extra 
ordinary items 

Cost and breakdown of 
securities and 
investments 

Dividend per share 

ACC 
Mean 

4.25 
8 

4.81 
1 

4.43 
3 

4.34 
6 

4.25 
8 

4.08 
21 

4.37 
5 

3.96 
28 

4.09 
20 

4.15 
14 

4.23 
10 

3.94 
31 

EXE 
Mean 

4.42 
1 

3.86 
17 

4.2 
2 

4.09 
7 

4.14 
3 

4.13 
5 

4.13 
4 

3.93 
12 

4.04 
8 

4.1 
6 

3.67 
37 

3.79 
24 

BAN 
Mean 

4.06 
16 

4.19 
6 

4.26 
2 

4.19 
6 

4.1 
11 

4.26 
2 

4.1 
12 

423 
4 

4.06 
14 

4.06 
14 

4.03 
19 

3.97 
24 

TAX 
Mean 

2.25 
57 

4.19 
i 

3.69 
12 

3.56 
15 

3.63 
13 

2.5 
42 

3.75 
7 

3.75 
7 

3.44 
18 

3.5 
16 

3 
25 

3.75 
7 

ACA 
Mean 

4 23 
12 

418 
13 

4.27 
7 

4.45 
3 

4.09 
19 

4.55 
1 

427 
7 

4.55 
1 

4.09 
19 

4.36 
6 

4.18 
13 

4.27 
7 

FA 
Mean 

4.33 
11 

4.75 
1 

4.33 
11 

4.42 
5 

4.17 
23 

4.08 
30 

4.67 
2 

4 
34 

4.42 
5 

4.33 
11 

4.33 
11 

4.17 
23 

INV 
Mean 

4 

35 | 

4.3 
11 I 

43 
13 | 

4.1 
27 

4.9 
1 ! 

4.5 
6 I 

4.3 
15 | 

4.3 
11 I 

4.3 
13 | 

4.1 
31 | 

4.5 
5| 

4.8 

3 I 

ALL 
Mean 

435 

4 30 

4.26 

4.22 

4.21 

4.21 

420 

4.17 

4.14 

4.14 

4.12 

4.11 

Statistics 

P 

0.00 -

0.00 -

0.57 

0.28 

0.00 " 

0.00 " 

0.09 

0.02 ' 

0.10 

0.52 

0.00 ** 

0.00 ** 
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Rank Information Hem A C C EXE B A N TAX A C A FA INV ALL Statistics 

13 Industry trend, country 
and company 
information 

14 Total and breakdown of 
long term borrowings 

15 Factors which will 
influence future results 

16 Comparative financial 
statements 

17 Market value and 
breakdown of securities 
and investments 

18 Summary data for 5 
years 

19 Market share and 
competitive position of 
the company 

20 Bad debts and provision 
for bad debts 

21 Total and breakdown of 
current liabilities 

22 Breakdown of operating 
expenses 

23 Foreign currency 
transactions 

24 Structure of share 
ownership 

25 Shareholder's' equity 
and number of shares 
outstanding 

26 Total interest including 
breakdown of short term 
and long term 

27 Discussion of the firm's 
result for previous year 
with reasons 

28 Market price of 
company's share 

29 Share held by directors 

30 Cost of goods sold 

31 Details of new product 
and services 

3.87 
39 | 

4.04 
I 23 

4,11 

I 18 

4.66 
I 2 

4.38 

I < 
4.17 

I 13 

3.76 
49 

3.96 
| 28 

3.96 
| 28 

4.15 
| 14 

4.11 
I 18 

3.92 
I 34 

4.02 
24 

4.15 
14 

3.85 
I 41 

3.89 
I 37 

3.83 

I « 
4.08 

I 21 

3.77 

4 
9 

3.97 
10 

3.79 
26 

3.97 
10 

3.81 
22 

3.93 
12 

3.86 
17 

3.85 
19 

3.83 
21 

3.81 
22 

3.79 
26 

3.64 
42 

3.73 
31 

3.67 
37 

3.74 
29 

3.69 
35 

3.6 
46 

3.66 
40 

3.75 

4.23 
4 I 

4.03 
19 

4.13 
10 

4.19 
6 

4.03 
18 

403 
17 

4.14 
9 

4.29 
1 

3.97 
24 

4.1 
12 

3.7 
48 

3.87 
30 

3.97 
24 

3.97 
27 

3.81 
38 

3.87 
34 

3.87 
| 30 

4.03 
I 19 

3.79 

3.06 
24 | 

2 
62 | 

3.38 
19 j 

2.5 
42 ! 

2.5 
42 

2 
62 

3.31 
20 

2.94 
26 

2.81 
28 

2.44 
45 

2.75 
30 

4.19 
1 

2.88 
27 

1.81 
72 

2.44 
45 

3.19 
j 23 

4.13 
I 3 

2.75 
| 30 

3.25 

4.18 
13 | 

4.27 
7 | 

3.91 
29 | 

4.1 
17 ! 

3.91 
29 

4.27 
7 

445 
3 

3.82 
36 

364 
47 

4 
24 

3.82 
36 

4.09 
19 

4.18 
13 

4.09 
19 

3.64 
47 

4.45 
! 3 

4.1 
17 

3.6 
I 51 

3.82 

425 
18 | 

4 42 

5 I 

425 
18 | 

3.92 
40 | 

4.42 
5 I 

4.33 
11 ] 

4.25 
18 | 

4 
34 

442 
5 

4.33 
11 

3.92 
40 

3.92 
40 

4 
34 

4.25 
18 

4.17 
| 23 

3.75 
| 55 

3.83 
I 51 

4.33 

11 

4.45 

4.3 
10 i 

44 
9 i 

4.5 

«l 
41 
24 | 

48 
2 

4.2 
20 | 

4.4 

8 I 

44 
7| 

4 
34 | 

4.1 
32 | 

4 
36 | 

4.1 
30 | 

4.2 
19 I 

3.9 
45 | 

4.1 
23 | 

4 
I 33 | 

4.1 
28 | 

3.9 
39 | 

4.1 

409 0.00 -

4.06 000 -

405 000 ~ 

405 0.00 -

404 000 " 

398 0.00 ** 

3 97 000 " 

396 0.00 " 

394 000 -

390 0.00 " 

3.89 0.01 ' 

3.88 0.05 

3.87 0.00 ** 

3.87 0.00 " 

3.86 0.00 ** 

3.84 0.01 " 

3.84 0.08 

3.82 000 " 

3.79 0.01 " 
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Rank 

32 

33 

34 

35 

36 

37 

38 

38 

40 

41 

42 

43 

44 

45 

46 

47 

48 

49 

Information item 

Method used for 
marketable securities 
and investments 

Details of contingent 
liabilities 

Annual report parts: 
Movement in 
shareholders' funds 

Aggregate amount of 
dividend paid 

Reserves, provisions 
and their breakdowns 

statement of dividend 
policies 

Income tax and 
provision therein 

Production capacity and 
actual output 

Taxation policies 

Method used to 
determine cost of 
Inventories 

Date of maturity, interest 
rates, securities of LT 
borrowings 

Accounting policies 

Method and rates of 
depreciation 

Cost and breakdown of 
inventories 

Discussion ofthe impact 
on [inflation on the 
financial results 

Acquisition/ disposal of 
property, plant and 
equipment 

Statement of directors' 
responsibility 

Total and breakdown of 
advances, deposits and 
prepayments 

ACC 
48 | 

4.15 
14 

3.92 
34 

3.49 
66 

3.89 
37 

3.72 
53 

3.82 
43 

3.81 
44 

3.51 
63 

4.02 
25 

4.3 
7 

3.94 
33 

3.87 
39 

4.23 
10 

3.92 
34 

3.51 
63 

3.75 
I 50 

3.94 
31 

3.62 
57 

EXE 
28 | 

3.6 
48 | 

3.67 
37 ] 

3.86 
16 

3.62 
44 

3.56 
54 

3.64 
42 

3.74 
29 

3.93 
14 

3.87 
15 

3.47 
59 

3.84 
20 

3.18 
71 

3.5 
57 

3.59 
51 

3.71 
32 

3.7 
i 34 

3.54 
| 56 

3.65 
41 

BAN 
41 | 

3.84 
35 | 

3.71 
46 | 

3.75 
44 

368 
49 

3.65 
50 

3.81 
38 

3.87 
30 

3.73 
45 

3.61 
57 

3.52 
60 

3.9 
29 

3.78 
42 

3.65 
50 

3.61 
57 

3.87 
30 

3.65 
| 50 

3.65 
50 

4 
22 

TAX 
21 i 

2.44 
45 | 

1.75 
77 | 

2.75 
30 | 

2 
62 | 

2.69 
35 ] 

2.75 
30 | 

2.44 
45 

2.38 
50 

1.75 
77 

2.69 
35 

1.75 
77 

3.63 
13 

2.69 
35 

2.69 
35 

2.44 
45 

1.81 
I 72 

3.75 
7 

2.31 
i 52 

ACA 
36 | 

4 
24 | 

3.82 
36 ! 

391 
29 | 

4 09 
19 | 

3.82 
36 ] 

3.91 
29 | 

3.64 
47 ] 

3.55 
53 

3.55 
53 

3.55 
53 

4 
24 

3.82 
36 

3.73 
43 

3.18 
68 

3.91 
29 

3.45 

I 59 

3.64 
47 

3 
I 76 

FA 
4 i 

4.17 
23 | 

4.08 
30 I 

3.21 
79 | 

442 
5 I 

4.17 
23 ] 

4.17 
23 | 

3.75 
55 | 

4 5 
3 

4 
34 

3.83 
51 

4.09 
29 

3.5 
67 

3.92 
40 

4 
34 

3.67 
62 

3.92 
I 40 

3.25 

I 77 

425 
I 18 

INV 
22 

3.8 
47 J 

4.1 
29 | 

3.7 
59 | 

41 
25 ] 

3.8 
53 ] 

4.2 
18 | 

4 
38 | 

38 
51 ! 

3.7 
55 | 

3.7 
56| 

4.2 
21 I 

3.6 
66 | 

3.7 
60 | 

3.9 
40 | 

4 

I 36 ] 

3.9 
I 46 | 

3.6 
I 61 | 

3.7 
I 57 | 

ALL 

3.79 

379 

378 

378 

3 78 

376 

3.73 

373 

373 

3.72 

3.72 

3.70 

3.67 

3.66 

3.65 

3.62 

3.61 

3.59 

Statistics 

0.00 ~ 

000 " 

002 ' 

000 " 

003 ' 

ooo -

0.00 " 

0.00 ~ 

0.00 " 

0.00 " 

000 " 

0.09 

0.00 " 

0.00 ** 

0.00 ** 

0.00 ** 

0.15 

0.00 ** 
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Rank Information Kern A C C EXE BAN TAX A C A FA W V ALL Statistics 

50 Statement of company 
share option/bonus plan 

51 

52 

53 

54 

55 

56 

57 

58 

59 

60 

61 

62 

63 

64 

65 

66 

67 

68 

69 

Wages and executive 
salaries 

Total non-recurring 
gains or loss 

Directors' remuneration 

Amount of depreciation 

Segmental results 

Ageing schedule of the 
debtors 

Details of company 
directors 

Breakdown of expenses 
into fixed and variable 

Total research and 
development expenses 

Goodwill and other 
intangible written off 

Annual report parts: 
Auditor's report 

Total tax and differed 
tax liability 

Amortisation of 
intangible assets 

Summary data for 10 
years 

Details of company's 
social .responsibility 
programs 

Outstanding gratuity. 
pension obligations 

Total accumulated 
depreciation on P&E 

Details of finished 
goods exported 

Sundry debtors less 
allowances 

3.08 
! 69 | 

3.26 
I 67 ] 

3.62 
I 57 

3.75 
| 50 

3.57 
I 61 

4.18 
I 12 

3.58 
| 59 

3.72 
53 

3.81 
44 

3.57 
I 61 

3.81 
| 44 

3.81 
| 44 

3.64 
| 56 

3.98 
27 

3.66 
| 55 

3.75 
| 50 

3.58 
| 59 

2.87 
70 

2.64 
I 73 

4.02 
I 25 

3.39 
61 I 

3.62 
44 ] 

3.62 
44 

3.79 
25 

3.57 
52 

3.61 
47 

3.5 
57 

2.88 
78 

3.68 
36 

3.59 
50 

3.36 
64 

2.59 
82 

3.56 
54 

3.06 
75 

2.97 
77 

2.8 
80 

3.56 
| 53 

3.09 
f 73 

3.11 
I 72 

3.19 
I 69 

3.71 
46 | 

3.45 
65 ] 

3.65 
50 

3.61 
59 I 

3.81 
38 

3.52 
60 

4 
22 

3.83 
37 

3.77 
43 

3.45 
65 

3.52 
60 

3.94 
28 

3.63 
56 

3.42 
67 

2.65 
81 

2.97 
74 

34 
| 69 

3.84 
| 35 

3.23 
I 70 

3.42 
I 67 

4.06 
4 I 

2.31 
52 | 

2.31 
52 | 

2.38 
50 | 

2.63 
39 

1.81 
72 

2 
62 

4 
5 

1.94 
68 

2.31 
52 

2 
62 

388 
6 

1.75 
77 

2.31 
52 

2.81 
28 

2.63 
| 39 

1.38 
| 85 

1.75 
77 

3.25 
21 

1.25 
| 86 

355 
53 | 

3.18 
68 | 

3.36 
63 | 

345 
59 | 

3.1 
74 | 

3.7 
45 | 

3.55 
53 | 

3.55 
53 j 

3 
76 

3.91 
29 

3.56 
52 

3.82 
36 

3 
76 

3.73 
43 

3.9 
35 

4 
I 24 

3.18 
| 68 

3.4 
| 62 

3.36 
j 63 

3.18 
| 68 

3.5 
67 | 

3.92 
40 | 

3.92 
40 | 

3.67 
62 | 

3.75 
55 j 

4.08 
30 | 

3.75 
55 | 

358 
65 j 

4 
34 

3.5 
67 

3.92 
40 

3.08 
81 

3.75 
55 

3.67 

62 

3.83 
51 

3.42 
71 

3.58 
| 65 

3.83 

51 

4.08 
| 30 

3.42 
I 71 

4.3 
17 I 

3.9 
41 | 

3.7 
54 ] 

3.9 
42 | 

3.9 
43 I 

3 
76 | 

3.6 
61 | 

43 
16 ] 

3.6 
65 | 

34 
68 | 

3.8 
47 | 

3 
75 | 

3.8 
50 | 

3.7 
57 | 

3.8 
52 | 

3.3 
70 | 

3.1 
i 74 | 

4.1 
26 | 

3.8 
| 47 | 

2.8 
I 81 | 

3.59 000 " 

3.57 0.00 " 

3.57 000 -

356 000 ~ 

3.56 0 02 ' 

3.55 0.00 " 

3.53 000 " 

352 0.00 " 

348 0.00 " 

3.48 001 ** 

347 0.00 " 

3.46 000 " 

3.45 0.00 " 

3.43 0.00 " 

3.30 0.00 ** 

3.29 0.00 ** 

328 0.00 ** 

3.27 0.00 " 

3.20 0.00 ** 

320 0.00 ** 
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Rank Information item A C C EXE B A N TAX A C A FA INV ALL Statistics 

70 

71 

72 

73 

74 

75 

76 

77 

78 

79 

80 

81 

82 

83 

84 

85 

86 

Notes 

Value added 
statements 

Book value of goodwill 
and other intangible 
assets 

Description of 
marketing network for 
finished goods 

Indication of employee 
morale 

Description of major 
plants, warehouse and 
their locations 

Total advertising and 
publicity expenses 

History and 
development of the 
company 

Raw material 
consumed and their 
breakdown 

Details of post balance 
sheet events 

Amount and breakdown 
of staff welfare 

Information on 
managers and staff 

Details of raw material 
imported and local raw 
material content of raw 
materials 

Maintenance and repair 
expenses 

Chairman's report 

Directors' report 

Auditor's remuneration 

Contributions and 
donations 

3.09 
I 68 

3.51 
| 63 

2.34 
I 78 

2.78 
| 72 

2.64 
| 73 

2.58 
I 75 

2.11 
| 81 

2.4 
1 77 

2.28 
1 79 

2.55 
| 76 

2.11 
I 81 

2 
| 83 

2.81 
I 71 

1.96 
I 84 

2.15 
I 80 

1.85 
| 85 

1.77 
86 

2.76 
81 

2.84 
79 

3.23 
68 

3.71 
33 

3.01 
76 

3.27 
65 

3.41 
60 

3.37 
63 

3.39 
61 

3.24 
67 

3.26 
66 

3.19 
69 

3.06 
74 

2.45 
83 

2.3 
86 

2.31 
85 

2.35 
84 

3.09 
72 

2.67 
80 

3.65 
50 

2.71 
79 

3.13 
71 

3.48 
63 

2.9 
76 

3 
73 

2.61 
82 

2.45 
84 

3.48 
63 

2.81 
78 

2.55 
83 

2.81 
77 

2.94 
75 

2.26 
85 

2.03 
86 

3.5 
16 

1.81 
72 

2.56 
41 

2.25 
57 

1.75 
77 

2 
62 

2.25 
57 

2.25 
57 

2 25 
57 

1.94 
68 

1.81 
72 

1.94 
68 

1.69 
83 

2.75 
30 

3.75 
7 

1.94 
68 

1.63 
84 

4 
24 

3.36 
63 

3.18 
68 

3.18 
68 

3.27 
67 

3.45 
59 

2.91 
82 

3 
76 

33 
66 

3.7 
45 

3.09 
75 

2.73 
84 

3 
76 

2.09 
86 

2.23 
85 

2.91 
82 

3 
76 

2.5 
84 

3.75 
55 

3.92 
40 

325 
77 

3.5 
67 

3 42 
71 

3.75 
55 

3.92 
40 

3 
82 

3.33 
76 

3.42 
71 

3.92 
40 

3.42 

71 

3.17 
80 

2.17 
85 

2.58 
83 

1.33 
86 

3.1 
72 | 

3.9 
44 | 

3.3 
69 | 

31 
73 | 

3.5 
67 | 

28 
80 | 

36 
61 | 

3.1 
71 I 

3.6 
61 | 

2.9 
78 | 

2.9 
77 | 

2.7 
83 | 

1.9 
85 | 

2.7 
82 | 

2.9 
79 | 

2.6 
84 | 

1.3 
86 | 

3.17 0.00 

3.15 000 

3.08 000 

304 0.00 

3.03 000 

3.02 000 

2.98 000 

296 0.00 

2.95 0.00 

2.93 000 

2.89 0.00 

(D 

(2) 
(3) 

A C C = Accountants; EXE=Executives/Managers; BAN= 
Financial Analysts; INV= Investors 
Ranks according to mean are shown within parenthesis 
Significant at 1 % = **, Significant at 5 % = * 

Bankers; TAX= Assessors/ Tax Officers; 

2.81 0.00 ** 

2.71 0.00 ** 

2.62 0.00 ** 

2.61 0.00 ** 

2.34 0.00 ** 

1.99 0.00 ** 

ACA= Academics; FA= 
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According to the overall mean score, the 'cash flow statement' with the 

mean score of 4.35 was perceived to be the most important information item 

followed by the 'total assets with breakdown into fixed and current assets' 

(4.30), 'financial objectives for the next year' (4.26) and 'cash projection for the 

next year' (4.22). The least important items perceived by the respondents were 

'contribution and donation' (1.99) and 'auditor's remuneration' (2.34). 

Before analysing the results any further, it is important to note that 

despite the attempt made to rank each item on its mean score, as shown in the 

above table, an emphasis of our analysis is more on a group of information items 

such as very important items, least important items rather than on individual 

ranking of each item. Our inclination to follow this approach is based on the fact 

that the difference between mean scores of two items is very small and the 

responses to each item were measured on an ordinal scale . Thus, the ranking of 

information items should be viewed with caution. 

As Table 5-15 shows, 17 items (19.8%) scored between 4-5 (extremely 

important), 58 items (67.4%) scored between 3-4 (important), 10 items (11.6%) 

scored between 2-3 (less important) and 1 item (1.2%) scored less than 2 (least 

important). When the most important items (Score 4-5) were classified under 5 

sections of an annual report, it was found that 7 of the top 17 items (41.2%) 

were in the 'other information" section. The remaining 10 items spread over 

three sections—profit and loss account (3 items), balance sheet (5 items) and 

other components (2 items). 

This is an interesting outcome given the fact that in Part I of the 

42 If ordinal scale is used, the data values represent categories with some intrinsic order such as 
strongly agree, agree, disagree, strongly disagree and, therefore, possess less arithmetic 

Footnote continued on the next page... 
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questionnaire (Q-l 1) respondents have identified the profit and loss account and 

the balance sheet as the most important sections of an annual report. On this 

basis, one would expect respondents to pick more information items from those 

two sections if they were asked to name the most important items for their use. 

However, since the nature of questions in the two parts of the questionnaire is 

different43, it may not be realistic to compare the results of Part II questions with 

those of Part 1 questions. Therefore, in order to identify the degree of 

importance of each section, as reflected by user responses on the disaggregated 

information item, the mean scores ofthe 86 information items were summarised 

under five major sections of an annual report. These results are summarised in 

Table 5-16. 

1. A C O Accountants; EXE=Executives/Managers; BAN= Bankers; TAX= Assessors/ Tax Officers: 
ACA= Academics; FA= Financial Analysts; INV= Investors; ALL= Overall. 

2. Rank are shown within parenthesis 
3. Significant at 1%= **. Significant at 5%= * 

qualities in comparison to data values of interval/ratio scale. 
In part 1 (Q-ll) respondents were asked to rank 11 sections of a company annual report 
according to their importance. In part 2, of the questionnaire, respondents were asked to 
identify the importance of disaggregated information items (Q-15-Q 93) which were broadly 
categorised by the researcher under 5 major sections of an annual report, not 11 sections as in 
the case of part 1. Simply, the coverage of question 11 in part 1 of the questionnaire was 
broad base (macro), questions in part 2 ofthe questionnaire were specific (micro). 
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As indicated in Table 5-16, the most important section of an annual 

report is the other components which include cash flow statement, accounting 

policies, and explanatory notes with a mean score of 3.79 followed by balance 

sheet with a mean score of 3.67. The other information with a mean score of 

3.60 was ranked third. The profit and loss account, which was expected to 

receive a higher rank, occupied the fourth place and while the statutory reports 

(mean score = 3.19) ranked last. Since mean score of each section was 

calculated on the basis of a large number of items applicable to each section, the 

overall mean score between sections ranged only from 3.19 (statutory reports) to 

3.97 (other components). 

When the above data were analysed by groups, information relating to 

'other components' of an annual report received the top ranking from 3 of the 7 

user groups (ACC, EXE, and ACA) while the BAN and INV groups and TAX 

and FA groups ranked second and third respectively. Also, except TAX and 

ACA groups, all other groups identified the balance sheet as the first or second 

important section of an annual report. Moreover, all groups except TAX, 

considered statutory reports as the least important section. Although there were 

similarities in ranking between some user groups, the Kruskal-Wallis test results 

showed significant differences (p<0.01) in the mean scores of user groups for all 

the five sections. 

After having examined the importance attached by user groups in 

relation to the five sections of an annual report, we will now focus our attention 

to the importance of individual items. As mentioned earlier, of 86 items 17 were 

identified by the respondents as the most important items in an annual report 

(see table 5-15 above). A closer look at these items reveals that the responders 
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have placed higher importance on the items relating to financial status, including 

cash position; present and future earnings including cash generation; and 

comparative status ofthe company. 

When these 17 items were analysed group wise, it was found that fairly 

a large number of these items was within the top 17 items of each user groups. 

More specifically, the user groups and the number of items identified as very 

important within the top 17 items were as follows: 

• TAX group —8 items (47%) 

• A C C and F A groups — 10 items (59%) 

• E X E , B A N and INV groups — 1 3 items (76%) 

• A C A groups—14 items (82%) 

This indicates that there is a general agreement between respondents 

with regard to the importance of these items. However, in order to examine 

whether such agreement exists statistically between users, in relation to these 17 

items as well as to the remaining 69 information items, a separate Kruskal-wallis 

test was carried out for each of the 86 information items. Accordingly, the 

hypothesis (H8) that there is no significant difference between user groups in 

relation to the importance of information items included in the questionnaire 

was tested. The calculated chi-square values as well as p-values of this test for 

each item are shown in the last two columns of Table 5-15. The importance 

attached to each information item by users was significantly different for 77 

items (significant at 1% for 72 items and significant at 5% for 5 items). 

Therefore, the above mentioned null hypothesis was rejected for 77 items 

(90%). Since p-values with regard to the remaining 9 items were greater than 

5%, the null hypothesis that there is no difference between the user groups in 

relation to the importance they attach to each of the nine items was accepted. 
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These items are listed below: 

1 Total revenue and breakdown of various sources 

2 Operating income before abnormal and extra ordinary items 
3 Structure of share ownership 

4 Share held by directors 

5 Statement of directors' responsibility 
6 Capital expenditure for the next year 
7 Cash projection for the next year 

8 Financial objectives for the next year 
9 Accounting policies 

Another statistical analysis was carried out to find out the user group 

which differs mostly from others among the seven groups. In order to achieve 

this objective, Kruskal-Wallis test was carried out seven times for each 

information item by taking grouping variable as six user groups instead of seven 

(i.e. excluding one user group each time). Table 15-17 below summarises the 

results of this test. 

Table 5-17 

Significant Differences in Perceptions on 86 Information items 
w h e n o n e user group is excluded from the seven user groups 

Six user groups 

! EXE/ BAN/ TAX/ ACA/ FA/ INV (i.e. excluding ACC) 

ACC/ BAN/ TAX/ ACA/ FA/ INV (i.e. excluding EXE) 

EXE/ ACC/ TAX/ ACA/ FA/ INV (i.e. excluding BAN) 

EXE/ BAN/ ACC/ ACA/ FA/ INV (i.e. excluding TAX) 

EXE/ BAN/ TAX/ ACC/ FA/ INV (i.e. excluding ACA) 
• 

EXE/ BAN/ TAX/ ACA/ ACC/ INV (i.e. excluding FA) 

EXE/ BAN/ TAX/ ACA/ FA/ ACC (i.e. excluding INV) 

No of No. of % of 
items items items Rank 

with SS with S N S with SNS 

75 11 

75 11 

12.8 3 

12.8 

79 7 8.1 
I I i 

53 

76 

75 

73 

33 

10 

11 

13 

38.4 

11.6 

12.8 

15.1 

3 

7 

1 

B 

2 

2 

Notes 
1. ACC= Accountants; EXE=Executives/Managers; BAN= Bankers; TAX= Assessors/ Tax Officers; ACA= 

Academics; FA= Financial Analysts; INV= Investors 
2. SS= Statistically significant, S N S = Statistically Not Significant 

Table 15-17 shows the number of items with and without statistically 

significant differences when one user groups is excluded from the sample. It 
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also shows the percentage of items found to be statistically not significant. 

Higher this percentage is, higher the level of consensus between users. 

Therefore, the combination of 6 user groups that gives the highest percentage of 

statistically non-significant items is ranked as one to indicate the combination of 

groups that has less disagreement in respect ofthe importance of 86 information 

items. As per able 15-17, the highest level of agreement (i.e. lowest number of 

items with statistically significant differences) is shown when the TAX group is 

excluded from the sample. In other words, when the TAX group is included in 

the sample, there will be an increase of statistically significant differences. Thus. 

it can be concluded that the TAX group is the most different from the other user 

groups. 

Finally, the differences in perceptions between two user groups were 

examined by carrying out the Mann-Whitney test for 21 possible combinations 

of groups. The 21 groups and the number of information items with significant 

differences for each fair are shown in Table 15-18. 

Table 5-18 

Significant Differences in Perceptions between User G r o u p s 

FA & INV 
(12 ) 

ACA & FA 
(26 ) 

ACA & INV 
(23 ) 

TAX & ACA 
(55 

BAN & TAX 

51) 

TAX & FA 
(62 ) 

TAX & INV 
(62 I 

BAN & ACA 
(16 

BAN & FA 
________ 

BAN & INV 
(22 ) 

EXE & BAN 
(10 

EXE & TAX 
(60 ) 

EXE & ACA 
(18 ) 

EXE & FA 
(36 ) 

EXE & INV 
I 42 ) 

ACC & EXE 
(34) 

ACC & BAN 
(26) 

ACC & TAX 
(54 ) 

ACC & ACA 
(29 ) 

ACC & FA 
(29) 

ACC & INV 
(38 ) 

Notes 
(1) ACC= Accountants; EXE=Executives/Managers: BAN= Bankers: TAX= Assessors/ Tax 

Officers; ACA= Academics; FA= Financial Analysts: INV= Investors. 
(2) Number of statistically significant differences in the perception of a pair of users is shown within 

parenthesis. 
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As shown in Table 15-18, the combination of executives and bankers 

had the number of disagreements with only 10 items (12%) with significant 

differences. Financial analysts and investors were found to be the next most 

homogeneous pair with 12 (14%) significant differences. This is followed by 

the combinations of bankers and academics and that of executives and 

academics with statistically differences of 16 (19%) and 18 (21%) respectively 

On the other hand, the combination of tax officers and financial analysts showed 

the highest number of disagreements with 62 items (72%) showing significant 

differences. As a matter of fact, the six combinations involving tax officers had 

a very high level of disagreements with very significant differences ranging 

from 51 items (59%) to 62 items (72%). From the above analysis, it is evident 

that the executives and bank officers are the most homogeneous in their 

perceptions about the questionnaire items. 

5.7 Summary 
The major objective of this chapter was to examine the user perceptions on 

various aspects of corporate annual reports in Sri Lanka covering a wider 

spectrum of user groups. This was achieved by examining the perceptions of 

seven user groups through a questionnaire survey of 264 users of corporate 

annual reports. In this process, eight hypotheses were formulated to test whether 

there would be significant differences between user groups in relation to the 

matters examined. These hypotheses were tested using the Kruskal-Wallis and 

Mann-Whitney U tests. 

The findings of this study revealed that various users of corporate 

annual reports in Sri Lanka use them mainly to obtain information for the 

purpose of buying, holding or selling company shares. Moreover, these users 
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have viewed annual reports as the prime source of information although 

information provided in these reports is perceived to be inadequate. The 

examination of the importance attached to various sections of the annual report 

revealed that both the balance sheet and the profit and loss account are perceived 

by the overwhelming majority of users as the most important sections of annual 

reports. It was also found that the majority of respondents have used annual 

reports frequently, indicating the important role it plays in their decision making 

process. As for the factors limiting the use of annual reports in Sri Lanka, they 

have identified the publication delay as the major obstacle for using annual 

reports. The majority of users seem to hold the view that the existing time lag 

can be reduced substantially. Overall, despite the inadequacy of information 

provided, corporate annual reports are recognised as a very useful tool for 

decision making by most ofthe users in Sri Lanka. 

When the user perceptions with regard to 86 specific items of 

information were examined, seventeen information items were identified to be 

the most useful for all the users. On the mean score, cash flow, total assets and 

financial objectives for the next year were ranked the most important three items 

while contributions and donation and also auditor's remuneration were ranked 

the least important information items. When the importance of various sections 

of annual report was examined through mean values of information items 

relating to 5 sections of an annual report, it was found that users attach high 

importance to "other components' and "balance sheet'. However, the differences 

of opinion between users with regard to their perceptions on the importance of 

the five sections were found to be statistically significant. The results of an item 

by item examination showed significant differences among user groups on 77 
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information items (90% of all items). A further analysis indicated that 'tax 

officers' had the most disagreements with other groups. This finding was 

confirmed by another analysis carried out to examine the homogeneity of 

combined users. Any, user group combined with tax officers were produced the 

highest number of disagreement. Accordingly, it was found that the 'executives' 

and 'bankers' represented the most homogeneous combination of groups with 

disagreement level of 12 per cent. Comparatively, the 'tax officers' and 

'financial analysts' represented the least homogeneous combination with a 

disagreement level of 72 per cent. 
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Chapter 6 

The Extent of Corporate Financial 
Disclosure in Sri Lanka: An Analysis of 

Annual Reports of Public Listed 
Companies 

6.1 INTRODUCTION 

Annual reports are key communication vehicles between a firm's management 

and its stakeholders, and are primary sources of financial and operating 

information about the firm (Needles et al., 1999). The role that annual report 

plays in communicating and shaping the reality ofthe organisation in the public 

mind is indispensable although how this reality is perceived depends in part on 

the extent and quality of information provided in the annual report (Coy and 

Pratt, 1998). Therefore, ideally the annual report of a company should provide 

quality information tailored for all of its potential users. Although every 

company is expected to provide sufficient information in its annual report, the 

amount of information disclosed varies considerably among companies due to 

various reasons such as the lack of guidelines as to which information should be 

disclosed and the reluctance of some companies to disclose certain information. 

While there is no limit to the extent of information that a company can 

provide, regulations such as Company L a w and Accounting Standards have 

been put in place in most countries to ensure that companies provide at least the 

minimum amount of information required by users. Although companies are not 

obligated to disclose information more than what is required by legislation, the 

lack of disclosure may have serious repercussions not only on the companies' 
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financial and operating performances but also on the development of financial 

markets through improved investor confidence. According to the theory of 

efficient markets, which suggests that the current prices of securities fully reflect 

the public knowledge about companies, financial markets require substantial 

information disclosure if they are to be a most effective part of an efficient 

economic system (Gray, 1976, p.56). Therefore, the improvement of corporate 

disclosure is very important not only for the companies concerned but also for 

the country's economic development. However, before any measures are taken 

to improve the level of disclosure, it is very important to understand the extent 

of disclosure and the relative strengths and weaknesses ofthe existing disclosure 

practices. The major objective of this chapter is to make such an assessment. 

As an attempt to achieve the stated objective, the annual reports of 65 

public listed companies in Sri Lanka were analysed in detail by placing 

emphasis on the extent of disclosure and the degree of consensus between the 

actual disclosure and the information needs of users. Detailed discussion on the 

analysis of annual reports is presented in this chapter in seven sections. 

Accordingly, the remainder of the chapter is organised as follows: After 

presenting the research questions in sec. 6-2, the method used for selecting 

sample companies and a profile ofthe sample companies are provided in sec. 6-

3. This is followed by a discussion on methodology used for analysing the 

annual reports in sec. 6-4. The results of the analysis are presented in sec. 6-5 

while the forming and testing ofthe hypotheses are dealt with in sec. 6-6. The 

final section, sec. 6-7, provides a summary. 
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6.2 RESEARCH QUESTIONS 
As for the purpose of obtaining a proper assessment ofthe level of disclosure in 

the annual reports of public listed companies in Sri Lanka, this chapter is 

designed to address the following two specific research questions. 

(1) Is there a difference in the extent of financial disclosure between the groups 
of sample companies? 

(2) Is there an association between the actual disclosure and the information 
needs of various users? 

Two hypotheses formed from the above research questions and testing 

of those hypotheses through the data obtained from the annual report analysis 

are presented in section 6.6 of this chapter. 

6.3 THE SAMPLE 
The sample for the analysis of annual reports was drawn from the public limited 

companies listed on the Colombo Stock Exchange (CSE). The annual 

publication ofthe CSE entitled Handbook of Listed Companies -1998 reported 

235 such companies under following 16 broad business sector categories: 

1. Banks, finance and insurance 
2. Beverage, food and tobacco 
3. Chemicals and pharmaceuticals 
4. Construction and engineering 
5. Diversified 
6. Footwear and textiles 
7. Hotels and travels 
8. Investment trust 
9. Land and property 
10. Manufacturing 
11. Motors 
12. Oil palm 
13. Plantation 
14. Services 
15. Stores and supplies 
16. Trading 
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Before selecting the sample for this study, due to some pragmatic 

reasons, some of the above mentioned business sectors were reclassified and 

omitted from the population in the following manner: 

(1) Since the disclosure requirements of 3 business categories, namely 
banks, finance and insurance sector (1); construction and engineering 
sector (4); and investment trust sector (8) were significantly different 
to other sectors, these three business categories which consist of 31 
companies were excluded from the total population. 

(2) Five other companies belonging to another business sector, Oil Palm 
(12), were also excluded from the population due to the non­
availability of their annual reports. 

(3) Several business sectors classified by CSE were combined to make a 
fewer number of groups. Accordingly, three business sectors classified 
by C S E as beverage, food and tobacco [2]; chemicals and 
pharmaceuticals [3]; and footwear and textiles [6} were combined with 
other manufacturing [10] to make a new business sector named 
"manufacturing." Similarly, the trading sector was combined with the 
stores and supplies sector to make a new sector called 'trading, stores, 

and supplies'. 

As a result ofthe above mentioned exclusions and reclassifications, the 

total number of companies from which the sample companies were drawn 

decreased from 235 to 194 while the business categories under which these 

companies were listed decreased from 16 to 8 (see Table 6-1). 

The collecting of annual reports was found to be one of the most 

arduous tasks in many disclosure studies, specially those focusing on emerging 

markets. For example, Nicholls and Ahmed (1993), Karim (1995), Mirshekary 

(1999), Xiao (1999) encountered numerous difficulties in collecting annual 

reports for their samples. The attempt to collect annual reports for this study 

started with a written request made directly to 40 randomly selected companies 

asking for a copy of their annual reports. Since only a few companies responded 

to the request, it was decided to make a similar request through the Postgraduate 

Institute of Management (PM), which had close contacts through its 
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management training programs with the business community in Sri Lanka44. In 

response to the letter sent by its Director, 102 companies sent their latest annual 

reports to the PIM. Subsequently, they were collected by the author. In addition 

to the annual reports obtained through PEM, another 21 annual reports were 

collected through other sources, making a total of 123 annual reports available 

for the study. However, since the annual reports collected were under over 

represented in some business sectors, it was decided to have a sample size of 

30%o for each business sector. Table 6-1 shows the distribution ofthe sample 

companies by business sectors. 

Table 6-1 

Distribution of Sample Companies by Business Sector 

Business Sector 

1. Diversified 

2. | Hotels and travel 

3. Land & property 

4. j Manufacturing 

5. Motors 

[ 6. | Plantation 

Companies in CSE 

: Number ' % 

: 8 J. 41 
! 41 [ 21.1 

\~ Sample size 

Number % 

3 J 4.6 

%of 
the 

sample 
_____ 

37.5 

13 : 20.0 | 31.7 

! 19 i 9.8 Jj 6 9.2 

i 78 ! 40.2 

I 8 4.1 

12 6.2 

7. LService |; 8 ; 4.1 

8. | Trading, stores and supplies | 20 , 10.4 

I | 194 ; 100.0 

27 i 41.5 

3 ! 4.6 

31.6 

i 34.6 

! 37.5 

4 j 6.2 ] 33.3 

3 4.6 i 37.5 

6 j; 9.3 

: 65 ; 100.0 

30.0 

! 33.5 

As shown in Table 6-1, the majority of companies (61.3 % ) in the 

population was in the manufacturing, and hotels and travel sectors. The 

remaining 6 sectors represented only 38.7 per cent ofthe total population with 

44 Both the author and the supervisor personally sought the cooperation ofthe Director of PEM 
in this regard briefing him the importance and the potential benefits of this research to the 
country. The director responded positively and sent a letter to all 235 pubic listed companies 
in Sri Lanka asking for a copy of their annual report for the use of PIM. The annual reports 
received were kept in the PIM library and the author was authorized to borrow the required 

reports to be used in this study. 
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each business sector ranging from 4.1 per cent to 10.4 per cent. Accordingly, the 

sample selected also had a similar representation. Although, the expectation was 

to take 30% of companies as the sample for each sector, the actual sample taken 

ranged from 30 to 37.5 per cent because of the very small population of some 

sectors. Overall, the sample size ofthe companies selected for the annual report 

analysis accounted for 33.5 per cent ofthe total population. Detailed profiles of 

the sample companies are shown in Appendix-4 while a summary is shown in 

the following table: 

Table 6-2 

The Profiles of the Sample Companies 

Age Firms % 

1-25 year 

26-50 years 

51-75 year 

76-100 years 

> 100 years 

All firms 

I Profit /(loss) before 
1 tax (Rs. Millions) 

> (100) 

I (100)- 0 

0-10 

10-100 

100-1000 

> 1000 million 

All firms 

40 

15 

7 
_ _ 

1 

65 

61.5 

23.1 

10.8 

3.1 

1.5 

100.0 

Firms I % 

I 
4 

6 

9 

30 

14 

2 
i 

65 

6.2 

9.2 

13.9 

46.1 

21.5 

3.1 

100.0 

| Capital Employed 

| (Rs. Millions) 

<100 

100-500 

500-1000 

1000-5000 

>5000 

Total 

Sales (Rs. millions) 

< 100 

100-1000 

1000-10000 

>10000 

Total 

IH 
22 

15 

17 

3 

65 

i 
33 

20 

3 

65 

33.8 

23.1 

26.2 

4.6 

100 0 

* 

13.9 

50.8 

30.7 

4.6 

100.0 

A s shown in Table 6-2, the sample companies consisted of both young 

and old companies with the age of companies ranging from 4 to 106 years. 

Although the average age of the 65 companies was 28 years, the majority of 

companies in the sample (61.5%) were less than 25 years old and almost 85 per 
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cent of companies were less than 50 years old. On the other hand, companies 

aged over 50 years were limited to 15 per cent ofthe sample. 

As for the profit level of companies, once again there was a wide 

disparity. While 85 per cent of sample companies were having profits the 

remaining 15 per cent were in red with losses of 4 companies (6%) exceeding 

Rs. 100 million. Although the majority of companies (60%) were earning less 

than million rupees, the average profit of the 65 companies amounted to 95 

million rupees. The high average profit was due to the impact of very high 

profits earned by 16 companies (25%), the profit level of two of which exceeded 

1000 million rupees. 

The sales of sample companies ranged from 6 to 23,541 million with 

average sales of 1,805 million rupees, showing a huge disparity between sample 

companies in terms of sales. Although the average sales amounted 1,805 

million rupees, the sales of 65 per cent of companies (42 companies) were less 

than 1,000 million rupees. Moreover, the three largest companies in the sample 

had sales exceeding 10,000 million rupees. 

When the size of companies was analysed in terms of capital employed 

it was found that the capital of sample companies ranged from 19 to 11,017 

million rupees with average capital amounting to 1,094 million rupees. 

However, the majority of companies (69%) had employed less than 1,000 

million rupees while the average capital employed by the remaining 31 per cent 

of companies amounted to 2,749 million rupees. 

According to Appendix-4, the largest company, measured in terms of 

capital employed, in the sample was John Keels Holding Limited with capital 

employed amounting to 110,165 million rupees. It has also topped the 
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companies in Sri Lanka in terms of its 11.8% market capitalisation. This 

company was rated by the Fortune magazine in December 1998 as one ofthe ten 

best investible companies in Asia. Hayleys Limited, which came second in 

terms of size with its employed capital of 72,588 million rupees, is another 

leading company in the country. It has also gained a high reputation for the 

quality of its annual reports. It has won the "Best Annual Report Award" for 

1996/97 and 1997/98 at the competition conducted by ICASL. Its annual report 

for 1996/97 also won the second highest place in the "non-financial category" at 

a competition organised by the South Asian Federation of Accountants for 

companies in South Asia. Thus, the annual report of Hayleys included in our 

sample can be considered as one representing the highest level of corporate 

disclosures in Sri Lanka 

As the financial year of Sri Lankan companies ends on 31 December or 

31 March and the annual reports for this study were collected from July to 

September 2000, the latest annual reports applicable were either for the year 

1999 (for companies ending financial year on 31 December) or for the year 

1999/2000 (for those ending their financial year on 31 March). Therefore, 

annual reports representing both of these years were used for the analysis as 

much as possible. However, for companies whose annual reports for the latest 

financial year had not been published or not available, those covering the year 

1998 or 1998/1999 were used45. All ofthe annual reports used in this study had 

been published in English. However, some public listed companies in Sri Lanka 

publish their annual reports only in their native languages (Singhalese or Tamil). 

45 In a similar situation Karim (1995) also made use of 1991 or 1992 annual reports when the 

annual reports for the year 1993 was not published. 
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6.4 THE METHODOLOGY 

The annual reports selected for the study were analysed on the basis of a 

disclosure index, which has been a research instrument widely used in previous 

disclosure studies. The primary aim of a disclosure index is to show the level of 

disclosure in an annual report. It can be used to show the compliance with 

regulations and the level of disclosure. In addition, it can include a mixture of 

both required and voluntary items (Marston and Shrives, 1991). The use of these 

indexes for the evaluation of the extent of disclosure and the quality of annual 

reports has become a norm in disclosure studies. According to Cooke and 

Wallace (1989), the quality of financial disclosure is an abstract term and cannot 

be measured directly because it does not possess the inherent characteristics by 

which one can determine its intensity or capacity. However, calculating an index 

for a particular company can give a measure ofthe extent of disclosure although 

it does not necessarily measure the quality of disclosure (Marston and Shrives, 

1991). 

With regard to developing a disclosure index, a number of different 

approaches has been taken by previous researchers. The typical methodology 

employed in this study was to construct a country-relevant disclosure index. 

Depending on the research objective and the country being examined, the index 

comprises voluntary information items and/or mandatory items. Disclosure 

measurement may be either weighted or unweighted (Ahmed and Courits, 

1999). Although many ofthe previous studies have employed weighted indexes 

for assessing the extent of disclosure (Singhvi and Desai, 1971; Barrett, 1976; 

Firth, 1979, Chow and Wong-Boren, 1987), the methods used for determining 

the weights of items have been criticised as being subjective. An alternative 
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approach is to assume all items included in the index as equally important and 

use an unweighted index in which an item scores one if it is disclosed and a zero 

if it is not disclosed. Since this dichotomous procedure avoids the subjectivity in 

assigning weights to items, it has gained wide acceptance among annual report 

studies (see for example, Wallace, 1988; Cooke, 1989, 1991; Ahmed and 

Nicholls, 1994). Thus, an unweighted index was used in this study. 

Having decided on the type of index to be used, the next major task 

was to develop a list of information items that could be used in annual reports. 

Since annual reports not only include mandatory financial information specified 

by the regulations but also include a variety of voluntary information, 

quantitative and qualitative, the information items that may be included in an 

annual report could be very large, if not infinite. As a result, items chosen for the 

index are likely to be a fairly small sub set ofthe population of all the items that 

could be disclosed in an annual report. 

Therefore, the usefulness of the disclosure index as a measure of 

disclosure is critically dependent on the selection of items to be included in the 

index (Marston and Shrives, 1991, p. 195). Although there is no general theory 

on item selection (Wallace, 1988), two main approaches to this process can be 

observed from the past research, namely, (1) to use disclosure items that have 

been included in a questionnaire with some inclusions or exclusions based on 

the responses to the questionnaire and the researcher's own criterion, and (2) to 

use the disclosure items employed in other studies with suitable modifications to 

suit the objectives ofthe study and the requirements ofthe country. 

Since some researchers have focused on the information provided to 

specific user groups such as investors or one type of information such as 
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mandatory or voluntary information, the indexes used by them were confined to 

those specific aspects of information. However, since one of the major 

objectives of this study was to assess the extent of both mandatory and voluntary 

information disclosed to all users of financial reports, development of an all-

inclusive list (not an exclusive list of items applicable to a particular user group) 

was needed to achieve that objective. Moreover, another major objective of this 

study was to examine the consensus between the users' information 

requirements and the actual disclosure. In order to achieve this objective, the 

information items included in the questionnaire and the disclosure index had to 

be similar so that a meaningful comparison could be made. Therefore, when 

selecting items for the disclosure index, it was decided to follow the first 

approach mentioned in the preceding paragraph, i.e. to include the 86 

information items used in the questionnaire in the disclosure index as well, and 

to assess the relative intensity of disclosure by extensive disaggregation46 of the 

information items where possible. 

Therefore, after a careful examination of the 86 information items 

included in the questionnaire along with their possible disaggregation, they were 

disaggregated into 318 information items for calculating the disclosure index. 

These 318 disaggregated information items were also separated into mandatory 

and voluntary information items. While the mandatory information items refer 

to the information items required to be disclosed by legislation, the voluntary 

information items refer to the information provided by companies at their 

discretion. In order to determine whether an item was mandatory or voluntary, 

46 Ahmed (1993) has provided an example as to how this disaggregation can be done. For 
example, a company that has disclosed earnings per share along with the related computations 
is awarded more points than a company that has disclosed only the earnings per share. 
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all the disclosure requirements prescribed by the Companies Act the SLASs. 

the listing rules of CSE, and the Securities and Exchange Commission Act were 

carefully examined. Accordingly, 131 of the 318 items were identified as 

mandatary information items. The following table provides a summary of the 

information items classified as mandatary and voluntary under five major 

sections of an annual report: 

Table 6-3 

Breakdown of Information Items into Disclosure Index Items 

Information 
Items 

r 22 

20 
1 11 

6 
27 

QH "86" 

Major Sections of an Annual 
Report 

Mandatory 
Information 

Items 

Profit and Loss AccounF | 28 

j Balance Sheet 

Pother Components of FS 

Statutory Reports 

! Other information 

! Total 

49 
35 
13 

> 6 

r " i3"f 

Voluntary 
Information 

Items 

" 27" 

69 
18 

! 9 

64 
1_87 

Overall 

55 ! 

118 ; 

I 53 : 
22 | 

70 
r "-ie i, 

The 86 information items shown in the first column have been 

disaggregated into 131 mandatary items and 187 voluntary items, increasing the 

overall disclosure index items to 318. A list of information items with details on 

all classifications and identification numbers is given in Appendix-5. Also, a list 

of mandatory information items and a list giving the details of disaggregation in 

relation to 86 information items are shown in Appendixes 6 and 7 respectively. 

After having disaggregated the information items, a score sheet was 

prepared for recording the disclosure items. A copy of the score sheet is shown 

in Appendix-8. The procedure followed for recording information in the score 

sheet is as follows: 
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(I) Read the annual report thoroughly to understand the contents 
especially to check the relevance of items to the company 
concerned, 

(2) Record 1 (= disclosed) when the information item is disclosed in 
the report, 

(3) Record 0 (= not disclosed) when the information item is not 
disclosed in the report, 

(4) Record 99 (= not applicable) when an item is not disclosed because 
it is not relevant to the company concerned47. 

After recording the data in the score sheet following the above 

procedure, they were transferred from the score sheet to a SPSS data sheet. 

While a column in the data sheet contained the data in relation to one 

information item, a row contained the data on all information items in relation to 

a company. The total disclosure (TD) for a company was additive and could be 

calculated as follows: 

TD = f_d 
1=1 

Where d* = 1 if the i th item is disclosed and 0 if 
the i th item is not disclosed 

m < n The maximum score a company can 
earn (Total index items - irrelevant 
items) 

The disclosure index, which is a ratio of the actual scores awarded to a 

company to the scores that company is expected to earn, is calculated dividing 

There have been different opinions among previous researchers regarding the treatment of 
non-relevant items. In some cases, this problem has been eliminated by ensuring that all 
disclosure items are relevant to all companies in the sample (Buzby, 1974). When this is not 
possible or desirable, index scores can be converted by dividing the actual score by the 
maximum score possible for that company as done by Buzby (1975). Since it is not very clear 
whether a non-disclosed item is relevant or not, Cooke (1989a) suggested to read the whole of 
the annual report and make a suitable judgment as to whether an item is either not disclosed or 
irrelevant to the company. However, this method has also been criticised because it would 
increase the chances of a systematic overstatement bias in the scoring process, particularly if 
non-disclosure is interpreted to mean lack of relevance (Craig and Diga, 1998). The method 
suggested by Cook was used in this study considering its wider acceptance. 

194 



Chapter 6: The Extent of Corporate Financial Disclosure in Sri Lanka: An Analysis of Annual reports 
of Public Listed Companies 

total disclosure (TD) by the maximum score (M) a company can earn48. Vi is 

calculated as follows: 

M=Y_d 
1=1 

Where d= Expected item of disclosure 
n = The number of items that the company 

is expected to disclose, (n <318) 

Following this method, three disclosure indexes were prepared: (1) 

Overall Disclosure Index—[ODI] for the disclosure index calculated on the 

basis of all 318 items, (2) Mandatary Disclosure Index [MDI] for the disclosure 

index calculated on the basis of 131 mandatary items, and (3) Voluntary 

Disclosure Index [VDI] for the disclosure index calculated on the basis of 187 

voluntary items. 

6.5 ANALYSIS OF THE RESULTS 

This section presents the results obtained from the analysis of annual reports 

using the three disclosure indexes discussed above. Then, the next section (6.6) 

deals with the formation and testing of hypotheses based on the research 

questions presented in Section 6.2. 

6.5.1 Contents of the annual reports 

Prior to the examination of specific information items disclosed in annual 

reports, it was considered important first to gain an understating of the overall 

contents of annual reports published in Sri Lanka. For this purpose, the major 

headings under which information has been presented in annual reports were 

For example, if a company has disclosed 225 information items and 18 of 318 information 
items are not applicable to the company, the maximum score this company can earn is 300 
(318-18). Therefore, the disclosure index is calculated by dividing 225 by 300, which gives a 

disclosure level of 75 (75%) for that company. 
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analysed (see Appendix-9 for company wise details). Table 6-4 summarises the 

results of this analysis. 

Table 6-4 

Contents of Annual Reports 

No. 
1 

2 

I 3 
4 

5 

6 

7 

I « 
9 

10 

! 11 

1_2j 

r 13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

| 18"" 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

| 25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 ! 
r ~ 3 2 | 

| Contents ~ 

Corporate information 

Table of contents 

^Mission and goals of the company 

| Summary of results for the financial year 

Review by the chairman and chief executive 

Business profile/Review of operations 

Financial review 

Human resource development and social responsibility 

Company history 

Company performance and financial status of the past periods 

International relationships/Global focus 

Share information 

Statement of value added 

Country report 

Report of the directors 

Audit committee report 

Statement of directors' responsibility 

Report of the auditors 

Profit and loss account 

Balance sheet 

Cash flow statement 

Statement of changes in equity 

Accounting policies 

Notes to the accounts 

Market value of real estate 

Glossary of financial terms 

N a m e and management of group companies/associates 

Notice of meeting 

Details of board of directors and executives 

Photos 

Graphs and charts 

Comments sheet for suggestions for improvements of the annual report 

Percentage 

100.0 

! 954 | 

i 40.0 

61 5 

100.0 | 

50.8 

262 

41.5 

43.1 

67.7 

, 55.3 

\"" 96.9 

61.5 ; 

12 3 | 

| 100.0 

4.6 

32.3 

100.0 

iOO.0 
1 1 
[ 100.0~|' 

100.0 

47.7 

100.0 

100.0 

20.0 

30.8 

82.4 

95.4 

93.8 | 

52.3 

67.7 | 

6.3 
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From this table, it is seen that information has been presented under 32 

major categories. Since 9 of these categories were found in all annual reports, 

they could be regarded as the standard items of information presented in Sri 

Lankan annual reports. These items comprise a complete set of financial 

statements, report of the directors, report of the auditors, corporate information. 

share information section and a summery of results for the financial year. Other 

commonly included sections were associated with the information on company 

and management structure such as details of directors and executives (94°-b). 

name and management of group companies (82.4%), other corporate 

information (95%). On the other hand, the least included sections were audit 

committee report (5%), comments sheet for suggestions to improve the annual 

report (6%), country report (12%), market value of real estate (20%) and 

business profile and review of operations (26%). 

The annual report of Hayleys Limited comprised 31 ofthe 32 sections 

examined while Upali Investment Holdings comprised only 12 of the 32 

sections. Further, 34 (52.3%) and 44 (67.7%) companies in the sample have 

made use of graphs, charts and photos for clear presentation of information. The 

average size ofthe annual report was 41 pages with smallest being 16 (Serwndib 

Land Ltd.) and the longest being 106 (John keels) followed by 105 (Hayleys 

Ltd.). 

Another noticeable feature was the preparation of a value-added 

statement by 40 (61.5%) of the 65 companies. This feature appeared to be 

impressive when compared with the findings of a study by Craig and Diga 

(1998) on the corporate accounting disclosures in ASEAN countries. According 

to their study, ofthe 145 sample companies in five ASEAN countries, the value 
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added statements were found only in the annual reports of only 14 Singaporean 

companies. 

Before concluding this section, a word of caution seems warranted 

regarding the above analysis on the contents of annual reports. Since the method 

of presenting information has varied substantially from company to company, 

the higher numbers of information categories do not necessarily mean that they 

provide more information. For example, while one company provides country-

specific information under a separate section, another company has chosen to 

give the same information under the chairman's review. Numerically, the 

former may look better in terms of the contents of information because it 

includes country information as well as chairman's review. In reality, however, 

it may not be the case. 

6.5.2 Extent of Overall Disclosure 

6.5.2.1 Distribution and descriptive statistics 

Following the method described in Section 6.4, the overall disclosure was 

calculated for 65 public listed companies in Sri Lanka. Since various parts ofthe 

financial statements may provide more meaningful information on the quality of 

financial reporting in a country (Wallace, 1988), overall disclosure was analysed 

under five parts of an annual report. Table 6-5 summarises the overall disclosure 

index and the distribution of sectional indexes for the year 1999-2000. The 

overall disclosure index and sectional indexes for each company are shown in 

Appendix-10. 
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Table 6-5 

Distribution of Overall Disclosure Index 

Disclosure Index 

90-100% 

80-90% 

70-80% 

[60-70% 

50.6% 

40-50% 

30 -40% 

20-30% 

10-20% 

0-10% 

Total 

Highest (%) 

'Iowesf(%j 

Average (%) 

STD 

Profit and I Balance 
Loss I \ Sheet 

Account J | 

Other 
Components of 
Financial St 

: Statutory 
Reports 

Other 
Information 

Overal 

Number of Companies Nc % ' 

[ J: 4 
I 1 
I 13 
I 2 5 " 

37 

19 

4 

19 r 1 

6 

i 

65 

82.7 

39.5 ~ 

62.2 

9.8 

! 

I 

I 

f 65 

" 9 3 . 6 " " 

" 51.4" 

81.4 

7.6 

20 

j 33 

; n 
__ __ 1 

! 

I 
I 65 

100.0 

[' 61.3 

862 

7.6 

57 

7 
_._ 
I 

i i i 

4 ! 8 \ 123 ; 

? '5 1 
8 

9 

. 10 

r • ir ' 

1 

1 

65 

f 100.0 

~ 75.0 

95.4 

5.2 

10 
I 

6 

2 

65 

; 85.7 

f 7-1^ 
44.3 

20.6 

! 24 ' 

"T4 

7 

I 369 

36.9 

10.8 

~ 2 ~ |"""'3.1 

I I 

65 j 100 j 

89.0 | 

44.5 

69.8 

9.5 

According to Table 6-5, the overall disclosure for the 65 sample 

companies ranged from 44.5 per cent to 89 per cent with an average of 69.8 per 

cent. Overall, fifty six companies (86.1%) achieved a disclosure level above 60 

per cent, suggesting a reasonably high level of disclosure by sample companies. 

However, the fact that only 8 ofthe 65 companies (12.3%) had a disclosure level 

above 80 per cent indicates that there is ample room for further improvement. 

Moreover, the disclosure level of 9 companies was below 50% indicating a very 

low level of disclosure by a considerable number of sample companies (13.9%). 

The sectional analysis provided in the above table shows that the disclosure level, 

in general, is higher for the balance sheet, other components of financial 

statements, and statutory reports than the profit and loss account and other 
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information sections. The disclosure level ofthe 'other information' section was 

the lowest among all sections. 

Since the balance sheet, other components of financial statements and 

statutory reports consist of fairly standard type of information, mostly mandatory. 

with generally accepted presentations, it is understandable that the disclosure level 

of these three sections have a higher disclosure level. On the other hand, in the 

absence of such formats or standards for most of the items in the 'other 

information section,' it is not surprising that its disclosure level is fairy low in 

comparison to that of other sections. As a matter of fact, the majority of 

information in the 'other information' section is voluntary in nature. However, the 

surprising result that came out from the above analysis is the relatively low level 

of disclosure in the profit and loss account. From the data in the above table it is 

apparent that 40 per cent of sample companies had a disclosure level of below 50 

per cent with regard to profit and loss items. Since the profit and loss account, just 

like other conventional financial statements such as balance sheet, has an accepted 

format with generally known set of information, many of which are mandatory. 

the general expectation is that it has a higher disclosure level. Since the reason for 

the reluctance of companies to disclose some information is not known, further 

examination of this matter is worthwhile. 

6.5.2.2 Comparison with some selected countries 

In order to see whether this level of disclosure is high or low in comparison to the 

corporate disclosures in ASIAN countries, it is useful to compare it with the 

relevant indexes used in previous studies involving other Asian countries. Table 6-

6 presents the overall disclosure indexes of ten Asian Countries. As seen from 

this table, the overall disclosure level of other Asian countries ranges from 50.9 

per cent in Indonesia to 78.3 per cent in Hong Kong. Accordingly, the overall 
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disclosure index of 69.8 % for Sri Lanka can be ranked highly among these 10 

countries as it is second only to the disclosure level of Hong Kong. In view ofthe 

comparative indexes cited above, the level of corporate disclosures in Sri Lanka 

seems to be considerably high. 

Table 6-6 

Overall disclosure indexes of selected countries in Asia 

Authors (Sources) 

FTaT et al7(1990) 
Naser (1998) 

Mirshekary (1999) 

Craig and Diga (1998) 

Craig and Diga (1998) 

Nicholls and Ahmed (1995) 

Cooke (1992) 

Craig and Diga (1998) 

Craiq and Diga (1998) 

Craig and Diga (1998) 

Country 

Hong Kong 

Jordan 

Iran 

Singapore 

Malaysia 

I Bangladesh 

Japan 

| Thailand 

Philippines 

\ Indonesia 

! Sample 
Size 

No of 
Kerns 

! 76 l: 10 
I 54" |i fA 

| 62 

[ 30 | 

30 
1 63 

; 35 " 

r ""25"' 

30 
! 30 ' ~ 

1 154 

270 
270 
244 

__ ______ 

! 270 

270 
[" " 270 

Disclosure 
Index 

78 3 % 

63.0% 1; 
1 62.0% 

61.3% 

"587%" "1! 

56.3% | 

"55.8%" 1! 

56.4% | 

55.2% 

509% 

6.5.3 Disclosure and C o m p a n y Characteristics 

As shown in the previous section, the disclosure scores of individual companies 

showed considerable variations. As expected, Hayles Ltd, which was expected to 

receive the highest score given its high reputation for producing quality annual 

reports, recorded the highest score of 89 per cent while Lanka Cement Ltd scored 

the lowest score of 44.5 per cent. Table 6-7 shows the 5 top ranking companies 

and 5 lowest ranking companies as extracted from Appendix-10. This table also 

shows the relative ranking of each company in terms of its age and size which was 

measured by capital employed. 
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Table 6-7 

5 top and lowest ranking companies 

r TOP RANKED COMPANIES 

Name of company 

[Hayles Ltd 

Dipped Product Ltd 

Tangerine Beach Hotel 

Aitken Spence Hotel Holdings Ltd. 

Ceylon Cold Stores Ltd 

Overall 
| Disclosure 
i Index (ODI) 

89.0 

85.6 

85.2 

___ _____ 

83.3 

Company 
i Rank By 
i ODI 

1 

2 

3 

Company Company j 
Rank By Rank By 

age Capital 
<2 ; 2 

27 | 6 , 

34 

4 ] 28 

! 5 Y ~-

15 |: 

" 11 I ! 14 I 
LOWEST R A N K E D COMPANIES • 

Name of company 

Lanka Cement Ltd 

Serendib Land Ltd. 

[ Upali Investment Holdings Ltd. 

Mikechris Industries Ltd 

Associated Property Development Ltd. 

Overall 
Disclosure 

i Index (ODI) 

I 44.5 

j""" 4477" 

53.0 

j 54.0 

56.0 

! Company 
: Rank By 

ODI 

65 

64 

Company 
Rank By 

age 

38 
___ ^ 

Company 
Rank By 
Capital 

18 

63 

63 4 | 31 j 

62 31 | 65 ; 

_____ .___ ___ , ^ .... 

According to Table 6-7, two of the 5 top ranking companies were 

relatively old companies (ranked 1 and 12 by age) and other 3 companies were 

middle-age companies (ranked 27, 28, & 34) . By size, all 5 top ranking 

companies were relatively large companies as all of them were among the top 15 

companies when the companies were ranked by size. By contrast, among the 

lowest ranked companies, four companies were middle-age companies. Three of 

the lowest 5 companies were relatively small in size. Accordingly it appears that 

there is a relationship between the age and size of Sri Lankan companies and the 

level of disclosure. 

In order to examine whether there is a statistically significant 

relationship between these two company characteristics (age and size) and the 

disclosure level, a Spearman correlation analysis was carried out. The results 

(Correlation Coefficient [r]= 0.274, p=0.027*) showed that the association 
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between the c o m p a n y disclosure level and the age of companies was statistically 

significant at the 5% significance level (p<0.05). Similarly, when the correlation 

coefficient between the size (measured by capital employed) and the level of 

disclosure was computed, the results (r=.346. p=0.005**) showed positive 

association between the two variables. This association was significant at the 1% 

significance level (p<0.01). Similar result was obtained when the association 

between the disclosure level and the size was examined by measuring the size in 

terms of sales rather than capital employed. The results (r=0.434, p 0.00**) 

showed a much stronger statistically significant relationship between the two 

variables. On the results of this analysis, it can be concluded that large and old 

companies in Sri Lanka disclose more information in their annual reports than 

small and young companies. 

6.5.4 Disclosure b y Index Items 

Table 6-8 shows the distribution of item-by-item disclosure by the sampled 

companies during the fiscal year 1999-2000 for the 318 disclosure index items. 

This distribution was derived form the figures shown in Appendix-11. 

Table 6-8 

Distribution of Disclosure Scores by N u m b e r of Disclosure Index Items 

Proportion of companies Items disclosed 

Number % 

90-100% 136 42.8 

80-90% 33 10.4 

70-80% 25 7.9 

60-70% 16 5.0 

50-60% 17 5.3 

40-50% 26 8.2 

30-40% 

"20-30% 

"10^20%" 

0-10% 

Total 

21 

"u" 

16 

318 

6.6 
4.4 | 

"2.5 |: 

5.0 | 

1.9 

"1000 j: 
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According to Table 6-8, one hundred and thirty six items were 

disclosed by more than 90 per cent of companies and 6 items were not disclosed 

by any of the companies. The items not disclosed by any of the companies 

were: local raw material content of finished goods; market pnce per share for 

each quarter; price level adjusted balance sheet, income statement, and other 

data; discussion on the impact on inflation on the financial results; cash 

projection for the next year; and financial objectives for the next year. 

6.5.5 Disclosure of Mandatory Items 

As previously outlined, the 318 items used to compute disclosure indexes 

comprised 131 mandatory items chosen mainly from the requirements of 

Companies Act and Sri Lanka Accounting Standards. Appendix 6 shows all the 

mandatary items with their respective legal requirements. The computed 

mandatary disclosure indexes of each company are shown in Appendix-10 and a 

summary of its distribution is given in Table 6-9. 

Table 6-9 

Mandatory Disclosure according to Number of Companies 

Disclosure Range 

90-100% 

80-90% 

70-80% 

60-70% 

<60% 

I Total number of companies 

Highest (%) 

Lowest (%) 

Average (%) 

Mandatory 
Index (MDI) 

Number of Companies 

11 

| 40 

I 10 
: i .„ 

4 

r ~o "' 
j 65 ! 

% 

16.9 

61.5 

15.4 

6.2 
_.__ 

100.0 

97.5 

64.0 

84.6 
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According to the results shown in Table 6-9, the mandatory items 

indicate a high level of disclosure with 51 of 65 companies (78%) disclosing 

more than 80 per cent ofthe 131 mandatory items, and 11 companies (16.9%) 

with more than 90 per cent. The disclosure level of companies ranged from 64 to 

97.5 per cent with an average of 84.6 per cent. 

In order to examine the compliance with statutory requirements, an 

item-by- item examination was carried out. The results of this examination are 

shown in Table 6-10 below. 

Table 6-10 

Disclosure of Mandatory Items according to Proportion of Companies 

j Proportion of companies 

1 
90-100% 

80-90% 

70-80% 

60-70% . 

50-60% j 

\ 40-50% 

30-40% 

|_ 20-30% 

<20% 

Total 

I Mandatory Items Disclosed 

! No. of Items 

|" 80^ 

! 16 

3 
2 
_. 

10 
_ 

i 3 

I 3 
131 

% 

j " 6lT~ 

12.2 

2.3 | 

! 1-5 

r~ 6 1 
7.6 
4.6 
2.3 
2.3 
100 | 

As shown in Table 6-10, a relatively high level of compliance can be 

observed as 80 of the 131 items (61.1%) were disclosed by more than 90 per 

cent of companies. On the other hand, the items disclosed by less than 50 per 

cent of companies were limited to 22 items (16.8%). The details relating to 

these 22 items are shown in Table 6-11. 
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Table 6-11 

*_«_ ui m a n a a i o r y items Disclosed by L e 

Item N a m e 

The rights, preferences and restrictions attached to ordinary 
shares [SLAS3.74.a.v] 

Income from investments distinguishing between quoted and 
unquoted [ActSch5.12.1.g). 

The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefit 
[SLAS 16.50.e] 

The rights, preferences and restrictions attached to preference 
shares [SLAS3.74.a.v] 

Research and development costs recognised as an~exper.sei in 
the period [SLAS 11.29.b] 

Liabilities of each major segment [SLAS 28.56] 

Statement of directors' responsibility 

Revenue from external sales [SLAS 28.51] 

Depreciation of segmental assets [SLAS 28.58] 

The amount used as a numerator in calculating EPS [SLAS 
34.52.a] 

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used as a 
denominator [SLAS 34.52.b] 

Analysis of all expenses by their function (eg. Administrative, 
selling etc) [SLAS3.77] 

Market value of quoted investments in subsidiaries [SLAS ~"~ 
22.49.b.cl 

Market value of quoted investments in associates [SLAS 
22.49.b.cl 

The general description of the gratuity plan, including 
employee groups covered [SLAS 16.50.a] 

Details and methods of funding of the gratuity liability [SLAS 
16.501 

Provisions shown on the face of the balance sheet 
[SLAS3.66.il 

Revenue from inter segment sales [SLAS 28.51] 

Statement of changes in equity [SLAS3.86] 

Number of employees at the end of the period or the average 
for the period [SLAS3.102.d] 

Accounting policy for cash and cash equivalents [SLAS 3.99.r] 

Earning per share before and after extra ordinary items [SLAS 
34.501 

ss T h a n 

Di
sc
lo
se
d 

4 

"I "" 5 
i 

1 1 8 

r" 2 

r 5 

6 

20 

7 

7 

[" 24 

r » 
26 

r 12 
5 

30 

30 

30 

r To" 
31 | 

31 

32 

1 

50% of 

No
t 

Di
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lo
se
d 

I
 

r "61 

l 42 

57 

F 7 

I 
I " ' 13 

15 

45 

I. 14 

j' u 
41 

r _____ 

39 

15 

6 

35 

35~ 

33~ 

! 

! 11 

34 

34 

"33" 

1 

Companies 

No
t 

Ap
pl

ic
ab

le
 

...__ 

18 

0 

56 

47 

44 
__ 

_______ 

r 44 
| b~ 

\ 0 

_ 

38 "| 
i 

! 
54 

i ° 

0 

2\ 

44 

0 

(T 

° I 
__. 

• se 

* r 6.2" 
i 

10.6 

12.3 

22.2 

27.8 

286" 

"" 30i" 

33.3 

33.3 

36.9 

38.5" 

: "w 
44.4 

45.5 

46.2 

"""46.2"! 
i 
I 

47.6" 

47.6 j 

47.7 ! 

"""477"] 

49.2 | 

50.0 

i 

1 

1 

1 

• 
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6.5.6 Disclosure of Voluntary Items 

From the 318 items used in the disclosure index, 187 items comprised voluntary 

items. These items are shown in Appendix-5, which includes all the mandatory 

and voluntary items, denoting "VOL". The voluntary disclosure index for each 

company is shown in Appendix-10 and a summary of its distribution is shown in 

Table 6-12. 

Table 6-12 

Voluntary Disclosure according to Number of Companies 

[ Disclosure Range 

90-100% 

80-90% 

f 70-80%""" 

60-70% 

50-60% 

40-50% 

30-40% 

< 30% 

Total number of companies 

Highest (%) 

Lowest (%) 

Average (%) 

Voluntary Disclosure Index (VDI) 

j Number of Companies i % j 
• ' I - - • 

I ! 
ir 2' ~- -"3.1 

15 231 

| 15 j 23.1 , 

"~T" ^2(T ' ] ' 30.8 

! 9 13.8 j 

f 4 6.1 : 

"| 0 0.0 

I 65 100.0 

83.3 

j 30.5 

| 60.0 

Table 6-12 shows that the voluntary disclosure by sample companies 

varied from a low level of 30.5 per cent to a high level of 83.3 per cent with an 

overall average of 60 per cent. Overall, 32 companies (49.3%) have disclosed 

more than 60 per cent of the voluntary items, while the disclosure level of 

remaining 33 companies (50.7%) ranged from 30 to 60 per cent. When the 

voluntary disclosure levels were analysed by items, the results shown in Table 

6-13 were obtained. 
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Table 6-13 

Disclosure of Voluntary Items According to Proportion of Companies 

Proportion of companies 

[ 90-100% 

! 80-90% 

[ "70-80% 

60-70% 

50-60% 

40-50% 

30-40% 

20-30% 

10-20% 

<10% 

Total 

! Voluntary Items Disclosed 

No. of Items % 

56 29.9 

17 " 9.V 

22 11.8 | 

. " 14"! 7.5 

9 | 4.8 i 

16 8.6 | 

15 8.0 I 

11 j 5.9 

6 i 3.2 

r 21 ii.2 

' 187 | 100 

As shown in the above table, 56 items were disclosed by more than 90 

per cent of companies. Unlike mandatary items, the distribution of voluntary 

items was fairly wide spread and the level of disclosure was relatively low in 

comparison to that of mandatory items. Overall, 118 items (63.1%) were 

disclosed by more than 50 per cent of companies. There were 21 items disclosed 

only by less than 10 per cent of companies while 6 of those items were not 

disclosed by any ofthe companies. Table 6-14 shows the list of these 21 items 

with the actual figures observed. 

Table 6-14 

List of Voluntary Items Disclosed by Less Than 10% of Companies 

Item N a m e 

Local raw material content of finished goods 

f The market price per share for each quarter 

f Price level adjusted balance sheet, Income statement, and other data 

Discussion on the impact on inflation on the financial results 

j Cash projection for the next year 

! Financial objectives for the next year 

Di
sc
lo
se
d 

1 o 
; o 
i o 

! o 
! 0 

1 0 

' 
1 

No
t 

Di
sc
lo
se
d 

| 

, 41 

! 64 

65 

65 

65 

I 

No
t 

Ap
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ic
ab

le
 

! 24 | 0.0 

I 1 

0 

0 

0.0 : 
! 0.0 

0.0 

o i 0.0 j 
65 j o j o.o: 
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Analysis of expenses into fixed and variable cost 

Age schedule of the debtors 

Total market value of inventories 

j Raw Material consumed 

Breakdown of raw materials consumed ~" 

! Indication of employee morale such as rate of absenteeism, frequency 
of labour disputes. 

j Advertisement and publicity expenses 

Comparison of actual performance and operating objectives 

Return on capital for main product areas 

Breakdown of cost of sales 

f Total Expenses 

Breakdown of wages and salaries under expenses categories 

Details of raw materials imported 

|" Rate of growth of earning per share 

Statement of company share option/ bonus/dividends plans (History of 
share options/ dividends/ bonus) 

1 

2 

2" 

3 

3 

3" 

r 5 
r 5 
! 3 

6 

6 
i 

64 

64 

58 

4." 

41 

63"" 

62 

62 

58 

56 

60 

60 

35 

59 

54 

0 

0~ 

6 

" 23 

23 

~T 

1 

0 

4 

6 

o 
0 

27 

0 

5 

15 

: 1.5 i 

~ " 1 7 

24 
24 

" 3.1 i 

~ 3 T" 
: 4.6 

4.9 | 

"""'5.1 j 

7-7 j 

77 

7.9 ; 

9.2 

10.0 

6.5.7 Disclosure by Information Items 

The disclosure scores discussed in Section 6.5.4 and the figures shown in 

Appendix-11 were related to the 318 disaggregated information items. As stated 

before, these items were derived from 86 information items included in the 

questionnaire survey used in this study. Therefore, in order to determine the 

extent to which user information needs have been catered by annual reports,49 it 

was necessary to calculate the level of disclosure for each of these 86 items by 

aggregating the disclosure scores of the 318 index items. The summarised 

results of this analysis are discussed in this section. 

The first step of this analysis was to aggregate the scores of 318 index 

items into 86 information items. Since the index items were originally derived 

from the 86 information items, this aggregation was done by looking at their 

source. As shown in Appendix-7, 47 of 86 items were originally disaggregated 

49 See Section 6.6.2 for the comparison between the actual disclosure of 86 information items 

and the importance attached by users to those items. 
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into 279 index items with one information item disaggregating into two or more 

index items. Therefore, the disclosure index for each of these items was 

calculated by adding scores across companies and dividing the total score by the 

number of companies. The other 39 items were self-contained, requiring no 

disaggregation. Therefore, the disclosure for each of these items was calculated 

by adding the number of companies disclosing the item and dividing it by the 

number of companies applicable. Table 6-15 shows the percentages of 

companies which disclosed the 86 information items. The actual disclosure 

score for each ofthe information item is shown in Appendix-12. 

Table 6-15 

Distribution of Disclosure Scores by Number of Information Items 

\ Proportion of companies 

90-100% 

80-90% 

70-80% 

60-70% 

Items disclosed 

[ Number % 

! 27 ! 31.4 

8 | 9.3 

9 
6 

50-60% ! 6 

40-50% 
r 3040% 

10.4 

,""-™ 1 
i 7.0 

_.... ^ _. ._. .. ^ _._.j 

r 8 

20-30% I 4 

10-20% 

9.3 ; 
.... . __ .. 

1 1.2 

<10% I 10 i 11.6 | 
r Total 

7 " 86 | ' 100.0 I 

According to the above table, 27 information items (31.4%) were 

disclosed by more than 90 per cent of companies in the sample while 10 items 

were disclosed by less than 10 per cent of companies. Two of these 10 items 

were not disclosed by any of the companies. These two items were: discussion 

ofthe impact of inflation on the financial results and cash projection for the next 

year. 
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6.6 HYPOTHESES 

This section presents an analysis of consensus on disclosure by business sectors 

and a comparison between the extent of disclosure and users' information needs. 

In this regard, two hypotheses based on two research questions as outlined in 

Section 6.2 were formed and tested under Sections 6.6.1 and 6.6.2 using the data 

presented and analysed in the preceding section. 

6.6.1 Consensus on disclosure by business sectors 

According to the analysis of annual reports presented in the previous section, the 

disclosure level between companies ranged from 44.5 to 89 per cent, showing a 

considerable difference of consensus on disclosure by sample companies. Since 

every company is different from another in some way, it is not surprising to 

observe such differences of consensus among companies. However, it is 

important to examine whether these differences are visible across all business 

sectors or they are confined to some business sectors due to some specific 

characteristics. In other words, it is important to know whether the disclosure 

level of one business sector is significantly different from that of another. If 

there is a difference of consensus on disclosure between business sectors, there 

is a need to examine the reasons for such a difference as it may help to improve 

the disclosure level of the business sector with lower disclosure. In order to 

examine this aspect, the following null hypothesis was formulated: 

H9. There is no significant difference between business sectors in respect ofthe 
extent of disclosure in annual reports. 

For obtaining information to test this hypothesis statistically, the mean 

scores of ODI for each business sector were computed. A Kruskal-Wallis one 

way ANOVA was also carried to see whether the differences of mean scores 
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between business sectors would be statistically significant. The computed mean 

scores for each business sector and the results ofthe statistical test are shown in 

Table 6-16. 

Table 6-16 

Disclosure by Business Sector 

Business Sector 

1. i Diversified 
r 2. ' Hotels and travel sector 

3. | Land & property 

4. Manufacturing 

5. | Motors 

6. H Plantation 

[*7, |[ Service 

I 8. | Trading, stores and supplies 

Total ""' ""' 

i Overall Disclosure 
! Index 

r ~ 73.7 

Number of ] Rank by the 
Companies i Index 

3 4 """•] 

! " 74.1" | 13 | 3 | 

I 59.8 ._ _ _ __ _____ g 

I 66.5 27 8 

| 78.2 

71.1 

i " 71.2 

77.4 

I 69.8 

3 ( 1 ! 
4" ~] ' "" 6 ~~~' | 

3 | 5 " j 

6 i 2 ; 

65 | ; 

Kruskal-Wallis Test Results: Chi Square = 20.33, df= 7, P Value = 0.00 | 

According to the Kruskal-Wallis test results, the differences of 

disclosure levels between the business sections were statistically significant at 

1%, suggesting that disclosure levels vary across business sectors. An inspection 

of the mean ranks for the eight business sectors presented in the output table of 

the Kruskal-Wallis test suggests that the motors sector had the highest disclosure 

levels, with the land and property sector reporting the lowest. Also, one-way 

ANOVA test was carried out with Tukey's post-hoc test to identify which 

business sector would be different from which other group. The ANOVA test 

results (F =3.492, df=7, p-value=0.003) also showed that the disclosure score 

differences between business sectors were statistically significant at the 1% level 

(p<0.01). According to Tukey's post-hoc test, the disclosure score for business 

sector 3 (Land and Property) was significantly different (at the 0.05 level) from 

the disclosure scores of business sector 2 (Hotel and Travel) and business sector 

8 (Trading, Store and Supplies). On the basis of this result, the null hypothesis 
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(H9) that there is no significant difference between business sectors in respect of 

the extent of disclosure in annual reports is rejected and the alternative 

hypophysis that there is a significant difference between business sectors in 

respect ofthe extent of disclosure in annual report is accepted. 

6.6.2 Actual disclosures versus users' information needs 

Examining the association (consensus) between the actual disclosures made by 

companies in their annual reports and the information needs of users was one of 

the major objectives of this study. Therefore, based on the second research 

question cited in Section 6.2, the following null hypothesis was formulated to 

examine this issue: 

Hio: There is no significant difference between the information needs of users of 
annual reports and actual disclosure of information in annual report. 

A number of methods have been used by previous researchers for 

making this comparison. For example, Firth (1979a) and McNally et al. (1982) 

counted the number of companies disclosing each of the selected items and then 

calculated the average score for all companies by multiplying the user 

determined score for an item by the proportion of the companies that disclosed 

the item. Wallace (1987) utilised a sector-by-sector procedure making use ofthe 

summary of disclosure scores on information items to make a judgement on the 

degree of consensus between the sample companies and the surveyed users. 

Both Firer and Meth, (1986) and Ahmed (1993) examined this association by 

correlating the actual disclosure levels with the mean score of information items 

through Spearman rank correlation coefficients. 

The procedure followed by this study for preparing the data set and 

testing the above hypothesis (H,0) is as follows: 
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(1) From the data obtained through the questionnaire, the individual scores 
assigned by user groups for the importance of disclosing each item of 
information were combined together to obtain a single averase score for 
each ofthe 86 information items50. A SPSS data file was prepared to record 
the perception scores for the seven user groups and the overall (shown in the 
columns) in relation to 86 information items (shown in the rows). 

(2) From the data obtained from the annual report analysis, a disclosure index 
was calculated for each ofthe 86 information items, taking into account their 
disaggregated values51. These scores were recorded in a single column ofthe 
same SPSS data file mentioned in step 1 above. 

(3) Association between actual disclosure and user information needs was 
examined on the basis of Spearman Correlation Coefficient, which ranked 
the values of each ofthe variables from smallest to largest for all cases, and 
then the Pearson correlation coefficient was computed on the ranks. The 
Hypothesis (Hl0) was tested on this test. 

Table 6-14 below shows the association between the actual disclosure 

and the user perceptions as revealed by the computed correlation coefficients. 

Table 6-17 

Degree of association between actual disclosure and user perceptions 

Disclosure/ User groups 

Actual disclosure/ A C C 

Spearman Rank 
Correlation Coefficient 

6.184 

Actual disclosure/ M A N 1 -0.046 

Actual disclosure/ B A N 0.025 

Actual disclosure/ T A X 0.017 

Actual disclosure/ A C A 

r Actuai disclosure/ FA 

Actual disclosure/ INV 

Actual disclosure/ ALL 

0.012 

0.018 

0.099 

0.085 
. ii 

Notes: (1) ACC= Accountants; MAN= Managers/Executives; BAN= Bankers; TAX= Assessors/ Tax 
Officers; ACA= Academics; FA= Financial Analysts; INV= Investors; ALL= Overall 

According to the results shown in Table 6-17. there was no association 

between the actual disclosure of information items and the rankings of any of 

the seven user groups. This result indicates that all the user groups which 

perceived the importance of information items were not reflected in the actual 

so These scores have already been calculated for the analysis in Chapter 5 and are shown in 

Table 5-15. 
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disclosure practices of companies. This apparent gap between the information 

needs of users and the company disclosure practices exists because the 

information items perceived by various users as important are not disclosed by 

any company or disclosed by a few companies. On the basis ofthe results of this 

analysis, the null hypothesis (H,0) that there is no significant difference 

between the information needs of users of annual reports and actual disclosure 

of information in annual report is rejected. Accordingly, the alternative 

hypothesis that there is a significant difference between the information needs of 

users of annual reports and actual disclosure of information is accepted. 

With reference to a similar divergence between users' expectations and 

company disclosure practices found in one of the other emerging markets, 

Bangladesh, Ahmed (1993) pointed out some possible reasons for the 

occurrence of such a gap. One such reason was the companies' reluctance to 

disclose some sensitive infoimation because of the feeling that such disclosure 

may cause a competitive disadvantage. Another reason was the existence of 

small listed companies (mostly funded by family members, operated and 

controlled by family members) with less obligation to disclose information in 

the annual reports to outsiders. The high cost of disclosure without associated 

benefits was also seen as a reason for the companies' inability to keep meeting 

the growing information needs of various users. 

51 The disclosure index for each ofthe 86 information items was calculated in Section 6.5.7 and 

individual disclosure scores are shown in Appendix-12. 
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6.7 Summary 

This chapter empirically examined the disclosure practices of Sri Lankan listed 

companies by analysing 65 corporate annual reports using a disclosure index 

developed by disaggregating 86 information items into 318 disclosure index 

items that included both mandatory and voluntary items. The sample of 65 

companies represented 34 per cent ofthe total population that consisted of eight 

broadly categorised business sectors. Nine commonly found categories were 

identified in the sample annual reports with the average size of annual report 

being 40 pages long. The calculated disclosure index ranged from 44.5 to 89.0 

per cent with an average of 69.8 per cent, showing a fairly high level of overall 

disclosure by companies especially in comparison to the disclosure levels of 

other emerging markets. Also, the age and size of companies in Sri Lanka was 

found to have positive association with high disclosure, suggesting that old and 

.large companies disclose more information than vice versa. Item-wise analysis 

showed that 42.8 per cent of items were disclosed by more than 90 per cent of 

companies although 6 items were not disclosed by any company in the sample. 

While relatively high compliance with mandatory disclosure requirements was 

observed (average being 84.6%), the voluntary discloser was considerably low 

across board. The differences of disclosure were observed between the eight 

business sectors with the motors sector showing the highest level of disclosure 

and the land and property sector recording the lowest. These differences were 

statistically significant at the 1 per cent level. Finally, it was found that the 

information needs of the seven user groups in this study were not catered by the 

information disclosed in the annual reports of Sri Lankan companies. 
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Chapter 7 

Summary, Findings and Conclusions 

7.1 Introduction 
Previous studies on corporate disclosure in E M s as well as D M s showed that the 

annual report of a company is one ofthe most important sources of information 

for its stakeholders. The annual report as a source of information is particularly 

important for EMs as very often many other information sources are not 

accessible to general public in these markets. However, despite the importance 

of annual reports for EMs, systematic studies on the usefulness of such reports 

to their users are sparse in EMs. Sri Lanka, being an emerging market, is not an 

exception. Although there has been criticism on the existing corporate disclosure 

practices in Sri Lanka that they have not been able to produce adequate and 

reliable information to the satisfaction of various stakeholders of companies, no 

systematic research had been done to examine the validity of this criticism. 

Therefore, the major objective of the present study was to fill this gap by 

examining the information needs of annual report users and the extent of 

disclosure in annual reports in Sri Lanka. 

The study began with a statement of the research problems, the 

purposes of the study and the research design together with its limitations and 

expected contribution (Chapter 1). This was followed by an examination ofthe 

major features of EMs such as their economic, business, and accounting 

environments together with a discussion on the state of Sri Lanka in the context 

of other EMs (Chapter 2). After having examined the market-specific 

characteristics, a comprehensive literature review was carried out in Chapter 3 
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to get an insight into the works of other researchers who have examined 

corporate disclosure issues in both EMs and DMs. In addition to reviewing the 

previous disclosure studies, this chapter also identified their shortcomings. 

Then, to place the study in proper context, an overview of the corporate 

disclosure practices in Sri Lanka and the historical development of disclosure 

requirements together with the legal and institutional framework were presented 

in Chapter 4. On the basis of data obtained from the questionnaire survey. 

Chapter 5 provided an analysis of the information needs of annual report users 

in Sri Lanka. Eight hypotheses formulated on the basis of research questions 

were also tested in this chapter using non-parametric statistical tests. Finally, 

Chapter 6 presented the results of an analysis of disclosure in corporate annual 

reports by using three disclosure indexes. Two hypotheses formulated on the 

basis of research questions were also tested here on the basis of non-parametric 

statistical tests. The main purpose of this final chapter is to discuss the findings 

on the basis of both the analysis of survey results and the annual reports together 

with other information and data analysed in previous chapters and to present the 

conclusions of the study. In light of the findings and conclusions, this chapter 

also attempts to make some recommendations for improving the corporate 

disclosure practices in Sri Lanka. 

7.2 Findings 

7.2.1 Information needs of users 

One ofthe objectives of this study was to examine the views of various users on 

the usefulness of annual reports of public listed companies in Sri Lanka. This 

objective was achieved through an analysis made on the data collected from a 

questionnaire survey conducted in Sri Lanka in late 2000. Five hundred and 
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seventy five questionnaires were distributed to annual report users classified into 

7 major user groups namely, ACCs (150), EXEs (100), BANs (50). TAXs OS). 

ACAs (50) FAs, and INVs (150). The respondents were asked to answer 93 

questions included in the questionnaire which consisted of 2 parts (part I and II). 

While Part I dealt with questions on the user profile and usage patterns of annual 

reports, Part II dealt with questions on items that should or could appear in 

annual reports. Two hundred and sixty four usable responses were received with 

an overall response rate of 45.9 per cent. The tests conducted to investigate the 

non-response bias indicated that there was no such bias. Therefore, the results 

could be generalised to represent the whole population. When the profile ofthe 

respondents was analysed, it was revealed that the majority of respondents had 

high level of education (82% with tertiary education), accounting knowledge 

(96%o studied accounting at some stage), working experience (73% with over 

five years working experience) and, share holdings (53% invested in more than 

five companies). Therefore, according to the demographics, the respondents of 

the survey were well educated, accounting literate and experienced people with 

a high interest in investing in company shares. 

This analysis addressed eight research questions designed on the issues 

pertaining to the usefulness of annual reports for users. Eight hypotheses formed 

on the basis of these research questions were tested using the data obtained from 

the questionnaire survey. Following are the major findings of this analysis: 

(1) The results of the hypothesis one showed that the purposes for which 

annual reports are used vary significantly across different user groups. 

Obtaining information to buy, hold or sell shares was found to be the 

major purpose of using corporate annual reports. The selection of this 
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purpose as the mostly used purpose across many user groups may be 

attributable to the fact that most of the users are interested in share 

investments. The use of annual reports for 'general review' was identified 

as the second mostly used purpose. The possible reason for this selection 

may be that annual report is very often the only source of information 

available to a user in Sri Lanka to know about the affairs of a company. 

(2) When the second hypothesis aimed at examining whether there was a 

significant difference between user groups in relation to their perceived 

importance of various sources of information was tested, it was found that 

the degree of importance attached by the seven user groups with regard to 

9 ofthe 10 sources listed in the questionnaire varied significantly across 

user groups. However, there was a consensus between user groups with 

regard to the importance ofthe information source of 'communication with 

company management'. According to the results, annual report was found 

to be the primary source of information while 'personal information and 

knowledge about the company' and 'stock market publications1 received 

second and third rankings. The least important sources were found to be 

'advice of friends' and 'tip and rumours'. Despite the increased number of 

companies disclosing more and more information on the internet, it was 

still seen as a relatively less important source for many users. Similarly, 

'newspaper reports and other media reviews' were also not seen as very 

useful despite the recent efforts taken by SEC to provide periodic 

information on company affairs through this media. 

(3) The results of the hypothesis three showed that there was a significant 

difference between user groups in relation to their opinion on the adequacy 
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of information contained in annual reports. While 25 per cent of all 

respondents viewed that the information provided in annual reports was 

adequate, the majority of respondents (75%) thought that information was 

either partially adequate or not adequate at all. The group-wise responses 

were also very similar to the overall view with the exception of ACA who 

viewed information provided in annual reports was only partially adequate. 

The statistical test carried on the sample showed that with regard to the 

adequacy of information in annual reports there was no difference of 

opinions between user groups, excluding ACA. Furthermore, according to 

the results of a similar test carried out after combining 'partially adequate' 

with 'not adequate' there was no significant difference among the seven 

user groups, suggesting that the majority of users are of the opinion that 

the information content in annual reports is not adequate. 

(4) Hypothesis four was concerned with assessing whether there was 

significant difference between user groups in relation to their perceived 

importance attached to various sections of annual reports. From the 

Kruskal-Wallis test carried out, it was found that there were significant 

differences between user groups with regard to 9 of the 11 sections listed 

in the question. Both the balance sheet and the profit and loss account were 

perceived to be the most important parts of an annual report with almost 

similar mean scores. This result is consistent with those of previous 

disclosure studies done in both DMs and EMs. Next to these two 

statements, in order of importance were the cash flow statement, statistical 

data summary and historical data sections. One ofthe surprising findings 

was that the chairman's and directors' reports, which were identified as 
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fairly important in previous studies, were ranked as the least important 

sections by the Sri Lankan annual report users. 

(5) Whether there was a significant difference between user groups in relation 

to the degree of use of annual reports for their purposes was examined by 

hypothesis five. The results found that the frequency of usage was 

significantly different among users. Forty one per cent of respondents were 

found to be using annual reports frequently. Among the user groups, FA 

was found to be the most frequent users of annual reports, suggesting that 

that annual report analysis is an indispensable tool for financial analysts in 

Sri Lanka, although 'personal information and knowledge' was seen as the 

primary source of information for decision-making. Conversely, in line 

with the lower ranking given by tax authorities for the annual reports as a 

source of information for their decision making, they were found to be the 

least frequent group of users among the respondents. 

(6) Hypothesis six examined whether there was a significant difference 

between user groups in relation to the problems associated with the use of 

annual reports. The Kruskal-Wallis test results showed that there was no 

significant difference of opinion between user groups with regard to the 

factors that limit their use of annual reports. The majority of respondents 

(72%) viewed the delay in publishing annual reports as the prime factor 

that restricts the use of annual reports in Sri Lanka. The difficulty of 

obtaining annual reports was seen as the other major limitation. 

Particularly, FA and INV groups viewed this as a more serious limitation 

than the 'delay in publishing'. Apart from these two limitations, the lack of 

information in annual reports was also seen as a major limitation. 
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(1) W h e n hypothesis seven was tested to examine whether there was any 

significant difference between user groups in relation to their opinions on 

the delay in publishing the annual reports in Sri Lanka, it was found that 

there were significant differences of opinion. However, an overwhelming 

majority (90%) of respondents thought that the existing time lag could be 

reduced. 

(8) Hypothesis eight was concerned with examining whether there was 

significant difference between user groups in relation to the importance of 

86 information items included in the questionnaire. Statistical test results 

showed that the respondents' opinions on the importance of information 

items varied significantly among user groups with regard to 77 of the 86 

items considered. 

(9) There was a consensus among user groups with regard to the importance 

of following nine items: (a) Total revenue and breakdown of various 

sources, (b) Operating income before abnormal and extra ordinary items, 

(c) Structure of share ownership, (d) Shares held by directors, (e) 

Statement of directors' responsibility, (f) Capital expenditure for the next 

year, (g) Cash projection for the next year, (h) Financial objectives for the 

next year, (i) Accounting policies. 

(10) Overall 'cash flow statement' (4.35), "total assets with breakdown into 

fixed and current assets'(4.30), 'financial objectives for the next year' 

(4.26) and 'cash projection for the next year' (4.22) were perceived to be 

the most important information items. The least important items perceived 

by the respondents were 'contribution and donation' (1.99) and 'auditor's 

remuneration' (2.34). 
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(11) When the 86 information items were classified according to the range of 

importance attached by users, it was found that 17 items (19.8%) scored 

between 4-5 (extremely important), 58 items (67.4%) scored between 3-4 

(important), 10 items (11.6%) scored between 2-3 (less important) and 1 

item (1.2%) scored less than 2 (least important). 

(12) Out of 17 most important items (Score 4-5), 7 (41.2%) were in the 'other 

information" section. The remaining 10 items spread over three sections— 

profit and loss account (3 items), balance sheet (5 items) and other 

components (2 items). Further analysis of these 17 items showed that the 

responders have placed higher importance on the items relating to financial 

status, including cash position; present and future earnings including cash 

generation; and comparative status ofthe company. 

(13) When the mean scores ofthe 86 information items were summarised under 

five major sections of an annual report, it was found that the most 

important section of an annual report was the 'other components' which 

included cash flow statement, accounting policies, and explanatory notes 

followed by 'balance sheet'. The 'other information' was ranked third. The 

'profit and loss account', which was expected to receive a higher rank, 

occupied the fourth place while the statutory reports ranked last. 

(14) A statistical analysis carried out to find out the user group which differed 

mostly from others among the seven groups revealed that TAX was the 

most different group. 

(15) An analysis of the differences in perceptions between two user groups 

revealed that EXE and BAN comprised the most homogeneous pair 
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followed by FIN and INV. In contrast, the pair of T A X and FA showed 

the highest number of disagreements making it the least homogeneous 

pair. In fact, the six combinations involving tax officers had a very high 

level of disagreement. 

7.2.2 Extent of information disclosure in annual reports 

The major objective ofthe annual report analysis was to measure the extent of 

disclosure in corporate annual reports in Sri Lanka and to examine whether there 

was a consensus between users and prepares. Sixty five annual reports (33.5 % 

ofthe total population) representing eight business sectors were selected for the 

analysis. Sample companies consisted of both young and old companies as well 

as small and large companies making them representative of the total 

population. The extent of disclosure was measured by three unweighted 

disclosure indexes: the voluntary disclosure index, the mandatory disclosure 

index and the overall disclosure which comprised both the voluntary and 

mandatory items. Eighty six information items included in the questionnaire 

were used for this analysis after disaggregating them into 318 index items (131 

mandatory items and 187 voluntary items) to measure the overall disclosure 

level. The 318 index items were also classified into the profit and loss account 

(55 items), balance sheet (118 items), other component of financial statements 

(53 items), statutory report (22 items) and other information (70 items). The 

contents of annual reports (section-wise) were also analysed. Overall, the annual 

report analysis addressed two research questions designed on the extent of 

disclosure and the association between the actual disclosure and the information 

needs of users. Two hypotheses (H9 and H,o) formed on the basis of these two 
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research questions were tested using the data obtained from the annual report 

analysis. Following are the major findings of this analysis: 

(1) The information has been presented in annual reports under 32 major 

categories. Nine of which were found in all annual reports, suggesting that 

they could be regarded as the standard sections of Sri Lankan annual 

reports. The nine sections are: financial statements, report ofthe directors. 

report ofthe auditors, corporate information, share information section and 

a summery of results for the financial year. 

(2) Other commonly included sections were found to be those associated with 

the information on company and management structure such as details o\ 

directors and executives (94%), name and management of group 

companies (82.4%), other corporate information (95%). Conversely, the 

least included sections were audit committee report (5%). comments sheet 

for suggestions to improve the annual report (6%), country report (12%), 

market value of real estate (20%) and business profile and review of 

operations (26%). 

(3) Value-added statement, which is not a common section of annual reports 

in EMs, appeared in annual reports of 40 (61.5%) companies. 

(4) Overall disclosure for the 65 sample companies were found to be ranging 

from 44.5 per cent to 89 per cent with an average of 69.8 per cent. This, 

along with the fact that 56 companies (86.1%) achieved a disclosure level 

above 60 per cent, indicates a reasonably high level of disclosure. 
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(5) The fact that only 8 companies (12.3%) had a disclosure level above 8 0 % 

and the disclosure level of 9 companies (13.9%) was below 50% indicate 

that there is ample room for further improvement. 

(6) The disclosure level, in general, was found to be higher for the balance 

sheet, other components of financial statements, and statutory reports in 

comparison to the profit and loss account and other information sections. 

The disclosure level of 'other information' was the lowest among all 

sections. Since the majority of information in the 'other information' 

section is voluntary in nature, it shows a considerable degree of reluctance 

in the part of management to disclose voluntary information. 

(7) Surprisingly, 40 per cent of sample companies had a disclosure level 

below 50 per cent with regard to profit and loss items. Given the fact that 

the profit and loss account, like the balance sheet, is a conventional 

financial statement with an accepted format and a generally known set of 

information, many of which are mandatory, it is usually expected to have a 

higher disclosure level. 

(8) A comparison of the calculated disclosure index with the relevant indexes 

used in previous studies involving other 10 Asian countries indicated that 

the disclosure level of Sri Lanka was only second to that of Hong Kong. 

Thus, the level of corporate disclosures in Sri Lanka could be considered 

considerably high in comparison to the disclosure levels in many other 

Asian countries. 

(9) The statistical analysis carried out to examine whether there was a 

significant relationship between two company characteristics (age and 
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size) and the disclosures revealed that the age and size of companies in Sri 

Lanka were positively associated with disclosure, suggesting that old and 

large companies disclose more information than vice versa. 

(10) Item-by-item analysis of 318 disclosure index (disaggregated) items 

showed that 136 items (43%) were disclosed by more than 90% of 

companies and 6 items were not disclosed by any of the companies. The 

items not disclosed by any of the companies were: local raw material 

content of finished goods; market price per share for each quarter; price 

level adjusted balance sheet, income statement, and other data; discussion 

on the impact of inflation on the financial results; cash projection for the 

next year; and financial objectives for the next year. 

(11) Item-by-item analysis of 86 (aggregated) information items showed that 27 

of them (31.4%o) were disclosed by more than 90 per cent of companies in 

the sample while two items were not disclosed by any of the companies. 

These two items were: discussion of the impact of inflation on the 

financial results and cash projection for the next year. 

(12) Mandatory disclosure index showed that the level of compliance with 

regulation ranged from 64 to 97.5 per cent with an average of 84.6 per 

cent, showing a fairly high level of compliance. Item-wise, 80 of the 131 

items (61.1%) were disclosed by more than 90 per cent of companies. In 

contrast, 22 items (16.8%) were disclosed only by less than 50 per cent of 

companies. 

(13) The voluntary disclosure of sample companies varied from a low level of 

30.5 per cent to a high level of 83.3 per cent with an overall average of 60 
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per cent. In contrast to mandatary items, the distribution of voluntary items 

was fairly wide spread and the level of disclosure was relatively low. 

Overall, 118 items (63.1%) were disclosed by more than 50 per cent of 

companies. There were 21 items disclosed only by less than 10 per cent of 

companies while 6 of those items were not disclosed by any of the 

companies. 

(14) The purpose of first hypothesis tested in this section (H9) was to examine 

whether there was a significant difference between business sectors in 

respect of the extent of disclosure in annual reports. The results of the 

Kruskal-Wallis tests suggested that disclosure levels varied across business 

sectors. While the motors sector had the highest disclosure lev els, the land 

and property sector reported the lowest. 

(15) The second hypothesis tested in this section (H10) was to examine whether 

there was a significant difference between the information needs of users 

of annual reports and the actual disclosure of information in annual report. 

The results showed that there was no association between the actual 

disclosure of information items and the rankings of any of the seven user 

groups, indicating that all the user groups which perceived the importance 

of information items were not reflected in the actual disclosure practices of 

companies. 

7.3 Conclusions and Recommendations 

At the beginning ofthe thesis (Chapter 1) it was mentioned that this study aimed 

at seeking answers to five major research questions. Based on an analysis ofthe 

existing literature and the results of the questionnaire survey and the annual 
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report analysis, our conclusions and the recommendations in the form of 

answers to these five research questions are presented below 

(1) What is the historical development and current status of corporate 
disclosure practices in Sri Lanka? 

With the introduction of open economic policies in 1977, Sri Lanka has 

been showing a steady economic growth despite the existence of a 

prolonged civil war in the country. The foremost objective of the new 

policies was to progress towards increased private sector-led economic 

transformation in a very liberal business environment. As part of this 

process, the CSE was reorganised in 1980s. Consequently, number of 

listed companies in the country increased from 77 in 1976 to 235 in 2002. 

With the development of CSE, the corporate financing in the country 

started to change from traditional borrowing from banks or private sources 

to the issue of stocks and shares to the general public. In line with the 

development of CSE, the accounting practices in the country, including 

corporate disclosure practices also showed a significant improvement. 

Among the major changes were the enactment of a new Companies Act in 

1982, the establishment of SEC in 1987, and the legalisation of SLASs in 

1995 in the form of an Act of Parliament, making the compliance with 

SLASs compulsory for SBEs including listed companies. This Act also 

established a monitoring board (SLAASMB) to examine whether SBEs are 

complying with the regulations. In 2000, the merit based listing rules of 

the exchange used by CSE were also replaced by a new disclosure based 

approach. Furthermore, since 1990s, country's premier accounting body, 

ICASL. has been very active in introducing and revising SLASs to meet 
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the changing needs ofthe business environment. It is expected that SLASs 

will be on par with the International Accounting Standards by the end of 

2003, keeping Sri Lanka well ahead of South East Asian countries in terms 

of adopting accounting standards. In view ofthe current regulatory set up 

in Sri Lanka, it can be concluded that Sri Lanka has a well-established 

regulatory framework and a monitoring process for corporate disclosures. 

A review of the historical development of accounting practices 

reveals that a great deal has been done in recent years for improving the 

regulatory environment. However, the effects of those changes have just 

started to yield results. For example, although the SLAASMB has been 

monitoring disclosure practices of listed companies for a long time, it was 

only in year 2002 that it decided to announce the names of companies that 

have not followed proper accounting procedures. Therefore, while 

continuing to improve the existing laws and rules, the regulatory body 

should make the users aware of the changes being made and their impact 

on the disclosure practices. 

According to the CSE rules financial statements should be made 

available to the public within six months from the end of financial year. 

However, the majority of respondents of our questionnaire viewed the 

delay in publishing annual reports and the difficulty of obtaining annual 

reports were major factors that restrict the use of annual reports in Sri 

Lanka. Therefore, in order to increase the use of annual reports, the CSE 

must take appropriate actions to make annual reports available for all 

interested parties without delay. Considering the importance of this aspect, 

231 



Chapter 7. Summary, Findings and Conclusions 

the authorities should consider imposing increased penalty for undue 

delays. 

The steps taken by the government to revise the Securities Act is 

commendable. A similar attention is needed to be given to the existing 

company law which is surprisingly based on the English Companies Act of 

1948. Considering the enormous changes that have taken place in the 

corporate environment in the world in general and in Sri Lanka in 

particular, it is necessary to revise the existing company law in Sri Lanka 

to strengthen the legal framework of companies in the country. 

(2) Do the current corporate disclosure practices in Sri Lanka satisfy the 
users' needs? 

The results ofthe survey found that the majority of users were ofthe view 

that information disclosed in annual reports was not adequate. When the 

degree of divergence between the perceived information needs of users 

and the actual disclosure of companies in Sri Lanka was examined it was 

found that users' information needs were not reflected in the actual 

disclosure practices of companies. On the basis of this finding, it can be 

concluded that preparers have failed to satisfy the information needs of 

annual report users in Sri Lanka. Since the major purpose of an annual 

report is to provide information required by users, the finding that users 

are not satisfied with the current status of disclosure should be taken 

seriously by the preparers. The findings of our questionnaire survey 

highlighted the information needs of seven user groups. The preparers of 

annual reports needs to consider these findings and should attempt to 

include them in their annual reports. The regulators, the accounting 

profession and the other related parties also should undertake similar 
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surveys from time to time covering all types of users to get an 

understanding of the information needs of various users. The finding of 

these studies should be made available to the preparers of annual reports. 

(3) To what extent do the listed companies in Sri Lanka disclose 
information in their annual reports? 

One of the major objectives of this study was to measure the extent to 

which information was disclosed in annual reports. Since an annual report 

is a general purpose financial report, theoretically it should include all the 

information that might be required by the users of such reports in making 

judgement about the company. Therefore, ideally a company should 

disclose all material information, mandatory or otherwise, about the 

company which are not available to users from other sources. When the 

extent of disclosure in Sri Lanka was measured through an overall 

disclosure index which consisted of 318 items, it was found that the 

overall disclosure level was 69.8 per cent with voluntary and mandatory 

disclosure levels being 84.6 and 60 per cent respectively. Thus, in 

comparison to the disclosure levels of many EMs, it can be concluded that 

Sri Lanka has a fairly high level of corporate disclosure. 

One of the questions that may arise regarding disclosure levels 

is that why companies are unable to achieve 100 per cent disclosure level. 

Since companies do not have a choice with regard to mandatory 

disclosure, it is generally the voluntary disclosures that create huge 

differences among disclosure levels of companies. One explanation as to 

why companies are reluctant to disclose certain information would be that 

they usually suspect that such disclosures would harm their business or 
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give their rivals a leading edge. Another explanation would be that 

companies do not know exactly what information, other than mandatory 

information, to disclose. Whatever their reason would be. companies 

should be aware that given the recent corporate scandals such as Enron and 

WorldCom which were caused mainly by lack of correct disclosure, users' 

are now generally sceptical about companies with low disclosure levels. 

In general, users' perception is that well managed firms with nothing to 

hide should not mind being transparent as possible. Therefore, by being 

fully transparent, companies can gain more by winning the trust of their 

stakeholders, specially the investors. Hence, for the best interest of 

companies as well as the market, companies should follow the 

fundamental principle in capital markets that it is the responsibility of 

companies themselves to commit to more and better communication with 

the market. 

The institutions such as ICASL, SEC, and CSE and, however, 

need to study the information needs of users regularly and provide specific 

guidelines to companies as to what information are sought by the users. At 

present, the best annual report competition conducted by the ICASL 

undoubtedly encourages companies in Sri Lanka to improve the 

information contents in their annual reports. However, the ICASL needs 

to take appropriate actions to increase participation in this competition and 

to publish the detailed guidelines used for evaluating the best annual 

reports with the detailed scores that each company scored. 
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(4) To what extent do the listed companies in Sri Lanka comply with the 
statutory disclosure requirements? 

According to the mandatory disclosure index scores, which show the 

extent of compliance with regulations by listed companies in Sri Lanka, 

the level of compliance of 65 sample companies ranged from 64 to 97.5 

per cent with an average of 84.6 per cent. Considering the lack of 

compliance reported in some disclosure studies in EMs (for example, 

Wallace, 1988b; Tai et al., 1990; Nicholls and Ahmed. 1995). it can be 

concluded that the level of compliance in Sri Lanka is considerably high. 

Because of the special characteristics including the cultural 

orientation of EMs, the government and other regulatory authorities in 

EMs tend to improve corporate disclosures through laws and regulations. 

This is especially important because the users in EMs are generally 

unsophisticated and their capacity to interpret and use information is 

limited (Perera, 1985). Given their unsophistication and perception that 

companies dress themselves up and present themselves in the best possible 

light in their annual reports, users tend to be suspicious about the 

information presented by the management. Therefore, as a measure of 

building the user confidence, Sri Lanka legalised the SLASs in 1995 

making the compliance with them mandatory to all SBE. Accordingly, the 

auditor of a SBE is required to confirm that financial statements are 

prepared and presented to the shareholders in accordance with the SLASs. 

If there is non compliance then it has to be reported by the auditor. Given 

this strict regulation, every single listed company in Sri Lanka is legally 

bound to make 100 per cent compliance with the standards. Therefore, 

although the level of compliance that we observed in this study is high in 
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comparison to the situation in other countries, according to the Sri Lankan 

law, any compliance below 100 per cent is not acceptable. However, 

doubts have been raised by some professional accountants at the time of 

introducing this law about achieving such a high level of compliance. 

especially given the vagueness of some of the standards. Moreover, the 

ability of the regulators and monitoring bodies, such as SEC and 

SLAASMB, to discover non-compliance and also to take appropriate 

actions was questionable. 

In our examination, we found a number of areas where standards 

have not been fully followed. A list of mandatory items that were 

disclosed by less than 50% of sample companies is given in Table 6-11. In 

general, non disclosure was observed in relation to the following areas: (1) 

retirement benefit cost, (2) depreciation on non-current assets, (3) 

segmental information, (4) accounting policies, (5) related party 

transactions, (6) accounting for investments, (7) inventories, (7) cash flow 

statement, (7) market information such as market values of share prices. 

accounting ratios, etc, and (8) consolidated financial statements. 

The examinations of annual reports conducted by SEC and 

SLAASMB have also found deviations from regulations. According to the 

SLAASMB reports, significant deviations that were observed in 2000 were 

17 per cent and in 2001 it dropped to about 9 per cent. However, no action 

has been taken against any of the companies that did not comply with 

standards on the grounds of materiality. Although the SLAASMB is 

responsible for monitoring the compliance with standards since its 

inception in 1995, it was only in 2002 that it decided to publish the names 
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of companies that have not followed proper accounting standards in 

preparing their financial statements. Once again, no action has been taken 

against any of those companies. The auditors of these companies have also 

failed to discover the deviations. As such, users' in Sri Lanka seem to feel 

that some companies are not maintaining proper accounts and the auditors 

cannot be relied upon. If the users, specially the investors, lose their faith 

in the stock market from which companies raise cheap funds, it will create 

a very unhealthy situation for the further development of the stock market. 

In order to improve the level of compliance there are a number of 

areas where actions need to be taken. Firstly, the auditing profession needs 

to be regulated to a certain degree. The SLAASAct does not seem to 

regulate the auditing profession and has not set up machinery to monitor 

the work of the auditors. Although some regard the auditing profession as 

one that can regulate itself, until now there seem to be many areas where 

large variations are visible between audit firms with regard to the way 

audit is conducted and reports are prepared. The long association between 

auditors and management also casts suspicion among the general public 

and is perceived to create a sort of 'cohabitation' arrangement. Thus, as a 

solution regulators need to fix the auditors tenure for a period of 2-3 years 

and create a mechanism to rotate auditors. 

Secondly, clear instructions need to be given to preparers not to 

follow the industry practices if they contravene with the SLASs. One of 

the major reasons for deviating from the SLASs is that companies continue 

to follow the industry accounting practices that have been in use for many 

years without paying much attention to the accounting treatment 
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recommended by the SLASs. However, since such practices have been in 

use for years before the standards were drawn up, companies should be 

given time to comply with them. The regulators should study this type of 

practices and educate the preparers on the existence such incorrect 

accounting treatments and the corrective actions that need to be taken. 

Another area where companies find it difficult to comply with 

SLASs is the vagueness of some ofthe standards. This is specially related 

to the alternative treatments suggested by some SLASs. However, since 

only a small number of SLASs have allowed such alternative options, the 

explanations given by some preparers and auditors that they interpreted a 

standard differently cannot be considered a valid reason for non­

compliance. If preparers or auditors find any SLASs unclear or v ague, they 

should seek advice from 'Urgent Issues Task Force' which consists of a 

panel of leading accounting professionals to give an interpretation to a 

standard which is ambiguus. 

Given the cultural orientation of Sri Lanka, it is very unlikely 

that many companies voluntarily take action to increase the level of 

compliance. Therefore, it is important that regulators take strict actions 

against companies that do no not comply with regulations. Currently, when 

a deviation is discovered regulators inform company concerned with the 

expectation of voluntary corrections in its accounts. Since various users 

may take decisions based on financial statements which have not been 

prepared in accordance with regulations, deviations should be disclosed to 

the public. Also, strict penalties must be imposed against companies that 

do not comply with accounting standards. 
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Finally, irrespective of the fact that companies are legally bound 

to comply with accounting standards and disclose the stipulated 

information, companies should be made to understand that disclosure of 

information is a social responsibility of companies rather than a burden 

saddled on them. Therefore, in order to fulfil this responsibility, companies 

should create appropriate mechanisms to ensure that all regulations are 

complied with. 

(5) What additional information is required to satisfy the needs of users? 

O n the basis ofthe responses received from the members ofthe seven user 

groups, 86 information items were ranked according to the importance of 

each item to individual user group. These 86 items were also ranked on the 

basis of importance attached to each item by all user groups. 

In general, the information items that have been ranked highly in 

terms of importance but not frequently disclosed in annual reports included 

the following: (1) future operating activities and plans (2) future financial 

commitments, (3) financial objectives and cash projection for the next 

year, (4) market prices of non-current assets, breakdown of expenses, (5) 

details of human resources, and (6) details of return on capital and growth 

of earnings. Considering the high degree of importance attached to these 

items, it is necessary that companies take steps to include them in their 

annual reports. 

Another important area on which information is sought by users 

is corporate governance. As mentioned before, owing to a number of 

corporate scandals and recent unfavourable media reports about the way in 

which some companies have been managed in D M s , there is great deal of 
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scepticism about corporate governance even in EMs. The recently reported 

allegation by the former Chairman of the Ceylon Chamber of Commerce 

that the business community in Sri Lanka was corrupt, unethical, and not 

transparent is an indication of this situation (Mendis, 2003). Given this 

background, it is realistic that the users have now become much more 

interested in corporate governance issues. In view of this situation, the 

SLACA recently launched a competition for the award of the Best 

Corporate Governance disclosures for companies listed on CSE with the 

aim of helping companies to build investor confidence at a time when 

post-Enron concerns still continue to linger. In fact, many surveys across 

the world have shown that investors pay more for shares of companies 

which have good corporate governance practices. 

Finally, it must be noted that while continuing to increase both 

the quantity and quality of information, companies should make special 

attempt to increase the reliability and credibility of the information 

provided in annual reports. Considering the unsophisticated nature of 

users, it is also important for companies to use simple and plain language 

with less technical explanations in their annual reports. Companies should 

also be encouraged to use graphs, charts, photos etc whenever possible to 

present information in a manner easy to understand. While encouraging 

companies to make these improvements in their annual reports, the 

regulators should play an additional role in educating the users on how the 

information in annual reports is read, understood and interpreted. This 

can be achieved through seminars and workshops as well as telev _sion and 

other mass media. Taking the above steps by both the companies and the 
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regulators is necessary for increasing the usefulness and use of annual 

reports in Sri Lanka. 

7.4 Future research 
Prior to this study, no research had made any attempt to examine the 

information needs of annual report users and the corporate disclosure practices 

in Sri Lanka. Therefore, this study is a stepping stone for future research in this 

area. Mentioned below are some aspects of this area that deserve future 

research. 

(1) Since the scope of this study was limited to an examination ofthe financial 

disclosure in corporate annual reports which constitute the main type of 

reports used in periodic disclosures, no attempt was made in this study to 

examine the other two types of financial disclosure, namely, initial 

disclosure and ad-hoc disclosure or to examine the other reports used in 

periodic disclosures. Therefore, further research should expand this scope 

to cover other areas of disclosure as well. 

(2) Due to the vast differences in disclosure requirements and the lack of 

availability of annual reports in some business sectors such as banking, 

finance, insurance and investment trust, they had to be excluded from the 

annual report analysis of this study. Also, the sample companies were 

limited to listed public companies in Sri Lanka. Therefore, attempt should 

be made in the future to cover all business sectors as well as other business 

enteritis such as unlisted companies. 

(3) In this study, the extent of disclosure by Sri Lankan companies was 

measured in relation to only one financial year (cross sectional). In order 

to gain more complete understanding of the state of disclosure with 
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relevant changes in the disclosure environment, it is useful to examine the 

level of disclosure for a period of time (Longitudinal). Therefore, future 

researchers should attempt to evaluate how the level of disclosure changes 

over the years by conducting a longitudinal study as well. 

(4) The relationship between disclosure and company specific characteristics 

was examined in this study only in relation to two variables—age and size. 

Since there are many other company-specific characteristics such as 

profitability, liquidity, size of audit firm, etc. that can explain this 

relationship, it may be useful to examine the association between 

disclosure and company specific-characteristics in detail with more 

explanatory variables using a multi regression analysis. 

(5) It is also important to compare the results of this study with those of 

similar studies done in both DMs and EMs. However, such comparison is 

not meaningful, if the same research methodology is not employed by all 

studies. Most of the previous disclosure studies have utilised a disclosure 

index that has not been used in another study, making their results 

incomparable with those of other studies. Therefore, attempt should be 

made to replicate this study in other countries so that a meaningful insight 

can be gained through comparison. 
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Appendix-1

CLASSIFICATION OF ECONOMIES BY INCOME AND REGION-1999

No

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30!

_U
32

33

34 |

35

36

37j

38!

39!

40

Income Group

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Sub-Group

i

~!

J
I

JL ___
1
Jl
i

J .
~i

!
|

!

1

_!___ ._.

I
i
i

!

j
!

I

i . _. ..

j Region

| Eastand SouthernAfrica

1 Eastand SouthernAfrica

Eastand SouthernAfrica

I Eastand SouthernAfrica

! Eastand SouthernAfrica

j Eastand SouthernAfrica

Eastand SouthernAfrica

| Eastand SouthernAfrica ,

Eastand SouthernAfrica j

Eastand SouthernAfrica

||Eastand SouthernAfrica !

Eastand SouthernAfrica

! Eastand SouthernAfrica

Eastand SouthernAfrica

Eastand SouthernAfrica

Eastand SouthernAfrica ,

[ Eastand SouthernAfrica

Eastand Southern Africa !

WestAfrica

i WestAfrica

WestAfrica

j WestAfrica J

j WestAfrica

| WestAfrica

WestAfrica

1 WestAfrica i

I WestAfrica 1

| WestAfrica 1

] WestAfrica

! WestAfrica

• WestAfrica j

WestAfrica !

WestAfrica !

j WestAfrica \

WestAfrica i

! WestAfrica

WestAfrica

: WestAfrica

\ EastAsiaandPacific

1 EastAsiaandPacific

| Country Name

| Angola

Burundi

Comoros

Congo DemocraticRepublic

Eritrea

Ethiopia

Kenya

[^Lesotho

Madagascar

Malawi

Mozambique

Rwanda

Somalia

Sudan

Tanzania \

Uganda

Zambia

Zimbabwe

Benin

BurkinaFaso

Cameroon

CentralAfricanRepublic

Chad

Congo Republic

Coted' Ivoire

Gambia

Ghana

Guinea

Guinea-Bissaue

Liberia

Mali

Mauritania

Niger

Nigeria

SaoTome and Principe ,

Senegal J

SierraLeone

Togo

Cambodia

China
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44
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46

L47
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49
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52

L53
54
55

56

57

58

59
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76|

77i
— -j .

78
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—

81!
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Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

[ Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

Low Income

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome j

MiddleIncome j

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

JJjiub-Group
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i
I

JL
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j EastAsiaandPacific

! EastAsiaandPacific

j EastAsiaandPacific

EastAsiaandPacific

| EastAsiaandPacific

| EastAsiaandPacific

I
j

I

I
J

i

L __

L. _

i

Lower

Lower

Lower j

Lower

Lower

Lower J

Lower

Lower j

Lower

Lower j

Lower

Lower j

Lower !

Lower 1

Lower )

Lower j
.. i

Lower ]

Lower J

EastAsiaandPacific

SouthAsia

1 SouthAsia

j SouthAsia

j SouthAsia

SouthAsia

SouthAsia

EasternEuropeandCentralAsia

EasternEuropeandCentralAsia

EasternEuropeandCentralAsia j

EasternEuropeandCentralAsia ]

EasternEuropeandCentralAsia
1 •. ••—•• • , •—__—,,, • , i

EasternEuropeandCentralAsia 1

MiddleEast

Americas

Americas

Americas

EastandSouthernAfrica

EastandSouthernAfrica

EastandSouthernAfrica

EastandSouthernAfrica

WestAfrica

WestAfrica

EastAsiaandPacific

EastAsiaandPacific

EastAsiaandPacific

EastAsiaandPacific

EastAsiaandPacific i
•

EastAsiaandPacific j

EastAsiaandPacific

EastAsiaandPacific
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SouthAsia j

SouthAsia
i

! Country Name

' Indonesia

!(KoreaDemocraticReDuDl

LaoPDR

Mongolia

[ Myanmar
1 SolomonIslands

Vietnam

,

c

Afghanistan

Bangladesh

Bhutan

India

Nepal

Pakistan

Armenia

Azebaijan

KyrgyzRepublic

Moldova

Tajikistan

Turkmenistan

YemenRepublic '•

Haiti

Honduras

Nicaragua >

Djibouti

Namibia |

SouthAfrica i
i

Swaziland

CapeVerde

EquatorialGuinea

Fiji

Kiribati

MarshallIslands

Micronesia,FederalState

PapuaNew Guinea

Philippines

Samoa

Thailand

Tonga j

Vanuatu

Maldives

SriLanka
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No j Income Group Sub-Group_J Re9'°n Country Name ^

U ; MiddleIncome Lower | EasternEuropeandCentralAsia Albania

83j MiddleIncome _j Lower j EasternEuropeandCentralAsia jBelarus

84 MiddleIncome , Lower j EasternEuropeandCentralAsia Bosniaand Herzegovina

85

86

87

88

89

90

91
92

93

94

Middle Income

Middle Income

Middle Income

Middle Income

Middle Income

MiddleIncome

Lower j EasternEuropeandCentralAsia Bulqana

j Lower EasternEuropeandCentralAsia , Georgia

Lower J EasternEuropeandCentralAsia ! Kazakhstan

Lower j EasternEuropeandCentralAsia Latvia

Lower EasternEuropeandCentralAsia Lithuania

Lower j EasternEuropeandCentralAsia

MiddleIncome | Lower EasternEuropeandCentralAsia

Middle Income Lower j EasternEuropeandCentralAsia

MiddleIncome j Lower j EasternEuropeandCentralAsia

Middle Income Lower EasternEuropeandCentralAsia

95 | MiddleIncome Lower EasternEuropeandCentralAsia

96
97

98

99

100
101

102

103

104

105

106

107

108

109

110

111 j

112

113

114

115

116

117

118

119

120 |

121

122 j

MiddleIncome I Lower

MiddleIncome j Lower

Middle Income

MiddleEast

MiddleEast

Lower MiddleEast ;

MiddleIncome j Lower ! MiddleEast

MiddleIncome | Lower j MiddleEast <

Middle Income

Middle Income

Middle Income

Middle Income

Middle Income

Middle Income

Middle Income

Middle Income

MiddleIncome j

MiddleIncome j

Middle Income

MiddleIncome

Middle Income

MiddleInoome

Middle Income

MiddleIncome {

MiddleIncome j

MiddleIncome I

MiddleIncome j

MiddleIncome J

MiddleIncome |
. , • i

MiddleIncome j

Lower

Lower

Lower

Lower

Lower

Lower

NorthAfrica

NorthAfrica

NorthAfrica

NorthAfrica

Americas i

Americas

Lower jjAmericas

Lower j

Lower

Lower

Lower j

Lower

Lower

Lower

Lower

Lower

Lower

Lower

Lower

Lower j

Upper

Upper

Americas ;

Americas

Americas

Americas '<

Americas

Americas

Americas

Americas

Americas _j

Americas _j

Americas _j

Americas

Americas _j

EastandSouthernAfrica

EastandSouthernAfrica

Macedonia FYR

Romania

RussianFederation

Ukraine

Uzbekistan

YugoslaviaFederalRepublic

Iran, IslamicRepublic

Iraq |

Jordan

SyrianArabRepublic

WestBankand Gaza

Algeria

Egypt,ArabRepublic

Morocco

Tunisia

Belize

Bolivia

Colombia

CostaRica

Cuba

Dominica

Dominican Republic

Ecuador

ElSalvador

Guatemala

Guyana

Jamaica

Paraguay

Peru

StVincentandthe
Grenadines _J

Suriname

Botswana

Mauritius
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130
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132

133

134
135

136

137
138

139

140
141

142

I143
144
145

146

147

148

149

150
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152
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154

155

156

157 |

158 ||

159|

160|

161!

162;

163||

Income Group
• .

. Sub-Group

MiddleIncome Upper

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome
L- • , _— _

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome j

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome j

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome j

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome j

MiddleIncome

MiddleIncome

HighIncome

HighIncome

HighIncome {

HighIncome J

HighIncome j

HighIncome j

| Upper

| Upper

Upper

Upper

I Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper j

Upper

Upper I

Upper j

Upper

Upper

Upper !

Upper .

Upper

Upper

Upper

Upper |

Upper

OECD

OECD j

OECD

OECD

OECD j

OECD

— . .
Region

j EastandSouthernAfrica

j EastandSouthernAfrica

, WestAfrica

EastAsiaandPacific

EastAsiaandPacific

EastAsiaandPacific

EastAsiaandPacific

EasternEuropeandCentralAsia

EasternEuropeandCentralAsia

EasternEuropeandCentralAsia

EasternEuropeandCentralAsia

EasternEuropeandCentralAsia

| EasternEuropeandCentralAsia

RestofEurope

RestofEurope

MiddleEast

MiddleEast
i — . . _j

MiddleEast

MiddleEast

NorthAfrica

Americas

Americas

Americas

Americas

Americas j

Americas j

Americas

Americas

Americas |

Americas j

Americas ,

Americas

Americas

Americas j

Americas !

EastAsiaandPacific

EastAsiaandPacific

EastAsiaandPacific

RestofEurope

RestofEurope

RestofEurope

iCountry Name

Mayotte

Seychelles

Gabon

jAmerican Samoa

jKoreaRepublic

1Malaysia

| Palau

Croatia

CzechRepublic

Estonia

Hungary

Poland

SlovakRepublic

IsleofMan

Turkey

Bahrain

Lebanon

Oman

SaudiArabia ;

Libya

AntiguaandBarbuda

Argentina

Barbados

Brazil

Chile

Grenada

Guadeloupe

Mexico

Panama

PuertoRico

StKittsandNevis

St.Lucia

TrinidadandTobago

Uruguay

Venezuela

Australia

Japan

NewZealand

Austria

Belgium

Denmark ;
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Nô 11 IncomeGreup_J| Sub-Group |Region

164 High Income OECD

165

Country Name

RestofEurope

High Income
Finland

OECD RestofEurope

166 High Income
France

OECD RestofEurope

167 High Income OECD

168

Germany

RestofEurope

HighIncome
Greece

OECD

169
RestofEurope Iceland

HighIncome OECD

170
RestofEurope Ireland

HighIncome OECD RestofEurope

171 HighIncome
Italy

OECD RestofEurope

172 HighIncome
Luxembourg

OECD RestofEurope ! Netherlands
173 IHighIncome OECD RestofEurope

174 j HighIncome

Norway

OECD RestofEurope

175 High Income

Portugal

OECD RestofEurope Spain

176 High Income OECD RestofEurope Sweden

177 High Income OECD RestofEurope Switzerland

178 HighIncome OECD RestofEurope UnitedKingdom

179 High Income OECD Americas Canada

180 High Income OECD Americas United States

181 HighIncome Non-OECD Eastand Southern Africa 1 Reunion

182 High Income Non-OECD EastAsiaandPacific Brunei

183 Highlncome_ _|[ Non-OECD J[ EastAsiaandPacific FrenchPolynesia

184 HighIncome Non-OECD EastAsiaandPacific Guam

185 HighIncome Non-OECD EastAsiaandPacific Hong Kong, China

186 High Income Non-OECD EastAsiaandPacific Macao

187 HighIncome Non-OECD EastAsiaandPacific NewCaledonia

188 HighIncome Non-OECD EastAsiaandPacific N.Mariana Islands

189
190

191

192

193

194

195

196

197

198

199

200j

201 {

202

203I

204 |

High Income

High Income

High Income

High Income

High Income

High Income

High Income

High Income

High Income

High Income

High Income

High Income

High Income

High Income

High Income

High Income

Non-OECD

Non-OECD

Non-OECD

Non-OECD j

Non-OECD j

Non-OECD |

Non-OECD |

Non-OECD |

Non-OECD !

Non-OECD !
i

Non-OECD |

Non-OECD

Non-OECD |

Non-OECD

Non-OECD

Non-OECD j

EastAsiaandPacific

EastAsiaandPacific

Eastern EuropeandCentralAsia j

RestofEurope

RestofEurope

RestofEurope

RestofEurope

RestofEurope

RestofEurope

RestofEurope

MiddleEast ;

MiddleEast

MiddleEast

MiddleEast

NorthAfrica

Americas

Singapore

Taiwan,China

Slovenia

Andorra

Channel Islands

Cyprus

FaeroeIslands

Greenland

Liechtenstein

Monaco

Israel

Kuwait

Qatar

UnitedArab Emirates

Malta

Aruba
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No j

205 |

206j

207
208

209|

210j

211

Income Group

HighIncome j

HighIncome

High Income

High Income

High Income

HighIncome

| High Income

Sub-Group

Non-OECD

Non-OECD j

Non-OECD

Non-OECD

Non-OECD j

Non-OECD |

Non-OECD

Region

Americas

Americas

Americas

Americas

Americas

Americas

Americas

jCountry Name

| Bahamas,The

jjBermuda

Cayman Islands

iFrenchGuiana

Martinique

11NetherlandsAntilles

jVirginIslands(U.S)

Source: World Development Report,1999/2000
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VutanuNNAERE

Anvtrt*,Pe.ZQU$C\,/fc,̂KU,*CA,&MAJ
UniversityofWollongong

Mr. T.C.T. Jayaweera

61,Modar a Road, Egodauyan a

Morat uwa

Dear Mr. Jayaweera

The purpose of this letter ie to seek your kind help for a research study on the corporate

financial disclosure practices in Sri Lanka. As you ma y be well aware there has been a

great deal of discussion on the importance of improving corporatefinancialdisclosuresfor

the development of stock markets particularly in emerging economies such as Sri Lanka.

As a part of a major study on this aspect, the enclosed questionnaire is being sent to

various users of compan y annual reports in Sri Lanka for the purpose of obtaining their

views on some aspects offinancialdisclosure.

The major objectives of this questionnaire are to determine the information needs of

various types of users and to measure the extent of importance of some selected item of

information included in company annual reports. The questionnaire is divided into two

sections. Thefirstsection deals the usage patterns of annual reports.The second section

deals with items that should or could appear in corporate annualreports.

However, the success of this research will largely depend on the extent of responses

received from the various types of users of corporate annual reports, such as accountants,

share brokers, bankers and investors. Therefore, your responses will be very important

for the success of this research. All responses to this questionnaire will be treated with

the strictest confidence and will be used for research purposes only.

Considering the importance of the subject matter and the lack of previous research in this

area,I would earnestly request you to complete the enclosed questionnaire and return it

tome by mailing itto the SriLanka n address given on the reply-paid envelope provided.

Your kind cooperation and help in this research study will be greatly appreciated.

Thank you in advance for your cooperation and help.

Yours sincerely,

Anura De Zoysa

PhD student, Department of Accounting & Finance

University ofWollongong, Australia.

AUSTRALIA'S UNIVERSITY OF THE YEAR 1999-2000
Outstanding Research & Development Partnerships 'Good Universities Guides'

Department ofAccounting & Finance University ofWollongong NSW 2522 Australia
Telephone: (61 2) 4221 3718 Facsimile: (61 2) 4221 4297

accfin@uow.edu.au www.uow.edu.au



Appendix-3: QUESTIONNAIRE

A QUESTIONNAIRE SURVEY

ACCOUNTING DISCLOSURES INANNUAL REPORTS OF
PUBLIC COMPANIES IN SRI LANKA

Please indicate [S]your occupation.

• Partner/Accountant inan auditfirm

• Accounfant ina company

• Manager/Executive ina company

• Manager/Executive inthe Govt.

• Employee ofa company/ Govt.

• Banker

Highest Educational qualification
(Pleasetickonlyonebox.)

• Primary
• ~G7cli70rdInary level)

• G.C.E (Advanced level)

• Diploma

•
•
•
•

Bachelor's Degree

Master's Degree

Doctor's Degree

Other (Please specify)

How long have you been in your
present profession ?

(Pleasetickonlyonebox.)
• Less than one year

•
•
•
•
•

1 -

5-
10-
15-

5
10
-15
20

Over 20

years

years

years

years

years

•

•

•

Assessor/Taxofficer

Lecturer/Researcher

Financial analysts/consultant

Stock broker

Other (please specify):

Accounting Knowledge /Qualifications
(Pleasebe*appropriateboxorboxes.)

Nonen
n
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

G.C.E (Ordinary level) /(Advanced level)

Diploma

Bachelor's Degree

ICAT CT MA parts, MMT^ AT" ""

Master's Degree/Doctoral Degree

ICMA/ CIMA /ACCA membership

ICA membership

Other (Pleasespecify):

inho w many companies have you purchased
shares?

(Pleasetx*onlyonebox.)

• None
• One company
• 2 - 5 companies

• 6 - 1 0 companies

• 11-20 companies

• Over 20companies

Do you useinformation given incompany annual reportsformaking a decision? [Decision may
betobuy, sell, orholdshares;toapprovealoantoacompany;toadviseaclient; toevaluatetheperformanceofa

company,etc.] (Pleasetickonlyone box.)

• Never ___ Rarely • Sometimes • Usually • Always

Forwhat purpose(s)do you use company annual reports?
(Pleasetickappropriateboxorboxes.)
• todecidewhether to buy,hold orsellshares

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

togrant a loan /tradecredittoa company

toadvise a client

tomake decisionsfora clientor employer

toevaluate income taxliability ___

tomake decisions inmanaging thecompany

toknow about thecompany foracademic purposes

Other (Please specify):
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__.o«Tlfb°Utthef'na. Cla' P°sltJOnan d operatingperformanceofacompany how
important,m youropinion,arethefollowingsourcesofinformation?C°mpany' h°W

Adviceoffriends

Least
important pleaseareteonlyone]

Stockbrokers'advice

Advisorycervicesofaccountingfirms
Communication withcompany management
Newspaperreportsand othermediareviews
Company annualreports
Stockmarketpublications
Tipsand rumours

Personalknowledgeaboutthecompany
InformationprovidedontheInternet
Other(Pleasespecify).

MOST

important

Doyouthinkthatthecompany annulreport(s)thatyouusecontainadequate information
necessarytoserveyourpurposeofusingthem?(Pleasetx*onlyonebox.)

• Yes n NO • Partiallyadequate

10. Ifyouranswertotheabovequestionis"no"or"partiallyadequate",pleasemention what
Informationyouthinknecessarybutnotprovided intheannualreports.

11. What rankingofimportancewould yougivetothefollowingpartsofacompany annual
report?

Least Most
important importantpleasecircleonly

Balancesheet 1 I 2 j3
ProfitandLossAccount [1
Cashflowstatement ! 1
Accountingpolices j 1
Notestoaccounts j 1
Movementinshareholder'sfunds

2
2
2
2

1 j 2
Auditors'Report 1 2
Chairman'sReport 1 2
Directors'Report
Valueadded statements
Statisticaldata/summaryofoperations/historicaldata

1 2
1 2
1 | 2

3

3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3

one]

4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4

5
5
5
5
5

5 !
5
5
5
5
5

Asauserofcompany annualreports,inyouropinionwhatproblemsrestricttheiruse?
(Pleasetickappropriateboxorboxes.)

•
_.._.__., ...^ ___. __, -_—
(Pleasetideappropriateboxorboxes.)

DifficultyofobtainingannualreportsDelayinpublishingannulreports•
•
___ Lackofreliableinformationinannulreports

•
•

Lackof adequatefinancial informationinannualreports

Lackofsimplicityinthecontentsandpresentationofinformation
Other(Pleasespecify):
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13. Thereisatimelagbetweentheendofanaccounting periodandthedateofpublishingan
annulreport.What isyourpersonalobservationofthistimelag? fPteasetr*onlyonebox;

• Thistimelagisunavoidable. • Thistimelagcanbereduced

14. HowimportantarethefollowingfortheimprovementofcorporatedisclosuresinSriLanka
intermsoftheirqualityand quantity?

Least Most
. important Pteaseareteonlyone] important

CorporatedisclosureregulationsofColomboStockExchange 1 2 3 4 5
DisclosurerequirementsoftheSecuritiesandExchange Commission

SriLankaAccountingandAuditingStandards
ExistingCompaniesAct(No17of1982)
IntroductionofanewCompaniesAct
BestAnnualReportcompetitionconducted byICASL
Graphical presentations

5
5~

PART II
Thispartofthequestionnaireincludesalistofselecteditemsofinformationthatcouldbeprovidedin
theannualreportsofcompanies inSriLanka.Hence,youarerequestedtoindicatetheimportanceof
eachitemontheseven-pointscaleprovided.Yourframeofreferenceofjudgingtheitemsshouldbe
thatofapersonusingtheannualreportasasupportingtool formakingdecisionsaboutacompany.
Thedecisionsmaybetobuy,sell,orholdshares;toapprovealoantoacompany;toadviceaclient;or
toevaluatetheperformanceofacompany,etc.

Least
InformationItem ***** H""**"***
15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

Totalrevenueandbreakdown ofvarioussourcesofrevenue 1 2

Operatingprofitbeforeabnormalandextraordinaryitems 1 2

Breakdownofoperatingexpenses | 1 2

Costofgoodssold j1 2

Breakdownofexpensesintofixedandvariablecomponents | 1 j 2

Amountofdepreciation

Goodwillandotherintangibleassetswrittenoff

1 ; 2

1 : 2
i

Totalnon-recurringgainsorlossesreported I1 \'z

Totaladvertisingandpublicityexpenses 1 | 2

Totalresearchanddevelopmentexpenses j1 \z

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

i3

Most
1 important
4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

, 4

0

. 1
5

5
-s 1
i5

!5

' 5

5
i 5

;5

5

Rawmaterialsconsumed andtheirbreakdown 1 2

_ i 1

Wages andsalaries

Directors'emoluments

1 ! 2
i1 |2

• : ~ • 1

Maintenanceandrepairexpenses \
Incometaxandprovisiontherein

Baddebtswrittenoffandprovisionforbaddebts

Totalinterestincludingbreakdown oflong&shortterm loans

1 I'
'

Amountandbreakdown ofstaffwelfare

2

•2

2
. _, .

Aggregateamountofdividendspaid .\_
Contributionsanddonations

|3

|3

j3

!3
i

1 6

13
i

3

!3

13

3

4

;4

4

I4

i4
i _
! 4

!4

4

4

4

-i 1

!5

5

5

5

5

!5

5

5

5
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35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

44.

45.

46.

47.

48.

Auditor's remuneration/fees

Least
important [Pleaseareteonlyone]

Totalassets including breakdown intofixed andcurrent assets

Cost and breakdown ofsecuritiesand investments

Market value ofsecuritiesand investments

Cost and breakdown ofinventories(Rawmaterials,W-l-P,etc)

Book value ofgoodwill andother intangible assets

Totaland breakdown ofcurrentliabilities

Totaland breakdown ofadvances,deposits and prepayments

Totaltaxand differed taxliability

Acquisition ordisposal ofproperty,plantand equipment during the year

Totalaccumulated depreciation on property,plantand equipment

Shareholders'equity and number ofshares outstanding

Totaland breakdown oflong term borrowings

Date ofmaturity,interestrates,and extentofsecuritiesoflong term
borrowings
Detailsofcontingentliabilities

Outstanding gratuity/pension obligations

Sundry debtors less allowances

Reserves,provisions and their breakdown

2

3

3

y

Most
important

Method used todetermine costofinventorieseg.,FIFO, LIFO

Method andrates ofdepreciation

Foreign currency transactions

Amortisation ofintangible assets

Method used formarketable securitiesand investments

Taxation polices

Comparative financial statements

Summary ofimportant operating andfinancialdata forthe last5 years

Summary ofimportant operating andfinancialdataforthe last 10
years
Earnings pershare andthebasisofcalculation

Rate ofgrowth ofearning pershare

Dividend pershare

Breakdown ofresultsbysegments (products,customer classes,etc.)

Production capacity andactual output

Detailsofmajor products/services including informationon newand
potentiallynew products
Detailsofrawmaterials imported andlocalrawmaterialcontents ofthe

finished goods.
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69.

70.

71.

72.

73.

74.

75.

76.

77.

78.

79.

80.

81.

82.

83.

84.

85.

86.

B7.

88.

89.

90.

91.

92.

93.

Least
important PteaseCreteontyone

Detailsoffinished goods exported 1 2

Historyand development ofthecompany 1 2

Description ofmarketing network forfinished goods 1 2

Market share and competitive position ofthecompany 1 2

Market priceofcompany's share 1 2

Description ofmajor plants,warehouses and officesand theirlocations 1 2

Ageing schedule ofthe debtors 1 2

Information on managers and staff(Eg.Number ofemployees inthe 1 2
company)
Indication ofemployee morale such as the rateofabsenteeism, 1 i 2
turnoverand frequency oflabourdisputes.
Detailsofpost balance sheet events 1 2

Discussion ofthefirm'sresultsforprevious yearswith reasons for 1 2
changes
Factors which willinfluencefuture results 1 i 2

Industrytrend,country and company information : 1 ; 2

Discussion ofthe impact on inflationon thefinancialresults 1 2

Statement ofdividend polices 1 2

Detailsofcorporate"socialresponsibility"policesandprograms 1 2

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3 i

3

3

3

3

3

Mos
importan
4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5

5
.

5
i5

5

Statementofcompanyshareoption/bonusplan j 1 j2

Names andaddressofthecompany'sdirectors,functional 1 , 2
responsibilitiesandmajoroutsideaffiliations
Structureofshareownership(individuals,institutions,etc) 1 2

Sharesheldbydirectors j1 j2

Statementofdirectors'responsibility 1 ; 2

Disclosureoffutureplansand targets

Capitalexpenditureforthenextyear
.—,—^—_

Cashprojectionforthenextyear.
Financialobjectivesforthenextyear

1 I2

2

2

2

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

5

5

*>

5

5
5

b

b

b

t
t

THANKYOU FORCOMPLETINGTHE QUESTIONNAIRE.
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Appendix-4

DETAILED PROFILE OF SAMPLE COMPANIES

1

NAME OFTHE COMPANY

ACL CABLES

ACLPLASTICS

ACME PRINTING

AGALAWATTE PLANTATIONSLTD.

AITKENSPENCE HOTELOLDINGSLTD.

ASIANCOTTON MILLSLTD

ASIRIHOSPITALLTD. |
i

ASSOCIATEDMOTORWAYS LTD. j

ASSOCIATED PROPERTY
DEVELOPMENTLTD.

BATASHOE COMPANY OF CEYLON i
LTD.

BLUEDIOMAND JEWELLERY

BOGALA GRAPHITE j

C.W.MACKIE&CO.LTD.

CARGILiLSCEYLON LTD. ;

CENTRALINDUSTRIESLTD ;

CEYLINCOSEYLAN DEVELOPMENT j
LTD. (

CEYLONCOLD STORESLTD I
I

CEYLONGLASSCO. ]

CEYLONGRAIN ELAVATORS

CEYLONHOLIDAYRESORTSLTD.

CEYLONTOBACCO CO.

DANKOTUWA PORCELAIN LT j

DIESEL&MOTOR ENGINEERING j
COMPANY LTD. 1

DIPPEDPRODUCT j

ELASTOMERICENGINEERINGCO.LTD j

EQUITYTWO LTD. j

GLAXOWELCOME CEYLON LTD j

HABARANALODGE LTD. j

HABARANAWALK INNLTD. !
i

HAYLESLTD

[ HAYLEYSPHOTO PRINTED LTD. j

TYPE

Manufacturing

Manufacturing

Manufacturing j

Plantation |

Hotel

Footwear& j
Textile i

Services )

Motors i

Land '
|

Footwear&
Textile l

Manufacturing

Manufacturing ;

Trading

Stores

Manufacturing j

Land

Beverage j

Manufacturing |

Manufacturing j

Hotel

Beverage j

Manufacturing >

Motors I
i

Manufacturing !

Manufacturing !

Land j

Chemicals

Hotel

Hotel

Diversified

Services

YEAR OF
ESTAB

1962

1991

1949
i

1992,

1978;

1967 j

1980

1949:

1983 |

1950I

1990

1991

1923 |

1946'

1984

1992
I

1894.

1956 i
1

1982

1966j

1932j

1984 !
i

1945 i

i
1976j

1983 i

1990 |

1956:

1978«

1973 |

1952;

1982j

FinancialStatusandOperatingPerfonnance(Rs.Millions)

PROFIT
BEFORE

TAX

1658

SALES

12646

163 | 1744:

72

509

2137

-242 i

1328I

1055

66

-729

-1387,

-1198

-3865

468

78

51

2204

218.

177

-185

12302!
i

540,

1151 i

1779

833

28

566,

439

578

8539j

171 |

3529 |

7935

12709

CAPITAL
EMPLOYED

1003 i
1

1925 |

2959

12340

21017

818 I 2131
I

EQUITY |
CAPITAL j

914

1806

1258

4704

18691

831

4520 | 4232 3642

17689

89

11323

672

1125

19920

22532

8631

327

5727

4421

747

5539

3614

2812 I 2723

662

19601 :

6901

38761

2187

235406;

6772 ,

14949;

22210
i

3391 '

170:

7495

1397 ,

1276;

90003;

4100 i

23527

15867

8291 ;

21835

10106;

22258,

6145 i

5146

25320

5943 '

2071
i

2861 |

2178

1165

72588 I

611

7167 |

295i

4871

3515

52:

3751 :

3312

2204,
,„__ _. t

18591 j

14086i

6785

19821

8399

20566

5641

4528 |
i

13391 j

5407

1722

2570;

1910 |

1132;

52135

555;

275



NAME OF THE COMPANY

HAYTECH MARKETING LTD.

HORANA PLANTATIONSLTD.

HOTELREEFCOMBER LTD.

INTERNATIONAL TOURS HOTLIERS
LTD.

JAMESFINLEY&CO.(COLOMBO )LTD.

JOHN KEELIS HOLDINGS

JOHN KEELLSLTD.

KANDY WALK INNLTD.

KEGALLE PLANTATION LTD.
1 . 1
LANKA CEMENT LTD

LANKA CERAMIC LTD

LANKA MILK FOODS

LANKAQALUMINIUM INDUSTRIES LTD

LANKATILESLTD

LANKA WALLTILE LTD

LANKEM CEYLON LTD

MAHAWELLI REACH HOTEL LTD.
i

MASKELIYA PLANTATIONS LTD. |
•

METALPACKAGING LTD

MIKECHRISINDUSTRIES LTD

MILLERSLTD. |
I

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT LTD. j

RICHARD PIERI"SEXPORTS LTD. i
i

ROYALPALM BEACH HOTEL

SERENDIB LAND LTD.

SIGIRIYAVILLAGE HOTEL

STAFFORD HOTELS LTD.

TANGERINE BEACH HOTEL

THELIGHTHOUSE LTD. \
f

THELIONBREVERY CEYLON LTD j

UNION CARBIDE LANKA LTD

UNITEDMOTORS LANKA LTD. |

UPALIINVESTMENT HOLDINGS LTD. j

YORKARCADE HOLDINGS LTD.

TYPE

Trading

Plantation

Hotel
_ _ _ . _j

Hotel

Trading

Diversified

Services

Hotel

Plantation

Manufacturing

Manufacturing

Beverage

Manufacturing

Manufacturing j

Manufacturing

Chemicals ;

Hotel

Plantation

Manufacturing J

Manufacturing

Stores

Land

Trading

Hotel

Land

Hotel |

Hotel

Hotel

Hotel

Beverage

Chemicals

Motors

Diversified

Land j

1
YEAR OF
ESTAB

1987

1992

1973

1973

1974

_1979J
1960

1979

1992,

1981

1991

1981

1983

1983j

1975I

1964 J

1973i
i

1992j

1983 |
J

1979

1921

1980 j
i

1983 |

i

1980j

1978

1981

1980j
1

1994j
1

1965j
•

1988;

1945 I

1927J

1983 |

FinancialStatusandOperatingPerformance(Rs.Miffions)

PROFIT
BEFORE

TAX

147

145;

3

225

I 2179

14696

705

263

389

-1932

1758:

918

587

830;

2188

-372

-114

1394:

59

-139

955

2299

495;

504:

55

130

280!

785

298

741

125

1737

82

125 ,

SALES

2853

6799

2212

1040

36393

116712

2365

1239

6085

616

43265

203125

3849

1262

25390

33983

1743

12712

2583

1034

37354

1926

7052

1903

67

957 |

1214 |

3469i

1185 i
i

11328

1318

11842;

12852

292

CAPITAL
EMPLOYED

532

5987

939 ,

1594

50238

110165

6292

1938

12688

11480

33180

4899

2162

6124

23250

26671

4070

16595]

2313

193

6796

11413

5120 .

7817
1

390i

1068

3968

12993 !

4861i

16356j

677

7831

5771

1749

EQUITY
CAPITAL

372

368

860

1507

32699

89327

5898

1820

5119

1986;

21328

4375

1930

5726

12837

5899
i

1116 !
i

6861 ;

2074

90

6403

9377

4804

7690

374

857;

3713 i

12269

4855

14348

628

7700

3254i

1489
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Appendix-5

LIST OF DISCLOSURE INDEX ITEMS

_h : Var-No

DIN01

DIN02

PLMAN1 Revenue(Turnover)onthefaceoftheProfitandLossaccount 15
PLVOL1

DIN03

DIN04

DIN05

DIN06

DIN07

DIN08

DIN09

PLVOL2

PLVOL3

PLVOL4

PLVOL5

PLVOL6

PLVOL7

Breakdownoftherevenue

Revenue(Turnover)fromexportsales

Turnovertax&nationalsecuritylevy

15

69

15
Netturnover 15
Totalcostofsales

__j

18
Breakdownofcostofsales 18

DINO10

DIN011

DIN012

DIN013

DIN014

DIN015

DIN016

DIN017

PLVOL8

PLVOL9

PLVOL10

PLVOL11

PLVOL12

PLMAN2

DIN018

DIN019

DINO20

PLMAN3

PLVOL13

Raw Materialconsumed

Breakdownofrawmaterialsconsumed

Changesininventories(finishedgoodsandworkinprogress)

Grossprofit

Totalotherincome

Breakdown ofotherihcome

Interest,royalties,dividendsandrentalsonlong-termandcurrentinvestments

PLVOL14

PLVOL15

Incomefrominvestmentsdistinguishingbetweenquotedandunquoted

25

25

18

16

15

15

15

15

Profit/Lossondisposalofcurrentinvestment 15

Profit/Lossondisposaloffixedassets 15

TotalExpenses 17

PLMAN4

PLMAN5

Analysisofallexpensesbynatureofexpenses(eg.Wages,depreciationetc)

Analysisofallexpensesbytheirfunction(eg.Administrative,sellingetc)

17

17

DIN021 PLVOL16 Analysisofexpensesintofixedandvariablecost 19

DIN022 PLMAN6 Depreciation 20

DIN023 PLMAN7 Goodwillandotherintangibleswrittenoff 21

DIN024 PLVOL17 Advertisementandpublicityexpenses 23

DIN025 PLVOL18 Wagesandsalaries 26

DIN026 PLVOL19 Executivewagesandsalaries 26

DIN027 PLVOL20 Breakdownofwagesandsalariesunderexpensescategories 26

DIN028 PLMAN8 Directors'emoluments 27

DIN029 PLMAN9 Auditors'remuneration 35

DINO30 PLVOL21 Baddebtswrittenoff 30

DIN031 PLVOL22 Provisionfordoubtfuldebts 30
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Var-No Item Name

DIN032

DIN033

DIN034

DIN035

DIN036

PLVOL23
J Maintenanceandrepairsexpenses 28

PLVOL24

PLMAN10

PLMAN11

DIN037

DIN038

DIN039

DINO40

DIN041

PLMAN12

PLMAN13

PLMAN14

PLVOL25

DIN042

DIN043

DIN044

DIN045.

DIN046

DIN047'

DIN048

DIN049

PLMAN15

PLMAN16

PLVOL26

Retirementbenefitexpense

Researchanddevelopmentcostsrecognisedasanexpenseintheperiod

OperatingprofitshownonthefaceofProfitandLossAccount

32

24

16

Interest(Financecosts)ondebenturesandotherfixedloansshownontheface
ofProfitandLossAccount

31

BreakdownofInterestondebenturesandotherfixedloans 31

Shareofprofits/lossesofassociatecompaniesshownonthefaceofProfitand
LossAccount

15

Breakdownoftheshareofassociatecompanies'profits

PLMAN17

PLMAN18

PLMAN19

DINO50

DIN051

DIN052

DIN053

PLMAN20

Profitbeforetax(Profitfromordinaryactivitiesbeforetax)

TotaltaxexpenseshownonthefaceofProfitandLossAccount

Breakdownoftotaltaxexpense

15

16

29

29
Basisofcomputingincometax

Profitfromordinaryactivitiesaftertaxandbeforeextraordinaryactivities

ExtraordinaryitemsshownonthefaceofProfitandLossAccount

PLMAN21

PLMAN22

PLMAN23

PLVOL27

PLMAN24

Netprofitfortheyear(Profitattributabletoordinaryshareholders/profitafter
extraordinaryitems]^

Aggregatenetdividendspaidandproposed

Dividendsbyclassesofsharesanddividendrates

EarningpershareshownintheProfitandLossAccountorinnotes

Methodofcomputationofearningpershare

29

16

22

16

33

33

62

62

PLMAN25

PLMAN26

Amountusedasanumeratorincalculatingearningpershare 62

Weightedaveragenumberofordinarysharesusedasadenominator 62

Earningpershare,beforeandafterextraordinaryitems 62

DIN054 PLMAN27 DividendpershareshownintheP/Lorinnotes 60

DIN055 PLMAN28 Comparativefigures-ProfitandLossaccountofthepreviousyear 59

DIN056 BSVOL1 Totalfixedassets 36

DIN057 BSVOL2 Totalfixedassetsforthegroupandthecompany 36

DIN058 BSVOL3 Detailedbreakdownoffixedassets 36

DIN059 BSMAN1 Property,plantandequipmentshownonthefaceofBalancesheet 36

DINO60 BSMAN2 Totaldepreciationallocatedfortheperiodonproperty,plantandequipments 45

DIN061 BSVOL4 Totaldepreciationonproperty,plantandequipmentallocatedfortheperiodfor
thegroupandthecompany

45

DIN062 BSMAN3 Accumulateddepreciationonproperty,pantandequipments 45

DIN063 BSVOL5 Accumulateddepreciationonproperty,plantandequipmentsforthegroupand
thecompany

45
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I || 319
DIN064

DIN065

DIN066

DIN067

DIN068

DIN069

DINO70

DIN071

DIN072

DIN073

DIN074

DIN075

DIN076

DIN077

DIN078

DIN079

DINO80

DIN081

DIN082

DIN083

DIN084

DIN085

DIN086

DIN087

! DIN088
t

I

DIN089

DINO90

DIN091

DIN092
, i

DIN093

DIN094

DIN095

DIN096

BSV0L6

BSV0L7

BSV0L8

BSV0L9

BSVOL10

BSMAN4

BSV0L11

BSV0L12

BSMAN5

BSV0L13

BSV0L14

BSV0L15

BSMAN6

BSMAN7

BSMAN8

BSV0L16

BSV0L17

BSV0L18

BSMAN9

BSV0L19

BSVOL20

BSV0L21

BSVOL22

BSVOL23

BSVOL24

BSMAN10

BSMAN11

BSVOL25

BSMAN12

BSMAN13

BSMAN14

BSVOL26

BSVOL27

____li_i_| n____
Netvalueofproperty, plantandequipments 36

j Acquisitionordisposalofproperty, plantandequipments

Total investmentsin subsidiariesatcost
i — — .

44 i

37

Breakdownoftotalinvestmentsin subsidiariesatcost 37

Investmentsin subsidiariesdistinguish betweenquoted/unquoted

Marketvalueofquotedinvestmentsin subsidiaries

Listing anddescriptionofinvestmentsinsubsidiaries

Ownershipinterestofthecompanyinsubsidiaries

Investmentsinassociatesaccountedforusingcostorequitymethod

Breakdownofinvestmentsinassociatesatcost

Investmentsin associatesatequitymethod

Investmentsin associatesdistinguish betweenquoted/unquoted

Marketvalueofquotedinvestmentsinassociates

Listing anddescription ofsignificantassociates

37

38

37

37

37

37

37

37

38
-
37

Ownershipinterestofsignificantassociates | 37

Otherinvestmentsatcost j 37
!

Breakdownofotherinvestments atcost

Otherinvestmentsdistinguish betweenquoted/unquoted

Marketvalueofquotedinvestmentsin otherinvestments

Othernon-currentassets

Breakdownofothernon-currentassets

Additionsandrecoveriesofothernon-currentassetsduringtheyear

Openingnetbookamountofintangibleassets

Amortisationofintangibleassets

Closingnetbookamountofintangibleassets

Amountofintangible assetsisshownonthefaceoftheBalanceSheet

Totalamountofcurrentassets

Breakdownofcurrentassetsvalue

Totalvalueofinventories

AmountofinventoriesshownonthefaceoftheBalance Sheet

Breakdownofinventoriesatcost 1

Totalmarketvalueofinventories

Shortterminvestmentsatcost I

37

37

38

36 ;

36

36 ;

40

40

40

40

36

36

39

39 ;

39 |

39 ;

37
'•
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IB E3
DIN097

DIN098

DIN099

DINO100

DINO101

DINO102

DINO103

DINO104

DINO105

DINO106

DINO107

DINO108

DINO109

DINO110

DIN0111

DIN0112

DIN0113

DIN0114
, i

DIN0115

DIN0116

DIN0117

DIN0118

DIN0119

DINO120

DIN0121

DIN0122

DIN0123

DIN0124

DIN0125

DIN0126 j

DIN0127 |

DIN0128

DIN0129 !

BSVOL28

BSVOL29

BSVOL30

BSV0L31

BSMAN15

BSVOL32

BSVOL33

BSVOL34

BSVOL35

BSVOL36

BSVOL37

BSMAN16

BSMAN17

BSVOL38

BSMAN18 i
_ _ J
BSMAN19 !

BSMAN20

BSMAN21

BSMAN22

BSVOL39

BSMAN23

BSMAN24

BSMAN25

BSMAN26

BSMAN27

BSVOL40

BSMAN28

BSMAN29

BSMAN30

BSMAN31

BSMAN32 |

BSV0L41 I

BSVOL42 i
I

I Item Name

Breakdown ofshortterminvestmentsatcost

Marketvalueofshortterm investments

Amount duefrom related companies

Breakdown ofamountduefromrelated companies

Tradeandotherreceivablesshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet

Breakdown oftradeandotherreceivables

Sundrydebtors

Agescheduleofthedebtors

Provisionfordoubtfuldebtsatendoftheperiod

Advances,depositsand prepayments

Breakdown ofadvances, depositsand prepayments

Bank/cash balance

Cash andcashequivalentsshown onthefaceofthebalancesheet

Breakdown ofcash/bank balances

Number ofordinarysharesauthorised

Number ofordinarysharesissuedandfullypaid, andissuedbutnotfullypaid

Parvalueofanordinaryshare

Rights, preferencesandrestrictionsattachedtoordinaryshares

Ordinarysharesreservedforissuanceunderoptionsandsalescontracts

Ordinarysharecapitalforthecompany andthegroup

Issuedordinarysharecapitalshown onthefaceofthebalancesheet

Number ofpreferencesharesauthorised

Number ofpreferencesharesissuedandfullypaid, andissuedbutnotfullypaid

Parvalueofapreferenceshare

Rights, preferencesandrestrictionsattachedtopreferenceshares

Preferencesharecapitalforthecompany andthegroup

Issuedpreferencesharecapitalshown onthefaceofthebalancesheet

Totalreservesshown onthefaceofthebalancesheet

Breakdown ofreservesintocapitalreserveand revenuereserve

All movements ofreserves, includingbalanceB/F;transfers,etc.

Share premium

Breakdown ofshare premium

Sharepremium forthecompany andthegroup

i&rji
37 ,j

,- - - - |
38

36

36

36 .

36

51 ,

75 :

51

42

42

36

36

36

46

46 !

46

46

46

46

46

47

47

47

47

47

47

52

52

52

52

52

52
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m
DINO130

DIN0131

DIN0132

DIN0133

DIN0134

DIN0135

DIN0136

DIN0137

DIN0138

DIN0139
I

DINO140

DIN0141

DIN0142

DIN0143

DIN0144

DIN0145

DIN0146

DIN0147

DIN0148

DIN0149

DINO150

DIN0151

DIN0152

DIN0153

DIN0154

DIN0155
_
DIN0156I

DIN0157j

DIN0158

DIN0159
i

DINO160

DIN0161 |
i

DIN0162 j

| BSVOL43

BSVOL44

BSVOL45

BSVOL46

BSVOL47

BSMAN33

BSMAN34

BSVOL48

BSVOL49

BSVOL50
...

BSV0L51

BSVOL52

BSVOL53

BSMAN35

BSMAN36

BSMAN37

BSVOL54

BSVOL55

BSVOL56

BSVOL57

BSMAN38 |

BSMAN39

BSMAN40

BSMAN41

BSVOL58

BSMAN42 !
i

BSVOL59
i

BSVOL60

BSMAN43

BSV0L61 |
i

BSVOL62 !
i

BSMAN44

BSVOL63

Retainedprofitatthebeginningandendoftheyear

| Changesinretainedprofitduringtheyear

j Minorityinterestatthebeginningoftheyear |

j Changestominorityofinterestduringtheyear

| Minorityinterestattheendoftheyear

Minorityinterestshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet

Noncurrentinterestbearingliabilitiesshownonthefaceofbalancesheet

Breakdownoflongtermborrowings

Extentofsecurityonlongtermborrowings

Sourcesoffinance(LendingInstitution)oflongtermborrowings

Interestratesapplicableforlongtermborrowings

Informationaboutrepaymentoflongtermborrowings

Longtermloansrepayableafteroneyear

Deferredtaxbalanceatthebeginningoftheyear j

Transfersto/fromdeferredtaxduringtheyear

Deferredtaxbalanceattheendoftheyear

Provisionforgratuityatthebeginningoftheyear

Provisionforgratuityduringtheyear

Paymentsforgratuityduringtheyear ;

Provisionforgratuityattheendoftheyear j

Generaldescriptionofthegratuityplan,includingemployeegroupscovered

Detailsandmethodsoffundingofthegratuityliability

Theactuarialpresentvalueofpromisedretirementbenefit

Totalcurrentliabilities

Breakdownofcurrentliabilities

Tradeandotherpayablesshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet

Tradecreditors

Longtermloansrepayablewithinoneyear

Taxliabilitiesshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet

Amountduetorelatedcompanies ;

Breakdownofamountduetorelatedcompanies

Provisionsshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet

Provisionforfallingvalueofinvestments ••

]
52

52

r 47

47

1 4?

47

47

47

48

48

48

48

47

43

43 ,

43

50

50

50

50

50

50
i

50 :

41

41

41

41

41

43

41 !

141 |
i

41 ;

37
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I^ l̂ ||Qn] _•_____________________•
DIN0163

DIN0164

DIN0165

DIN0166

DIN0167

DIN0168

DIN0169

DINO170

DIN0171

DIN0172
l
DIN0173

DIN0174

DIN0175

DIN0176

DIN0177

DIN0178

DIN0179

DINO180

DIN0181

DIN0182

DIN0183

DIN0184

DIN0185

DIN0186

DIN0187 i

DIN0188

DIN0189

DINO190

DIN0191

DIN0192

BSMAN45

BSMAN46

BSV0L64

BSVOL65

BSMAN47

BSVOL66

BSVOL67

BSVOL68

BSMAN48

BSMAN49

BSVOL69

0CV0L1

0CMAN1

0CV0L2 !

0CMAN2

0CV0L3 I

0CMAN3

0CV0L4

0CMAN4

0CMAN5

0CMAN6

0CV0L5

0CV0L6

0CV0L7 j

0CV0L8

i

0CMAN7

0CMAN8

0CV0L9

0CMAN9

OCMAN10 |
i

Dividendsproposed

Aggregateamountofbankloansandoverdrafts

fdl̂JI
41

41

Amountofcontingentliabilities 49

Description/Breakdownbynatureofcontingentliabilities j 49

Comparativefigures-Balancesheetofthepreviousyear \ 59

Netcurrentassets/ (liabilities)[WorkingCapital] 60

Netassets[totalassets-currentliabilities] I 60

Detailsofrelatedpartytransactions j 41

Capitalexpenditurecommitments I 91

Amount-Materialpostbalancesheetevents J 78

Description/ Breakdownbynatureofpostbalancesheetevents 78

CashflowstatementIncludedasanintegralpartofthefinancialstatements

Cashflowsfromoperatingactivitiesofthecompanyshowninthecashflow
statement

Breakdownofcashgenerated fromoperationsshowninthecash flow
statement

Cashflowsfrominvestingactivitiesofthecompanyshowninthecash flow
statement

Breakdown ofcashgenerated frominvestmentsshowninthecash flow
statement

Cashflowsfromfinancingactivitiesofthecompanyshowninthecash flow
statement

Breakdownofcashgenerated fromfinancialactivitiesshowninthecash flow
statement

CashflowsassociatedwithextraordinaryitemsshownseparatelyintheCFS

Cashflowsfrominterestanddividendsreceivedandpaidshowninthe CFS

Cashflowsarisingfromtaxesonincomeshown inthecashflowstatement

Cashandcashequivalentsatthebeginningoftheyearshowninthecash flow
statement

Cashandcashequivalentsattheendoftheyearshowninthecashflow
statement

Breakdownofthecashandcashequivalentsattheendoftheyearshowninthe ;
rashflowstatfiment

Netincrease/(decrease)incashandcashequivalentsshowninthecashflow
statfiment

11.3

11.3

11.3 :

11.3
i

11.3 ;

11.3

11.3

11.3 .

11.3

11.3 ;

11.3

11.3

11.3 !

i

11.3

Comparativefigures-CashFlowStatementofthepreviousyear 59

Statementofchangesinequity j 1 16

TotalRevenueformajorsegmentsofthecompany

Revenuefromexternalsales

Revenuefromintersegmentsales

65

65

65
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•• ••rcwjrai __________________________________________•
DIN0193

DIN0194

DIN0195

DIN0196

DIN0197

DIN0198

DIN0199

DINO200

DINO201

DINO202

DINO203

DINO204

DINO205

DINO206

DINO207

DINO208

DINO209
i

DINO210

DIN0211

DIN0212

DIN0213

DIN0214

DIN0215

DIN0216

DIN0217

DIN0218

DIN0219

DINO220

DIN0221

DIN0222

DIN0223

DIN0224!
i

DIN0225I
i

OCVOL10

0CV0L11

0CMAN11

0CMAN12

0CMAN13
I
0CMAN14

0CV0L12

0CMAN15

0CMAN16

0CMAN17

0CMAN18

0CMAN19

OCMAN20

0CMAN21

OCMAN22

OCMAN23

OCMAN24

0CV0L13

OCMAN25 |

OCMAN26 |
i

0CV0L14

OCMAN27

OCMAN28

OCMAN29

OCMAN30

0CV0L15

0CV0L16

0CMAN31

0CV0L17

OCMAN32

OCMAN33 j

0CV0L18 |

OCMAN34 j

I Turnoverbasedtaxesforeachmajorsegment

Netturnoverforeachmajorsegment

Profitofeachmajorsegment ;

Assetsofeachmajorsegment i

Liabilitiesofeachmajorsegment

Depreciationofsegmentalassets

Capitalexpenditureofsegments

Accountingpolicesaredisclosedinoneplaceasanintegralpartoffinancial
statements

Basisofaccounting(Accountingconvention)

Accountingpolicyforconsolidation

Accountingpolicyforconversionofforeignexchange

Accountingpolicyfortaxation

Accountingpolicyfordeferredtaxation

Valuationbasesusedfordeterminingtheamountsofdepreciableassets

Depreciationmethodsusedforproperty,plantandequipments

Depreciationratesusedforproperty,plantsandequipments

Accountingpolicyforintangibleassets

Accountingpolicyfordiscontinuedoperations

Accountingpolicyforsegmentalreporting

Accountingpolicyforinvestments

Accountingpolicyforpostbalancesheetevents

Accountingpolicyforproperty,plant& equipment

Accountingpolicyforlease,hirepurchase,orinstalmenttransactions,and
relatedinterest

Accountingpolicyforinventories

Accountingpolicyforcashandcashequivalents |

Accountingpolicyfortradeandotherreceivables

Accountingpolicyforliabilities

Accountingpolicyforemployeebenefitcosts(gratuity)

Accountingpolicyforexpenditure !

- — i

Accountingpolicyforrevenuerecognition

Accountingpolicyforresearchanddevelopmentcosts ;
>

Accountingpolicyforcomparativefigures ;

Accountingpolicyforcapitalcommitmentandcontingencies

MEM
65 —

i 65
I

65

65

65

65

65

11.4

11.4

11.4

55

58

11.4

54

54

54

56

11.4

11.4 l

57

11.4

11.4

11.4

53

11.4

11.4

11.4

11.4

11.4

11.4 |

11.4 ,

11.4 \

11.4 !
I
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I
DIN0226

DIN0227

DIN0228

DIN0229

DINO230

DIN0231

DIN0232

DIN0233

DIN0234

DIN0235

DIN0236:

DIN0237i

DIN0238

DIN0239

DINO240

DIN0241

DIN0242

DIN0243

DIN0244

DIN0245

DIN0246

DIN0247

DIN0248

DIN0249

DINO250

DIN0251

DIN0252

DIN0253

DIN0254|

DIN0255

DIN0256
-

Var-No

0CMAN35

SRMAN1

SRMAN2

SRMAN3

SRMAN4

SRVOL1

SRMAN5

SRVOL2

SRVOL3

SRVOL4 !
i

SRVOL5 j

SRVOL6

SRVOL7

SRMAN6

SRVOL8

SRVOL9

SRMAN7

SRMAN8

SRMAN9

SRMAN10

SRMAN11

SRMAN12

SRMAN13

OIMAN1

OIVOL1

OIVOL2

OIVOL3

OIMAN2

OIVOL4

OIVOL5

OIVOL6

I Item Name l

Accountingpolicyforborrowingcosts

Directors'report

Principalactivitiesandbusinessreviewshown inthedirectors'report

Stateofthecompany'saffairsshown inthedirector'sreport

Amount proposedtotransfertoreservesshown inthedirectors'report

Descriptiononpaymentofdividends.

Amount recommend tobepaidasdividendsshown inthedirector'sreport

Movementsinsharesandsharecapital(shareissuingandlisting)duringthe
year

Statementofpersonsholdingsubstantialpartofthesharecapital

Namesofthedirectors

Detailedinformationsuchasgender,ages,positions,etcaboutdirectors

Changesinthedirectorboardduringtheyear

Directors'interestinsharesordebentures

Directors'directorindirectinterestinacontractwiththecompany

Contributionsand Donations

Referencetotheresolutiontoreappointtheauditors

Auditor'sreport

Auditor'sreportstateswhetheralltheinformationandexplanationsnecessary
havebeenobtained

Auditor'sreportstatestheopinionoftheauditoroncompany'skeepingproper
booksofaccount

Auditor'sreportstateswhetherfinancialstatementsareinagreementwiththe
booksofaccount

Auditor'sreportstateswhetherfinancialstatementsgiveatrueandfairview

Auditor'sreportstateswhetherthefinancialstatementsgivetheinformation
requiredbytheAct

Auditor'sreportstateswhetherthecompany directorsareinterestedinacontract
withthe company

Name,legalform,countryofincorporation,addressoftheregisteredoffice

Briefeconomicreviewofthecountry

Briefdescriptionofthenatureoftheindustryanditstrends

Company structure

Historyanddevelopmentsofthecompany

Chairman'sreport

InformationsuchasNames,positionsoftheseniormanagement(Executives).

Ageanalysisoftheexecutives

| _:_•

.1.4

'1.9

119

11 9

119

83

11.9

11.9

11 9

86

86

119 ;

88

11.9 !

34

i

11.7

11.7

11.7

11.7

• i

11.7

11.7

11.7

81

81

81

81 ;

I70
11.8

I?6
I 76
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,-
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DIN0257

DIN0258

DIN0259

DINO260

DIN0261

DIN0262

DIN0263

DIN0264

DIN0265

DIN0266

DIN0267

DIN0268

DIN0269

DINO270

DIN0271j

DIN0272i

DIN0273 i

DIN0274
i

DIN0275

DIN0276

DIN0277

DIN0278

DIN0279

DINO280

DIN0281

DIN0282

DIN0283|

DIN0284j

DIN0285;

DIN0286 |

DIN0287I

DIN0288 |
i

DIN0289 |

0IMAN3

' 0IV0L7

0IV0L8
._

0IV0L9

OIVOL10

0IV0L11

0IV0L12

0IV0L13

0IV0L14

0IV0L15

0IV0L16

0IV0L17

0IV0L18

0IV0L19 |

OIVOL20 !
_J

0IV0L21 1
i

OIVOL22 j

OIVOL23 1
i

OIVOL24

OIVOL25

OIVOL26

OIVOL27 j

OIVOL28 :

OIVOL29 |

OIVOL30

0IV0L31

OIVOL32

OIVOL33 |

I Numberofemployees attheendoftheperiodortheaveragefortheperiod ! 76

Valueaddedperemployee ( 77

Indicationofemployeemoralesuchasrateofabsenteeism,frequencyoflabour ! 77
[disputes. |

A fairreviewofthecompanyresultsduringtheyearandinthepreviousyears ' 79

Descriptionofmarketingnetworkforfinishedgoods 71

Company'spositionintheindustry(Eg.. Rank)/shareofmarketinmajorproduct
areas

Detailsofmajorproducts/servicesincludingnewandpotentiallynewproducts

72

67

Technologyimprovementandupgrade | 79

Futureplansandtargetsforthedevelopmentofthebusiness 90
-—. —_ ... i

Factorswhichwillinfluencefutureresultsofthecompany.

Descriptionofmajorplants,warehouses,officesandtheirlocations

Differencebetweenmarketvalueandbookvalueoflandandbuildings

Productioncapacityandactuallevelofoutput

Detailsofrawmaterialsimported

Localrawmaterialcontentoffinishedgoods

Breakdownoftotalshareholdingsintonumberofsharegroups

Categoriesofshareholdersasindividualandinstitutional

Categoriesofshareholdersasresidentandnon-resident
i

Marketpricepershareatthebalancesheetdate !

Marketpricepershareforeachquarter

Highestandlowestpriceduringtheyear

Marketpricepershareatthelastyear

Mainprofitandlossaccountitemsforthelast5years

Mainprofitandlossaccountitemsforoverthelast10years

Mainbalancesheetitemsforthelast5year-

Mainbalancesheetitemsforoverthelast10years

Keyaccountingratiosforthisyearandpreviousyear

Keyaccountingratiosforthelast5years

OIVOL34 || Keyaccountingratiosforthelast10years

OIMAN4

OIVOL35 |

OIVOL36

OIVOL37 |

Earnings/(loss)pershare forthisyearandpreviousyear

Earnings/(loss)pershareforthelast5years

Earnings/(loss)pershareforthelast10years

Rateofgrowthofearningpershare i

80

74

74

66

68 ;

70 l

87

87

87

73

73

73

73

60

61

60

61

60 j

60

61

62

60

61

63
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E || I
DINO290

DIN0291

DIN0292

DIN0293

DIN0294

DIN0295

DIN0296

DIN0297

DIN0298

D1N0299

DINO300 |
. _ . J
DINO301j

DINO302

DINO303

DINO304

DINO305

DINO306

DINO307

DINO308

DINO309

DINO310

DIN0311

DIN0312

DIN0313

DIN0314

DIN0315

DIN0316

DIN0317

DIN0318

0IMAN5

OIVOL38

OIVOL39

OIVOL40

0IV0L41

OIVOL42 !

OIVOL43 |
..I

OIVOL44 |

OIVOL45 j
i

OIVOL46 |

OIVOL47

OIVOL48 !

OIVOL49

OIVOL50

0IV0L51

OIVOL52

OIVOL53

OIVOL54

OIVOL55

OIVOL56

OIVOL57 I

OIVOL58

OIVOL59 j

OIVOL60 ;
i

0IMAN6 I

0IV0L61 !
1
i

OIVOL62 |

OIVOL63

OIVOL64

| ItemName |

Dividendpersharethisyearandpreviousyear

Dividendpershareforthelast5years

Dividendpershareforthelast10years

Netassetspershareforthisyearandpreviousyear

Netassetspershareforthelast5years

Netassetspershareforthelast10years

Interestcoverforthisyearandpreviousyear

Interestcoverforthelast5years

Interestcoverforthelast10years

PriceEarningsRatioforthisyearandpreviousyear

PriceEarningsRatioforthelast5years

PriceEarningsRatioforthelast10years

Currentratioforthisyearandpreviousyear

Currentratioforthelast5years

Currentratioforthelast10years

Debtequityratioforthisyearandpreviousyear

Debtequityratioforlast5years

DebtequityratioforlastTOyears

Returnoncapitalforthecompany

Returnoncapitalformainproductareas

Statementofcompanyshareoption/bonus/dividendsplans(Historyofsuch
offers)

Valueaddedstatementsofany form

Priceleveladjustedbalancesheet,incomestatement, andotherdata

Discussionontheimpactoninflationonthefinancialresults

Statementofdirectors'responsibility

Detailsofcorporatesocialresponsibilitypolicesandprograms

Comparisonofactualperformanceandoperatingobjectives

Cashprojectionforthenextyear

Financialobjectivesforthenextyear

I
! 64

60

61 ,

60 !
!

60

61

60

60

61

60

60

61

60 i

60

61

60

60

61

60

60

85

11.10

82

82

89

84
.
93

92
I

79 '

286



Appendix-6

LIST OF MANDATOR Y INFORMATION ITEMS

S.No.

1

2

3

4

5

6 !

LJLJ
8 !

L !

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16 |

17

18 i

I
19 |

20 !
i

21

22 j

23 |

24 j

25 j

26 |

27

IUs m N a m e i Var-No Dl-No

Revenue(Turnover)onthefaceoftheP/L[SLAS3.75a] PLMAN1 IDIN01

Interest, royalties, dividendsandrentalsonlong-termandcurrentinvestments PLM-.N2 DIN014
[SLAS22.49.11
Incomefrominvestmentsdistinguishingbetweenquotedandunquoted
[ActSch5.12.1.g].

Analysisofallexpensesbynatureofexpenses(eg. Wages,depreciationetc)
JSLAS3J7]

PLMAN3

PLMAN4

DIN015

DIN019

Analysisofall expensesbytheirfunction(eg.Administrative, sellingetc) PLMAN5 DINO20
[SLAS3.77] j

Depreciation[Act.Sch.5.12.1.a]and[SLAS3.83]

Goodwillandotherintangibleswritten off[SLAS3.83]

Directors'emoluments[ActS200SS1].

Auditors'remuneration[ActSchS.13].

PLMAN6

PLMAN7 |
. . —\
PLMAN8

PLMAN9

Researchanddevelopmentcostsrecognisedasanexpensein theperiod jPLMAN10
[SLAS11.29.b] j

OperatingprofitshownonthefaceofP/L [SLAS3.75.b]

Interest(Financecosts)ondebenturesandotherfixedloans shownonthe
faceofP/L[SLAS3.75.c]

BreakdownofInterestondebenturesandotherfixedloans [ActSch.5.12.b].

Shareofprofits/lossesofassociatecompaniesshownonthefaceofP/L
[SLAS3.75.d]

Profitbeforetax(Profitfromordinaryactivitiesbeforetax)[SLAS3.75.f]&
[SLAS10.9.a]

TotaltaxexpenseshownonthefaceofP/L[SLAS3.75.e]and
[Act.Sch.5.12.1.c].

Basisofcomputingincometax[Act.Sch.5.14.3].

Profitfromordinaryactivitiesaftertaxandbeforeextraordinaryactivities
[SLAS3.75.f]&[SLAS10.9.a]

ExtraordinaryitemsshownonthefaceofP/L[SLAS3.75.g]& [SLAS10.9.b]

Netprofitfortheyear(Profitattributabletoordinaryshareholders/profitafter
extraordinaryitems) [SLAS3.75.I]

Aggregatenetdividendspaidandproposed[ActSch5.12.1.h].

Dividendsbyclassesofsharesanddividendrates[ActSch5.12.4].

Earningpershareshown intheP/Lorin notes[SLAS3.85]

AmountusedasanumeratorincalculatingEPS [SLAS34.52.a]

Theweightedaveragenumberofordinarysharesusedasadenominator
[SLAS34.52.b] . I

Earningpershare,beforeandafterextraordinaryitems[SLAS34.50]

Dividendpershareshownin theP/Lorinnotes[SLAS3.85]

PLMAN11

PLMAN12

PLMAN13

PLMAN14

PLMAN15 !

PLMAN16
t

PLMAN17

PLMAN18

PLMAN19

PLMAN20

PLMAN21
i

PLMAN22 :

PLMAN23

PLMAN24

PLMAN25

PLMAN26

PLMAN27

DIN022

DIN023

DIN028

DINC29

DIN034

DIN035 j

DIN036

DIN037 '•

DIN038

I
DINO40 '

DIN041

DIN043

DIN044

DIN045

DIN046

DIN047

DIN048

DIN049 |

DIN051 :

DIN052

DIN053

DIN054
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S.No.

28

29

30

31

32

33

34
i

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

,, i

44

45

46

47

48

49

50

51

52 I

53

54

55

j — - - - • •—• _..,.,

Item Name Var-No

Comparativefigures-ProfitandLossaccountofthepreviousyear PLMAN28
[ActSch.514.5]&[SLAS3.38] njviAN B̂

Property, plantandequipmentshownonthefaceofBalancesheet
[SLAS3.66.a])

Totaldepreciationallocatedforthe periodonproperty, plantandequipments
[SLAS8;15.c].

Theaccumulated depreciationonproperty, pantandequipments[SLAS
8:15.d],

Marketvalueofquotedinvestmentsinsubsidiaries[SLAS22.49.b.c]

Investmentsin associatesaccountedforusingcostorequitymethod fSLAS
27.13.a] l

BSMAN1

BSMAN2

BSMAN3

BSMAN4

BSMAN5

Marketvalueofquotedinvestmentsin associates[SLAS22.49.b.c] BSMAN6

Listinganddescriptionofsignificantassociates[SLAS27.26]

Ownershipinterestofsignificantassociates[SLAS27.26]

Marketvalueofquotedinvestmentsin otherinvestments [SLAS22.49.b.c]

Amountofintangible assetsisshownonthefaceoftheBalanceSheet
[SLAS3.66.b]

Totalamountofcurrentassets[SLAS15.19]

Totalvalueofinventories[SLAS5.33.b]. —]

Amountofinventoriesshownonthefaceofthe BalanceSheet[SLAS3.66.eJ

Breakdownofinventoriesatcost[SLAS3.73.C]

Tradeandotherreceivablesshown onthefaceofthebalancesheet
[SLAS3.66.f]

Bank/cashbalance[SLAS3.66.g]

Cashandcashequivalentsshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet
[SLAS3.66.g]

Numberofordinarysharesauthorised[SLAS3.74a.l].

Numberofordinarysharesissuedandfullypaid, andissuedbutnotfully
paid[SLAS3.74a.ii].

Parvalueofanordinaryshare[SLAS3.74a.iii].

Rights, preferencesandrestrictionsattachedtoordinaryshares
[SLAS3.74.a.v]

Ordinarysharesreservedforissuanceunderoptionsandsalescontracts
[SLAS3.74.a.vii] _J

Issuedordinarysharecapitalshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet
[SLAS3.66.m] J

Numberofpreferencesharesauthorised[SLAS3.74a.l].

Numberofpreferencesharesissuedandfullypaid, andissuedbutnotfully
paidJSLAS3.74a.iil.

Parvalueofapreferenceshare[SLAS3.74a.iii].

Rights,preferencesandrestrictionsattachedtopreferenceshares
[SLAS3.74.a.v]

BSMAN7

BSMAN8
f

BSMAN9

BSMAN10 <

BSMAN11

BSMAN12

BSMAN13

BSMAN14

BSMAN15 ;

BSMAN16

BSMAN17

BSMAN18

BSMAN19

BSMAN20 :

BSMAN21

BSMAN22 !

BSMAN23

BSMAN24

BSMAN25

BSMAN26

BSMAN27

Dl-No

DIN055

DIN059

DINO60

DIN062

DIN069

DIN072

DIN076

DIN077

"DIN078-

"DINdflS-
I

~DiN089

DIN09Q ,
I

DIN092 >

DIN093 j

DIN094 :

DINO101i

DINO108!

DINO109i

DIN0111

DIN0112

DIN0113;

DIN0114

DIN0115

D1N0117

DIN0118 \

DIN0119 |

DINO120;

DIN0121 :
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S.No.

56 |
l
1

57

58

59

60

61

62

63

64

65

66

67

68

69

70

71

72

73

74

75

76

77

78

79

80

81

82

83

84

Item Name

Issuedpreferencesharecapitalshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet
[SLAS3.66.m]

Total reservesshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet[SLAS3.66.m]

Breakdownofreservesintocapital reserveandrevenuereserve [SLAS3.73]
. !

All movementsofreserves, includingbalanceB/F; transfers,etc.
[Act.Sch.5.7.1],

Sharepremium[Act.Sch.5.2.c].

Minorityinterestshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet[SLAS3.66j]

Noncurrentinterestbearingliabilitiesshownonthefaceofbalance sheet
[SLAS3.66.k]

Deferredtaxbalanceatthebeginningoftheyear[SLAS 14.15]

Transfersto/fromdeferredtaxduringtheyear[SLAS 14.15]

Deferredtaxbalanceattheendoftheyear[SLAS14.15]

Generaldescription ofthegratuityplan, includingemployeegroupscovered
[SLAS16.50.a]

Details andmethodsoffundingofthegratuityliability[SLAS 16.50]

Actuarial presentvalueofpromisedretirementbenefit[SLAS1650e]

Total currentliabilities [SLAS15.19]

Tradeandotherpayablesshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet
[SLAS3.6C.h]

Taxliabilitiesshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet[SLAS.66.I]

Provisionsshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet[SLAS3.66.J]

Dividendsproposed[SLAS3.74.C]

Aggregateamountofbankloansandoverdrafts[Act.Sch.5.8.1.d]

Comparativefigures-Balancesheetofthepreviousyear[ActSch.5.11.11]&
JSLAS3.38]

Capitalexpenditurecommitments[SLAS3.94.d.i]

Amount-Materialpostbalancesheetevents[SLAS12:33].

Cashflowsfromoperatingactivitiesofthecompanyshowninthecash flow
statement[SLAS9.9]. i
Cashflowsfrominvestingactivitiesofthecompanyshowninthecash flow

statement[SLAS9.9], -

Cashflowsfromfinancingactivitiesofthecompanyshowninthecash flow
statement[SLAS9.9].
Cashflowsassociatedwith extraordinaryitemsshownseparatelyinthecash
flowstatement[SLAS9.28].

Cashflowsfrominterestanddividendsreceivedandpaidshowninthecash
flowstatement[SLAS9.30].

Cashflowsarisingfromtaxesonincomeshowninthecashflowstatement

[SLAS9.34].
Comparativefigures-CashFlowStatementofthepreviousyear[SLAS3.38].

Var-No Dl-No

BSMAN28

BSMAN29

DIN0123 |

DIN0124
i

BSMAN30 |DIN0125

BSMAN31

BSMAN32

BSMAN33

DIN0126

DIN0127

DIN0135

BSMAN34 |DIN0136
I !

BSMAN35

BSMAN36 ,

BSMAN37

BSMAN38

BSMAN39

BSMAN40

BSMAN41

BSMAN42

BSMAN43

BSMAN44

BSMAN45 !

BSMAN46

BSMAN47

BSMAN48

BSMAN49

OCMAN1 i

OCMAN2

OCMAN3

DIN0143
I

D1N0144 i
!

DIN0145

DINO150

DIN0151

DIN0152

DIN0153

D1N0155

DIN0158

DIN0161

DIN0163

DIN0164

DIN0167;

1

DIN0171 !

DIN0172
l

DIN0175

DIN0177

DIN0179 j

OCMAN4 | DIN0181

OCMAN5 IDIN0182

OCMAN6

OCMAN7

DINOIBJ

DIN0188'
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S.No.

f — f i —
85

86

87

88

89

90

91

92

93

94

95

96

97

98

99

100 !

101 j

102

103
i

104 j

105

106

107

108

109

110
i

111 !

112 ;

113

114 j

115 i

Item Name r-r;—= -=—_-,—-
jVar-No Dl-No

Statementofchangesin equity[SLAS3.86]

Revenuetramexternalsales[SLAS28.51]
— : ~ — —

Revenuefromintersegmentsales[SLAS28.51]

Profitofeachmajorsegment[SLAS28.52]

Assetsofeachmajorsegment[SLAS28.55]

Liabilitiesofeachmajorsegment[SLAS28.56]

Depreciationofsegmentalassets[SLAS28.58]

Accountingpolicesaredisclosedinoneplaceasanintegralpartoffinancial
statements[SLAS3.7.eJ. ,

Basisofaccounting(Accountingconvention) [SLAS3.97.a]

Accountingpolicyforconsolidation[SLAS3.99.b]

Accountingpolicyforconversionofforeign exchange[SLAS3.99.p]

Accountingpolicyfortaxation[SLAS3.99.m]

Accountingpolicyfordeferredtaxation[SLAS3.99.m]

Thevaluationbasesusedfordeterminingtheamountsofdepreciableassets
[SLAS8.14]

Depreciationmethodsusedforproperty, plantandequipments[SLAS8:15.a]

Depreciationratesusedforproperty, plantsandequipments[SLAS8:15.b].

Accountingpolicyforintangibleassets [SLAS3.99.e]

Accountingpolicyforsegmentalreporting[SLAS3.99.q]

Accountingpolicyforinvestments[SLAS22.49]

Accountingpolicyforproperty, plant&equipment[SLAS18.66]

Accountingpolicyforlease, hirepurchase,orinstalmenttransactions, and
relatedinterest[SLAS3.99.J] i

Accountingpolicyforinventories [SLAS3.99.I] &[SLAS5,33.a]

Accountingpolicyforcashandcashequivalents[SLAS3.99.r]

Accountingpolicyforemployeebenefitcosts(gratuity) [SLAS3.99.o]& [SLAS
16.50.b]

Accountingpolicyforrevenuerecognition[SLAS3.99.a]&[SLAS29.a]

Accountingpolicyforresearchanddevelopmentcosts[SLAS3.99.k]&
[SLAS11.29.a]_ I

Accountingpolicyforcapitalcommitmentandcontingencies[SLAS3.99.u]

Accountingpolicyforborrowingcosts[SLAS20.28.a]

Directors'report[1982S152SS1]

Principalactivitiesandbusinessreviewshownin thedirectors'report[SLAS
3.102.bl

Stateofthecompany'saffairsshowninthedirector'sreport[ActS152SS1].

OCMAN8 iDIN0189

OCMAN9 DIN0191
L

OCMAN10 !DIN0192

OCMAN11 iDIN0195

OCMAN12 DIN0196 |

OCMAN13 jDIN0197 j

OCMAN14

OCMAN15

OCMAN16

OCMAN17

OCMAN18

OCMAN19

OCMAN20

OCMAN21

OCMAN22

OCMAN23

OCMAN24

OCMAN25

OCMAN26

OCMAN27

OCMAN28;

OCMAN29

OCMAN30 ;

OCMAN31

OCMAN32

OCMAN33i

OCMAN34

OCMAN35 !

SRMAN1

SRMAN2

SRMAN3

DIN0198 j
_

DINO200

DINO201

DINO202

DINO203
1

DINO204

DINO205

DINO206

DINO207 i

DINO208 !

DINO209

DIN0211

DIN0212
i

DIN0214 |

DIN0215|

DIN0216;

DIN0217 •

DINO220;

DIN0222

DIN0223;

DIN0225

DIN0226I

DIN0227

DIN0228

DIN0229
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S.No. !
J

116 |

I
117 j

I
118

119

120 ;
i

121 |
f

122

123
I

I
124 i

i

125

126

127

128

129

130

131

Item Name ;Var .No . D| .No

Amountproposedtotransfertoreservesshowninthedirectors'report SRMAN4 OIN0230
[ActS152SS1L_

Amountrecommendtobepaidasdividendsshowninthedirector'sreport • SRMAf.5 DIN0232 '
[ActS152SS1]. !

Directors'directorindirectinterestinacontractwiththecompany ISRMAN6 DIN0239
JActSch5.14.7). |

Auditor'sreport[Act159]

Auditor'sreportstateswhetheralltheinformationandexplanationsnecessary
havebeenobtained[ActSch.7.1],

Auditor'sreportstatestheopinionoftheauditoroncompany'skeepingproper
booksofaccount[ActSch.7.2],

SRMAN"

SRMAN8

DIN0242

DIN0243

SRMAN9 ; DIN0244

Auditor'sreportstateswhetherfinancialstatementsarein agreementwiththe iSRMAN10
booksofaccount[ActSch.7,3.1],

Auditor'sreportstateswhetherfinancialstatementsgiveatrueandfairview
JActSch.7.3.2].

DIN0245

SRMAN11 !DIN0246

i_
Auditor'sreportstateswhetherthefinancialstatementsgivetheinformation SRMAN12 |DIN0247
requiredbytheAct[ActSch.7.3.2].

Auditor'sreportstateswhetherthecompanydirectorsareinterestedin a jSRMAN13
contractwiththecoJActSch.7.5]. I

Name,legalform, countryofincorporation,addressoftheregisteredoffice
[SLAS3.102.a]

Historyanddevelopmentsofthecompany(SLAS3.8)

Numberofemployees attheendoftheperiodortheaveragefortheperiod
[SLAS3.102.d]

Earnings/(loss)pershare forthisyearandpreviousyear[SLAS3.85]

Dividendpersharethisyearandpreviousyear [SLAS3.85]

Statementofdirectors'responsibility i

0IMAN1

OIMAN2

OIMAN3

OIMAN4

OIMAN5

OIMAN6

DIN0248

DIN0249

DIN0253

DIN0257

DIN0286

DINO290

DIN0314;
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Appendix-7

DETAILS OF DISAGREGATION OF INFORMATION ITE.'

S.No.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

I,213
14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

' _

22

23

I 24l
25|
I.

26

27|"
i_

InformationName jQNo. Dj scl 0su r e^^^^ Counl

Totalrevenueandbreakdownofvarioussourcesof
revenue
Operatingprofitbeforeabnormalandextraordinary
items
Breakdownofoperatingexpenses

Costofgoodssold

Breakdownofexpensesintofixedandvariable
components
Amountofdepreciation

Goodwillandothertangibleassetswrittenoff

Totalnon-recurringgainsorlossesreported

Totaladvertisingandpublicityexpenses

Totalresearchanddevelopmentexpenses

Rawmaterialsconsumedandtheirbreakdown

Wagesandsalaries

Directors'emoluments

Maintenanceandrepairexpenses

Incometaxandprovisiontherein

Baddebtswrittenoffandprovisionforbaddebts

Totalinterestincludingbreakdownoflong&short
termloans
Amountandbreakdownofstaffwelfarebenefits

Aggregateamountofdividendspaid

Contributionsanddonations j

Auditor'sremuneration/fees

Totalassetsincludingbreakdownintofixedand
currentassets I
Costandbreakdownofsecuritiesandinvestments j

Marketvalueofsecuritiesandinvestments

Costandbreakdownofinventories(Rawmaterials,
Wl-P,etc)
Bookvalueofgoodwillandotherintangibleassets j

Totalandbreakdownofcurrentliabilities

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

! 1 2 4 5..2. _ '4 _ . " 38,39

11 35.40.44.46

18.19. 2C

6.7.10

21

22

23

I 12
i
j

5

3

_

•

i i

1

45 i 1

24 i 1
!

24 |34 : 1

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33 ;

34;

35 j

i
36 j

I
i

37;

38 ;

39

40 ;

41|

8.9

25.26.27

28

32

41.42,43

30.31

2

3

1

1

3

2

36,37 2

i
33 1

47,48 | 2

240

29

56,57,58,59,64,83,84,85.90,91,99.
100,101,102,108,109,110

66,67,68,70,71,72,73,74,75,77,78,
79,80,81,96,97,162 .;

1

1

17

17

69,76,82,98 '! 4

92,93,94,95 i 4

86,87,88,89

153,154,155,156.157,159,160,161,
163,164,170 [

4

11
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i
i

S.No.

28
i

29

30

,
31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44j

45|

46i
i

47

48

49

50|

51j

52

53

54

55;

56

Information Name

Totalandbreakdownofadvances,depositsand
prepayments

Totaltaxanddifferedtaxliability

Acquisitionordisposalofproperty,plantand
equipmentduringtheyear

Totalaccumulateddepreciationonproperty,plant
andeguipment

Shareholders'equityandnumberofshares
outstanding

Totalandbreakdownoflongtermborrowings

Dateofmaturity,interestrates,andextentof
securitiesoflongtermborrowings

Detailsofcontingentliabilities

Outstandinggratuity/pensionobligations

Sundrydebtorslessallowances

Reservesandtheirbreakdown

Methodusedtodeterminecostofinventorieseg.,
FIFO,LIFO

Methodandratesofdepreciation

Foreigncurrencytransactions

Amortisationofintangibleassets

Methodusedformarketablesecuritiesand
investments

Taxationpolices

Comparativefinancialstatements

Summaryofimportantoperatingandfinancialdata
forthelast5years

Summaryofimportantoperatingandfinancialdata
for thelast 10years

Earningspershareandthebasisofcalculation

Rateofgrowthofearningpershare

Dividendpershare

Breakdownofresultsbysegments

Productioncapacityandactualoutput

Detailsofmajorproducts/servicesincluding
informationonnewandpotentiallynewproducts

Detailsofrawmaterialsimportedandlocalraw
materialscontentofthefinishedgoods

Detailsoffinishedgoodsexported

Historyanddevelopmentofthecompany j

| Q.No. DisclosureIndex Rem Numbers

; 42 ; 106 107

I 43 143.144,145 158
1 !

44

45

46

47

| 65

60,61,62.63

111.112.113.114.115 116.117

118.119 120.121.122.123.132.133.
134 135 136.137,142

48 138 139.140 141

49 j 165,166
!__

50 | 146.147.148.149.150.151.152

51 | 103.105

52 124,125.126.127.128.129.130.131

53

54

55

56

57

58

59

60

61

62 ;

63

64

65

66 !

67 ;
1
j

68!
i

69 I

70j
i

216

206, 207. 208

203

209

212

204

55.167,188

54,168,169, 279,281.283,284,287,
291,293,294.296,297.299,300.302.
303.305, 306, 308, 309

280,282,285, 288, 292, 295, 298,301.
304,307

49,50,51,52.53,286

289

290

190,191,192,193,194,195,196.197,
198199

i Count

I

i 2

i

i

4

7

*3

4

'I
7 1

i
j

,

•1
1.

i

1

1 :

1

3

10

6

1

1

10

269 ; 1

263

270

3

253,271

1

1

1

2
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: S.No.

1 *>7

1 58

59

60

61

62

63

64
i• - —

65

66

67

68

69

70

71

72

73

74 |

75|
i

76!
!

77

78

79

80

81
I

82 |

83
!

84

85 |

InformationName JQ.NO DisclosureindexternNumber, Count

Descriptionofmarketingnetworkforfinishedgoods

Marketshareandcompetitivepositionofthe
company i

Marketpriceofcompany's share
L_ j
Descriptionofmajorplants,warehousesand
officesandtheirlocations

Ageingscheduleofthedebtors

Informationonmanagersandstaff(eg.Numberof
employeesinthecompany)

Indicationofemployee moralesuchastherateof
absenteeism,turnoverandfrequencyoflabour
disputes.

Detailsofpostbalancesheetevents

Discussionofthefirm'sresultsforpreviousyears
withreasonsforchanges

Factorswhichwillinfluencefutureresults

Industrytrend,countryandcompany information

Discussionoftheimpactoninflationonthe
financialresults i

Statementofdividendpolices

Detailsofcorporate"socialresponsibility"polices
and programs

Statementofcompany shareoption/bonusplan
i

Names andaddressofthecompany'sdirectors,
functionalresponsibilitiesandmajoroutside
affiliations i

Structureofshareownership(individuals,
institutions,etc) i

Sharesheldbydirectors

Statementofdirectors'responsibility

Disclosureoffutureplansandtargets

Capitalexpenditureforthenextyear

Cash projectionforthenextyear.

Financialobjectivesforthenextyear

Cashflowstatement

Accountingpolices j
1

Movement inshareholders'funds

Auditorsreport j

Chairman'sreport

Directors'report

71 , 251

72 . 262

__J!

73 ; 275.276 277 278 4

74 267268 :

75

76

77

78

79

80

81

82

83

84

85 ,

86

87

88

89

90

91

92;

93

11.3 !
j

11.4i
i

l
i

11.6 i

11.7

11.8;

11.9 i

104

255.256,257
i

258.259 ]

172,173
i

260,264,318

1

3
i

I2 '

2

3

266 ;| 1

249,250.251.252

312.313

231
j

315 ]
j

310 :
ii

235.236

272.273,274

238
I

314

265

171

317

316

174,175,176,177,178,179,180,181,
182.183,184,185,186,187

200,201, 202,205,210,211,213.214,
215,217,218,219,220,221,222,223,
224,225,226

189

242,243,244,245,246,247,248

254

227,228,229,230,232,233,234,237,
239,241

4

2 |

1

1|

1

2

1

3

1j

1

1 !
|

1

1

1

14

1

7

1

10
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S.No.

86

i

Information Name

Valueadded statements

Item count

| Q.No.

! 11 10
. __ I_

86

DisclosureIndexHem Numbers

3H

Count

1

I_ _
il 318

S.No.

1

2

3 J
i4 !

j
5

Section

Profitand Loss account

i

Balance sheet

Other Components of FS

Statuary Report

Other Information

TotalNumberItems

CODE

PL

BS

OC

SR

Ol

questionNumbers

15,16,17.18.19.20.21.22.23.24.
25,26,27.28.29.30.31.32.33.35.
62.69

36.37.38,39,40.41.42,43.44.45.
46,47,48,49.50.51.52.75.78,91

11.3.114.116..53.54.55.56,57,58.'
_59.65

11.7.11.9.34.83 86 86

111, 11.8,60 61.63.64 66.67 68
70,71 72,73.74.76.77.79.80.81.
82,84,85,87 89,90 92.93

Count

22

20

11

6

27

j

_._-86_J
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Appendix-8

DISCLOSURE INDEX SfYVPF .HFFT

Company Name.
Year.

Profitandlossaccount[PL]

ProfitandlossaccountfSLAS 3.7]

Turnover

[CODES:Disclosed=1;Notdisclosed=0:Notapplicable=99]

DINO Var-No.

Revenue(Turnover)onthefaceoftheP/L[SLAS3.75.a]"

Breakdownoftherevenue

PLMAN1

PLVOL1

Revenue(Turnover)fromexportsales

Turnovertax& nationalsecuritylevy

Netturnover

3

4

5

PLVOL2

PLVOL3

PLVOL4

Less:Costofsales

Totalcostofsales

Breakdownofcostofsales

Raw Materialconsumed

6

7

8

PLVOL5

PLVOL6

18

18

PLVOL7

Breakdownofrawmaterialsconsumed

Changesininventories(finishedgoodsandworkin progress)

9

10

PLVOL8

PLVOL9

GrossProfit

Totalamount 11 PLVOL10 16
OtherIncome

QNO TICK

.i__Z

Totalotherincome

Breakdownofotherincome

Interest, royalties,dividendsandrentalsonlong-termand
currentinvestments[SLAS22.49.1]

Incomefrominvestmentsdistinguishingbetweenquotedand
unquoted [ActSch5.12.1.g].

Profit/Lossondisposalofcurrentinvestment

Profit/Lossondisposaloffixedassets

12

13

14

15

16

17

PLVOL11

PLVOL12

PLMAN2

PLMAN3

PLVOL13

PLVOL14

» I
15 r

15

15

15 |~

15

Expenses(OB

TotalExpenses

Analysisofallexpensesbynatureofexpenses(eg.Wages,
depreciationetc)[SLAS3.77]

Analysisofallexpensesbytheirfunction(eg.Administrative,
sellingetc)[SLAS3.77]

Analysisofexpensesintofixedandvariablecost

18

19

20

21

PLVOL15

PLMAN4

PLMAN5

PLVOL16

17

17

17

19

I
|

[

I
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Depreciation[Act.Sch.5.12.1^and [SUS183f~

Goodwillandotherintangibleswrittenoff[SLAS3i53f

Advertisementandpublicityexpenses

22 R.MAf.6

23 PLMAN7

Wagesandsalaries
24 PLVai7

25 PLVai8

Executivewagesandsalaries 26 PLVOL19

Breakdown ofwagesandsalariesunderexpensescategories 27

Directors'emoluments[ActS200SS1], ~~_J

PLVOL20

Auditors'remuneration[ActSch5.13]. 29

PLMAN8

PLMAN9

Bad debtswrittenoff

Provisionfordoubtfuldebts

Maintenanceandrepairsexpenses

Retirementbenefitexpense

Research anddevelopmentcostsrecognisedasanexpensein

Jd£ML°djSL̂

30

31

32

33

34

PLVOL21

PLVOL22

PLVOL23

PLVOL24

PLMAN10

Operatingprofit

TotalonthefaceofP/L [SLAS3.75.b] 35 PLMAN11

Less:Financecost

Interest(Financecost)onthefaceofP/L[SLAS3.75.C]

Breakdown ofInterestondebenturesandotherfixedloans
[ActSch.5.12.b],

Add:Incomefromassociates

36

37

PLMAN12

PLMAN13

Shareofprofits/lossesofassociatecompaniesshownonthe
faceofP/L[SLAS3.75.d]

Breakdown oftheshareofassociatecompanies'profits

38 PLMAN14

39 PLVOL25

Profitbeforetax

Amount-Profitfromordinaryactivitiesbeforetax [SLAS3.75.f]&
JSLAS109^

Less:Tax expenses

40 PLMAN15

20

23

2€.

26

26

27

35

30

30

28

32

24

Profitaftertax

16

31

31

15

15

16

~ ' ' l_____________NE

- - •_«

Totaltaxexpenseshown onthefaceofP/L[SLAS3.75.e]and
[Act.Sch.5.12.1.c],

Breakdown oftotaltaxexpense

Thebasisofcomputing incometax[Act.Sch.5.14.3].

41

42

43

PLMAN16

PLVOL26

PLMAN17

29

29

29

Profitfromordinaryactivitiesaftertaxandbeforeextraordinary 44 PLMAN18
items[SLAS3.75.f]& [SLAS10.9.a]

Less:Extraordinaryitems

Extraordinaryitemsshown onthefaceofP/L[SLAS3.75.g]&
[SLAS10.9.b]

45 PLMAN19

16

22

NetProfit(attributabletoordinaryshareholders)

Netprofitfortheyear(Profitafterextraordinaryitems)[SLAS 46 PLMAN20 16

297



Dividends

Aggregatenetdividendspaidandproposed (ActSch5.12lh].

Dividendsbyclassesofsharesanddividendrates
[ActSch5.12.4].

OtherRelatedinformation

Earningpershareshown intheP/Lorinnotes[SLAS3.85]

Method ofcomputationofearningpershare

TheamountusedasanumeratorincalculatingEPS[SLAS
»5*r.O_t,3]

Theweightedaveragenumberofordinarysharesusedasa
.denominator [SLAS34.52.b]

Earningpershare,beforeandafterextraordinaryitems[SLAS
j__ja__
Dividendpershareshown intheP/Lorinnotes[SLAS3.85]

47 PLMAN2'

48 PLMAN22

49 PLMAN23

50

51

52

54

Comparativefigures-ProfitandLossaccountofthepreviousyear 55
JAc_tSch.5.14.5L

PLVOL27

PLMAN24

PLMAN25

53 PLMAN26

PLMAN27

PLMAN28

33

33

62

62

62

62

62

60

59

Balance Sheet[BS] [CODES:Disclosed=1;Notdisclosed=0:Notapplicable=99]

Balancesheet[SLAS3.7]

ASSETS

FixedAssets/Long-termAssets/Non-currentAssets

Totalfixedassets

Totalfixedassetsforthegroupand thecompany

Detailedbreakdown offixedassets

56

57

58

BSVOL1

BSVOL2

BSVOL3

Property.Plantand Equipment

Investmentsinsubsidiaries

Totalatcost 66 BSVOL8

Breakdownatcost 67 BSVOL9

Distinguishbetween quoted/unquoted 68 BSVOL10

Marketvalueofquotedinvestments[SLAS22.49.b.c] 69 BSMAN4

Listinganddescriptionofsubsidiaries 70 BSVOL11

Ownershipinterestofthesubsidiaries 71 BSVOL12

36

36

36

37

37

37

38

37

37

I
Amountshown on thefaceofBalancesheet[SLAS3.66.a])

Totaldepreciation allocatedfortheperiod[SLAS8:15.c],

Totaldepreciation allocatedfortheperiodforthegroupandthe
company

The accumulated depreciationon property, plantand equipment
[SLAS8:15.d].

The accumulated depreciationforthegroupandthecompany

Netvalueofproperty, plantand equipment

Acquisitionordisposalofproperty, plantand equipment

59

60

61

62

63

64

65

BSMAN1

BSMAN2

BSVOL4

BSMAN3

BSVOL5

BSVOL6

BSVOL7

36

45

45

45

45

36

44

—-— "

"'""
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InvestmentsinAssociates

Investmentsin associatesaccounted forusinqcostoreauitv
method [SLAS27.13.a]

Breakdown atcost

Breakdown atequitymethod

Distinguishbetween quoted/unquoted

Marketvalueofquoted investments [SLAS22.49.b.c]

Listingand descriptionofsignificantassociates[SLAS27.26]

Ownershipinterestofsignificantassociates[SLAS27.26]

OtherInvestments

Totalatcost

Breakdown atcost

Distinguishbetween quoted/unquoted

Marketvalueofquoted investments [SLAS22.49.b.c]

OtherFixedAssets/Long-termAssets/Non-cunentAssets

Total

Breakdown

Additionsand recoveriesduringtheyear

GoodwillandotherIntangibleAssets

Opening netbook amount

Amortisation

closingnetbook amount

Amount is shown on thefaceoftheBalanceSheet[SLAS3.66.b]

CurrentAssets

Totalamountofcurrentassets[SLAS15.19]

Breakdown ofcurrentassetsvalue

72

73

74

75

76

77

*78~

79
O
O

j
o
o

82

83

84

85

86

87

88

89

90

91

BSMAN5

BSVOL13

KVO L14

BSVOL15

BSMAN6

BSMAN7

BSMAN8

BSVOL16

BSVOL17

BSVOL18

BSMAN9

BSVOL19

BSVOL20

BSVOL21

BSVOL22

BSVOL23

BSVOL24

BSMAN10

BSMAN11

BSVOL25

37

37

37

37

38

37

37

ZZ.
37

37

38

36

36

36

40

40

40

40
._ ..

36

36

I

I

|

Inventories

Totalvalueofinventories[SLAS5.33.b].

Amountofinventoriesisshown onthefaceoftheBalanceSheet
[SLAS3.66.e]

Breakdown ofinventories atcost[SLAS3.73.c]

Totalmarketvalueofinventories

92

93

94

95

BSMAN12

BSMAN13

BSMAN14

BSVOL26

39

39

39

39

Short-term Investment

Totalatcost

Breakdown

Marketvalueofshortterm investments

96

97

98

BSVOL27

BSVOL28

BSVOL29

37

37

38
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Related companies

Amountduefromrelatedcompanies

Breakdown ofamountduefrom relatedcompanies

Trade receivables

Tradeand otherreceivablesisshown onthefaceofthe balance
sheet[SLAS3.66.f]

Breakdown oftradeand otherreceivables

Sundrydebtors

Age scheduleofthedebtors

Provisionfor doubtfuldebtsatend ofthe period

Other receivables

Deposits, prepaymentsand advances

Breakdown ofdeposits, prepaymentand advances

Cash

Bank/cash balance[SLAS3.66.g]

Cash and cash equivalentsshown onthefaceof the balance
sheet[SLAS3.66.g]

Breakdown ofcash/bank balances

EQUITY ANDLIABILITIES

OrdinaryShares

Number ofsharesauthorised[SLAS3.74a.l],

Number sharesissuedand fully paid, and issuedbutnotfully
paid[SLAS3.74a.ii],

Parvaluepershare[SLAS3.74a.iii],

The rights, preferencesand restrictions attached [SLAS3.74.a.v]

Sharesreservedforissuanceunderoptions and salescontracts
[SLAS3.74.a.vii]

Sharecapital forthecompany and thegroup

Issuedcapital shown onthefaceofthe balancesheet
[SLAS3.66.m]

99

100

101

102

103

104

105

106

107

108

109

110

111

112

113

114

115

116

117

BSVOL30

BSVOL31

BSMAN15

BSVOL32

BSVOL33

BSVOL34

BSVOL35

BSVOL36

BSVOL37

BSMAN16

BSMAN17

BSVOL38

BSMAN18

BSMAN19

BSMAN20

BSMAN21

BSMAN22

BSVOL39

BSMAN23

36

36

36

36

51

75

51

42

42

36

36

36

46

46

46

46

46

46

46

Preferenceshares

Number ofsharesauthorised[SLAS3.74a.l],

Number sharesissuedandfully paid, and issuedbutnot folly
paid[SLAS3.74a.ii].

Parvaluepershare [SLAS3.74a.iii].

Therights,preferencesand restrictionsattached [SLAS3.74.a.v]

Sharecapitalforthecompany and thegroup

Issuedcapitalshown onthefaceofthebalancesheet
[SLAS3.66.m]

118

119

120

121

122

123

BSMAN24

BSMAN25

BSMAN26

BSMAN27

BSVOL40

BSMAN28

47

47

47

47

47

47
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Reserves

Reservesshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet[SLAS3.66.m]

Breakdownofreservesintocapitalreserveandrevenuereserve
[SLAS3.73]

All movementsofreserves,includingbalanceB/F transfersetc
[ActSch.5.7.1],
Sharepremium[Act.Sch.5.2.c].

Breakdownofsharepremium

Sharepremiumforthecompanyandthegroup

Retainedprofitatthebeginningandendoftheyear

Changesin retainedprofitduringtheyear

MinorityInterest

Beginningbalance

Changesfortheyear

Endingbalance

Minorityinterestshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet
[SLAS3.66.J1

LongTermLiabilities/Non-currentLiabilities

Noncurrentinterestbearingliabilitiesshownonthefaceof
balancesheet[SLAS3.66.k]

Breakdownoflongtermborrowings

Extentofsecurityoflongtermborrowings

Sourcesoffinance(LendingInstitution)oflongtermborrowings

Interestrateapplicableforlongtermborrowings

informationaboutrepaymentoflongtermborrowings

Longtermloansrepayableafteroneyear

124

125

126

127

128

129~

130

131

132

133

134

135

136

137

138

139

140

141

142

BSMAN29

BSMAN30

3SMAN31

BSMAN32

BSVOL41

BSVOL42

BSVOL43

BSVOL44

BSVOL45

BSVOL46

BSVOL47

BSMAN33

BSMAN34

BSVOL48

BSVOL49

BSVOL50

BSVOL51

BSVOL52

BSVOL53

52

52

52

52

52

52

52

52

47

47

47

47

47

'"

_

« 1
48

48

48

____. ii

..

DeferredTaxation

Atthebeginningoftheyear[SLAS14.15]

Chargefortheyear[SLAS14.15]

Attheendoftheyear[SLAS14.15]

143

144

145

BSMAN35

BSMAN36

BSMAN37

43

43

43

RetirementBenefit

Provisionforgratuityatthebeginningoftheyear

Provisionforgratuityduringtheyear

Paymentsofgratuityduringtheyear

Provisionforgratuityattheendoftheyear

Thegeneraldescriptionoftheplan,includingemployeegroups
covered[SLAS16.50.a]

Detailsandmethodsoffunding[SLAS16.50]

Theactuarialpresentvalueofpromisedretirementbenefit[SLAS
16.50.e]

146

147

148

149

150

151

152

BSVOL54

BSVOL55

BSVOL56

BSVOL57

BSMAN38

BSMAN39

BSMAN40

50

50

50

50

50

50

50

I

j
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CunentLiabilities

Totalcunentliabilities[SLAS15.19]

Breakdownofcunentliabilities

153

154

Tradeandotherpayablesshownonthefaceofthebalance
sheet[SLAS3.66.h]
Tradecreditors

Longtermloansrepayablewithinoneyear

Taxliabilitiesshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet
[SLAS3.66.I]

Amountduetorelatedcompanies 159

Breakdownofamountduetorelatedcompanies

Provisionsshownonthefaceofthebalancesheet[SLAS3.66.j]

Provisionforfalling valueofinvestments

Dividendsproposed[SLAS3.74.C]

Theaggregateamountofbankloansandoverdrafts
[Act.Sch.5.8.1.d]

ContingentLiabilities

163

164

Amount

Description/ Breakdownbynature

Other

BSMAN4"

BSVOL58

155 BSMAN42

156 BSVOL59

157 BSVOL60

:58 BSMAN43

BSVOL61

BSVOL62160

761

162 BSVOL63

BSMAN44

BSMAN45

BSMAN46

165 BSVOL64

166 BSVOL65

4<

41

41

43

41

41

41

37

41

41

49

49

r

Comparativefigures-Balancesheetofthepreviousyear
[ActSch.5.11.11]&[SLAS3.38]

Netcurrentassets/ (liabilities) [WorkingCapital]

Netassets[totalassets-currentliabilities]

Relatedpartytransactions

Capitalexpenditurecommitments [SLAS3.94.d.i]

Amount-Materialpostbalancesheetevents[SLAS12:33],

Description/ Breakdown bynatureofpostbalancesheetevents

167

168

169

170

171

172

173

BSMAN47

BSVOL66

BSVOL67

BSVOL68

BSMAN48

BSMAN49

BSVOL69

59

60

60

4,

91

78

78

,

3 OtherComponentsofFinancialStatements[OC] [CODES:Disclosed=1;Notdisclosed=0:Notapplicable=99]

CashFlowStatement

Includedasanintegral partofthefinancialstatementsusing
direct/indirectmethod

Breakdownofcashgeneratedfromoperations

Breakdownofcashgenerated fromfinancialactivities

174 OCVOL1

Cashflowsfromoperatingactivitiesofthecompany[SLAS9.9] 175 OCMAN1

176 OCVOL2

Cashflowsfrominvestingactivitiesofthecompany[SLAS9.9]. 177 OCMAN2

178 OCVOL3Breakdownofcashgenerated frominvestments

Cashflowsfromfinancingactivitiesofthecompany[SLAS9.9]. 179 OCMAN3

180 OCVOL4

11.3

11.3

11.3

11.3

11.3

11.3

11.3
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Extraordinaryitems[SLAS9.28].
181 OCMAN4

Callows from interestand dividendsreceivedand paid[SLAS 182 OCMAN5

Cash flowsarising from taxes onincome[SLAS 9.34].

1V3

Cash and cashequivalentsatthebeginningoftheyear

Cash and cashequivalents attheendoftheyear

183 OCMAN6

184 OCVOL5

185 OCVOL6

Breakdown ofthecash andcashequivalentsattheendofthe
year

186 OCVOL7

Netincrease/(decrease) in cash andcashequivalents 187

Comparativefigures-CashFlowStatementoftheprevious year

JSLAS3J8L
188

OCVOL8

OCMAN7

Changesin Equity

Statementofchangesin equity[SLAS3.86] 189 OCMAN8

SegmentalReporting

TotalRevenueforsegment

Revenuefromexternalsales[SLAS28.51]

Revenuefrominter segmentsales[SLAS28.51]

Turnoverbasedtaxes

Netturnover

Segmentresults (Profits) [SLAS28.52]

SegmentAssets[SLAS28.55]

190

191

192

193

194

195

196

OCVOL11

OCMAN11

Segmentliabilities [SLAS28.56]

Depreciationofsegmentassets [SLAS28.58]

Capital expenditure

AccountingPrinciplesandPolices

197

OCMAN12

OCMAN13

11.3

11.3

11.3

11.3

59

11.6

OCVOL9

OCMAN9

OCMAN10

OCVOL10

65

65

65

65

65

65

65

65

198 OCMAN14 65

199 OCVOL12 65

Disclosedinoneplaceasan integral partoffinancial statements
[SLAS3.7.e],

Basisofaccounting(Accountingconvention) [SLAS 3.97.a]

Consolidationpolicy(onlyforgroupcompanies) [SLAS3.99.b]

Conversionofforeignexchange(Onlyifrelevant) [SLAS 3.99.p]

Taxation[SLAS3.99.m]

Deferredtaxation[SLAS3.99.m]

Thevaluationbasesusedfordeterminingtheamounts of
depreciableassets[SLAS8.14]

Thedepreciationmethodsused [SLAS 8:15.a].

Thedepreciationrates used [SLAS8:15.b],

Intangible assets[SLAS3.99.e]

Discontinuedoperations

Segmentreporting[SLAS3.99.q]

Investments[SLAS22.49]

200

201

202

203

204

205

206

207

208

209

210

211

212

OCMAN15

OCMAN16

OCMAN17

OCMAN18

OCMAN19

OCMAN20

OCMAN21

OCMAN22

OCMAN23

OCMAN24

OCVOL13

OCMAN25

OCMAN26

11.4

11.4

11.4

55

58

11.4

54

54

54

56

11.4

11.4

57

J

• •'
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Postbalancesheetevents

Property, plant&equipment[SLAS18.66]

Lease,hirepurchase,orinstalmenttransactions,andrelated
interest[SLAS3.99J]

Inventories[SLAS3.99.I]& [SLAS5.33.a]

Cash andcashequivalents[SLAS3.99.r]

Tradeandotherreceivables

Liabilities

Employeebenefitcosts[SLAS3.99.0]&[SLAS16.50b]

Expenditure

RevenueRecognition[SLAS3.99.a]&[SLAS29.a]

Research anddevelopment[SLAS3.99.k]&[SLAS11.29a]

Comparativefigures

Capitalcommitmentandcontingencies[SLAS3.99.u]

Borrowingcosts[SLAS20.28.a]

213

214

215

216

217

218

219

220

221

222

223

224

225

226

OCVOL14

OCMAN27

OCMAN28

OCMAN29

OCMAN30

OCVOL15

OCVOL16

OCMAN31

OCVOL17

OCMAN32

OCMAN33

ocvais
OCMAN34

OCMAN35

*14

114

11 i

53

114

11.4

114
.. .,
114

1..4

11.4

114

114

114

11.4

I
1

_________

StatutoryReports[SR] [CODES:Disclosed =1;Notdisclosed=0;Notapplicable=99]

Directors'Report[ActS152SS1] 227 SRMAN1 119

General •
Principalactivitiesandbusinessreview [SLAS3.102.b]

Stateofthecompany'saffairs(Profits)[ActS152SS1].

228 SRMAN2

229 SRMAN3

Management

Other

11.9

11.9

Dividendsandreserves

Amountproposedtotransfertoreserves [ActS152SS1],

Description onpayments ofdividends

Amountrecommendtobepaid asdividends [ActS152SS1],

230

231

232

SRMAN4

SRVOL1

SRMAN5

11.9

83

11.9

Shares

Movementsinsharesandsharecapital(shareissuingand
listing)duringtheyear

Astatementofpersonsholdingsubstantialpartoftheshare
capital[RBAP]

233

234

SRVOL2

SRVOL3

11.9

11.9
._

Namesofthedirectors[RBAP]

Detailedinformationsuchasgender,ages,positions,etcabout
directors

Changesinthedirectorboardduringtheyear

Directors'interestinsharesordebentures [RBAP]

Directors'directorindirectinterestinacontractwiththe
company[ActSch5.14.7].

235

236

237

238

239

SRVOL4

SRVOL5

SRVOL6

SRVOL7

SRMAN6

86 j

86 ~|

11.9 "1

88 j

11.9 ~~|
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Contributionsand donations

Referencetotheresolutiontoreappointtheauditors[RBAP]

AuditorsReport[Act159]

Statewhetherauditorshaveobtainedalltheinformationand
explanations [ActSch.7.1].

Statetheiropinionon keepingproperbooksofaccount
[ActSch.7.2]!__

Statewhetherbooksofaccountarein agreementwiththebooks
ofaccount[ActSch.7.3.1],

Statewhetherfinancialstatementsgiveatrueandfairview
[ActSch.7.3.2].

Statewhetherthefinancialstatementsgivetheinformation
requiredbytheActs[ActSch.7.3.2].

Statewhetherthecompany directors areinterestedinacontract
withtheco.[ActSch.7.5].

240

24i

242

243

244

245

246

247

248

SRVOL8

SRVOL9

SRMAN7

SRMAN8

SRMAN9

SRMAN10

SRMAN11

SRMAN12

SRMAN13

*19

11 7

11.7

11.7

11.7

•1.7

11.7

11.7

OtherInformation[Ol]

General

[CODES:Disclosed=1;Notdisclosed=0;Notapplicable=99]

The name,legal form, countryofincorporation, addressofthe
registeredoffice[SLAS3.102.a]

Briefeconomicreviewofthecountry

A briefdescriptionofthenatureoftheindustryanditstrends

Companystructure

Historyand developmentsofthecompany(SLAS3.8)

249

250

251

252

253

OIMAN1

OIVOL1

OIVOL2

OIVOL3

OIMAN2

81

81

81

81

70

__"

Chairman'sreport

Managers& Employees

Informationsuch asNames,positionsoftheseniormanagement

(Executives..

Age analysisoftheexecutives

Numberofemployees attheend oftheperiodortheaverage for

theDeriod .SLAS3 102dl

Valueadded peremployee

Indicationofemployeemoralesuch asrateofabsenteeism,

freauencvoflabourdisDUtes.

254

255

256

257

258

259

OIVOL4

OIVOL5

OIVOL6

OIMAN3

OIVOL7

OIVOL8

1,8 1 1
76

76

76

77

77

CompanySituation

A fairreviewofthecompany resultsduringtheyearand inthe

Descriptionofmarketingnetworkforfinishedgoods

Company'spositionintheindustry(Eg..Rank)/shareofmarket

Detailsofmajorproducts/servicesincludingnew andpotentially

new products

Technologyimprovementand upgrade

260

261

262

263

264

OIVOL9

OIVOL10

OIVOL11

OIVOL12

OIVOL13

79

71

72

67

79
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Futureplansand targetsforthedevelopmentofthebusiness

^Factorewhichwill influencefutureresultsofthecompany

Assets & Capacity

265 OIVOL14

266 O.VOL15

90

80

Descriptionofmajorplants, warehouses,officesandtheir"
locations

The differencebetween marketvalueand book valueoflandand
buildings [RBAP]

267 OIVOL16

268 OIVOL17

Productioncapacityand actuallevelofoutput

Detailsofrawmaterialsimported

269 OIVOL18

270 OIVOL19

Localrawmaterialcontentoffinishedgoods

Breakdown oftotalshareholdingsintonumberofsharegroups

271

272~

OIVOL20

OIVOL21

66

68

70

87

Categoriesofshareholdersasindividualandinstitutional

Categoriesofshareholdersasresidentand non-resident

The marketpricepershareatthebalancesheetdate

The marketpricepershareforeachquarter

The highestand lowestpriceduringtheyear

Marketpricepershareatthelastyear

273 OIVOL22

274 OIVOL23

275 OIVOL24

276 OIVOL25

277 OIVOL26

278 OIVOL27

87

RatioandStatistics

87

73

73

73

73

Mainprofitand lossaccountitemsforthelast5years

Main profitand lossaccountitemsforoverthelast10years

Mainbalancesheetitemsforthelast5years

Mainbalancesheetitemsforoverthelast10years

Key accounting ratiosforthisyearand previousyear

Keyaccounting ratiosforthelast5years

Keyaccounting ratiosforthelast10years

Earnings/(loss) pershareforthisyearand previousyear[SLAS
3.85]

Earnings/(loss) pershareforthelast5years

Earnings/(loss) pershareforthelast10years

Rateofgrowthofearningpershare

Dividend pershareforthisyearand previousyear[SLAS 3.85]

Dividend pershareforthelast5years

Dividend pershareforthelast10years

Netassetspershareforthisyearand previousyear

Netassetspershareforthelast5years

Netassetspershareforthelast10years

Interestcoverforthisyearand previousyear

Interestcoverforthelast5years

Interestcoverforthelast10years

279

280

281

282

283

284

285

286

287

288

289

290

291

292

293

294

295

296

297

298

OIVOL28

OIVOL29

OIVOL30

OIVOL31

OIVOL32

OIVOL33

OIVOL34

OIMAN4

OIVOL35

OIVOL36

OIVOL37

OIMAN5

OIVOL38

OIVOL39

OIVOL40

OIVOL41

OIVOL42

OIVOL43

OIVOL44

OIVOL45

60

6,

60

61

60

60

61

62

60

61

63

64

60

61

60

60

61

60

60

61

I i
[

I
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PriceEarningsRatioforthisyearand previousyear

PriceEarningsRatioforthelast5years

PriceEarningsRatioforthelast10years

Currentratioforthisyearand previousyear

Currentratioforthelast5years

Currentratioforthelast10years

Debtequityratioforthisyearand previousyear

Debtequityratioforlast5years

Debtequityratioforlast10years

Returnon capitalforthecompany.

Returnon capitalformain productareas

Statementofcompany shareoption/bonus/dividendsplans

Valueaddedstatement

Statementinanyform

Priceleveladjustedstatements

Priceleveladjusted balancesheet,Incomestatement,andother
data

Discussionon theimpacton inflationonthefinancial results

Statementofdirectors'responsibility[SLAS3.61

Other

Detailsofcorporatesocialresponsibilitypolicesand programs

Comparison ofactualperformanceand operatingobjectives

Cash projectionforthenextyear

Financialobjectivesforthenextyear

299

300

301

302

303

304

305

306

307

308

309

310

311

312

313

314

315

316

317

318

OIVOL46

OIVOL47

OIVOL48

OIVOL49

OIVOL50

OIVOL51

OIVOL52

O.VOL53

OIVOL54

OIVOL55

OIVOL56

OIVOL57

OIVOL58

OIVOL59

OIVOL60

OIMAN6

OIVOL61

OIVOL62

OIVOL63

OIVOL64

60

60

61

60

60

6*

60

60

61

60

60

85

111?

82

82

- |

84

93

92

79

_ _ = _

rn

i
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Appendix-.

ANNUA L REPORTS CONTENT-COMPANY WISE ANALYSIS

Compan y Nam e

Acl Cables

Acl Plastics

Acm e Printing ;

Agalawatte Plantations Ltd.

Aitken Spence Hotel Oldings Ltd.

Asian Cotton Mills Ltd

Asiri HospitalLtd.

Associated Motorways Ltd.

Associated Property Development Ltd.

BAT A Shoe Compan y Of Ceylon Ltd.

Blue Diomand Jewellery

Bogala Graphite

C.W.Mackie & Co.Ltd.
„._ .. . t

Cargills Ceylon Ltd.

Central Industries Ltd

Ceylinco Seylan Development Ltd.

Ceylon Cold Stores Ltd [

Ceylon Glass Co.

Ceylon Grain Elavators

Ceylon Holiday Resorts Ltd. |

Ceylon Tobacco Co. _j

Dankotuwa PorcelainLt

Diesel & Motor Engineering Compan y

Ltd.

Dipped Products Ltd

Elastomeric Engineering Co.Ltd

Equity Tw o Ltd. I

Glaxo Welcome Ceylon Ltd

Habarana Lodge Ltd.

Habarana Walk Inn Ltd.

Hayles Ltd J

Hayleys Photo Printed Ltd. _j

Haytech Marketing Ltd. I

Horana Plantations Ltd. I

Hotel Reefcomber Ltd.

InternationalTours Hotliers Ltd. _j

James Finley & Co.(Colombo )Ltd.

John Keelis Holdings

John Keelis Ltd. j

Sections
Available

18

12

17

20

25

Sections
Applicable

32

Index Number
of Pages

56.3 39

31 | 38.7 21

31 | 54.8 25

29

31

69.0 37

80.6 73

15 | 32 | 46.9 J 18

13

19

15

17

19

19

23

22

18

14

27 ,

17

24

25

24

24

27

25

14

20

15

23

24

31 i

30 j 43.3 34

32 | 59.4 40

30 j 50.0 19

31

32

31

32

31

31

30

32

31

32

31

32

32

32

32

32

30

31

30

31

32

27 30

27 32

15 29

17 31

548 26

594

61 3

71.9

71.0

32

32

"54 ~

57

58.1 27

46.7

84.4

54.8

24

55

24

75.0 | 60

80.6

75.0 ;

75.0 '

84.4
i

78.1 |

43.8

66.7 ;

48.4

76.7

77.4

96.9

56

77

37

56

73

24

28

28

34

31

105

90.0 I 58

84.4 40

51.7 |_ 33

54.8 24

21 30 r 70.0 34

27 I 32 84.4 65 _j

28 32 87.5 j 106 J

25 31 80.6 _ 52
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Compan y Name

KandyWalklnnLtd.

Kegalle Plantation Ltd.

[ Lanka Cement Ltd

[ Lanka Ceramic Ltd

Lanka Milk Foods

Lanka Qaluminium Industries Ltd

Lanka Tiles Ltd

Lanka Walltile Ltd
1 •• -• .—-— —.,., 1

Lankem Ceylon Ltd

Mahawelli Beach Hotel Ltd. I

Maskeliya Plantations Ltd.

Metal Packaging Ltd

Mikechris Industries Ltd

Millers Ltd.

Property Development Ltd.

Richard Pieri'S Exports Ltd.

Royal Palm Beach Hotel

Serendib Land Ltd. _j

SigiriyaVillage Hotel

Stafford Hotels Ltd.

Tangerine Beach Hotel

The Lighthouse Ltd.

The Lion Brevery Ceylon Ltd

Union Carbide Lanka Ltd

United Motors Lanka Ltd.

Upali Investment Holdings Ltd. i

York Arcade Holdings Ltd.

Sections Sections
i Available |_Applicable

1 26 ^ 30

| 26 30

13 31

20 32

A7 __L 32

J4 32

22 j 32

21 32

23 32

18 30

26 30

20 32

14 32

23 | 31

14 30

24 | 32

22 | 30

13 il 30
— .... . . <1

16 j|_ 30

17 30

26 31

15 30

19 31

16 [ 31

30 •[ 32

12 | 32

15 30

Index

867

867

41.9

62.5

53.1

43.8

688

65.6

71.9

60.0

86.7

62.5

43.8

74.2

46.7

75.0

73.3

43.3

53.3

56.7

83.9

50.0

61.3

51.6

93.8

37.5

50.0

Number
of Pages

40 I

68

17 |

l_ 43

32

22

41

L_ 4 7

49

24

53

31

23

47

57

47

41

_.. 16

24

28

53

24

36

19

61

38

---l9--!

Note
Indexforeach company iscalculated as a percentage ofthenumber ofsectionsavailablein
an annual report of a company to the number ofsections that a company isexpected to
includeinitsannual report.A listofall32 sectionsconsidered inthisstudyisshown inTable
6-4.
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Appendix-10

COMPANY-WISE DISCLOSURE INDEXES

COMPANY NAME
ACL CABLES

AOL rLAo1IOb

AOMt rKIN I INb

AbALAWATTE PLANTATIONS LTD.

AITKEN SPENCE HOTEL HOLDINGS LTD.

ASIAN COTTON MILLS LTD

AblKInUoH!AL LTD.

ASSOCIATED MOTORWAY S LTD.

ASSOCIATED PROPERTY
DEVELOPMENT LTD.

BATA SHOE COMPANY OF CEYLON LTD.
BLUE DIOMAND JEWELLERY

BOGALA GRAPHITE

CW.MACKIE & CO.LTD.

CARGILLS CEYLON LTD.

CENTRAL INDUSTRIES
— ..CEYLINCO SEYLAN DEVELOPMENT LTD.

CEYLON COLD STORES LTD

CEYLON GLASS CO.

CEYLON GRAIN ELAVATOR

CEYLON HOLIDAY RESORTS LTD.
. . . . . .CEYLON TOBACCO CO.

DANKOTUWA PORCELAINLTD

DIESEL & MOTOR ENGINEERING
COMPANY LTD.

DIPPED PRODUCT LTD

ELASTOMERIC ENGINEERING.CO.LTD

EQUITY T W O LTD.

GLAXO WELCOME CEYLON LTD

HABARANA LODGE LTD.

HABARANA WALK INN LTD.

HAYLES LTD

HAYLEYS PHOTO PRINTED LTD

HAYTECH MARKETING LTD.

HORANA PLANTATIONS LTD.

HOTEL REEFCOMBER LTD.

INTERNATIONAL TOURS HOTLIERS LTD.

JAMES FINLEY & CO.(COLOMBO )LTD.

JOHN KEELIS HOLDINGS

JOHN KEELIS LTD.

KANDY WALK INN LTD.

KEGALLE PLANTATION LTD.

LANKA CEMENT LTD

LANKA CERAMICLTD

LANKA MILK FOODS

LANKA QALUMINIUM INDUSTRIES LTD

PL
51.0

48 9

512
766
52.3

72.9

64.7

47.1

55 3

60.9

659
68.0

65.3

596
44 4

735
52.4

67.3

65.9

62.0

59.6

74.0

72.0

57.1

63.4

67.4

67.4

70.2

S2 7

69 4

69.4

52.3

56.4

71.1

66.7

56.6

74.0

68.9

66.7

39.5

62.7

55.3

59.6

BS
89.1

80.0

84.6

65.8

847
76.5

724
93.0

68.9

79.7

77.6

83.8

86.7

90.4

81.6

74.6

87.1

845
83.2

86.9

78.4

76.2

80.0

85.7

71.9

83.3

83.9

81.4

89.9

91.3

79.7

75.7

88.8

79.7

84.3

89.7

89.6

78.5

85.5

84.4

51.4

82.4

85.7

75.6

OC
89.5

94.6

86.0

718
846
765
833

89.7

97.2

838
97.5

88.1

77 1

82 9

97.4

97.3

90.2

94.7

82.4

91.7

84.0

94.1

82.1

88.6

75.5

85 7

S9 5

96.2

85.4

85.7

89.7

88.2

83.3

80.8

86.5

94 9

89.2

73.9

77.1

85.0

95.1

83.8

SR
909

86 4

89 5

95.5

947
85 0

952
90 5

944
1000

1000

95 2

1000

1000

1000

947
1000

100.0

850
952
95.0

1000

955

100.0

95.2

95 2

95 2

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

94.4

95.2

100.0

100.0

100.0

90.5

100.0

75.0

100.0

95.2

100.0

Ol
24 3

388
80 0

20 3

143
414

22 7

471
368
16.9

57 1

52 9

300
250
74.3

45 7

48 6

59 1

435
71.0

85 7

34.3

52 9

60.6

814
70.0

60.0

23.9

39.4

60.0

55.7

68.6

56.5

68.7

68.1

15.7

22.9

39.1

42.9

OC.
65 7

59 8

73 0

560

58 5

67.6

63 6

781

769
65 1

585
83 3

74.7

57 2

789

85 5

77.4

79.7

89.0

77.8

74.1

65.9

66.1

75.9

77.1

79.2

76.1

78.7

76.4

44.5

65.6

69.8

66.9

Rank

43

56
-

51

35
38
52
13
18
46

58
5
31
24
17
48
39
11

2

26
51
15
9
1
14
25
42

41

22

16

10

20

12

19

65

44

33

40

MDI

865

889

89 3

85 6

820

832
870
870
92 4

87.7

79 8

79 1

93 4

844
89 1

87 0

857
85 4

86 7

93 9

90 3

842
89.2

97.5

17 9

89.6

96.2

77.0

87.8

88.2

87.6

92.5

87.1

82.1

64.0

83.6

85.4

84.8

VDI

52 7

584

500
646
380

59 5

55 9

490
695
70 2

552

449
76 7

61 9

647
70 4

506
547
738

801
53.1

61 9

73.1

83.3

70.3

63.7

53.2

59.0

676

99.8

73.6

65.5

72.5

72.5

32.9

54.1

59.2

55.7
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COMPANY NAME
LANKA TILES LTD

LANKA WALLTILELTD

LANKEM CEYLON LTD

MAHAWELLI BEACH HOTEL LTD

MASKELIYA PLANTATIONS LTD

METAL PACKAGING LTD

MIKECHRIS INDUSTRIES LTD

MILLERS LTD.

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT LTD.

RICHARD PIERI'S EXPORTS LTD.

ROYAL PALM BEACH HOTEL

SERENDIB LAND LTD,

SIGIRIYA VILLAGE HOTEL

STAFFORD HOTELS LTD.

TANGERINE BEACH HOTEL

THE LIGHTHOUSE LTD.

THE LION BREVERY CEYLON LTD

UNION CARBIDE LANKA LTD

UNITED MOTORS LANKA LTD

UPALI INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LTD.

YORK ARCADE HOLDINGS LTD.

TOTAL

PL

78.0

68.0

58.0

46.2

70.7

50.0

47.9

62.7

65.9

77.4

67.5

41.0

63.6

54.8

76.6

59.5

50.0

66.0

75.5

50.0

65.1

62.2

BS

84.0

82.4

67.7

80.3

72.7

76.0

88.5

80.0

93.0

79 7

62.1

88.0

83.1

88.2

79.7

88.8

84.4

85.1

72.0

78.7

81.4

OC
87.2

85.7

83 3

84.6

1000

61.3

91.7

833
94.6

91 4

94.7

79.2

960
71.2

86.5

86 2

SR
95.2

95.2

100.0

94.4

100.0

95.5

90.5

100 0

1000

100.0

95.2

95.0

100.0

95.0

100.0

90.5

1000

85.0

944
954

Ol
32 9

500
424

• • •

55 2

55 9

75
30 3

43 9

76.9

292
32 9

30 0

70.0

279
443

ODI

82 8

44.7

69 0

68 5

85 2

68.4

652
82 6

530
64.3

69 6

Rank

28

55

36
3

37
45
1
63

YD

889

908

818

93.2

832
91.3

875

972
682

83.5

84.6

v'D:

685

77.4
640
305

800
522
527

493
72 4

432

60 0
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Appendix-11

ITEMWISE DISCLOSUR E

Variable
Number

OIVOL20

OIVOL25

OIVOL59

OIVOL60

OIVOL63

OIVOL64

PLV0L16

BSVOL34

BSVOL26

PLV0L7

PLV0L8

0IV0L8

PLV0L17

ItemName

Localraw materialcontentof finished
jgoods

Marketpricepershareforeach quarter

Priceleveladjusted balancesheet,income
statementand otherdata

Discussion on theimpacton inflationon
thefinancialresults

Cash projectionforthenextyear

Financialobjectivesforthenextyear

Analysisofexpenses intofixedand
variablecost j

Age scheduleofthedebtors

Totalmarketvalueofinventories

Raw Material consumed

Breakdown ofrawmaterialsconsumed j

Indicationofemployee morale such asrate
ofabsenteeism,frequencyoflabour
disputes.

| Advertisement and publicityexpenses

OIVOL62 IComparison ofactualperformance and
j|operatingobjectives !

OIVOL56

PLV0L6 j

BSMAN21 |

- - _.J
PLV0L15 !
.... i

PLVOL20

0IV0L19

OIVOL37

OIVOL57

PLMAN3

BSMAN40 |

I
PLVOL9 I

i

OIVOL17

PLVOL23 j

Returnon capitalformain productareas

Breakdown ofcostofsales \

Rights, preferencesand restrictions
attached toordinaryshares

Total Expenses

Breakdown ofwages and salariesunder
expenses categories

Detailsofraw materials imported

Rateofgrowth ofearning pershare

Statementofcompany shareoption/
bonus/dividendsplans(Historyofshare
options/dividends/bonus) j

Incomefrom investmentsdistinguishing
between quoted and unquoted

Actuarialpresentvalueofpromised
retirementbenefit

Changes ininventories(finished goods
and work inprogress)

Differencebetween marketvalueand book j
valueoflandand buildings

Maintenance and repairsexpenses

BSVOL63 |Provisionforfallingvalueofinvestments j

Disclosed Not
Disclosed

Not
AmGcahla

0 | 41 | 24

____°0
0

0

0

1
_

1

1

1

1

2

2

3 I
j

3

3

4

5

5

3

6

6

5

8

7

i

9 |

9

8

\
Disclosure

0.0

64 | 1 j 0.0 j

65

65

65

65

64

64 __

58 |

41

41

63

0 ] 0.0
|

0 I 0.0

I
0

0

0

0.0

0.0

1.5

0 1.5

6 | 1.7

23

23
i 2 4

| 2.4

0 I 3.1

62 j 1

62 | 0

; j

3.1

4.6

58 | 4 j 4.9

56 | 6 ! 5.1

61 j 0 | 6.2
i i

60

60

35

59

54

42

57

49

56

55

42

0 7.7
I

0

27

0

5

18

0

9

0

1

15

7.7

7.9

9.2

10.0

10.6

12.3

12.5

13.8

14.1

16.0
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Variable
Number

PLV0L18

0IV0L3

OIVOL45 j

BSMAN27

OIVOL39

OIVOL43

OIVOL44

OIVOL54

0CV0L12

0CV0L13

0IV0L6

OIVOL48 |

[0IV0L51 !

PLMAN10

[OIVOL42

0CMAN13

PLVOL22

0IMAN6

OIVOL36

OCVOL10

OIVOL29

0CMAN9

0CMAN14

0IV0L1

0IVOL31

OIVOL34 i

0CVOL11 !

OIVOL53 j

OIVOL55 |

0IV0L61 j

I
PLMAN24 |

i

PLMAN25 |
j
!

0IV0L11

Item Name

Wagesandsalaries

Companystructure

Interestcoverforthelast10years

Rights,preferencesandrestrictions
attachedtopreferenceshares

Dividendpershareforthelast10years

Interestcoverforthisyearandprevious
year

Interestcoverforthelast5years

Debtequityratioforlast10years

Capitalexpenditureofsegments

Accountingpolicyfordiscontinued
operations i

Ageanalysisoftheexecutives

PriceEarningsRatioforthelast10years |

Currentratioforthelast10years

Researchanddevelopmentcosts
recognisedasanexpenseintheperiod

Netassetspershareforthelast10years j

Liabilitiesofeachmajorsegment

Provisionfordoubtfuldebts

Statementofdirectors'responsibility

Earnings/(loss)pershareforthelast10
years

Turnoverbasedtaxesforeachmajor
segment

Mainprofitandlossaccountitemsforover I
thelast10years

Revenuefromexternalsales

Depreciationofsegmentalassets j

Briefeconomicreviewofthecountry

Mainbalancesheetitemsforoverthelast
10years

Keyaccountingratiosforthelast10year-

Netturnoverforeachmajorsegment

Debtequityratioforlast5years

Returnoncapitalforthe company

Detailsofcorporatesocialresponsibility
policesand_programs _J

Amountusedasanumeratorincalculating j
EPS i

Weightedaveragenumberofordinary
sharesusedasadenominator

Company'spositionintheindustry(Eg..
Rank)/shareofmarketinmajorproduct j

Disclosed

12

13

14

2

15

15

15

15

5

8

16

16

17

5

18

6

19

20

20

6

J21

7

7

22

22

22

7

23

23

23

24

25

25

Not
Disclosed

53

52

51

7

50

50

50

50

16

25

49

49

48

13

46

15

46

45

45

13

44

14

14

43

43

43

13

42

42

42
i

41

40

40

Not
I Appfeabto

0

o
0_J
56

i

0
0

0

0

44

32

0

0

0

47

1

44 ]

0

o
0

46

0

44

44

0

0

0

45

0

0

0

0

0

0

Disclosure

185

20.0

21.5

222

23.1

23.1

23.1

23.1

23.8

24.2

24.6

24.6

26.2 |

278

28.1

28.6

29.2

30.8

30.8

31.6

32.3

33.3

33.3

33.8

33.8

33.8

35.0

35.4 |

35.4

35.4 ;

36.9 |
!i

i 38.5':
•

38.5
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Variable
Number

0IV0L18

PLMAN5

PLV0L19

BSVOL35

OIVOL52

_

OIVOL47

OIVOL50

BSVOL29

BSVOL38 !

PLVOL25

BSMAN4

OIVOL38

PLVOL10

BSMAN6

BSMAN38 I

BSMAN39

J

0IV0L15

_ . J
01VOL46

BSMAN44

OCMAN10 |

BSVOL67

0CMAN8

0IMAN3

OIVOL49

PLV0L21 J

OCMAN30 |
f

i

PLMAN26

BSV0L14

Item Name

areas

.. . n

Productioncapacityand actuallevelofout
put

Analysisofallexpensesbytheirfunction
(eg.Administrative,sellingetc)

Executivewages andsalaries

Provisionfordoubtfuldebtsatend ofthe
period

Debtequityratioforthisyearand previous
jear

PriceEarningsRatioforthelast5years

Currentratioforthelast5years

Marketvalueofshortterm investments

Breakdown ofcash/bank balances

Breakdown oftheshareofassociate
companies'profits

Marketvalueofquoted investmentsin
subsidiaries

Dividend pershareforthelast5years

Grossprofit "•

Marketvalueofquoted investmentsin
associates

Generaldescriptionofthegratuityplan,
includingemployeegroupscovered

Detailsand methodsoffundingofthe
gratuityliability !

Factorswhichwillinfluencefutureresults
ofthecompany. !

PriceEarningsRatioforthisyearand
previousyear

Provisionsshown on thefaceofthe
balancesheet

Revenuefrom intersegmentsales

Netassets[totalassets-currentliabilities]

Statementofchangesinequity

Number ofemployees attheend ofthe
periodortheaveragefortheperiod

Currentratioforthisyearand previous
year \

Bad debtswrittenoff I

Accountingpolicyforcash and cash
equivalents

Earningpershare,beforeand afterextra
ordinaryitems |

Investmentsinassociatesatequity
method i

Disclosed

25

26

26

26

26

27

27

5

28

7

12

29

26
i

5

30

30

30

30 i

30

10

31

31

31

31

32

32

I

1

2

Not
Disclosed

| Not
! Applicable

i

40 0

39

39

39

39

38

38

7

37

%

r— • '

385

0 I 40.0

0

0

0

0

0

53

0

40.0

400 j

40.0

41.5

41.5

41.7

43.1

9 I 49 | 43 8
i

15

36

32

6

35

35

35

35

33

11

38 j 444
I
t

0

7

54

0
i

0

0

0

44.6

44.8

45.5

46.2

46.2

46.2

46.2

2 476

44 | 47.6

34 | 0 ! 47.7

34

34

34

33

33

1

I
2

0

0

i

0

L ° -
0

63

61

47.7

47.7

47.7

49.2

49.2

50.0

50.0

314



1 vanaoie
! Number

OIVOL/

OlvOLIO

BSVOL33

PLVOL2

PLVOL13

OCMAN35

OCMAN33

OCMAN34

OIVOL58

BSMAN30

J
PLMAN27 |

I
OCMAN25 |

OIVOL13

BSMAN49

OIVOL23

BSVOL28

0IMAN2

BSVOL66

OIVOL16

BSVOL10

OIVOL41 J

OIVOL35

I-
BSVOL52

OIVOL33 j

BSVOL51 I

I
BSVOL49 |

OIVOL32 j

BSVOL15

I
BSVOL37

OCMAN12 |

^ I ^—_—_____—:_' - .
Hem Name

Valueadded peremployee

; Descriptionofmarketingnetworkfor
finishedgoods

I Sundrydebtors

Revenue(Turnover)fromexportsales

Profit/Lossondisposalofcurrent
investment

Accounting policyforborrowingcosts

Accountingpolicyforresearchand
developmentcosts

Accountingpolicyforcapitalcommitment
andcontingencies

Valueaddedstatementsofanyform

Breakdown ofreservesintocapitalreserve
andrevenuereserve

Dividendpershareshown intheP/Lorin |
notes

Accountingpolicyforsegmentalreporting j

Technologyimprovementandupgrade

Amount-Material postbalancesheet
events _J

Categoriesofshareholdersasresident j
andnon-resident

Breakdown ofshortterminvestmentsat
cost _ j
Historyanddevelopmentsofthecompany

Netcurrentassets/ (liabilities) [Working
Capital]

Descriptionofmajorplants,warehouses,
officesandtheirlocations

Investmentsinsubsidiariesdistinguish
between quoted/unquoted

Netassetspershareforthelast5years

Earnings/(loss)pershareforthelast5
years

Informationaboutrepaymentoflongterm j
borrowings

Keyaccountingratiosforthelast5years j

Interestratesapplicableforlongterm
borrowings _J

Extentofsecurityonlongtermborrowings

Keyaccountingratiosforthisyearand
previousyear

Investmentsinassociatesdistinguish
between quoted/unquoted

Breakdownofadvances,depositsand
prepayments J

Assetsofeachmajorsegment

Disclosed
]

32

26

33

15

12

34

9

35
i

36

35

35

13

37

11

36

i

7

38

39

39

22

40

41

33

41

34

35

43

12

42

14

Not
Disclosed

32

26

32
14

11

31

8

30
i

- 29-J
28

I

27

10

27

8

26

5

27

26

26

14

25

24

19

23

18

18

22

6
i

21

7

Not
Aftpicabie

1

13

0

! 36

42
i

0

48

0

0

2

3

42

1

46

3

53

0

0

0

29

0

0

13

1

13

12

0

47

2

44

! %
Disclosure

50.0 i

! 50-0

- 50.8

j 51.7

! 52.2

i
| 52.3

| 52.9

53.8

55.4

55.6

56.5

56.5 |

57.8

57.9

58.1

58.3

58.5

60.0

60.0

61.1

61.5

63.1

63.5

64.1

65.4 I

66.0

66.2

66.7

66.7

66.7

315



Variable
Number

0IV0L14 |
i

l
0IV0L2 I

I
i

OIVOL30

SRV0L8 j

0IMAN5

0CVOL18

BSVOL62 |

BSVOL59 |

OIVOL22

PLVOL24

PLVOL27 |
l

BSV0L21

_____ „.J
0CV0L16 j

OIVOL28 !
i

_ JOIVOL27 J

BSMAN9

BSV0L31

0IV0L12

PLMAN17

PLV0L4

0CVOL17

SRV0L3

BSVOL46

PLV0L5

OIVOL26

OIVOL40

I

SRMAN4

J
PLV0L3 I

BSV0L41 |

0IV0L5 I

Hem Name

Futureplansand targetsforthe
jlevelopmentofthe business

A briefdescriptionofthe natureofthe
industryand itstrends

Main balancesheetitemsforthelast 5
years

Contributions and Donations

Dividend persharethis yearand previous
year

Accounting policyforcomparative figures

Breakdown ofamount duetorelated
companies

Tradecreditors

Categories ofshareholders asindividual
and institutional

Retirement benefitexpense

Method ofcomputation ofearningper
share

Additionsand recoveriesofothernon-
currentassetsduringtheyear

Accounting policyforliabilities

Main profit and lossaccountitemsforthe

last5 years

'Marketpricepershareatthelastyear

Marketvalueofquoted investmentsin
otherinvestments _j

Breakdown ofamount duefromrelated
companies

Detailsofmajor products/services
including new and potentiallynew products•

Basisofcomputing incometax

Netturnover _J

Accounting policyfor expenditure

A statementofpersonsholdingsubstantial j

partofthe sharecapital

Changes tominorityofinterestduringthe

year

Totalcostofsales

Highestand lowestprice duringtheyear ,

Netassetspershareforthis yearand j

previousyear j

Amount proposed to transfertoreserves |

shown inthedirectors' report

Turnovertax & nationalsecuritylevy

Breakdown ofshare premium

Information such asNames, positions of
theseniormanagement (Executives).

Disclosed

44

45

I

45

43

44 '

45

36

46

46

47

48

12

48

48

49

22

39

39

46

50

50

50

17

46

51

51

37

48

8

52

Not
Disclosed

21 |

it

20 j

20

19

19 |

19

15

I

19

19 |

1?
17 ;

i

4
!
;

16 !

16 i

16

7

12

12

14

15

15

15

5

13

14

14

10

12

2

13

Not
Applicable

0

0 i

!

o j

3

2

1

14

_°_ J
0

1

0

49

1

1

0 |

36 I

14

14 i

I
5

0

0

0

43

6

0

0

18

5

55

0

N
Disclosure

67.7

69.2

69.2

69.4

698

70.3

706

70.8

708

73.4
•

73.8

750

75.0

75.0

75.4

75.9

76.5

76.5

76.7

76.9

76.9

76.9

77.3

78.0

78.5

, 78.5

L :

; 7 8 7

Z
| 80.0

80.0

80.0

316



Variable
Number

BSV0L18

PLMAN2

0CV0L14

BSMAN46

PLV0L11

0CV0L7

PLMAN14

i

PLVOL26 \

BSVOL20

PLMAN13 i
i

PLV0L12

BSVOL53

BSMAN31

OCMAN24

BSVOL55

PLV0L14

PLMAN4

I

PLV0L1

[ PLMAN7 J

BSVOL64 |

BSMAN48 |

BSVOL56 i

BSMAN43 |

I
SRV0L2

BSVOL50

BSV0L12

SRMAN5

PLMAN23 j

BSMAN42 j

Hem Name

Otherinvestmentsdistinguish between
quoted/unquoted

Interest,royalties, dividendsand rentalsoni
long-term and currentinvestments

Accounting policyforpostbalancesheet
events

Aggregate amountofbank loansand
overdrafts

Totalotherincome

Breakdown ofthecash and cash
equivalentsattheend oftheyearshown in;
thecash flowstatement

Shareofprofits/lossesofassociate
companies shown on thefaceofP/L

Breakdown oftotaltaxexpense

Breakdown ofothernon-currentassets

Breakdown ofInterestondebentures and
otherfixedloans

Breakdown ofotherincome

Long term loansrepayableafteroneyear

Allmovements ofreserves, including
balance B/F;transfers, etc.

Accounting policyforintangibleassets

Provisionforgratuityduringtheyear

Profit/Losson disposaloffixedassets

Analysisofallexpenses bynatureof
expenses (eg. Wages,depreciationetc)

Breakdown oftherevenue

Goodwilland otherintangibleswrittenoff

Amount ofcontingentliabilities

Capitalexpenditure commitments

Payments forgratuityduringtheyear

Tax liabilitiesshown on thefaceofthe

balancesheet

Movements insharesand sharecapital
(shareissuingand listing)duringtheyear

Sourcesoffinance(Lending Institution)of

longterm borrowings

Ownership interestofthecompanyin
subsidiaries

Amount recommend tobepaid as
dividendsshown inthedirector'sreport

Earning pershareshown intheP/Lorin i
notes i

Trade and otherpayablesshown onthe
faceofthebalancesheet

Disclosed Not Not
Disclosed Apoftcabte

26 ! 6 33

_. , i

44

53

46

53

54

15

40

16

54

54

44

48

24

55

49

56

56

25 «

33 |

56

56

44
i

15 ;

i

46
i

32

41

58

58

10

12

10

11

11

3

8

3

10

10

Disclosure

~ 8~zT

11 j 81.5
]

(
0

9

1

0

47

17

46

1

1

8 13

8

4

9

8

9

9

4

5

8

8

6

I

2
!
l

6

4

5

7

7

9

37

1

8

0

0

36

27

1

1

15

48

13

29

19

0

81.5 '

82.1

828

83.1

83.3

83.3

84.2

844

84.4

84.6

85.7

85.7

85.9

86.0

86.2

86.2 i

86.2 j

86.8

87.5

87.5

88.0

88.2

88.5

88.9
I

89.1 ;

89.2

0 89. 2

317



Variable
Number

BSV0L65

OCMAN28

PLMAN22

BSMAN24

0CV0L9

BSVOL60

BSV0L61

OIVOL24

_

SRV0L1

PLMAN21

BSVOL27

BSVOL32

BSVOL54

BSVOL57

BSVOL68

BSVOL69

0CV0L15

BSMAN17

BSMAN20

0IMAN4

0IV0L4

BSMAN35

BSMAN36

BSV0L11

BSMAN8 |

BSMAN13

0CMAN11 |

BSMAN15 !
i

i

0CMAN31

ItemName
I

Description/Breakdown bynatureof
contingentliabilities

Accountingpolicyforlease,hirepurchase,
orinstalmenttransactions, andrelated
interest

Dividendsbyclassesofsharesand
^dividendrates

Number ofpreferencesharesauthorised

TotalRevenue formajorsegmentsofthe
company !

Long term loansrepayablewithinoneyear ]

Amount duetorelated companies

Marketpricepershareatthebalance
sheetdate

Descriptionon paymentofdividends.

Aggregatenetdividendspaidand
proposed _j

Shortterm investmentsatcost

Breakdown oftradeand otherreceivables ;

Provisionforgratuityatthebeginningof !
theyear

Provisionforgratuityattheend oftheyear

Detailsofrelatedpartytransactions

Description/ Breakdown bynatureofpost
balancesheetevents

Accounting policyfortradeandother
receivables

Cash and cash equivalentsshown onthe
faceofthebalancesheet

Parvalueofan ordinaryshare j

Earnings/(loss) pershare forthisyear j
and previousyear j

Chairman'sreport j

Deferredtaxbalanceatthebeginningof
theyear _J

Transfersto/from deferredtaxduringthe j

_year I
Listingand descriptionofinvestmentsin j
subsidiaries I

Ownership interestofsignificant
associates

Amount ofinventoriesshown ontheface
ofthe Balance Sheet

Profitofeach majorsegment

Tradeand otherreceivablesshown on the \
faceofthebalancesheet j

Accounting policyforemployeebenefit
costs(gratuity) j

Disclosed

58

42

44

9

19

48

48

59

54

45

12

60

60

Not
Disclosed

Not
Aanfc_a__l_i

7 | 0

5

5

1

%
Disclosure

892

18 89. 4 j

I

16 ! 898 !

!

55 I 90. 0

2 44
i

5 | 12

90.5

90.6

5 j 12 90.6

6 0 | 90.8

5 j 6

4

1

5

5

60 5

56

60

60

61

61 ,

61

61 ;

46

46

31

i

17 |

56

20 |

62
i

i
62 ]

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

3

3

2

1 :

3

1

3

3

16

52

0

0

91.5

91.8

92.3

92.3

92.3

0 j 92.3

5

1

1

0

0

0

93.3

93.8

93.8

93.8

93.8

93.8

0 | 93. 8

16 i 93.9

i

16

32

47

6

44

0

0

93.9

93.9

94.4

94.9

95.2

95.4

95.4

318



Variable
Number

OCMAN32

SRMAN2

BSVOL45

BSMAN10

BSVOL23

BSVOL42

BSMAN45

BSMAN37
L
OCMAN26

0CMAN19

BSVOL39

OCMAN20

PLMAN8

BSV0L6 j

i
BSV0L9

BSMAN32

BSVOL30

0CMAN18

BSVOL48

BSMAN14

PLMAN12

SRV0L7

PLMAN9

BSMAN2

BSMAN3

BSVOL36 j

OCMAN23 |
i

SRV0L5

0IV0L9

PLMAN1 !

PLMAN6 !

Item Name

Accountingpolicyforrevenuerecognition

Knncipalactivitiesand businessreview
shown inthedirectors'report

Minorityinterestatthebeginningofthe
year

Amountofintangibleassetsisshownon
thefaceoftheBalanceSheet j

Amortisationofintangibleassets

Sharepremium forthecompany andthe
group

Dividendsproposed

Deferredtaxbalanceattheendoftheyear

Accounting policyforinvestments

Accounting policyfortaxation

Ordinarysharecapitalforthecompany
and thegroup

Accountingpolicyfordeferredtaxation

Directors'emoluments

Netvalueofproperty,plantand
equipments

Breakdownoftotalinvestmentsin
subsidiariesatcost

Share premium

Amountduefromrelatedcompanies

Accountingpolicyforconversionofforeign I
exchange j

Breakdown oflongtermborrowings

Breakdownofinventoriesatcost

Interest(Financecosts)ondebenturesand
otherfixedloansshown onthefaceofP/L ,

Directors'interestinsharesordebentures

Auditors'remuneration

Totaldepreciationallocatedfortheperiod j
onproperty,plantand equipments

Accumulated depreciationonproperty,
pantand equipments

Advances,depositsandprepayments j

Depreciationratesusedforproperty,
_plantsandequipments _J

Detailedinformationsuchasgender,ages,!
positions,etcaboutdirectors

Afairreviewofthecompany resultsduring j
theyearandinthepreviousyears.

Revenue(Turnover)onthefaceoftheP/L i

Depreciation \

Disclosed

62

Not
Disclosed

Not N
Aoofeabte Disclosure

3 0 954
62 r 3 J O | 954

— ! JL ]
21

23 ,

23

1 1 43 955
j

1

1

23 | 1
i

i

41

41

95.8

95.8

41 | 95.8

48 | 2 ! 15 96.0

49

51

61

31

62

63

63

32

44 J
49 |

52

56

58

62

63

64

64

64 ;

64

64

64 ;

i

64

65

65

2 j 14

2 j 12

2 | 2

1

2
...__

2

1

i !

__

0

0

33

96.1

96.2

96.8

969

1 96.9

0 , 96.9

0

32

20

15

12

8

6

2

1

0

0

0

o

96.9

97.0

97.8

98.0

98.1

98.2

98.3

98.4

98.4

98.5

98.5

98.5 ;

)

98.5

0 98.5

0

0

0

0

98.5

98.5

100.0
•

100.0

319



Variable
Number J

PLMAN11 :

PLMAN15

| .. ... .. ..!

PLMAN16 j
i

PLMAN18

PLMAN19

PLMAN20

PLMAN28

BSMAN1

BSMAN5

BSMAN7

BSMAN11

BSMAN12

BSMAN16

BSMAN18

BSMAN19

BSMAN22

I
BSMAN23

BSMAN25

BSMAN26

BSMAN28

BSMAN29

BSMAN33

BSMAN34

BSMAN41

BSMAN47

BSV0L1

BSV0L2

Item Name

OperatingprofitshownonthefaceofP/L j

Profitbeforetax(Profitfromordinary
activitiesbeforetax)

Totaltaxexpenseshownonthefaceof
P/L

Profitfromordinaryactivitiesaftertaxand
beforeextraordinaryactivities

Extraordinaryitemsshownonthefaceof
P/L

Netprofitfortheyear(Profitattributableto j
ordinaryshareholders/profitafter
extraordinaryitems)

Comparativefigures-ProfitandLoss
accountofthepreviousyear

Property, plantandequipmentshownon
thefaceofBalancesheet

Investmentsin associatesaccountedfor
usingcostorequitymethod

Listinganddescriptionofsignificant
associates

Totalamountofcurrentassets

Totalvalueofinventories

Bank/cash balance

Numberofordinarysharesauthorised

Numberofordinarysharesissuedandfully ;
paid,andissuedbutnotfullypaid

Ordinarysharesreservedforissuance
underoptionsandsalescontracts

Issuedordinarysharecapitalshownonthe >
faceofthebalancesheet _.

Numberofpreferencesharesissuedand
fullypaid,andissuedbutnotfullypaid

. . , — — 1

Parvalueofapreferenceshare

Issuedpreferencesharecapitalshownon
thefaceofthebalancesheet _,

Totalreservesshownonthefaceofthe
balancesheet i

Minorityinterestshownonthefaceofthe j
balancesheet '•

Noncurrentinterestbearingliabilities
shownonthefaceofbalancesheet

Totalcurrentliabilities

Comparativefigures-Balancesheetofthe !
^previousyear

Totalfixedassets

Totalfixedassetsforthegroupandthe
company

Disclosed

65

65

51

65 ,
!
<

1 !
!
165

65

65

18

17

65

59

65

65

65

3

65

7

9

7

65

22

58

65

65

65

37

Not
Disclosed

0

0

0 I
0

0 ;

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
0

Not
AppiicaWe

0

0

14

0

64

0

0

0

47

48

0

6

0
0

0

62

0

58

56

58

0

43

7

0

0

0
28

Disclosure i

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

1000

1

100.0

100.0

_ i

100.0 I
I

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

j
100.0 I

100.0 I

320



Variable
Number

BSV0L3

BSV0L4

BSV0L5

i
1

BSV0L7

i
BSV0L8 j

BSV0L13

BSV0L16 j

BSV0L17

BSV0L19 |

BSVOL22

BSVOL24 j

BSVOL25 j

BSVOL40

BSVOL43

[ BSVOL44 ;

BSVOL47 j

BSVOL58

0CMAN1

0CMAN2

0CMAN3

0CMAN4

0CMAN5

0CMAN6

0CMAN7
j

0CMAN15

0CMAN16 |

KernName

Detailedbreakdownoffixedassets

Totaldepreciationonproperty,plantand
equipmentallocatedfortheperiodforthe
groupandthecompany

Accumulateddepreciationonproperty,
plantandequipmentsforthegroupand
thecompany

Acquisitionordisposalofproperty,plant
and equipments

Totalinvestmentsinsubsidiariesatcost

Breakdownofinvestmentsinassociatesat;
cost

Otherinvestmentsatcost

Breakdownofotherinvestmentsatcost

Othernon-currentassets

Openingnetbookamountofintangible
assets

Closingnetbookamountofintangible ,
assets

Breakdownofcurrentassetsvalue

Preferencesharecapitalforthecompany
andthegroup

Retainedprofitatthebeginningandendof
theyear

Changesinretainedprofitduringtheyear

Minorityinterestattheendoftheyear

Breakdownofcurrentliabilities

Cashflowsfromoperatingactivitiesofthe ;
company shown inthecashflowstatementi

Cashflowsfrominvestingactivitiesofthe ;
companyshown inthecashflowstatementj

Cashflowsfromfinancingactivitiesofthe
companyshowninthecashflowstatement,

Cashflowsassociatedwithextraordinary ;
itemsshownseparatelyinthecash flow
statement

Cashflowsfrominterestanddividends
receivedandpaidshown inthecashflow j
statement !

Cashflowsarisingfromtaxesonincome ;
showninthecashflowstatement

Comparativefigures-CashFlowStatement;

ofthepreviousyear

Accountingpolicesaredisclosedinone
placeasanintegralpartoffinancial
statements _j

Basisofaccounting(Accounting j
convention) _j

Disclosed

65

34

33

63

36

18

32

32

Not
Disclosed

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Not
_Appicabte

0

* !
Disclosure

100.0

31 100.0
i

i

32

2

29

47

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

33 j 100.0

0 | 33 j 100.0

19 | 0 | 46

24

24

65

3

65

65

22
65

65
I

64

65

3

65

53

65

65

65

0 I 41
i

0

0

0

0

0

0
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

100.0

100.0

41 100.0

0

62

0

0

43

0

0

1

0

62

0

12

0

0

0 o
I

100.0

1000

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

I
100.0

100.0

100.0

321



i

Variable
Number

0CMAN17

0CMAN21

OCMAN22

OCMAN27

OCMAN29

0CV0L1

0CV0L2

0CVOL3

0CVOL4

0CV0L5

0CV0L6

0CVOL8

SRMAN1

SRMAN3 !

SRMAN6 j

i

SRMAN7
.._., i

SRMAN8

SRMAN9

SRMAN10

SRMAN11

SRMAN12

SRMAN13 !
I
j

< Item Name

Accountingpolicyforconsolidation

I Valuationbasesusedfordeterminingthe
j amountsofdepreciableassets

Depreciationmethodsusedforproperty,
jjlantandequipments

Accountingpolicyforproperty,plant&
equipment

Accountingpolicyforinventories

CashflowstatementIncludedasan
integralpartofthefinancialstatements

Breakdownofcashgenerated from
operationsshowninthecashflow
statement

Breakdownofcashgenerated from
investmentsshowninthecashflow
statement

Breakdownofcashgenerated from
financialactivitiesshowninthecashflow
statement

Cashandcashequivalentsatthe
beginningoftheyearshowninthecash
flowstatement

Cashandcashequivalentsattheendof
theyearshowninthecashflowstatement

Netincrease/(decrease)incashandcash :
equivalentsshowninthecashflow
statement

Directors'report

Stateofthecompany'saffairsshowninthe
director'sreport

Directors'directorindirectinterestina
contractwiththecompany

Auditor'sreport _.

Auditor'sreportstateswhetherallthe
informationandexplanationsnecessary
havebeenobtained j

Auditor'sreportstatestheopinionofthe
auditoroncompany'skeepingproper
booksofaccount

Auditor'sreportstateswhether financial
statementsareinagreementwiththe
booksofaccount |

Auditor'sreportstateswhetherfinancial
statementsgiveatrueandfairview

Auditor'sreportstateswhetherthe
financialstatementsgivetheinformation
requiredbytheAct

Auditor'sreportstateswhetherthe
companydirectorsareinterestedina
contractwiththeco.

Disclosed ' Not
! Disclosed

Not %
Applicable Disclosure

35 L_ 0 30 100 0

65

65

65

59

65

65

64

65

65

65

„ _..__.._. _ _ i

65

65

65

65

65

65

65

65

65

64

65

o T o 100.0
i

i i

0 | 0 j 100.0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0 100.0

6 100.0

0 I 1000 I

0 100.0

1

0

0

0

0

...--....

0

0

0

0
0

0

0

0

1

0

1000

1000

100.0

100.0

1000

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0
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Variable
Number

SRV0L4

SRV0L6 j

SRV0L9

i
0IMAN1

0IVOL21

HemName I Disclosed

Namesofthedirectors

Changesin thedirectorboardduringthe
year

Referencetotheresolutiontoreappoint
theauditors

Thename,legalform,countryof
incorporation, addressoftheregistered
office

Breakdownoftotalshareholdingsinto
numberofsharegroups

64

65

65

L_ I
65

65

Not
Disclosed

0

Not \
Applicable Disclosure

1

0 j 0

100.0

1000
i

o ; o 1000

0 j 0 100.0
i

[ :

0 i 0 100.0
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Appendix-12

LEVEL DISCLOSURE BY INFORMATION ITEM

Q-NO

82
| 92

19

75
25

[_23
93

68

63

85

28

26

77

24

61 j

89 j

18

84 j

74

66

72

30

70 |

17

_J1_J
80

11-6

65

60

71

76
>

\ 69

79

11-10
z

__... —_____——_— _
Information Hern % Disclosure i

Discussionofthe impactoninflation onthefinancialresults J oo '

Cashprojection forthe nextyear. n n

Breakdownofexpensesintofixedandvariablecomponents 15

Ageingscheduleofthedebtors

Raw materialsconsumedandtheirbreakdown
1.5

24
Total advertisingandpublicityexpenses 3 1

Financialobjectivesforthenextyear 4 _

Details ofrawmaterials importedandlocalrawmaterialscontentofthe
finishedgoods

Rateofgrowthofearningpershare

Statementofcompanyshareoption/bonusplan

Maintenanceandrepairexpenses

Wagesand salaries

Indication ofemployeemoralesuchastherateofabsenteeism, turnoverand
frequencyoflabourdisputes.

Total researchanddevelopmentexpenses

Summaryofimportantoperatingandfinancialdataforthelast 10years

Statementofdirectors' responsibility

Costofgoodssold

Detailsofcorporate"socialresponsibility"policesandprograms

7.9

9.2

10.0

14.1

22.1

26.2

27.8

29.2

30.8

32.5

35.4

Description ofmajorplants, warehousesandofficesandtheirlocations 36.9

Productioncapacityandactualoutput

Marketshareandcompetitiveposition ofthecompany

Baddebtswritten offandprovisionforbaddebts

Historyanddevelopmentofthecompany

Breakdownofoperating expenses

Sundrydebtorslessallowances

Factorswhichwill influencefuture results

Movementin shareholders'funds

Breakdownofresultsbysegments

Summaryofimportantoperatingandfinancialdataforthelast5years ;

Description ofmarketingnetworkforfinishedgoods

Information onmanagersandstaff(eg. Numberofemployeesinthecompany)

Detailsoffinishedgoodsexported

Discussionofthefirm's resultsforpreviousyearswith reasonsforchanges

Valueaddedstatements

38.5

38.5

39.2

39.2

44.6

45.4

46.2

47.7 |

48.5

48.9

50.0

50.8

51.7

52.1

55.4
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1

Q-NO

81
; 38

73

50

62

90
34

64

48

32

39

15

6 7 !

87

37

11-4

41

46

42

29

56

21

91

49

52

78

33

31

83

36

43

j 4 7 -

11-9 |

11-8

57 !

16

58

27

40

Information Item ! % Disclosure
Industrytrend,countryandcompanyinformation ~^. 1

Marketvalueofsecuritiesandinvestments ' Ffl

Marketpriceofcompany'sshare j g^z

Outstandinggratuity/pensionobligations ^ 1

JEamingspershareandthebasisofcalculation " fifi fi

Disclosureoffutureplansandtargets 67.7
Contributionsanddonations r~ 6 q 4

Dividendpershare

Dateofmaturity,interestrates,andextentofsecuritiesoflongtermborrowings

69.8

70.4

Amountandbreakdownofstaffwelfarebenefits 734

Costandbreakdownofinventories(Rawmaterials,W-l-P,etc)

Totalrevenueandbreakdownofvarioussourcesofrevenue

Detailsofmajorproducts/servicesincludinginformationonnewandpotentially
newproducts

Structureofshareownership(individuals,institutions,etc)

Costandbreakdownofsecuritiesandinvestments

Accountingpolices

73.7

76.0

76.5

769

77.5

794
Totalandbreakdownofcurrentliabilities 79.7

Shareholders'equityandnumberofsharesoutstanding

Totalandbreakdownofadvances,depositsandprepayments

Incometaxandprovisiontherein

Amortisationofintangibleassets

Goodwillandothertangibleassetswrittenoff

Capitalexpenditureforthenextyear

Detailsofcontingentliabilities

Reservesandtheirbreakdown

Detailsofpostbalancesheetevents

Aggregateamountofdividendspaid

Totalinterestincludingbreakdownoflong&shorttermloans

Statementofdividendpolices

Totalassetsincludingbreakdownintofixedandcurrentassets

Totaltaxanddifferedtaxliability

Totalandbreakdownoflongtermborrowings

Directors'report

Chairman'sreport

81.4

82.3

84.7

85.7

86.2

87.5

89.2

89.5

90.6

90.8

91.4

91.5

92.1

93.1

93.3

93.6

93.8

Method usedformarketablesecuritiesandinvestments 96.2

Operatingprofitbeforeabnormalandextraordinaryitems 96.6

Taxationpolices y^0

Directors'emoluments 96.9

Bookvalueofgoodwillandotherintangibleassets 97.9
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Q-NO

55
88 |

35

11-3

45

86

54 |

11-7

20 |

22

44

53

59

Information Item

Foreigncurrencytransactions

Sharesheldbydirectors

Auditor'sremuneration/fees

Cashflowstatement

Totalaccumulateddepreciationonproperty,plantandequipment

Namesandaddressofthecompany'sdirectors,functionalresponsibilityand
majwoutsideaffiliations

Methodandratesofdepreciation

Auditorsreport

Amountofdepreciation

Totalnon-recurringgainsorlossesreported

Acquisitionordisposalofproperty,plantandequipmentduringtheyear

Methodusedtodeterminecostofinventorieseg.,FIFO,LIFO

Comparativefinancialstatements

% Disclosure

981

98.4

985

98.7

98.7

99.2 j

99.5

100.0

100.0

1000

100.0

100.0

100.0
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